

# HIV self-testing for men who have sex with men (MSM) in England and Wales: a multi-method study of self-testing intervention development and evaluation

**T Charles Witzel** 

# Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

# Doctor of Philosophy of the University of London

## April 2020

# Department of Public Health, Environments and Society

# Faculty of Public Health and Policy

# LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

No funding received

Research group affiliation: Sigma Research

#### Abstract

#### Background

Undiagnosed HIV among men who have sex with men (MSM) remains a significant public health challenge in the UK. Higher rates of recent and repeat HIV testing are necessary to ensure recent falls in HIV incidence among MSM in parts of England and Wales are fully reproduced nationally. HIV self-testing (HIVST) is the latest in a long line of HIV testing interventions, which has been developed to reduce barriers to testing for those at risk of acquiring the virus. An HIV Self-testing Public Health Intervention (SELPHI) is the first randomised controlled trial (RCT) delivering free HIVST kits to MSM in Europe. SELPHI has two interventions and aims to assess whether HIVST can increase diagnosis of prevalent HIV infections (intervention A) and reduce the time between infection and diagnosis for those at on-going risk of new HIV infections (intervention B). Social sciences have been at the heart of SELPHI, contributing to formative, implementation and evaluation research.

This thesis seeks to develop an understanding of the potential contribution of HIVST to the wellbeing of MSM in England & Wales. It contributes significantly to the academy by developing a comprehensive evidence base enabling policy makers and service providers to optimise HIVST service delivery.

#### Methods

This work is conceptually grounded in implementation science and uses the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW), which includes the COM-B model of behaviour change to provide a framework for intervention development and to understand participant outcomes. A pragmatic, multi-method approach has been taken whereby the optimal data collection methods have been carefully selected based on their suitability to answer the research questions.

#### Results

This thesis includes three studies presented over five published papers. The first is a formative study (contributing to papers 1 and 2) of qualitative focus group discussions with MSM which produces new understandings of the diversity of their values and preferences with regard to HIVST. This study also interrogates narrative understandings of the potential use of the technology, demonstrating HIVST use may be limited to when MSM do not perceive significant risk, except in the context of significant barriers to service access. The second study (contributing to paper 3) is a mixed methods interrogation of the implementation pilot, demonstrating high feasibility and acceptability of an HIVST intervention delivered to MSM through the SELPHI study. The final study (contributing to papers 4 and 5) is an evaluative analysis of qualitative in-depth interviews with individuals who have undergone HIVST, showing high acceptability and varying intervention performance across groups. The utility of COM-B as a model for understanding behaviour change in relation to HIVST is examined in paper 5.

#### Conclusions

Online delivery of HIVST to MSM is feasible and acceptable; contexts of use and intervention performance will vary across groups. A number of intervention adaptations can be made to increase acceptability and the potential reach of HIVST interventions. The absence of a robust concept of need in COM-B means that this model may be sub-optimal in designing HIVST interventions, and perhaps interventions which meet needs generated by social norms.

## Declaration

I, T Charles Witzel, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

## Dedication

I dedicate this work to my disability, my biggest challenge and greatest asset. Neurodivergence has enabled me to think in ways others do not; a source of frustration, motivation and, occasionally, inspiration. Thank you, tangled brain.

#### Acknowledgments

My thesis has truly taken a village and I have many people to thank.

First of all, I would like to acknowledge the unending support of my supervisory team. Adam Bourne has been a bedrock, untangling my brain, helping me clarify my thoughts and being a dear friend. Peter Weatherburn has never been short on excellent strategic advice and a fresh way of thinking about old problems. Alison Rodger, my academic fairy godmentor, has been perhaps my biggest professional cheerleader and has supported me in ways I will never forget.

Thanks to my parents Ted and Andrea Witzel who have always encouraged me to pursue my interests, even when they seemed insane (which was probably often). My grandfather Grand Man Sam for instilling in me his passion for education. My grandmother Jane Hill who encouraged my move to this country when enthusiasm was understandably thin on the ground.

I'd like to thank Mel Nowicki and Harriet Pickering for always having my back, and time for pint and a moan. Gonçalo Sousa for his very dear friendship, support, expanding my horizons and for challenging me to think in new ways in my everyday life. Emily Warren for many exhausted lunches and beers. John White for being a buddy. Lindsay Seegmiller and my god baby Sable Harris Klee for being the best and a constant source of love.

My collaborators have been influential in my work and my thinking. Chief among them, Fiona Burns convinced me of the value of COM-B from an early place of scepticism. More importantly, she has always been kind and supportive in ways that were probably unwarranted. Michelle Gabriel's technical abilities and wisdom surrounding implementation issues profoundly impress me. Thanks to Prof Michie for insights about COM-B over the years. SELPHI could not have run without the tireless work of many, including Leanne McCabe, Denise Ward, Fiona Lampe, Andrew Phillips, Mitzy Gafos, David Dunn and Sheena McCormack. Thanks to all; I think we did something pretty cool.

Thanks also to my upgrading assessors Rebecca French and Shelly Lees for challenging me in ways I found uncomfortable at the time but which strengthened my thesis immeasurably.

My thanks also to Catherine Dodds, an early and important advisor in this endeavour.

Finally, I must acknowledge my immense gratitude to all the PANTHEON and SELPHI participants who have made this research possible. More than 10,000 people have given their time and energy to these ground breaking projects, and I owe them a great debt.

### Statement of contribution

This thesis has been embedded within a broader programme of work as part of a multi-institutional NIHR funded programme grant titled PANTHEON (<u>Prevention and Testing for HIV: Economics and</u> <u>Outcomes of Novel Approaches</u>). At the centre of PANTHEON sits SELPHI (An HIV <u>Self-Testing Public</u> <u>Health Intervention</u>), the HIV self-testing randomised controlled trial to which this work contributes.

I began work on PANTHEON in March 2015 as a research assistant and have since been elevated to co-investigator. The team I have worked within is known internally as workstream one (WS1), which is largely separate from workstream two (WS2), the clinical trial group responsible for RCT delivery. WS1 contains all feasibility work for the trial and has had responsibility for all social sciences aspects of the programme grant.

Within WS1 I have had primary responsibility for the design, conduct and analysis of the studies included in this thesis, with guidance and support from my more senior colleagues. The aims and objectives used for each study have been produced by me with input from my wider team. For each study used in this thesis I have created the data collection instruments, conducted the research, designed the analysis tools and carried out the analysis.

The exception to this is paper 3, where some of the demographic questions used in analysis were not designed by myself, but rather, within the broader study team. For this paper I designed the quantitative analysis which was carried out by the trial statistician Leanne McCabe.

## Table of contents

Abstract
Declaration5
Dedication7
Acknowledgments9
Statement of contribution
Table of contents
List of tables
List of figures
Glossary
1. Background & literature review
1.1 HIV testing in the UK
1.2 HIV self-testing
1.3 Existing HIVST evidence
1.4 An HIV Self-testing Public Health Intervention (SELPHI)
2. Approaches and methods
2.1 Thesis overview
2.2 Conceptual approach
2.2.1 Implementation Science
2.2.2 СОМ-В
2.3 Multi-method approach
3. Results
3.1 Formative research
3.1.1 Paper 1: HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the UK: a qualitative study of barriers and facilitators, intervention preferences and perceived impacts
3.1.2 Paper 2: Risk, reassurance and routine: a qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England
3.2 Implementation research
3.2.1 Paper 3: Pilot phase of an internet-based RCT of HIVST targeting MSM and transgender people in England and Wales: advertising strategies and acceptability of the intervention 82
3.3 Evaluative phase
3.4.1 Paper 4: HIV self-testing intervention experiences and kit usability: results from a qualitative study among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the SELPHI RCT in England and Wales
3.4.2 Paper 5: Demonstrating pathways to impact: using a testing typology to understand intervention performance in an HIV self-testing RCT in England and Wales
4. Discussion

4.1 Reflexivity
4.2 Meeting thesis aims and objectives132
4.2.1 Aim: To develop an understanding of the potential contribution of HIVST to the well- being of MSM in England & Wales
4.2.2 Objective i. To examine the values and preferences of MSM for HIVST interventions considering key domains of intervention design
4.2.3 Objective ii. To explore the potential barriers and facilitators of HIVST for MSM using COM-B as a framework
4.2.4 Objective iii. To understand how HIVST compliments existing testing strategies considered or adopted by MSM
4.2.5 Objective iv. To assess the feasibility of recruiting MSM to the SELPHI pilot, and the acceptability of the HIVST intervention used among those randomised to receive a kit 136
4.2.6 Objective v. To explore the experience of utilising HIV self-tests and the implications for further intervention development and scale-up
4.2.7 Objective vi. To explore how components of the SELPHI interventions impact on behaviour for, and are experienced by, RCT participants
4.2.8 Objective vii. To examine the utility of COM-B as a useful model for understanding behaviour change in relation to the provision of HIVST
4.3 Logic model adaptations
4.3.1 Context
4.3.2 Immediate outcomes 143
4.3.3 Intermediate outcomes143
4.3.4 Long-term outcomes
4.4 Intervention implementation: a recommendation and a framework 145
4.4.1 Core components
4.4.2 Adaptable periphery
4.4.3 Outer setting
4.4.4 Inner setting
4.4.5 Individuals involved
4.5 Critiquing COM-B152
4.6 Strengths and limitations
4.7 Recommendations for future research154
5. Conclusion
6. References
Appendix 1: Systematic mapping protocol
Appendix 2: Gay Men's Sex Survey 2014 testing history and preferences analysis
Appendix 3: Focus group discussions topic guide
Appendix 4: Focus group discussions sampling frame 182

Appendix 5: Poster results of formative key informant interviews	183
Appendix 6: Pilot interview topic guide	184
Appendix 7: Updated topic guide	186

## List of tables<sup>1</sup>

Table 1: Key HIVST studies from Europe	
Table 2: Edibility criteria by randomisation	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Table 3: Overview of thesis by objective and methods	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tables embedded within publications are not listed included in this list in order to preserve formatting and readability in results papers.

# List of figures<sup>2</sup>

Figure 1: COM-B basic structure (Michie et al 2011)	41
Figure 2: COM-B behaviour change wheel (Michie et al. 2011)	43
Figure 3: Intervention A schema	78
Figure 4: Intervention B schema	79
Figure 5: Logic model for SELPHI interventions	80
Figure 6: Testing typology and participant outcomes	. 141
Figure 7: Updated logic model	. 144

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Figures embedded within publications are not listed included in this list in order to preserve formatting and readability in results papers.

#### Glossary

- Apps geolocation social sexual networking applications
- ART anti-retroviral therapy
- BCW Behaviour Change Wheel
- BT baseline test
- CAI condomless anal intercourse
- FSW female sex workers
- GMSS 2014 Gay Men's Sex Survey 2014
- HIVSS HIV self-sampling
- HIVST HIV self-testing
- IS implementation science
- MSM men who have sex with men
- nBT no baseline test
- nRT no repeat testing
- PANTHEON Prevention and Testing for HIV: Economics and Outcomes of Novel Approaches
- PHE Public Health England
- PrEP pre-exposure prophylaxis
- RCT randomised controlled trial
- RDT rapid diagnostic test
- RT repeat testing
- SELPHI An HIV Self-Testing Public Health Intervention
- SoC standard of care
- STIs sexually transmitted infections
- THT Terrence Higgins Trust
- WHO World Health Organization

#### 1. Background & literature review

In this first section of my thesis I begin by outlining some of the key considerations regarding HIV testing in the UK, including the history of HIV testing intervention development. I then describe the development and introduction of HIV self-testing (HIVST) before reviewing relevant literature in the UK and internationally. Finally, I describe SELPHI, the largest HIVST randomised controlled trial (RCT) of HIVST in a high-income setting, a trial much of my thesis wraps around.

The HIVST literature review which begins at section 1.2 is drawn from a systematic mapping exercise which is a collaboration led by myself, involving the World Health Organization (WHO) and others (protocol available in appendix 1). I established this systematic map to capture all HIVST literature published in the academic press as it emerged, with searches updated monthly. I took this approach in recognition that the HIVST literature was rapidly developing during the early stages of my PhD. This systematic map has supported the development of 4 separate systematic reviews, and an update to the WHO HIVST guidelines launched Dec 1<sup>st</sup> 2019 (1), and in which I took an active role leading the key populations meta-analysis and the qualitative analysis for the values and preferences review. Although this section is not drawn from these reviews, I used the results of this map for my literature search to illuminate key areas of enquiry. Further, sections of my literature review are an updated version of an invited review I wrote for Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases (2).

#### 1.1 HIV testing in the UK

The HIV epidemic among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the UK remains a significant public health challenge. Reducing the time between HIV infection and diagnosis is a key goal with national guidelines recommending MSM test annually, or more frequently in the presence of additional risk factors, such as condomless anal intercourse (CAI), sexualised drug use or diagnosis of a sexually transmitted infection (STIs) (3, 4). Rapid diagnosis of HIV has implications not just for individual health, with evidence indicating that suppressive antiretroviral therapy (ART) is beneficial at any CD4 count, but also for onward transmission of HIV (5-7). Sixty to eighty percent of HIV transmissions are thought to occur from those as yet undiagnosed and often in the early stages of HIV infection where risk of onward transmission is greatest (8-10). The 'Test and Treat' approach has been enshrined in the UNAIDS global 90-90-90 targets which aim, by 2020, to achieve 90% of people with HIV being diagnosed, 90% of those diagnosed taking ART, and 90% of those on ART achieving virological suppression (11). The UK has been successful in this regard; in 2017 92% of people with HIV knew their status, 98% of those were receiving treatment and 97% of those receiving treatment had achieved virological suppression (12). Evidence suggests that frequency of testing remains suboptimal however, with 25% of MSM in the UK having never tested for HIV and 50% not testing annually (12-15). Ever and repeat testing is also vital for effective use of pre-exposure prophylaxis

(PrEP), a key driver in the decreases observed in HIV incidence (16). Further, there is growing concern about individuals who fall into the remaining gaps in this cascade. It is possible that the focus on reaching each 90% will mean the most disadvantaged with the highest needs will be overlooked, thereby potentially exacerbating health inequalities (17).

The public health drive to increase testing rates has led to a significant evolution in the types of HIV testing interventions available, and the assays used within these interventions, facilitating incremental evolution of testing approaches seeking to overcome testing barriers. These barriers occur at patient, health care provider, health care service and health system level (18). Commonly cited examples of barriers to HIV testing for MSM in high income settings include: fear of a positive result; concern about stigma from health care providers; concern about confidentiality; service inaccessibility; the emotional impact of the time between undergoing testing and receiving the result; concerns about the time between infection and the ability of tests to detect HIV (the 'window period') and a lack of risk perception which reduces motivation to test (18-20).

The initial tests developed in 1985 relied upon antibodies to detect HIV and required a laboratory to process, leading to significant waiting times for results and long window periods between infection and potential detection (21). Responding to concerns related to waiting for the outcome of laboratory run tests, the development and introduction of rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) in the late 1990s facilitated the provision of results on the same day when testing in clinical settings (22, 23). These developments were coupled with improvements in testing technology; tests with higher sensitivity were developed by including assays which measured the presence of additional antibodies, and by 1999, antigens, with 4<sup>th</sup> generation tests significantly reducing window periods while improving performance (21, 24).

In the UK, from the mid-2000s, RDTs were utilised in community based testing programmes, expanding testing to settings including bars, nightclubs, sex on premise venues, community centres and other social venues in a response to limited accessibility of clinics and concerns related to stigma and homophobia (25, 26). Prompted again by barriers of privacy, stigma and inconvenience, HIV testing moved into the domestic sphere with the introduction of HIV self-sampling (HIVSS) in 2012 and self-testing in 2015 (27, 28).

Following intensive multifaceted prevention interventions aimed at MSM in the UK, new HIV diagnoses are showing declines in this group. However, these recent falls in new infections are not distributed evenly; with surveillance data indicating that London has seen the largest falls in new diagnoses, with the south of England, the midlands and the east of England also showing declines (12). Diagnoses among MSM in Wales have also fallen rapidly (12). Although initially slow to fall in

ethnic minority MSM, new diagnoses are beginning to fall in black MSM with less steep falls observed in Asian MSM, while increases have been observed among Latin American MSM (12). Further increases in HIV testing coupled with combination prevention activities are required to sustain these changes and to ensure they are distributed more equitably across the geographical and social groups of MSM. Indeed, evidence suggests a number of health inequalities exist amongst socio-demographic groups of MSM related to health service access, rates of diagnoses of STIs alongside variable prevalence and incidence of HIV (29, 30). This poses a serious challenge to the viability of sustained reductions in HIV incidence.

#### 1.2 HIV self-testing

In contrast to HIVSS where a person takes a sample and posts it to a laboratory (and typically receives the results via text message), HIVST involves an individual taking their own sample, processing it and interpreting their own result (2). A positive result from HIVST is not a diagnosis; this requires the individual to attend a clinical setting and undergo confirmatory testing using approved clinical testing algorithms (2, 31, 32).

In the early period of the epidemic, HIV was viewed as an exceptional disease by policy makers and clinicians because of the immense social and personal impact of an HIV diagnosis, as well as the potential for criminalisation in many settings (33, 34). As a result of this exceptionalism, HIVST was made illegal in many countries, including the UK, due to concerns over the potential for adverse psychological reactions with a positive result in the absence of effective treatments as well as the potential for coercive use (35). In recent years, the shift in perception of HIV for health professionals and affected communities from a nearly universally fatal illness to a chronic manageable condition with near normal life expectancy has led to changing attitudes towards the psychological impact of HIV diagnosis (2, 36, 37). These changes have led to a more permissive policy environment around testing, and increasing numbers of countries enacting laws or repealing legislation in order to facilitate the introduction of HIVST. The UK legalised HIVST on April 1<sup>st</sup> 2014, with the first commercially available CE marked test released the following year (Biosure<sup>TM</sup>) (2).

As efforts continue to expand HIV testing, HIVST has been officially adopted on a global policy level, with the World Health Organization (WHO) incorporating HIVST into their Consolidated Guidelines on HIV testing services in July 2015 (38) and official HIVST guidance being published in December 2016 (39).

HIVST has been promoted by policy makers and professionals as a low cost alternative to facilitybased testing, reducing barriers such as stigma and opportunity cost while increasing patient choice and enhancing autonomy (2, 32, 40). The potential role for HIVST in expanding testing to new groups and enabling increased testing frequency in those at highest risk is mooted (2, 40). Evidence to support these assertions is scarce in Europe more broadly and the UK specifically.

HIVST also has potential application in combination HIV prevention initiatives such as the targeted expansion of testing, treatment and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) (40, 41). HIVSTs are available using a whole blood sample, usually from a finger prick, or using oral fluid. Only blood-based self-tests are commercially available in the UK at this time, although oral fluid self-tests are widely available in other countries (2). HIVSTs are currently only available using 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> generation assays, meaning that window periods are typically around 6 to 12 weeks long, although RDTs which use 4<sup>th</sup> generation assays exist which will likely be repackaged for future self-testing use (2).

A note on terminology: as in much of the published literature (42-52), in this thesis I use the term 'positive' rather than 'reactive' when referring to an HIVST result that suggests HIV infection. Although these results clinically would be referred to as reactive (53), all available HIVSTs in the UK describe such a result as a positive in the instructions and it is therefore how end users understand and interpret these tests. This reflection of language is especially important for qualitative health research which seeks to develop nuanced understandings of how individuals perceive and experience their own health (54, 55).

#### 1.3 Existing HIVST evidence

The HIVST evidence base in Europe generally, and the UK specifically, is not as well developed as in other WHO regions. The existing evidence also largely relates to acceptability and values and preferences studies, with limited data from pilot and demonstration projects.

Acceptability studies seek to understand which populations might have need for an intervention, how different groups might respond to implementation and whether the intervention in question (or its constituent components) meets their needs (56). To aid in intervention planning, values and preferences studies examine how local contexts and differences in populations influence the way that preferences related to interventions are constructed (57). For HIVST, both study types tend to include participants who have not actually experienced HIVST themselves and to whom the intervention is therefore hypothetical. For that reason, this evidence base must be carefully evaluated, acknowledging the limitations of this approach. For example, when innovations in interventions are considered without prior experience, concerns around one's own abilities to engage with an intervention or to carry out the required steps may be exaggerated as individuals will usually not have had sufficient time to familiarise themselves with the technology in question (2). Another issue is that populations do not take-up interventions evenly, and there will be key differences in the motivations and real-world use of those who take up the intervention at various

stages of roll-out (58). Rogers describes five categories of adopters of novel innovations: innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority and laggards (59). Through processes of cultural dissemination surrounding the use of novel technologies, later adopters and laggards learn from innovators and early adopters through diffusion through cultures (59, 60). It has been argued that this process of cultural dissemination has occurred with PrEP, which was first provided in England in 2012 through the PROUD study, and could be replicated with the experience of HIVST in European countries (61). Nevertheless, attending to this evidence of hypothetical potential HIVST users remains worthwhile because it provides an indication of how populations are likely to engage with the technology, and whether interventions are acceptable as well as how they might be tailored to ensure they are feasible and effective, while still countering concerns raised in early research.

Table 1 details the features and findings of key HIVST studies conducted in Europe to date. When reviewing this evidence base, some key insights emerge.

Generally speaking, confidentiality, convenience, immediacy and the opportunity to increase testing frequency are commonly cited benefits of HIVST (27, 28, 32, 48, 49, 62-64). Barriers include concerns around dislocation from care pathways, the possibility of coercive testing practices and perceived issues with self-efficacy and kit accuracy (27, 47, 65).

Firstly, as discussed above, the majority of published studies are prospective in that very few individuals had experienced HIVST (66), or were conducted with stakeholders (67). There are however two demonstration projects included, both of which include important insights for HIVST service development regarding intervention reach and potential delivery settings (68, 69).

The prospective nature of most of the data means that although we can have an understanding of HIVST's potential, the current evidence base is insufficient to provide a broader overview of the contexts in which target populations might use HIVST. Further, three of the studies from Europe reporting on previous lifetime HIVST use were conducted before licenced, regulated tests were widely available in these countries. Kits being used were therefore unregulated RDTs bought online in three studies (66, 70, 71). One demonstration project used an RDT intended for clinical use which was adapted without formative research, raising potential concerns around usability (69). Two studies found moderate to high willingness to use a potentially regulated (but at the time hypothetical) HIVST (15, 66).

27

1st author &	Setting & sample	Data	Study type	Aim	Key findings
Flowers 2016 (28)	Scotland Quant: 999 MSM Qual: 12 expert FGDs with 55 MSM and key informants	Mixed methods exploratory design.	Acceptability	To describe awareness and willingness to use the self-test and the perceived barriers and facilitators to implementation.	<ul> <li>Self-test awareness was moderate among MSM (55%), and willingness to use was high (89%).</li> <li>Greater awareness associated with higher educational attainment &amp; previous STI testing.</li> <li>Willingness to use was associated with meeting sexual partners online.</li> <li>Experts highlighted the overall acceptability of self-testing; it was understood as convenient, discreet, accessible, and with a low burden to services.</li> <li>Ambivalence related to reduced opportunities to engage with services, wider health issues and the determinants of risk.</li> </ul>
Gibson 2016 (69)	UK 394 (77%) males, 119 (23%) females. 352 (72%) urban, 135 (28%) rural	Demonstration project	Feasibility & acceptability	To determine feasibility/acceptability of HIV home/self-testing.	<ul> <li>513 oral fluid kits posted (adapted version of professional use orasure test).</li> <li>19% of sample completed study follow-up. 73% were men who have sex with men (MSM). 47% had never tested previously; 37% MSM had never tested.</li> <li>2 infections identified, partner notification identified one further.</li> <li>HIVST reduced barriers to clinic access and to using blood based tests.</li> </ul>
Greacen 2012 (72)	France 5908 HIV negative MSM aged 18+	Online cross- sectional survey	Acceptability	To identify whether men who have sex with men (MSM) who use dating or sex websites or gay or HIV community websites would be interested in accessing these tests if reliable ones were authorised, their reasons for being interested or not, and independent variables associated with being interested.	<ul> <li>86.5% (5109/5908) reported interest in using HIVST.</li> <li><u>Variables associated with higher interest:</u> Never tested, tested &gt;12 months ago, CAI with casual partner, not open about sexuality, living in town &gt;100,000 inhabitants, living in family with a wife and/or children or with one's parents, having 2 to 50 casual partners in preceding 12 months, being employed or self-employed, low &amp; medium levels of education.</li> <li><u>HIVST motivators</u></li> </ul>

1st author &	Setting &	Data	Study type	Aim	Key findings
ycui	Sumple				<ul> <li>Convenience, accessibility, can do it at home.</li> <li>Rapidity obtaining test results.</li> <li>Privacy, discretion, confidentiality, anonymity</li> </ul>
Greacen 2016 (67)	France, French West Indies, Guiana 72 key informant experts	Online qualitative study using Delphi method	Acceptability	To identify and compare the information and support needs of the different target population groups.	<ul> <li>263 policy &amp; health service recommendations groups into eight themes <ul> <li><u>Themes</u></li> </ul> </li> <li>2. Communicating at both national and community levels about self-test arrival</li> <li>2. Providing information adapted to the different community groups' needs</li> <li>3. Providing counselling on self-test use and access to care</li> <li>4. Making self-tests available to all in terms of accessibility and cost</li> <li>5. Preparing community healthcare and screening systems for the arrival of the self-test</li> <li>6. Approving only high quality self-tests</li> <li>7. Defending self-test users' legal rights</li> <li>8. Considering how to evaluate self-test use</li> </ul>
lckenroth 2010 (73)	The Netherlands 6700 internet users	Two-step cross-sectional survey	Acceptability	To validate findings about the frequency of self-testing and to investigate consumers' follow-up behaviour after performing a self-test by assessing the actions taken by self- testers.	<ul> <li>1.9% had used an HIVST</li> <li>Most self-testers in study had confidence in their result.</li> </ul>
Saunders 2017 (74)	UK 200 HIV negative or untested GUM attendees	Observational feasibility study	Feasibility	To assess the ability of lay users attending a sexual health service to perform the BioSure HIV Self-Test and to correctly interpret the result of the self-tests.	<ul> <li>97% (95% CI 93.5 – 98.9) conducted the test properly.</li> <li>99.5% correctly identified the test result.</li> <li>Participants correctly interpreted the result of 94.0% (95% CI 91.4 to 95.9) of 586 devices.</li> </ul>
Vera 2019 (75)	UK Men attending sex on	Demonstration project	Feasibility & acceptability	To evaluate the acceptability and feasibility of using vending machines in a sex on premise venue (sauna) to distribute HIVST to men who have	<ul> <li>265 testing kits were dispensed (number of men unknown).</li> <li>Mean age 31 years (range 18–70).</li> <li>4% (n = 7) had never tested for HIV before and 11% (n = 22).had tested within the last 1–5 years.</li> </ul>

1st author & year	Setting & sample	Data collection	Study type	Aim	Key findings
	premise venue			sex with men at high-risk of contracting HIV.	<ul> <li>Uptake of HIV tests was six times greater via the vending machine compared with testing conducted by community outreach workers in the same venue and study period.</li> <li>HIVSTs perceived to lower barriers to testing, especially those related to stigma while increasing convenience.</li> <li>Concerns about positive result with no support.</li> </ul>
Witzel 2016 (15)	England 14 317 HIV negative / untested MSM	Cross-sectional online survey	Acceptability	To identify which groups of MSM in England are less likely to have tested for HIV and their preferred model for future tests.	<ul> <li>Younger men, older men and men who were not gay identified were least likely to have tested for HIV.</li> <li>Groups less likely to test in line with guidelines were more likely to report wanting to access HIVST for their next test.</li> <li>MSM who had never tested preferred self-administered testing options (HIVSS &amp; HIVST) for their next test.</li> <li>Higher educational attainment, migrancy, black ethnicity and being at higher of risk were associated with greater levels of HIV testing.</li> </ul>

Key findings in **bold** 

Although formative studies provide some insights into groups who might benefit from HIVST, these data have significant limitations. A key issue is that contact with the technology and discussions amongst peer groups will shape acceptability profoundly, so most of this evidence is only indicative of intervention potential at the outset of availability, not acknowledging how individuals will engage with the limitations of possible interventions. Finally, with the notable exception of Flowers et al. (28) and Vera et al. (68), both of which are mixed-methods investigations, all studies are quantitative and lack the depth of understanding needed to inform effective intervention development and to optimise service provision. Astonishingly little data exists about the values and preferences of MSM in Europe for HIVST interventions, a key component of service design and delivery (2).

The demonstration projects by Gibson et al. (2016) and Vera et al. (2019) are important building blocks in the HIVST literature, with some limitations. Gibson (et al. 2016) demonstrated that HIVST delivered online can reach those who do not test in line with national guidelines (69). A 19% follow-up rate in this study demonstrates the challenges of engaging with those who have received an HIVST following online delivery of the intervention to collect information on their results and provide support if necessary (69). This high attrition also makes it impossible to generalise the findings. Important data about experiential concerns around ease of use and acceptability were not collected, a particular concern given the test was an oral fluid kit designed for clinical use and adapted by the researchers for self-use. The accompanying information may therefore have been insufficient.

Vera et al. (2019) demonstrates that it is feasible to deliver HIVST through innovative mechanisms such as vending machines in public premises (68). This demonstration project however predominantly reached a group of MSM with less pronounced testing needs than Gibson et al., raising the possibility that these strategies may be sub-optimal when compared to online delivery if expanding testing to those less likely to test is a key objective. Furthermore, efficiency of service delivery is a potential issue with a small number of kits having been distributed in this demonstration project, although the intervention did outperform the community testing and counselling initiatives in the same venue (68).

Looking more broadly, MSM in many middle- and high-income settings are relatively well represented in literature around HIVST acceptability as well as research investigating values and preferences (studies that show the diversity in preferences around intervention design and characteristics). Emerging evidence amongst MSM from Peru (44, 76), the USA (62, 63), Vietnam (64) and Mexico (77) report that MSM find HIVST highly acceptable, with moderate acceptability observed in Hong Kong despite the availability of HIVST (45). These studies are heterogeneous in

31

their acceptability measures, variously using willingness to use, quantitative acceptability metrics and qualitative descriptions of acceptability.

A systematic review conducted by Figueroa, Johnson (32) among key populations (MSM, sex workers, trans people, people who use drugs and people in prisons) suggests that oral fluid self-tests are marginally preferred over finger stick or whole blood tests, although this tends to vary across country income settings and key populations (32). In a study in Vietnam, MSM and female sex workers (FSW) preferred oral fluid HIVSTs, while people who injected drugs preferred blood based kits (64). In work from the US conducted with an ethnically diverse group of high risk MSM, more frequent testers preferred blood based testing, whereas men who tested less frequently preferred oral fluid HIVSTs (78). MSM who prefer oral fluid testing in the literature tend to value painlessness (79) while those who value blood based testing generally feel it is more accurate (48, 79, 80).

A range of feasibility studies, demonstration projects and trials globally have provided data on the feasibility and acceptability of providing HIVST to different populations through an array of intervention designs. While the aims for each study vary, designs tend to fall into one of two categories: the first aims to detect longstanding prevalent infections, the second to increase frequency of testing in those at risk of acquiring HIV, particularly in risk groups with high incidence. Both types of study also tend to have cost containment as a goal as HIVST may be a useful diversionary tactic from "bricks and mortar" services, thus reducing demand on resources (2).

Feasibility and pilot HIVST studies provide some evidence that HIVST will perhaps detect undiagnosed prevalent infections in individuals who do not test in line with guidelines or have never tested, although it remains unclear if HIVST is more efficacious than other testing interventions to meet this aim. Projects in the US which focussed on reaching groups who have not previously tested or have difficulty accessing services seem to be successful in reaching MSM online (69, 81) and, to an extent, in sex on premises venues (51). For definitive evidence regarding the potential for HIVST to detect prevalent infections more quickly than other interventions we require RCTs powered to detect differences in rates of diagnosis.

Efforts to increase the frequency with which at-risk groups with high HIV incidence test are central to aspirations around the expansion of HIVST, and increased frequency of testing is a key benefit often repeated in values and preferences studies conducted with key populations. Non-RCT projects which have provided participants with a number of HIVSTs with instructions to test frequently have demonstrated that this intervention approach is feasible among transgender women in San Francisco (49), and MSM in Brazil and Peru (76).

32

Although these feasibility, demonstration and pilot studies provide valuable insights into basic elements of service delivery, there is a distinct lack of data on service uptake by demographic and behavioural groups with testing needs and documented utility for HIVST, such as MSM with lower educational qualifications, black MSM, those who are not gay identified, as well as both older and younger MSM (15, 82). These publications therefore provide relatively little insight into how HIVST might be a useful tool in responding to issues concerning health inequity or, conversely, the potential for HIVST to exacerbate existing inequalities. Although they have been conducted in a wide range of geographical locations with a range of populations, very few have been conducted in Europe and no RCTs have been conducted in the region. Sample sizes have also been very small in the quantitative studies. Qualitative work has thus far not had a prominent place in research initiatives providing HIVST, leading to significant gaps in our understanding of the experiences of individuals who have used the technology. This is especially important for widespread provision, which relies on intervention designs that meets the needs of a very wide variety of MSM. The absence of European evidence in this regard is especially problematic as the structures and accessibility of health systems in the European Region are vastly different to that of the US and Latin America, where much of this evidence originates.

Although mixed, RCT evidence related to HIVST provides some important insights. HIVST has increased testing uptake among MSM in all RCTS conducted (83-87). However, with the exception of Wang et al 2018 and Jamil et al 2017, most of these studies suffer from multiple sources of potential bias, including self-reported outcomes which were not validated by the study teams (83-88).

In terms of testing frequency in RCT evidence, in Seattle, MSM self-reported testing significantly more frequently when provided with multiple HIVSTs compared to standard of care (SoC) (5.3 tests compared with 3.6 over 15 months) (89). The study was too small (n=230), however, with too few reactive results (n=2) to show an effect on increasing HIV diagnosis or on linkage to care (83). These findings were repeated in an RCT among in MSM in Australia which showed increased testing frequency among the self-testing group that did not reduce attendance in STI clinics, indicating that men in this study used HIVST largely as a supplementary testing option. Two further US studies also showed increases in testing frequency (84, 85). Encouragingly, in Jamil et al 2017, frequency was increased in both those who tested annually or more often and those who did not.

A critical issue is that RCT evidence in regards to increasing rates of HIV diagnosis compared to other approaches through HIVST is not strong as studies have thus far been underpowered to assess rates of diagnosis compared to SoC. In addition, rates of reactive HIVSTs are an extremely challenging outcome to validate in the absence of surveillance databases that capture new infections. However

one recent RCT found more infections in the HIVST arm vs the SoC arm, a result which was statistically significant (HIVST = 12 of 1325 [0.9%] vs SoC = 2 of 1340 [0.1%]; P < .007) (84).

Linkage to care for confirmatory testing and linkage to care including early ART is necessary following a reactive result from a HIVST. There is very limited evidence from high-income settings of linkage rates after positive HIVST compared with other testing interventions, and that which does exist is not statistically significant (83, 86, 88).

#### 1.4 An HIV Self-testing Public Health Intervention (SELPHI)

This PhD is embedded in the SELPHI study, the first HIVST RCT in the UK. SELPHI is also the first RCT globally which attempts to address both the ability of HIVST to detect undiagnosed prevalent HIV infections more effectively than current SoC though the offer of a baseline HIVST and also to reduce the time between HIV infection and diagnosis through the offer of repeated HIVST in men at higher risk of HIV infection. SELPHI launched in February 2017 and recruited 10,135 MSM and transgender people. The primary outcome was rates of HIV diagnosis as determined through confirmatory testing and linkage to care assessed through linkage with the UK national HIV surveillance database. This RCT will provide vital evidence for policy makers in high-income settings and those working with key populations on the efficacy and cost effectiveness of HIVST in increasing rates of HIV diagnosis. Intervention development for SELPHI has been underpinned by the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW) system which includes the COM-B model of behaviour change (discussed further in section 2.2). This model emphasises that changes in capability, opportunity and motivation are required to support individuals in enacting and sustaining behaviour change (90, 91).

SELPHI is an online study with two randomisations: randomisation A occurred at baseline and 10,135 eligible MSM and transgender people were randomised to receive either one free HIV self-test (60% of participants) or none (SoC, 40% of participants). At 3 months 2,325 eligible participants drawn from those allocated to baseline HIVST in randomisation A (RA), who were at ongoing risk of HIV infection and who expressed an interest in receiving more HIVST kits were randomised through randomisation B (RB) to either a regular (3-monthly) offer of additional self-tests (50% of participants) or SoC (50%). See Table 2 for full eligibility criteria by randomisation.

Participants were recruited to SELPHI through geo-location socio-sexual networking applications (often referred to colloquially as 'hook up' apps) and social media. Most advertisement was paid, with some reliance on organic reach through community-based organisation (CBO) dissemination and media engagement. The first 1,000 participants were recruited during a soft-start phase (February to April 2017), during which a variety of advertisement approaches were tested. Following analysis of data relating to this, SELPHI launched in earnest in July 2017. Recruitment was completed on 28<sup>th</sup> February 2018.

Randomisation A	Randomisation B
MSM including cis & trans men, trans women	Allocation to baseline test in Randomisation A
Lifetime anal sex	Completed 3-month survey
Not previously diagnosed with HIV	Remains HIV negative
Aged ≥16	Expresses interest in further HIVST kits
Resident in England or Wales	CAI with ≥ 1 partner in preceding 3 months
Willing to provide name, date of birth and	Used HIVST kit
email address	
Consent to link survey responses to surveillance	
and clinic databases	
Not previously randomised in study	

When participants signed up online, they first provided informed consent, then completed a survey detailing eligibility criteria. They were then sent a second survey via email in which they were asked for additional demographic and behavioural information and other details required to send the HIVST kit and to subsequently link to the national HIV surveillance database to detect any future confirmed HIV diagnoses. Following randomisation, participants allocated to baseline testing (BT) were sent a kit through the post. After two weeks they received a survey asking whether the kit was used. At three months, a further survey was delivered to those in the BT and no baseline testing (nBT) groups; this asked for sexual behavioural information and determined eligibility for randomisation B. Those eligible were then randomised either to repeat offers of HIVST kits or SoC. Trial participants were matched with their clinical records through the HIV surveillance database held at Public Health England (PHE) through which endpoints were recorded. See Gabriel et al (92) for the full trial protocol.

## 2. Approaches and methods

My thesis informs SELPHI by generating key social science evidence before and during the trial. This provides a significant body of work suitable to inform self-test service provision and contribute more broadly to academic understandings of self-testing for HIV in MSM in England and Wales. My thesis includes several stages: it responds to pre-implementation questions regarding values and preferences of the intended beneficiaries as well as motivations for access and likely contexts of use. My attention then turns to questions of intervention feasibility and acceptability, specifically exploring the ease of use of the kit, preferences around intervention design and the real world use of HIVST among beneficiaries. This deepens the evidence base for others seeking to implement HIVST in similar settings. Finally, my thesis explores the contribution of HIVST to the lived

experiences of HIVST users, providing valuable data about the benefits and limitations of HIVST should it be made widely available, as well as potential for intervention adaptations. It also investigates the utility of the COM-B model of behaviour change (explored further in section 2.2) for conceptualising HIVST interventions.

This PhD <u>aims</u> to develop an understanding of the potential contribution of HIVST to the well-being of MSM in England & Wales.

#### The specific objectives are:

- i. To examine the values and preferences of MSM for HIVST interventions considering key domains of intervention design.
- ii. To explore the potential barriers and facilitators of HIVST for MSM using COM-B as a framework.
- To understand how HIVST compliments existing testing strategies considered or adopted by MSM.
- To assess the feasibility of recruiting MSM to the SELPHI pilot, and the acceptability of the HIVST intervention among those randomised to receive a kit.
- v. To explore the experience of utilising HIV self-tests and the implications for further intervention development and scale-up.
- vi. To explore how components of the SELPHI interventions impact on behaviour for, and are experienced by, RCT participants.
- vii. To examine the utility of COM-B as a useful model for understanding behaviour change in relation to the provision of HIVST.

This thesis has been embedded within a broader programme of work as part of a multi-institutional study. The team I have worked within is known internally as workstream one (WS1), which is largely separate from workstream two (WS2), the clinical trial group responsible for RCT delivery. WS1 contains all feasibility work for the trial and has had responsibility for all social science aspects of the programme grant. Within this team I have been given responsibility for the design, conduct and analysis of the studies we have undertaken to date, with guidance and support from my more senior colleagues. The aims and objectives used for each study have been produced by me with input from my wider team, and differ significantly from what was specified in the funding bid. This has provided me with the scope to form study questions relevant not only to the SELPHI RCT, but which also make a significant contribution to HIVST and the behaviour change literature more broadly. For each study used in this thesis I have created the data collection instruments, conducted the research, designed the analysis tools and carried out the analysis.
## 2.1 Thesis overview

This PhD, comprised of three studies presented over five results papers, employs a range of methods suitable for addressing specific questions relevant to the generation of high-quality evidence around the potential of HIVST in England and Wales. Section 2.2 describes my conceptual grounding and 2.3 outlines my theoretical basis for this pragmatic multi-method approach. Table 3 provides an overview of methods used in responding to each objective.

The first study used focus group discussions in taking a prospective approach to exploring HIVST acceptability; motivations and barriers; and values and preferences for HIVST among MSM in England. This formative inquiry has sought to overcome previous issues with prospective HIVST research by including the demonstration of kits, thereby providing some HIVST exposure during the discussion. This study also provides additional evidence on the ways in which the technology might be adopted by MSM based on normative understandings of HIV testing narratives. This study responds to objectives i, ii and iii and contributes papers 1 & 2 to my thesis.

The second study (which responds to objective iv and contributed towards paper 3 of my thesis) shifts to understanding implementation considerations for HIVST during the pilot phase of SELPHI. This study uses quantitative trial data alongside in-depth interviews which provide additional depth to the analysis. This study explores feasibility and acceptability of the intervention through evaluation of the recruitment strategy used for the pilot phase, investigating the proportions in receipt of the intervention who use the kit (and reasons for non-use), as well as acceptability of the intervention. This paper primarily uses quantitative longitudinal study data from three time-points with results from qualitative interviews undertaken during the pilot phase adding depth and context.

The final papers of my thesis respond to objectives v through vii and present the findings of an evaluative in-depth interview (IDI) study with SELPHI participants in which the outcomes related to HIVST are examined from the perspective of those in receipt of HIVST. In-depth interviews were the most appropriate method of data generation as they provide the opportunity to explore issues in greater depth with individuals, without necessarily generating normative understandings in the way that focus group discussions do. This has enabled the exploration of tensions within the data and the development of nuanced understandings of the potential of the SELPHI interventions and HIVST more broadly. This study has also allowed the testing of the behaviour change model used in intervention planning.

Table 3: Overview of thesis by objective and methods

Aim: to	Study	Objective	Methods	Paper
develop an understanding of the potential contribution	Study 1: Formative	i. To examine the values and preferences of MSM for HIVST interventions considering key domains of intervention design.	Qualitative analysis of focus group discussions	1
of HIVST to the well-being of MSM in England & Wales.		ii. To explore the potential barriers and facilitators of HIVST for MSM using COM-B as a framework.	Qualitative analysis of focus group discussions	1
		iii. To understand how HIVST compliments existing testing strategies considered or adopted by MSM.	Qualitative analysis of focus group discussions	2
	Study 2: Implementation	iv. To assess the feasibility of recruiting MSM to the SELPHI pilot, and the acceptability of the HIVST intervention among those randomised to receive a kit.	Quantitative analysis of RCT pilot data Qualitative analysis of in- depth interviews with trial participants	3
	Study 3: Evaluation	v. To explore the experience of utilising HIV self-tests and the implications for further intervention development and scale- up.	Qualitative analysis of in- depth interviews with trial participants	4
		vi. To explore how components of the SELPHI interventions impact on behaviour for, and are experienced by, RCT participants.	Qualitative analysis of in- depth interviews with trial participants	5
		vii. To examine the utility of COM-B as a useful model for understanding behaviour change in relation to the provision of HIVST.	Qualitative analysis of in- depth interviews with trial participants	5

## 2.2 Conceptual approach

## 2.2.1 Implementation Science

In addressing these objectives, this PhD is situated within the interdisciplinary field of implementation science (IS). IS can be described as: *the scientific study of methods to promote the systematic uptake of research findings and other evidence-based practices into routine practice, and, hence, to improve the quality and effectiveness of health services* (93, 94). It is an approach inherently concerned with the effective design and implementation of health interventions through robust theoretical development and the subsequent adoption of interventions into widespread practice (95, 96). It seeks to ensure high quality interventions are developed and evaluated so that they have optimal benefits for their individual recipients while also examining potential for other contexts (95).

This PhD generates a high-quality evidence base on self-testing and the potential innovations that can be adopted and implemented on a national scale. This evidence can also be used to inform implementation in other contexts. This PhD specifically addresses questions about intervention design, implementation, feasibility, acceptability, reach and adoption (95). In terms of intervention design and development, and in line with IS approaches, I focus on context, specific intervention components and the demographic and behavioural characteristics of individuals who are beneficiaries (95).

I take a hybrid approach to IS, drawing on the traditions that are most useful in meeting the overarching aim of this thesis. Nilsen (2015) describes three theoretical approaches to IS: describing and/or guiding the process of translating research into practice; understanding and/or explaining what influences implementation outcomes and evaluating implementation (97). My thesis primarily employs the second of these, using implementation theory to enhance understanding of critical issues relevant to HIVST (97). Doing so allows for the prioritisation of the most critical issues which can influence implementation, thereby increasing the appropriateness of interventions by documenting and responding to patient need (97).

In the synthesis stage of my thesis I employ a determinant framework to develop nuance and contextualise my results (97). Determinant framework approaches focus on the factors that can influence implementation and adoption, investigating barriers, facilitators and their interaction with qualities of end users (97, 98). These approaches recognise that implementation is a multidimensional phenomenon and that understanding influences on outcomes is a critical area of inquiry (97).

I use the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) (95, 97), as a lens through which to synthesise many of the results generated in this thesis. This determinant framework posits that successful implementation and translation of interventions to new contexts is contingent on adequate attention being paid to five key domains (95, 97-99). The first domain, the intervention, contains all characteristics of the intervention which is being implemented, acknowledging that many interventions come into organisations as a poor fit (95). The second and third components, the inner and outer settings, provide recognition that context shapes intervention delivery, especially the structural, political, economic and social contexts through which intervention implementation proceeds (95). The fourth domain, the individuals involved in implementation, recognises that individuals in an organisation have agency to shape or to hinder delivery (95). The fifth domain refers to the process of implementation which is contingent on the organisation implementing the intervention (95).

CFIR has been used in a wide range of study designs, although it is most commonly used during and post implementation to investigate the experiences of those implementing an intervention (99, 100). Using this framework prospectively provides potential policy makers with additional insights into intervention implementation considerations identified in this thesis (100).

## 2.2.2 СОМ-В

The primary model informing this work is a systematically developed behaviour change model from IS, the BCW which includes the COM-B model. This system was chosen for this PhD because of its systematic development and clarity; the BCW and COM-B incorporate domains covered in pre-existing behaviour change models, but arguably in a more coherent way.

This system was developed by Michie and colleagues as a novel way of describing an array of issues to examine when seeking to improve the design of behaviour change interventions. It was developed under the premise that pre-existing models did not fully encompass the range of possible domains which could influence outcomes (91). In developing the BCW and COM-B, Michie and colleagues consolidated theorised behaviour change constructs, interventions and policy approaches from 19 frameworks to create a structured system with inter-related levels (91).

At its most basic, the COM-B model asserts that capability, opportunity and motivation interact to shape behaviour, which in turn also interacts with those three domains (see figure 1). Each of these



## Figure 1: COM-B basic structure (Michie et al 2011).

domains is divided further into additional sub-domains to more comprehensively represent the ways in which behaviour is influenced at this level.

According to Michie et al; (91)

Capability is defined as the individual's psychological and physical capacity to engage in the activity concerned. It includes having the necessary knowledge and skills. Motivation is defined as all those brain processes that energize and direct behaviour, not just goals and conscious decision-making. It includes habitual processes, emotional responding, as well as analytical decision-making. Opportunity is defined as all the factors that lie outside the individual that make the behaviour possible or prompt it.

When used in developing interventions, one must consider which of these elements require modification in order to support behaviour change on the individual, community or population level (91, 101). For example, one might have the capability and motivation to change behaviour, but not the opportunity. Or, more realistically, there may be subtle modifications needed in more than one domain and supporting change in multiple areas may be required (91). The benefit of this structure is that it provides a simple and straightforward way to categorise influence on behaviour and is easy both to understand, and to apply.

The BCW (figure 2) elaborates on the basic model by providing an expanded framework for conceptualising the relationship between the pre-conditions of behaviour change, intervention functions and policy (91). The first level consists of the basic COM-B model (capability, opportunity and motivation). One level outwards are intervention categories that aim to address barriers or

required alterations in the first level. Finally, the outmost level is formed of policy approaches and categories that facilitate interventions. COM-B provides an articulation of both the intervention and policy areas which can be used to target each COM-B domain. Because the UK has a supportive policy environment represented by the HIVST technology being legalised in 2014 alongside associated regulation and supportive guidelines, and because SELPHI represents a form of service provision, for the constituent studies in my thesis I use only the intervention approaches (2).

The BCW and COM-B were chosen for use in this thesis for several reasons. It was indicated that COM-B would be used in formative research in the initial funding bid for the programme grant in which my work is embedded. I chose to continue using it partly for pragmatic reasons, leading to a more coherent body of work than would be the case if I switched between models. This has added depth and nuance by including a consistent lens through which these findings are viewed.

Further, the BCW and COM-B are especially useful because of their systematic development: the range of behaviour change constructs and theories represented within their production mean that they cover a wider range of influences on behaviour than many other models do. For example, the health belief model does not incorporate the role of some psychological processes such as habit and self-control (91). COM-B also has the benefit of being much simpler than TDF (90), increasing its utility through clarity.

The Theory of Planned Behaviour has a more elaborated concept of motivation and takes greater account of norms than COM-B making this an obvious choice for interventions seeking to modify behaviour which is heavily shaped by norms drawn from community and society (103, 104). This theory however has no space to theorise how a physical technology (such as an HIVST) can be provided within interventions, vastly limiting its utility in this context. It has also been much criticised for an overt focus on rationality, assuming that individuals will behave in specific ways in response to norms, ignoring differences across individuals and groups (104). Finally, the Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills model could have been a promising approach given the need to develop capability in using HIVST and its wide application in HIV focused interventions (105); it too however suffers from a lack of conceptualisation around the potential of technology to shape behaviour.

The simplicity, organisation and clarity of the domains in the overall BCW system and their relationships to intervention functions mean that it is a useful model for planning interventions and theorising how intervention components can work together to produce behaviour change. The basic capability, opportunity & motivation structure provides flexibility within the model to consider a wide range of intervention processes and their impact on behaviour, as well as logical causal

42

mechanisms. The basic structure of COM-B allows for considering how the provision of a technology and the intervention components supporting that provision can work together to shape and encourage behaviour change. For example, the targeting of an intervention may seek to enhance motivation (either reflective, automatic or both), while the provision of a technology could alter both capability and opportunity, depending on the end user. This is a major benefit compared to other models, which often are only applicable to purely psychosocial interventions.

The BCW and COM-B do have some key weaknesses specific to this work. While the basic structure (figure 1) is very useful for considering interventions delivering novel technologies, the expanded wheel (figure 2) is arguably less attentive to this. Although Michie and colleagues state that the enablement intervention category in the intervention processes level refers to pharmacological and technological interventions, their approach lacks an understanding of the ways in which technologies work to produce behaviour change themselves. For example, the use of, or engagement with, a technology will logically produce certain behaviours as a result of engagement in that process, a discourse which is absent from the BCW and COM-B model. This is perhaps key to understanding behaviour change in an environment of increasing bio-medicalisation of risk, and medicalised approaches to self-management which increasingly rely of the adoption of novel technologies (106, 107).

Another important weakness related to this model is that the concept of 'need' is largely absent. Although motivation is described, the model itself does not acknowledge different types of need and the ways in which they are enacted. For example, in Bradshaw's taxonomy of need, four types are described: normative need; felt need; expressed need and comparative need (108, 109). Normative



Figure 2: COM-B behaviour change wheel (Michie et al. 2011).

need is socially produced, felt need is a want or desire which has yet to be described. Expressed need is a felt need turned into action, and comparative need is generated through interactions with medical staff and health services (108, 109). The BCW and COM-B rely on felt need being converted to expressed need, with a small degree of acknowledgement of normative need. Comparative need is absent, despite it potentially being a major influence on health seeking behaviour.

The under representation of normative need is a symptom of a broader issue with COM-B which is that social influences on barriers, facilitators, and therefore behaviour are not given adequate attention. The production of these are social and structural and understanding their determinates are also central in addressing them. For example, participation in HIV prevention interventions (including testing) have become a highly normative activity for MSM and is often understood as a social obligation (19, 20, 110, 111). This process and this type of need are underrepresented in COM-B despite it being a primary driver in service access for many. It is for that reason that the final objective of my thesis is to examine the utility of COM-B as a model to understand behaviour change related to the intervention.

## 2.3 Multi-method approach

This thesis employs a multi-method approach to data generation, moving from one method to the next to develop a comprehensive understanding of the subject matter from a range of methodological perspectives. This allows for the capitalisation on strengths while minimising weaknesses of core data collection approaches (112). Rather than mixing methods for the purpose of triangulation, this multi-methodology focuses on theoretical integration of separate studies in order to address the overarching aim of my thesis (113). This involves using separate methods, with separate analyses and then integrating the new understandings gained as the final step (113, 114). Following this approach, I have focused on making pragmatic methodological decisions while rejecting what Bernstein calls the tyranny of the method (115, 116). Indeed, I selected each method used in my thesis to respond optimally to the objective it is addressing, rather than for the paradigm it is aligned with.

My thesis moves through several stages in a comprehensive data generation process. I begin with a prospective focus, interrogating important pre-implementation questions surrounding values and preferences as well as potential contexts of use. Following pilot intervention implementation, I investigate feasibility of intervention delivery and acceptability for those who have used HIVST. Finally, in a study grounded in interpretivism, the experiences of individuals are examined in greater depth to better elucidate how behaviour change has been facilitated for HIVST beneficiaries. This sequential approach to evidence generation is used often in development and implementation of new services and technologies in health care (117, 118).

44

Focus group discussions were the most appropriate choice for the first study in my thesis for several reasons. At the time this research began, little evidence existed to inform the development of an HIVST intervention in Europe. A major strength of focus group discussions is that they help to elicit normative understandings of community perspectives relating to a subject matter (119). This makes them especially useful for investigating new prevention technologies, their applications and potential reception (119).

The second study utilises longitudinal data drawn from the SELPHI trial with qualitative data from IDIs. This approach has the strength of measuring the aggregate experience of those in receipt of the intervention, while elaborating on and contextualising findings using participant's accounts of their own experience. This study is therefore led by the quantitative data with elaboration from qualitative sources, an approach called 'following a thread' (113, 120). This is especially well suited to acceptability and feasibility studies which can be measured in multiple ways and require a nuanced approach to generate useful understandings. Placing increased emphasis on quantitative data has the benefit of allowing a rigorous investigation into the ways in which acceptability and intervention uptake might vary across groups. Using qualitative data to add depth has the benefit of contextualising the reasons why this variation may occur and offer potential solutions to issues related to intervention delivery.

For the final study, in-depth interviews have been selected for data generation. This is the most appropriate approach as this work is concerned with the exploration of participants' understandings of their own experience in great depth, rather than the normative understandings which are elicited by focus group discussions. This approach enabled the collection of richer data and will help understand the broader influences on testing behaviour alongside accounts of experiences with HIVST. The focus on the broader influences of testing behaviour enables the testing of COM-B, using participants' own accounts of their experience and behaviour change journeys, without the influence of others. This allows for the examination of the ways in which HIVST can contribute to the well-being of MSM in England and Wales.

## 3. Results

My thesis has three main studies and therefore three sections of results. I outline these here before moving onto each section in turn.

The first study was a formative study of HIVST values and preferences investigated through focus group discussions with MSM in England. This formative section has two papers, one examining values and preferences and another elaborating on MSM's narratives of HIVST potential. I describe

45

how this formative study and others contributed to the SELPHI logic model, a key lens through which the intervention was subsequently viewed.

The second study in this thesis is an implementation study that interrogates the feasibility of delivery and acceptability of the intervention. This work is the lynchpin which changes focus from theoretical prospective questions regarding use to MSM's actual experiences.

Finally, my third study comprises two analyses of qualitative in-depth interviews with trial participants which provide important answers to key evaluative questions. Paper four in this section provides additional depth and nuance surrounding intervention acceptability, providing additional information regarding how interventions are experienced by their end users in order to support potential implementation. The fifth paper provides an analysis of how the SELPHI interventions performed when compared to our logic model, using an innovative testing typology as a lens through which to view divergent experiences.

## 3.1 Formative research

At the outset of the planning process for SELPHI, it was clear that there was little evidence that could support the design of an HIVST intervention, or strategies to deliver it optimally. My role in this early phase was to design a study which might help to answer some of these critical questions. Some of this was pre-specified in the funding bid but only at a very basic level, and development of final study design and methodology was left to me, supported by my colleagues.

I therefore looked to the literature which suggested acceptability would likely be high, that oral fluid testing might be preferred, and support would be a key issue (32, 121). There was however a lack of evidence regarding delivery mechanisms, preferences around instructions or contexts of likely use in a setting with a diverse array of existing testing interventions. In addition, little from comparable contexts was uncovered about how MSM might perceive HIVST in a context of diverse service provision, such as England and Wales.

In order to gain a better understanding of the groups who might benefit most from HIVST, I conducted an analysis of the 2014 Gay Men's Sex Survey (publication available in appendix 2). This indicated that those who test less frequently and not in line with UK guidelines (older men, younger men, those who were not gay identified) had stronger preferences for remote testing approaches including HIVST and HIVSS (15).

Using these data and taking the only available kits in the UK at that time, I designed a topic guide (appendix 3) and purposive sampling frame (appendix 4) to answer some of these critical questions.

This enabled the production of two papers which aided intervention development and made a significant contribution to the HIVST literature generally.

3.1.1 Paper 1: HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the UK: a qualitative study of barriers and facilitators, intervention preferences and perceived impacts



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

Student ID Number	1603113	Title	Mr	
First Name(s)	T Charles			
Surname/Family Name	Witzel			
Thesis Title	HIV self-testing for men who have sex with men (MSM) in England and Wales: a multi-method study of self-testing intervention development and evaluation			
Primary Supervisor	Peter Weatherburn			

## SECTION A – Student Details

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

## SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	PLOS ONE		
When was the work published?	09/09/2016		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	This paper was published very shortly before my registra period began. Registration for my PhD was delayed due t issues with registry and HR. This paper is foundational for the rest of the thesis and its inclusion was agreed by my upgrading assessors.		fore my registration as delayed due to s foundational for s agreed by my
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

## SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Stage of publication	Choose an item.

## SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of	I designed the study, data collection instruments and
your role in the research included in the	analysis tools. I recruited the sample, conducted data
paper and in the preparation of the paper.	generation and conducted the analysis. I wrote the first
(Attach a further sheet if necessary)	draft of the paper and carried out revisions.

## SECTION E

Student Signature	(h-al Dich.
Date	03/12/2019

Supervisor Signature	Rechar
Date	03/12/2019

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk





#### G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Witzel TC, Rodger AJ, Burns FM, Rhodes T, Weatherburn P (2016) HIV Self-Testing among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in the UK: A Qualitative Study of Barriers and Facilitators, Intervention Preferences and Perceived Impacts. PLoS ONE 11(9): e0162713. doi:10.137 /journal. pone.0162713

Editor: Dimitrios Paraskevis, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, GREECE

Received: May 4, 2016

Accepted: August 26, 2016

Published: September 9, 2016

Copyright: © 2016 Witzel et al. This is an open access atticle distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution Licenes</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: Our data will not be publicly available. As a qualitative study there are inherent ethical concerns surrounding making data available as it can be more easily linked to research participants than in other types of research. In order to protect the confidentiality of our participants, we are therefore not making data available. We will consider sharing an anonymised data set on a caseby-case basis, requests for this should go to the corresponding author.

#### RESEARCH ARTICLE

# HIV Self-Testing among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in the UK: A Qualitative Study of Barriers and Facilitators, Intervention Preferences and Perceived Impacts

#### T. Charles Witzel<sup>1</sup>\*, Alison J. Rodger<sup>2</sup>, Fiona M. Burns<sup>2</sup>, Tim Rhodes<sup>3</sup>, Peter Weatherburn<sup>1</sup>

1 Sigma Research, Department of Social and Environmental Health Research, Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom, 2 Research Department of Infection & Population Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom, 3 Department of Social and Environmental Health Research, Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

\* Charles.witzel@lshtm.ac.uk

## Abstract

#### Introduction

Innovative strategies, such as HIV self-testing (HIVST), could increase HIV testing rates and diagnosis. Evidence to inform the design of an HIVST intervention in the UK is scarce with very little European data on this topic. This study aims to understand values and preferences for HIVST interventions targeting MSM in the UK. We explore the acceptability of HIVST among MSM in the context of known barriers and facilitators to testing for HIV; assess preferences for, and the concerns about, HIVST.

#### Methods

Six focus group discussions (FGD) were conducted with 47 MSM in London, Manchester and Plymouth. HIVST as a concept was discussed and participants were asked to construct their ideal HIVST intervention. OraQuick<sup>TM</sup> and BioSure<sup>TM</sup> kits were then demonstrated and participants commented on procedure, design and instructions. FGDs were recorded and transcribed verbatim, then analysed thematically.

#### Results

Convenience and confidentiality of HIVST was seen to facilitate testing. Issues with domestic privacy problematised confidentiality. HIVST kits and instructions were thought to be unnecessarily complicated, and did not cater to the required range of abilities. The window period was the most important element of an HIVST, with strong preference for 4<sup>th</sup> generation testing. Kits which used a blood sample were more popular than those using saliva due to higher perceived accuracy although phobia of needles and/or blood meant some would

# PLOS ONE

Funding: This paper summarises independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) under its Programme Grants for Applied Research Programme (grant reference number RP-PG-1212-20006). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health. This research is being conducted as part of a National Institute for Health Research funded programme grant called PANTHEON; a collaborative project between University College London, the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the Medical Research Council and others. The grant number for PANTHEON (under which this project falls) is RP-PG-1212-20006. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript,

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Abbreviations: HIVST, HIV self-testing; HIVSS, HIV self-sampling; MSM, Men who have sex with men; FGD(s), Focus group discussion(s). only access HIVST if a saliva sample option was available. A range of access options was important to maintain convenience and privacy. HIVST kits were assumed to increase frequency of testing, with concerns related to the dislocation of HIVST from sexual health care pathways and services.

#### Discussion

Utility of HIVST arises from relatively high levels of confidentiality and convenience. Until 4<sup>th</sup> generation assays are available HIVST will be seen as supplementary in a UK context.

#### Introduction

Reducing late HIV diagnosis is a UK public health priority which has led to the expansion of HIV testing outside clinical settings  $[\underline{1}, \underline{2}]$ . Correspondingly, the volume of tests undertaken in the UK has increased dramatically, and the number of men who have sex with men (MSM) who have undiagnosed HIV has seen a steady decline over the past decade  $[\underline{1}, \underline{3}]$ .

HIV testing uptake and frequency remains sub-optimal however, with recent community surveys suggesting that approximately 25% of MSM have never tested for HIV and between 50–60% have not tested in the previous year [2, 4, 5]. An estimated 40% of MSM diagnosed with HIV in the UK are diagnosed late (defined as CD4 counts less than 350mm<sup>3</sup>), increasing the risk of HIV related morbidity and mortality [3].

Factors mediating MSM's testing decision making are complex. Significant barriers impeding access to testing include fears of the implications of receiving a positive result, stigma, and structural and health service factors [6,2]. In an effort to address these, policy makers, health promoters and commissioners have made significant attempts to promote testing and have expanded the volume and variety of HIV testing services across the UK [1].

While the majority of HIV tests in the UK are conducted in genito-urinary medicine (GUM) clinics, the last 10 years has seen a substantial increase in other testing options [1]. Point of care (PoCT) (or rapid) testing (undertaken by another person such as a healthcare worker) is commonly offered in a wide variety of settings by community based organisations. England has a national HIV self-sampling (HIVSS) service, where an individual takes a sample which they then post back to the laboratory where it is processed and the patient is contacted with the result [8, 9].

Another approach is to offer HIV self-testing (HIVST) where the person takes a sample, conducts the test and reads the result themselves. Self-testing was legalised in the UK in April 2014, with the first kite-marked HIV self-testing kit released to the UK market in April 2015. This kit uses a whole blood sample and is marketed under the name BioSure<sup>TM</sup>. HIVST has the potential advantage of increased confidentiality, privacy and convenience when compared to testing undertaken by a health professional, thus reducing key barriers for some individuals.

Evidence from outside Europe suggests that HIVST is acceptable to MSM both in high and low-income settings globally [10, 11, 12, 13, 14]. Data suggests that MSM appreciate the confidentiality and privacy afforded by HIVST but some feel the lack of counselling services as a routine part of the testing process is problematic [11]; the ease of use has also been raised as a potential issue [12, 15]. While very few studies have evaluated post-test linkage with counselling and support or with treatment outcomes [10] there is little evidence that HIVST leads to unintended harm [14] nor any other significant unintended outcomes [12].

While evidence emerges about the acceptability and likely feasibility of delivering HIVST interventions to key populations (see [14] for the most recent review), none arises from

England and very little from the rest of Europe [14]. Evidence to inform the design of an HIVST intervention for MSM in the UK is lacking. There is also a lack of evidence exploring how changes in the configuration of intervention components including delivery mechanisms and supportive strategies impact the acceptability of HIVST generally, an issue of particular relevance given that free HIV testing is readily available through a diverse array of other services.

This study aims to understand values and preferences for HIVST interventions targeting MSM in the UK. We explore the acceptability of HIVST among MSM in the context of known barriers and facilitators to testing for HIV and assess preferences for, and the concerns about, HIVST.

Our approach is embedded within implementation science, a field which seeks to translate and implement research evidence into policy and practice [16]. As such our results will be of particular interest to those seeking to understand the potential role of HIVST for MSM in the UK and other high resource settings (European and otherwise) with similar service provision (that is, good coverage of sexual health services for little or no cost).

#### Methods

#### Study design

This qualitative study sought to capture the perspectives of MSM in relation to HIV testing generally and HIVST specifically. Focus group discussions (FGDs) were selected in order to situate the perspectives of individual MSM in the context of group mediated normative understandings of HIV testing, such as those held within individuals' social networks.

#### Study sites and health service features

Fieldwork occurred in London, Plymouth and Manchester. These cities were chosen as they have a variable prevalence of HIV and differ in their population density of MSM. They also vary substantially in the provision and diversity of gay venues and HIV and STI testing services.

London (population 8.5 million) is exceptionally well served by specialist GUM clinics and has a range of community based testing initiatives run by both the statutory and voluntary sectors [17]. Manchester (population 511 000) has less extensively developed services compared to London, although there is good coverage with health service and voluntary sector HIV and STI testing available [17]. Plymouth (population 235,000) is a relatively small city and a regional centre, and in contrast has markedly less choice in sexual health care with one main GUM clinic and some provision from a voluntary sector organisation, both of which draw service users from across the counties of Cornwall and Devon [17]. At the time of the research, Plymouth was the only location in England piloting free NHS-provided HIVST. This was a time limited service in which 1000 tests were available for distribution.

#### Study participants & recruitment

Gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men (MSM) including trans men who were over the age of 18 and did not have diagnosed HIV were eligible for inclusion in this study.

Acknowledging differing patterns of testing across sub-groups, purposive quota sampling was used in order to ensure diversity regarding age, ethnicity, sexual orientation and past HIV testing experience including locations of previous HIV tests [2, 5]. In particular we emphasised including more men outside the ages of 26–39 years, as these men are less likely to test frequently [2, 4]. Further, we over-sampled ethnic minority men theorising that their barriers and motivators to testing may be different to men of White ethnicity. In our sampling strategy we

particularly focused on including larger numbers of participants who had utilised self-administered testing or sampling methods including HIVSS and HIVST.

Sampling proceeded iteratively, and as study recruitment unfolded, we made efforts to recruit those who had never tested and men at potentially higher risk of HIV transmission on the premise that they might have greater need for HIVST given the UK testing guidelines recommending quarterly testing for these groups [18], and the potential for HIVST to provide a gateway to testing for men who have never tested [11]. The first four focus groups (two in London, one in Plymouth and one in Manchester) were shaped by our purposive sampling, with one additional group conducted with men reporting at least two male partners with whom they had condomless anal intercourse in the preceding three months, and one final group of men who had never previously tested for HIV.

Participants were recruited through gay location based social networking applications (Scruff, Growlr and Grindr) as well as community based organisations in the three cities. Men interested in the research were directed to a web-pages detailing information on the study and collecting consent to be contacted. They then filled in a short survey providing demographic details (presented in Table 1) and, if eligible, their contact details. Participants were then selected and invited to participate in groups based on our sampling frame. In all, one hundred and ninety-six individuals completed our screening survey, forty-seven of whom were invited to and subsequently attended an FGD. Participants were compensated £40.

### Data collection and analysis

FGDs were co-facilitated by the lead author and various members of Sigma Research, a research group at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine which focuses on the social, behavioural and policy aspects of HIV and sexual health. A topic guide was developed collaboratively within the research team and refined after the initial focus group. The topic guide was theoretically underpinned by the COM-B model of behaviour change which highlights how capability, opportunity and motivation impact on and interact with behaviour [19].

#### Table 1. Participant demographic details.

Demographic features	MSM recruited	
Age group	18–25 years	9
	26–39 years	21
	40+	17
Ethnicity	Asian	6
	Black	4
	White	37
	Mixed / other	0
Sexual orientation	Gay	38
	Bisexual	5
	Other (not gay or bi)	4
Recency of HIV testing	In last 12 months	30
	12+ months ago	9
	Never	8
Past HIV testing locations	GUM	30
(multiple allowed)	GP	6
	Community / PoCT	6
	Self-sampling	11
	Self-testing	4

doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0162713.t001

Our guide covered all three domains, including HIVST intervention specific details (opportunity and capability) and perceptions of HIVST in relation to other testing opportunities (motivation). During the section on intervention specific details, participants were asked to construct their ideal HIVST intervention choosing preferred options for sample type (blood vs saliva), window period (the time it takes for a test to detect an infection; 12 vs 4 weeks representing 2<sup>nd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> generation tests respectively), mode of instruction (written vs video), and access option (postal delivery or pick-up). Participants were handed cards with all options printed on separate pieces of paper, and asked to mark their preferred option between each pair. They then ranked importance of each domain (sample, window period, delivery and instructions) from 1 to 4.

OraQuick<sup>TM</sup> saliva-based and BioSure<sup>TM</sup> blood-based testing second generation HIV selftest kits were also demonstrated for participants who were asked to comment on procedure, design and instructions. The sensitivity and specificity of the tests was only commented on by facilitators if participants queried them.

FGDs were transcribed verbatim. All authors familiarised themselves with the transcripts and agreed a thematic coding framework through consensus. This framework took higher level codes such as barriers / facilitators, intervention preferences, and impacts; nested sub-themes described the most common understandings expressed by our participants. The data was initially coded at the higher level themes, then at sub-themes. Finally these sub-themes were coded iteratively where appropriate to derive more nuanced understandings of values and preferences. This analysis was conducted using QRS NVivo 10.

#### Ethical considerations

Ethical approval for the MSM focus groups was sought from, and granted by, the ethics board at London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (reference 9893).

#### Results

Between July and November 2015, forty-seven MSM were recruited and attended a focus group. The sample was diverse, with a mean age of 36.1 years (range 20–64), more than 20% coming from Black and minority ethnic communities, 20% being not gay identified MSM and more than one third not following current UK HIV testing guidelines of annual tests for MSM [18]. We only asked men about condomless anal intercourse when recruiting to the higher-risk group so those data are unavailable for the majority of our sample, but in that group 9 men reported 2 or more anal sex partners with whom a condom was not used in the preceding 3 months. Location for past HIV tests was similarly varied, and more than 30% of our participants had accessed HIVSS or HIVST (see <u>Table 1</u> for full demographic details).

Overall very few were outwardly opposed to HIVST with most describing it as highly acceptable, both as a general concept, and after specific discussion of the two test kits. We describe two key perceived benefits of HIVST- confidentiality and convenience-and two key potential drawbacks-concerns about the process and fear of the potential for a positive diagnosis with no immediate support. We also examine the key features of an ideal HIVST intervention and describe the perceived potential impact of widespread HIVST availability.

#### Perceived benefits of HIVST

The primary perceived benefit was that HIVST (and to a lesser extent HIVSS) was assumed to be exceptionally useful for individuals who were concerned about privacy and confidentiality when accessing testing face-to-face. HIVST was widely assumed to afford a level of privacy that made HIV testing more accessible to people who otherwise found it difficult.

I'm from up north and everybody knows everybody else. So people will see you go into that building [GUM clinic], and people will talk. Nothing is secret, but having the opportunity to have that sent away or getting it instantly over the counter eradicates all that embarrassment (28-year-old gay man, London).

Except among men who had never tested, the importance of privacy was usually articulated on behalf of 'other' populations of MSM, and not for the speaker themselves. HIVST was perceived to be potentially beneficial for those that were not yet "out" about their sexuality, such as relatively young men, those who also had relationships with women, men living in rural areas, and those from ethnic and cultural communities where disclosure of homosexual activity remained taboo.

My ex-partner was a Muslim and within his family, and all that, being gay is not allowed. But I think having a self-testing kit when he can do it at home in our home, I know he would appreciate that. I know he couldn't take it back to where he's from, but in my home he can. (51-year-old gay man, Manchester)

British Asian participants in particular identified HIVST as far preferable to accessing testing from GPs who were seen to have close links with family and community. The added privacy and confidentiality conferred by self-testing was also thought to be particularly important for individuals who lived outside major metropolitan areas or where there were concerns about being seen to use GUM clinics or asking for testing in primary care services.

HIVST was widely understood to be a technology used within the home. The confidentiality of the intervention was therefore somewhat undermined for participants who lived with family or other individuals with whom they were not open about their sexual activity.

The next most frequently cited benefit of HIVST was convenience, including the speed with which a test could be done and result obtained. The opportunity to test, when they had time, and wherever they were, was highly valued. This was true for individuals who lived in all areas of the country, but especially for those that struggled to access acceptable services because of long travel times, part-time clinic opening times, or appointments procedures.

Well for me it's an hour to drive here, and hour to go to Truro. Newquay is an option, and then that's only certain mornings of the week and then it's taking time off work to go, so it does get quite tricky. (41-year-old gay man, Plymouth)

#### Perceived drawbacks of HIVST

When considering HIVST, some participants had serious concerns about their capacity to perform a self-test. A few were averse to any possibility of self-administering a blood-based test and would only use a saliva-based HIVST, however more feared the process of self-testing, including the potential for errors in generating and interpreting the test outcome.

I am quite clumsy and I am not good with instructions and I do not like to be told what to do. So, I think, how can you trust that it you have done it right? How can you trust that you can interpret the results correctly? (25-year-old gay man, Manchester)

For some this performance anxiety was generalised-they simply had no experience of using a lancet or collecting a sample or interpreting a result, while for others the perceived volume and complexity of the written instructions was a major obstacle. Some specifically raised concerns about the high literacy level assumed by the instructions.

By far the most common cited barrier to using HIVST was the fear of having a reactive / positive result without any immediate personal support. These views were common across all groups but participants in the higher risk and never tested groups tended to express them more strongly.

... if you do self-test and the results are positive, there's the trauma as well of that, that person being by themselves having tested themselves and found out they're positive (62-year-old gay man, never tested group, London).

For some participants this could be mitigated by self-testing with a partner or friend/s, but for others having professional support available was crucial if there was any possibility of a positive/ reactive result. These men would either never use an HIVST or would only do so if they felt there was no chance of a positive result.

#### Intervention preferences

In the intervention preferences exercise, the window period and sample type emerged as the two most important elements, with access options and instructions typically being seen as of lesser importance (<u>Table 2</u>). Below we explore expressed preferences for self-test attributes. These are mapped onto the COM-B domains they impact (alongside other HIVST attributes) in <u>Table 3</u>. We also describe whether each element is a barrier, facilitator, or could be either depending on the individual.

In all our FGDs the window period was the most important element of a potential HIVST intervention, with  $4^{th}$  generation testing commonly understood to be the gold standard. There was a strong feeling that for HIVST to have widespread utility, it would require a similar window period to a clinic test.

I guess you don't want it to be "oh crap, things went a bit crazy last week and I'll get this now and do it and oh this is a negative" and find that actually it's much more like twelve weeks... I could imagine [using HIVST] but only if I could get a test [where the] window period was as good as a clinic test. (20-year-old queer man, London).

Indeed, for many the perceived benefits of HIVST (privacy, convenience, immediacy) were eroded by the fact that all available self-tests at the time of the research were 2<sup>nd</sup> generation when 4<sup>th</sup> generation tests were available for no cost in other settings, including self-sampling services.

Blood based sampling was believed to be more accurate than saliva and there was a preference for these samples. The exception to this was the minority of MSM who had aversion to blood or needles who stated they could not utilise HIVST unless a saliva option was available despite the perceived accuracy limitations.

#### Table 2. Intervention preferences exercise results.

Number of respondents ranking in position							
1	2	3	4				
17	12	5	2				
12	13	9	3				
7	5	13	12				
2	7	9	19				
	1 17 12 7 2	1 2   17 12   12 13   7 5   2 7	1 2 3   17 12 5   12 13 9   7 5 13   2 7 9				

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0162713.t002

PLOS ONE | DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0162713 September 9, 2016

Table 3.	HIVST	attributes.	com	ponents an	d relationsh	ip to	COM-B	domains.

HIVSTattributes	COM-B domains	Barrier / facilitator
Choice	Opportunity	F
Confidentiality	Motivation, capability	E
Convenience	Motivation	F
Dislocation from care	Motivation	В
Intervention specific components	COM-B domains	Barrier / facilitator
Access options	Opportunity	F
Instructions	Capability	E
Sample type	Capability, motivation	E
Support	Motivation	В
Testing process	Capability	В
Window period	Motivation	E

Legend: B = Barrier; F = Facilitator; E = Either

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0162713.t003

Postal delivery of kits was preferred over accessing through retail or healthcare settings as this option was seen to be exceptionally convenient. However, there was a high degree of concern that neither the BioSure<sup>TM</sup> nor OraQuick<sup>TM</sup> kits available at the time of the FGD would fit through standard letter boxes, potentially causing delivery problems. For an intervention to have widespread appeal, multiple access options were considered necessary.

Participants valued a range of mediums for instructions, with a slight preference for video. The test instructions were felt to make both tests seem significantly more complex to perform than they actually were. The nature of the packaging also led participants to be suspicious of the quality of the tests themselves because they were perceived to be over-produced and over-packaged.

The most favoured method of support was a telephone helpline ideally available 24 hours per day for individuals who test positive using HIVST and for those with a negative result who required additional support, particularly around risk reduction. This was seen as crucial to mitigate against the perceived potential for self-harm.

In the UK context, where HIV testing is free at a range of venues many participants reported being unwilling to pay for HIVST. Those who were willing to pay typically stated that they would pay the equivalent of travel costs to a clinic, plus a small amount of additional money for the convenience. This figure ranged from a low of £4 in London to £10 in Plymouth, probably reflecting the difference in accessibility of HIV testing in these cities.

## Potential impact of HIVST

A wide range of potential impacts of HIVST were discussed. While increased frequency of testing was often cited as a benefit of HIVST, there were significant concerns about the impact of dislocating HIV testing from STI counselling and testing services and STI/HIV care pathways. We explore these below.

It was assumed that among those who would use HIVST, the intervention would facilitate more frequent testing. The highly convenient nature of the intervention, particularly in relation to potential long wait or travel times to clinics, as well as the reduced potential for embarrassment meant that providing HIVST was assumed to have the potential to dramatically increase the proportion of gay men that test every year, and the frequency with which they do so.

I don't think it's only the inconvenience, I take my health care quite seriously and don't want to have HIV and I'm not cavalier about it. On the other hand I don't think I've been tested for about two years where as if I could pick one up of supermarket shelf I'd probably have done that test about ten times. (38-year-old gay man, London)

However, participants tended to value time in GUM clinics, where staff were highly regarded for their role in educating and supporting patients about sexual risk management. While most pronounced in the higher risk group, concern existed for many that if individuals primarily tested through HIVST, this could lead to a de-skilling of themselves. This could be partially counteracted by providing enhanced sexual health information alongside HIVST, perhaps through a helpline or online.

I learn so much from when I go to get tested, there's always something new coming out or a trial or some sexual health information that I maybe didn't know and if someone's just carrying on their own doing it themselves...(26-year-old gay man, higher risk group, London).

A concern for several participants was the potential for an increase in STIs. These concerns typically came under one of two themes. The first was that widespread use of HIVST, if provided without other testing for bacterial STIs, could lead to increases in infections as individuals would not be accessing full screening. The second, less common but related theme, was that people using HIVST might test with sexual partners as a strategy to avoid use of condoms. The concern was that this could lead to an increase in either STIs, or that individuals with acute HIV infection might unwittingly transmit HIV to a sexual partner because of the window period.

People self-harming following a reactive result was the most common concern raised. This fear was projected onto 'others', with individuals rarely identifying themselves or anyone in their immediate social groups as being at risk of self-harm.

Some also raised concerns that HIVST could potentially lead to people not linking into HIV clinical care services following an HIV positive result, and the impact that this could have on disease progression for the individual as well as implications for onward transmission. This concern was also exclusively related to 'other' men, and not the speaker themselves or to individuals in their social networks.

## Discussion

In our study of six FGD with 47 MSM in three UK cities, we found that HIVST was highly acceptable. MSM cited convenience and confidentiality as key benefits of the technology. Concerns about the testing process and in particular about the potential for a positive diagnosis using HIVST were commonly cited drawbacks. This is congruent with previous studies among MSM conducted largely in Australia, the USA and China (as well as emerging evidence from Scotland) indicating that HIVST is acceptable to MSM in a large part because of the associated privacy and ease of access, with concerns relating to support and capability in performing the tests [12, 14, 20].

#### Intervention potential

An important finding of this study is the degree to which the intervention components (window period, sample type, access options, instructions and support) impact upon the acceptability of HIVST to those who might find it useful.

Fourth generation testing was of very high importance. This is particularly true as, in relation to all other testing methods, HIVST is felt to facilitate immediate knowledge of one's HIV status, something undermined by a three-month window period. This poses potential questions as to the role of HIVST until 4<sup>th</sup> generation tests are available given the availability of 4<sup>th</sup> generation self-administered HIV testing methods through HIVSS services.

In contrast to much of the published literature [12, 14], we found a greater preference for blood based tests than for saliva sampling largely because participants felt that blood was a more accurate sample type. It is crucial to note however that for HIVST to have a wide appeal, a saliva option is also required otherwise those averse to needles or taking their own blood will be excluded.

It was clear that a range of access options were vital to ensure that the intervention was both confidential and convenient for a wide range of people with a diverse set of needs. The packaging and instructions of HIVST were also of importance to our participants, particularly given the high level of concern surrounding individuals' own capabilities to perform HIVST. The instructions were seen to over complicate the testing process and led to a high degree of confusion and anxiety. The format and intricacy of the instructions were in the main developed in order to gain CE marking (crucial for certain products for sale in the European Economic Area) indicating that this issue will likely persist.

Through understanding HIVST attributes and their relationship to COM-B domains, promotion of HIVST can capitalise on facilitators by ensuring that intervention components support men's values. Convenience and confidentiality in particular can be maintained by offering multiple access options while intelligent service design can make efforts to counteract significant barriers. Understanding and reducing barriers such as concerns around capability can be done through providing a range of instructions which should also enable motivational approaches to work more effectively.

Indeed, perhaps the greatest benefit of an HIVST intervention to commissioners and policymakers is the opportunity provided by the potential flexibility of HIVSTs; they should be able to cater to a range of needs within a population through provision of different kit options regarding sample type, access points and instructions. By understanding how elements in HIVST interventions impact on individual's capability, opportunity, motivation and ultimately behaviour, service delivery can be tailored to suit the needs of particular groups, perhaps expanding testing to new sub-groups of MSM.

#### Context of implementation

HIVST was thought likely to provide opportunity and increase motivation for more frequent testing among MSM given its convenience, confidentiality and accessibility. Given the low level of willingness to pay, this is particularly true should HIVST be widely available at no cost. This is encouraging for policy makers and health practitioners who aspire to lessen the interval between tests for all MSM [2], and the time between infection and diagnosis for those acquiring HIV [21].

The opportunity to test away from clinical settings was problematic for some participants who feared the dislocation of HIV testing from STI screening and current care pathways. This underlines the central role that sexual health services play in the sexual health of MSM. The anxiety surrounding HIVST is heightened by the increasing focus on self-care and diagnosis on a remote basis with sexual health interventions increasingly being delivered in the community and remotely. These shifts are driven partly by public health policies aiming to increase the variety of testing options available [2, 22], by cuts to public health budgets [22] and as part of broader shifts in how care and responsibility for care is governed [23].

Consistent with other published research [24] we found that MSM were unlikely to utilise HIVST as their primary testing method. This was because of concern about the dislocation of testing from other services and preference for 4<sup>th</sup> generation HIV testing. Therefore, when designing interventions, HIVST should be considered a supplementary option which can increase the ability of individuals to test frequently while potentially diverting lower risk individuals from clinical services. For HIVST to be widely adopted, innovative strategies to embed HIVST within existing care pathways must be developed. In particular, it may be highly acceptable for HIVST to be delivered as part of an integrated package of care, include the provision of self-sampling kits for bacterial STIs and access to health advisor support if required. Using existing clinical services to manage the distribution of kits and provide care pathways may harness the widespread trust in GUM services and lend increased legitimacy to self-testing.

#### Strengths and limitations

This manuscript presents the results of a formative qualitative study investigating values and preferences of a potential HIVST intervention among MSM in the UK. While HIV testing preferences and behaviours within this group have been extensively studied and documented, this is the first UK research describing preferences for HIVST interventions. This data will be exceptionally useful when considered alongside emerging evidence from Scotland which reports HIVST is highly acceptable among MSM and stakeholders [20].

Our results should be interpreted with some caution. For one, only 4 of our sample of 47 had previously used HIVST, so our results largely relate to perceptions of a new intervention. To counter this concern we over-sampled individuals who had accessed HIVSS, but there remain key differences between these interventions, particularly surrounding support and care pathways. Concerns around impacts will therefore potentially be over-emphasised and more research is needed to understand how these are borne out when HIVST is more widely used.

Further, as a study which is qualitative in nature, these findings should be understood as indicative of the diversity of values and preferences and their meanings among MSM in the UK, rather than representative of the entire population. We delineate how the context of implementation should shape the design and delivery of future HIVST service development and its evaluation.

#### Author Contributions

Conceptualization: TCW PW AJR FMB. Data curation: TCW. Formal analysis: TCW. Funding acquisition: AJR. Investigation: TCW PW. Methodology: TCW PW AJR FMB. Project administration: PW. Supervision: PW AJR FMB TR. Visualization: TCW. Writing – original draft: TCW PW. Writing – review & editing: TCW AJR FMB PW TR.

PLOS ONE | DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0162713 September 9, 2016

11/13

#### References

- Skingsley A, Yin Z, Kirwan P, Croxford S, Chau C, Conti S, et al. HIV in UK 2015- situation report 2015: data to end 2014. Public Health England, London. 2015.
- Witzel TC, Melendez-Torres GJ, Hickson F, Weatherburn P. HIV testing history and preferences for future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other MSM in England. BMJ Open (in press).
- Yin Z, Brown AE, Hughes G, Nardone A, Gill O N, Delpech V & contributors. HIV in the UK 2014 Report: data to end 2013. Public Health England, London. 2014.
- Knussen C, Flowers P, McDaid LM. Factors associated with recency of HIV testing amongst men residing in Scotland who have sex with men. AIDS Care. 2013;26(3): 297–303. doi: <u>10.1080/09540121.</u> <u>2013.824543</u> PMID: <u>23947757</u>
- McDaid LM, Aghaizu A, Frankis J, Riddell J, Nardone A, Mercey D, Johnson AM, Hart GJ, Flowers P. Frequency of HIV testing among gay and bisexual men in the UK: implications for HIV prevention. HIV Medicine. 2016; doi: <u>10.1111/hiv.12373</u>
- Lorenc T, Marrero-Guillamón I, Llewellyn A, Aggleton P, Cooper C, Lehmann A, Lindsay C. HIV testing among men who have sex with men (MSM): systematic review of qualitative evidence. Health Education Research. 2011; 26(5):834–846. doi: 10.1093/her/cyr064 PMID: 21873612
- Flowers P, Knussen C, Li J, McDaid L. Had testing been normalized? An analysis of changes in barriers to HIV testing among men who have sex with men between 2000 and 2010 in Scotland, UK. HIV Medicine. 2013; 14(2): 92–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1293.2012.01041.x PMID: 22934820
- Katz D, Golden M, Hughes J, Farquhar C, Stekler J. Acceptability and ease of use of home self-testing for HIV among MSM. Seattle (Washington), March 5 – 8th, 2012. <u>http://retroconference.org/2012b/</u> PDFs/1131.pdf.
- Westrop SJ, Brady M, McOwan A, Nardone A. A comparison of clients using National online HIV selfsampling services with those testing for HIV in STI clinics in England, 2013. Controlling the HIV Epidemic with Antiretrovirals: Avoiding the Cost of Inaction, IAPAC Conference, London, 18–19 September 2014.
- Pant Pai N, Sharma J, Shivkumar S, Pillay S, Vadnais C, Joseph L, Dheda K, Peeling RW. Supervised and Unsupervised Self-Testing for HIV in High- and Low-Risk Populations: A Systematic Review. PLoS Med 2013; 10(4):.
- Krause J, Subklew-Sehume F, Kenyon C, Colebunders R. Acceptability of HIV self-testing: a systematic literature review. BMC Public Health 2013; 13:735. doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2458-13-735</u> PMID: 23924387
- Mavedzenge SN, Baggaley R, Corbett EL. A Review of Self-Testing for HIV: Research and Policy Priorities in a New Era of HIV Prevention. Clin Infect Dis. 2013; Jul 1; 57(1): 126–138. doi: <u>10.1093/cld/</u> cit156 PMID: 23487385
- Ibitoye M, Frasca T, Giguere R, Carballo-Dieguez A. Home Testing Past, Present and Future: Lessons Learned and Implications for HIV Home Tests. AIDS Behav 2014; 18:933–949. doi: <u>10.1007/s10461-013-0668-9</u> PMID: <u>24281697</u>
- Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Baggaley R. Attitudes and Acceptability on HIV Self-testing Among Key Populations: A Literature Review. AIDS Behav 2015; 19: 1949. doi: <u>10.1007/s10461-015-1097-8</u> PMID: <u>26054390</u>
- Johnson C, Baggaley R, Forsythe S, van Rooyen H, Ford N, Mavedzenge SN, et al. Realizing the Potential for HIV Self-Testing. AIDS Behav 2014: 18:S391–S395. doi: <u>10.1007/s10461-014-0832-x</u> PMID: 24986599
- Glasgow RE, Eckstein ET, ElZarrad MK. Implementation Science Perspectives and Opportunities for HIV/AIDS Research: Integrating Science, Practice and Policy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013; 63 (1): s26–s31
- Love My Town. All UK Towns & Cities in Population Order (2011 Census). 2015. (Last updated 28/08/ 2015) [love mytown.co.uk].
- British HIV Association, British Association of Sexual Health and HIV, British Infection Society. UK National Guidelines for HIV Testing 2008. [Online] Available from: <u>bhiva.org</u>
- Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. Implementation Science. 2011; 6:42. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-42 PMID: 21513547
- Flowers P, Riddell J, Park C, Ahmed B, Young I, Frankis J, Davis M, Gilbert M, Estcourt C, Wallace L, McDaid LM. Preparedness for use of the rapid result HIV self-test by gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM): a mixed methods exploratory study amongst MSM and those involved in prevention and care. HIV Medicine. 2016; early view 5 August 2016 (doi: <u>10.1111/hiv.12420</u>).

- Dodds C, Weatherburn P. Reducing the length of time between HIV infection and diagnosis. BMJ 2007; 334: 1329–1330. PMID: <u>17599977</u>
- 22. National AIDS Trust. HIV prevention in England's high prevalence local authorities: 2013/2014 and 2014/2015. National AIDS Trust: London. 2015.
- Banda J. 2013. Rapid Home HIV Testing: Risk and the Moral Imperatives of Biological Citizenship. Body & Society. 2015; 21(4):24–47.
- Bilardi JE, Walker S, Read T, Prestage G, Chen M Y, Guy R, et al. Gay and Bisexual Men's Views on Rapid Self-Testing for HIV. AIDS Behav. 2013; 17:2093–2099. doi: <u>10.1007/s10461-012-0395-7</u> PMID: <u>23297083</u>

The first paper gives an in-depth overview of the likely dimensions of intervention acceptability and how specific decisions may shape uptake (e.g. home delivery and the implications for those with domestic privacy concerns). This data was less useful for exploring contexts of HIVST adoption, a potentially key consideration for the RCT and academia more generally.

During the focus groups it became clear that HIVST had a very specific relationship to norms around HIV testing, and that these would likely be highly relevant. I had used COM-B to guide the production of the topic guide and in initial coding, and these emerging results did not seem to fit well with what the model proposed. They also seemed to potentially threaten the central aspiration of HIVST as diagnosing incident and prevalent infections more quickly than other testing methods by expanding testing to new audiences (2).

In order to explore these data more fully, in the initial analysis I included the deductive codes risk, reassurance and norms, and coded data relevant to these very broadly. After initial coding I inductively coded data captured within these, generating the analysis presented here.

Attempts to interpret the data confirmed that COM-B could not speak to these results. The model did not serve as a convincing lens through which to view what I had observed. I therefore took the decision to look to social theory, especially to Rose and Novas' (2003) concept of biological citizenship (122) and Aronowitz (2009) and Lupton's (1995) ideas around the biomedicalisation of risk (123, 124). This allowed for an exploration of the narrative understandings of HIV testing among MSM and how HIVST may fit into these in the future.

Paper 2 of my thesis therefore moves to understanding intervention potential based on testing narratives amongst intended beneficiaries. Understanding this provides a critical evidence for RCT design and also for the academy more generally. This paper is of direct relevance to policy makers and commissioners in designing interventions which respond to the likely use of self-tests. 3.1.2 Paper 2: Risk, reassurance and routine: a qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

## SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1603113	Title	Mr
First Name(s)	T Charles		
Surname/Family Name	Witzel		
Thesis Title	HIV self-testing for men who have sex with men (MSM) in England and Wales: a multi-method study of self-testing intervention development and evaluation		
Primary Supervisor	Peter Weatherburn		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

## SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMC Public Health		
When was the work published?	22/05/2017		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	NA		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

## SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

of publication Choose an item.
--------------------------------

## SECTION D - Multi-authored work

## SECTION E

Student Signature	R. al Dul.
Date	03/12/2019

Supervisor Signature	Rether
Date	03/12/2019

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH ARTICLE**



CrossMark

**BMC** Public Health

# Risk, reassurance and routine: a qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England

T. Charles Witzel<sup>1\*</sup>, Peter Weatherburn<sup>1</sup>, Alison J. Rodger<sup>2</sup>, Adam H. Bourne<sup>1</sup> and Fiona M. Burns<sup>2</sup>

## Abstract

**Background:** HIV testing has seen a rapid evolution over the last decade with multiple modalities now in use globally. In recent years HIV self-testing (HIVST) has been legalised in the UK paving the way for further expansion of testing. Interventions are delivered in particular social contexts which shape uptake. It is therefore important to understand how novel interventions are likely to be received by their intended users. This study aims to understand how HIVST compliments existing testing strategies considered or adopted by men who have sex with men (MSM). We do this by analysing normative discourses surrounding HIV testing and their perceptions of HIVST's potential future roles.

**Methods:** Six focus group discussions (FGDs) were conducted with 47 MSM in London, Manchester and Plymouth. One focus group included only MSM who reported higher risk behaviours and one with those who had never tested for HIV. Data were analysed through a thematic framework analysis.

**Results:** Three main narratives for testing for HIV were identified: (i) testing in response to a specific risk event; (ii) as reassurance when there was a small amount of doubt or anxiety related to HIV; and (iii) in response to social norms perpetuated through peers, HIV community groups and the medical establishment to test regularly for HIV. HIVST had limited utility for men when testing in response to specific risk events except in the case of significant structural barriers to other testing opportunities. HIVST was considered to have utility when seeking reassurance, and was thought to be very useful when testing to satisfy the needs and expectations of others around regular testing. There was some ambivalence about the incursion of a clinical intervention into the home.

**Conclusions:** HIVST following risk events will likely be limited to those for whom existing service provision is insufficient to meet immediate needs based on structural or personal barriers to testing. Obligations of biological citizenship are central to MSM's understanding of the utility of HIVST. In the context of discourses of biocitizenship, men perceive HIVST to have dual roles: firstly as a tool to manage (mild) anxiety around one's HIV status based on an acknowledgment of HIV vulnerability arising from being homosexually active. Secondly, HIVST is useful in complying with social norms and meeting the perceived demands of biomedicine.

Correspondence: Charles.Witzel@lshtm.ac.uk

Sigma Research, Department of Social and Environmental Health Research, Faculty of Public Health & Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2017 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

#### Background

HIV testing is essential for the diagnosis and treatment of HIV, and alongside widely available antiretroviral therapy (ART) has facilitated an enormous decrease in HIV related morbidity and mortality. The first HIV antibody test became available in 1985 [1], and for many years testing was only accessible in clinical settings with significant emphasis placed on pre and post-test counselling by trained healthcare workers. Throughout the 1980s and most of the 1990s, in the United Kingdom HIV testing was primarily used as a diagnostic tool and was not actively promoted in the name of HIV prevention, which in combination with lack of any effective treatment resulted in comparatively low rates of uptake [1].

As understanding of the public health benefits of reducing undiagnosed infection and, latterly, treatment as prevention (TasP) grew [2-7], testing underwent significant expansion. Policy change and the introduction of low-cost rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) facilitated this. In 2008 the British HIV Association (BHIVA) UK guidelines recommended annual HIV testing among men who have sex with men (MSM) (or more frequently if at increased risk) [8]. More recently, the 2014 British Association for Sexual Health and HIV (BASHH) guidelines call for annual testing for MSM with 3-monthly HIV testing for MSM following 'unprotected' sexual contact (oral, genital or anal) with a new partner, following an STI diagnosis, or the use of drugs which might be a marker of risk behaviour [9]. RDTs meant testing could now be delivered in a variety of settings not just by clinical staff but also community health workers and volunteers

Testing interventions in the UK proliferated both within and beyond clinical settings [10-14]. More recently testing has moved into the domestic and private spheres with the introduction of self-administered testing methods such as HIV self-sampling (HIVSS) and HIV self-testing (HIVST) [15, 16]. Individuals utilising HIVSS collect the sample themselves, then post it to a laboratory who processes it and returns a result. With HIVST, individuals perform an RDT themselves and interpret their own result. Currently available HIVSTs in the UK are all 2nd generation, meaning that the period between infection and a reactive result is around 12 weeks [17]. HIVST is simply the latest technological innovation, which further increases the volume and variety of ways in it is feasible to establish one's current HIV status. HIVSS is provided by the statutory and voluntary sectors across much of England, while HIVST is currently only available commercially (not withstanding sporadic public provision through pilot and demonstration projects).

Public health discourses around testing have also shifted, and increasing the frequency with which MSM

test has become a dominant focus of HIV prevention efforts. Indeed, recent campaigns (see Fig. 1 for an example) for groups most affected by HIV in the UK have moved on from focusing primarily on condom use to an almost exclusive focus on the promotion of HIV testing [18, 19].

While expansion of the volume and variety of testing opportunities has increased rates of HIV testing and reduced undiagnosed infections particularly in MSM [20], about half of MSM continue to test less frequently than advised in the BASHH and BHIVA guidelines and about 25% have not tested at all [21–24]. Six monthly testing uptake estimates for MSM at higher risk vary between 27 and 60% depending on the study [21, 22]. Meanwhile social norms emphasising frequent HIV testing among MSM have become pervasive, with conceptualisation of personal responsibility increasingly emphasising testing, rather than condom use alone [19, 25]. HIV testing is also the gateway to biomedical HIV prevention interventions, including pre (PrEP) and post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) as well as TasP [4, 26, 27].

HIV testing discourses are both varied and dynamic. Commonly understood narratives around patient initiated HIV testing include: testing in response to a risk event; because of symptoms which may be indicative of



infection; out of a feeling of responsibility to oneself or partners; or as part of health-seeking routines [25, 28]. Testing for HIV is embedded in particular cultural contexts and frameworks that can link HIV infection with deviance, promiscuity, shame and notions of immorality, making testing decisions particularly complex [29].

As HIV testing services continue to expand, HIVST may be utilised by commissioners as a low cost alternative, triaging patients unlikely to have HIV infection away from facility based testing. HIVST is also thought useful for increasing the frequency of testing for those who are most at risk and test insufficiently often [15, 27, 28]. It is crucial to understand, however, what role HIVST will play alongside the diverse array of HIV testing interventions available to and targeted at MSM in the UK. Further, HIV testing is often promoted and discussed by MSM in offline and online environments [18]. As interventions are delivered within particular social contexts, understanding normative discourses through narrative analysis in the groups which they target is an important component in understanding intervention potential upon implementation. This is particularly true in light of strong critiques of the responsibilisation of public health often put forward by sociologists concerned about the impact of the convergence of identity and the lived embodiment of a risk state among the 'most' at risk in society [29-31], a process if often referred to as biomedicalisation.

This study therefore aims to understand how HIVST compliments existing testing strategies considered or adopted by MSM. We do this by analysing MSM's narratives surrounding HIV testing and their accounts of HIVST's potential future roles. As a study grounded in implementation science, a field which seeks to translate research evidence into policy and practice [32], our results will be of interest to policy makers and commissioners who seek to understand the potential role HIVST will have in the sexual lives of MSM in high income settings. In particular, this manuscript focuses on the implications of these narratives for feasibility, potential intervention reach and equity concerns.

#### Methods

Full methods for this study are reported elsewhere [33]. Below we include an abridged version.

#### Study design

This qualitative descriptive study was conducted as part of the formative phase of SELPHI, a randomised controlled trial (RCT) taking place in England and Wales. To inform intervention design, our qualitative research sought to capture the perspectives of MSM in relation to HIV testing generally and HIVST specifically. Focus group discussions (FGDs) were utilised to situate the perspectives of individual MSM in the context of group mediated norms, such as those held within individuals' social networks. This analysis was not planned when this study was conceptualised, instead, the emerging narratives proved to be useful for intervention design, thus warranting further analysis.

#### Study sites and health service features

Fieldwork occurred in London, Plymouth and Manchester. These cities were chosen as they have a variable prevalence of HIV and differ in their population density of MSM [20, 34]. They also vary substantially in the provision and diversity of gay venues and HIV and other sexually transmitted infection (STI) testing services. At the time of the study Plymouth and the surrounding counties of Devon and Cornwall were the only location in England where HIVST was available at no charge through an NHS pilot initiative.

#### Study participants & recruitment

MSM, including trans MSM, who were over the age of 18 and did not have diagnosed HIV were eligible for inclusion in this study.

Acknowledging differing patterns of and perspectives towards testing across sub-groups, purposive quota sampling was used to ensure diversity regarding age, ethnicity, sexual orientation and past HIV testing experience including locations of previous HIV tests. In particular, we sought to include more men outside the ages of 26–39, as these are less likely to test in line with BHIVA guidelines [21, 24]. Further, we over-sampled men from ethnic minority backgrounds theorising that their barriers and motivators to testing may be different to men of white ethnicity [21]. We also focused on including larger numbers of participants who had utilised self-administered testing or sampling methods including HIVSS and HIVST. See Table 1 for demographic and health service use details of focus group participants.

Sampling proceeded iteratively, and as study recruitment unfolded, we made efforts to recruit those who had never tested for HIV and men at potentially higher risk of HIV transmission (defined as 2 or more condomless anal intercourse (CAI) partners in the preceding 3 months). This was partly because data saturation was reached after only four general groups, and also on the premise that these individuals might have greater utility for HIVST given testing guidelines urging quarterly testing for MSM with multiple condomless sex partners [8, 9], and the potential for HIVST to provide a gateway to testing for men who have never previously tested [35]. The first four focus groups (two in London, one in Plymouth and one in Manchester) were shaped by our general purposive sampling quotas, with one additional group conducted with men at higher risk, and one final group exclusively for those never having tested for HIV.

Participants were recruited through gay, location-based sexual networking applications as well as community-

#### Table 1 Sample characteristics

Demographic characteristic		MSM recruited $n = 47$
Age group (range 18–64)	18–25 years 26–39 years 40+	9 21 17
Ethnicity	Black Asian White Other/Mixed	4 6 37 0
Sexual orientation	Gay Bisexual Other	38 5 4
Recency of HIV testing	Never tested Tested over 12 months ago Tested in preceding 12 months	8 9 30
Past use of HIV testing locations (multiple answers allowed)	Genitourinary medicine clinic General practice Community based testing Self-sampling Self-testing	30 6 6 11 4

based organisations in the three cities. Men were directed to webpages detailing the study. They were invited to complete a short survey providing demographic details and, if eligible, their contact details. Participants were then selected and invited to groups based on our sampling frame. Participants were compensated £40.

#### Data collection and analysis

FGDs were co-facilitated by the lead author and members of Sigma Research.<sup>1</sup> A topic guide was developed collaboratively within the research team and refined after the initial focus group. The topic guide covered HIV testing behaviour, HIVST intervention specific details and perceptions of HIVST in relation to other testing opportunities. This analysis mainly focuses on the first section exploring how HIVST fits into health seeking frameworks. We began this section asking about the perceived barriers and facilitators to HIVST before moving on to hypothetical discussions about the likely situations in which individuals perceived it more or less appropriate to use HIVST. Finally, we asked about key influences on testing decision making, including risk, personal history and peer groups.

FGDs were transcribed verbatim. All authors familiarised themselves with the transcripts and agreed a thematic coding framework through consensus following the approach describe by Richie and Spencer [36]. This approach was chosen to reduce inherent bias in data analysis. This framework included higher-level codes such as risk, reassurance, and norms; within which nested sub-themes describing the most common understandings expressed by participants. The data were coded deductively initially, then the sub-themes were coded inductively to derive more nuanced understandings of testing narratives. This analysis was conducted using QSR NVivo 10.

#### Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was granted by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine observational research ethics committee (reference 9893).

#### Reflexivity

This work is the product of a collaborative, multiinstitutional, interdisciplinary effort conducted in the formative phase of the development of the SELPHI RCT. As such the team holds diverse perspectives on the potential role for health service and civil society in HIV prevention in high incidence groups. All authors believe that increasing the volume and variety of ways in which MSM can be empowered to learn their HIV status is productive so long as interventions are useful to MSM and meet their aspirations related to their sexual health.

#### Results

Our analysis identified three main narratives surrounding potential reasons to test for HIV: (i) testing in response to a specific risk event; (ii) as reassurance when there was a small amount of doubt or anxiety related to HIV; and (iii) in response to social norms perpetuated through peers, HIV community groups and the medical establishment to test regularly for HIV. During FGDs we did not ask our participants to describe their motivations or the anticipated motivations of others to seek HIV testing. Rather these narratives were volunteered within groups and explored further when appropriate. Here we describe each narrative about HIV testing generally in turn and then examine the utility of HIVST as a testing technology in response to each of these motivations.

#### Testing as a response to risk

The most cited reason to test for HIV was in response to a risk event, usually CAI outside a monogamous seroconcordant relationship. There was a perception that for many men, this was the only rationale for testing for HIV and without such a driver, individuals would not seek testing. The importance of testing for HIV following a risk event was universally acknowledged among our sample.

For those who had never tested, the most common narrative for not having done so was that they had used condoms consistently throughout their sexual careers and did not feel themselves to be at risk for HIV, and therefore felt HIV testing was not relevant for them. Well, I haven't had an HIV test and I've got a partner for 40 years now, but I do have other people as well, but I always have safe sex. Maybe because they have safe sex, they don't think they have to test. (62-year-old gay man, never tested group).

HIVST was not perceived to be useful by the majority when seeking a test in response to a risk event or in the context of ongoing sexual risk. This was partly due to concerns raised by participants about longer window periods (reported in Witzel et al. [33]) and partly because of the lack of individual support in HIVST interventions. Many felt dislocation from clinical care and staff meant they would not want to self-test if they thought there was a realistic possibility that the result could be positive. Rather, in these narratives, support from doctors, nurses and health advisors was central to motivations to seek care.

[...] this sounds really stupid, but for me I'd probably test on a self-testing thing and I'd probably be alright, but I think if I knew something was... I'd go to the doctor, which doesn't make sense but it's just... yes, like if I did something really crazy and I thought "Oh damn that was bad," the next day I probably would go to the doctor, where generally [not testing in response to risk] a self-test would be okay and that's me being honest. (46-year-old gay man, tested last 3 months, London).

For some, this was to do with the desirability of having a more complete package of care including other STI tests which were of some (although lesser) concern. HIVST was presented as interrupting care in this context, and providing it to people following a risk event could be seen as contrary to public health objectives. For these men, it was not just the HIV test that provided comfort, it was also the care and support surrounding testing services and provision of information and advice around sexual health. This was particularly pronounced among the men in the higher risk group.

Probably I would still go to the clinic, because as [name redacted] said there's the other stuff that it doesn't actually test for and it's specifically looking for one virus or antibody and it's not looking for signs of syphilis or gonorrhoea or NSU or anything like that, so it would still be the same for me. I go to the doctor every 3 months, 4 months. (31-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, higher risk group, London).

The exception identified by men where HIVST was useful in response to risk was where significant structural barriers to accessing testing existed and the mounting stress made testing immediately crucial. I think for me personally it would be more if I'd done something and I was concerned and I wanted to know quickly particularly if I tried to get an appointment at the local clinic and I had to wait a week or two to get a slot because they're quite busy but if I wanted to know really quickly then I'd prefer to get a test that way (33-year-old gay man, tested in last 3 months, London).

#### HIV testing as reassurance

Testing to gain reassurance of ones continuing HIV negative status was a common theme across our groups shaped by our general purposive sampling strategy as well as the higher risk group. While testing in response to risk was usually a response to a specific trigger event, testing as reassurance responded to recognition of an ongoing higher risk of HIV in the gay community. This need for reassurance about continued seronegativity was constantly reinforced by interaction with peers, with biomedicine and health promotion services. This was described in all FGDs, except for the group for those who had never tested.

For many men, being homosexually active brought a requirement to engage with the process of surveillance of one's HIV status. Social contacts were key in providing motivation and support for testing. Understanding and appreciation of belonging to a risk group was part of developing norms surrounding HIV testing, a distinctly social process which had a psychological impact.

None of my straight friends ever get tested, I don't think any of my female friends would know where to go to get tested at all and with my gay friends we'd text each other, and say: "It's negative, everything is clear" or: "I've got gonornhoea. Gutted. Need to get an injection in my bum." Yeah, we talk about it. (26-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, higher risk group, London).

While individuals were often very confident of a negative result when testing, low levels of background anxiety surrounding HIV were strong motivators to test regularly. Among individuals who tested very frequently, ongoing reassurance was a key component of their decision to seek HIV testing.

Interviewer: ... but what's the point in testing when you are pretty sure you're negative?

Participant: I think it just reassures you even if there's a small degree of doubt, there's a very very low chance but there's still a chance and actually it's quite affirming - it's nice to have that reassurance. (36-year-old gay man, tested in last 3 months, London). Risk of HIV in these narratives is viewed as a constant, and HIV testing is useful in managing and monitoring one's own risk and providing reassurance.

HIVST was perceived by many as useful to reassure oneself of a negative HIV status. This was particularly true for those who described a growing anxiety between tests despite the absence of a specific high-risk event. Self-testing for these men offered the opportunity to 'top-up' between other tests, and in the context of seeking reassurance from a self-test, the lack of support was perceived to be far less problematic.

I'm conflicted now, I think I think I came here feeling like I need comfort and I still feel like that but I also wonder if it was just small multi-pack cheap free casual testing... I wonder if that would be a nice thing for me actually because it would remove any of the building of the worrying about going to this place to get it done ... (29-year-old queer man, tested in last 12 months, higher risk group, London).

In terms of accuracy, HIVST was usually understood as a sub-optimal technology with longer window periods and less reliability when compared to point of care or laboratory testing available in other settings. For this reason, HIVST was sometimes seen as a gateway to more frequent testing for those who had a degree of anxiety and some participants assumed individuals would seek a confirmatory test whatever the result of the self-test.

Self-testing would be a brilliant thing because, yeah it's a bit like a pregnancy test. It might be wrong but it then might give people that kind of push to maybe go and then get tested again just reassure themselves... (26-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, Manchester).

# HIV testing as routine – norms, peer groups and biomedicine

HIV testing was strongly viewed as normative behaviour by the majority of MSM in our groups, including those who had never previously tested. The norm was sufficiently pervasive that in our general FGDs, men who had never tested struggled with disclosing this during the FGD and most did not. In our group for men who had never tested these disclosures remained difficult, with some participants choosing not to discuss their untested status although all members knew they were in a group of MSM, none of which had ever tested for HIV.

Individuals identified key sources of influence as crucial to developing social norms relating to HIV testing and the frequency at which it should be done. Men cited friends and peers as the principal information source around testing methods, opportunities and novel interventions. Health promotion practitioners and individuals working in clinical services were also important in prompting men to test, to repeat testing frequently and in highlighting specific services. The gay media and the commercial scene were also vital in the dissemination of testing promotion messages, particularly in major metropolitan areas.

Especially since I moved to Manchester, coming from [city in Scotland] it's a bit, the gay scene is a lot smaller and its... I hadn't noticed any advertisement and measures about it when I was there and as soon as I got here it was all about. Everywhere "Test, Test, Test, Test, Test" everywhere. And I think it has been very very easy to get, to get done here and I have been here 3 years and I think I have been tested three or four times because its constantly everywhere like. So I would say it's quite positively done here to be honest. (40-year-old gay man, tested in the last 12 months, Manchester).

While there was an acknowledgement that not all were testing as frequently as might be considered ideal, it was clear that men valued regular testing and saw it as a normative behaviour for all homosexually active gay and bisexual men. Themes of responsibility were particularly pervasive in discourses about regular testing, even among those who were unclear what the 'ideal' frequency was. These obligations were sometimes viewed with ambivalence, particularly given perceptions about a lack of consistency in messages about how frequently they should test. However, the pervasive norm for regular testing was largely uncontested and widely advocated and accepted as a part of being a 'good gay man'.

One of the most common assumptions about HIVST was that it was exceptionally useful for meeting the expectations of peers (and biomedicine) surrounding routine HIV testing. Pervasive norms about frequently testing for HIV meant some participants felt that the requirement to test placed too high a burden on their time. For these men, HIVST was a way to meet social and biomedical expectations while minimising the opportunity cost to themselves.

Because you're supposed to test...I think in theory, it was meant to test – well, every 3 or 6 months, or every new sexual partner. So in theory HIV self-testing, I don't think most people really use it for that [following risk]. But then obviously in practice it's different, because a lot of people will just test if there's a reason to. So I guess if you're testing as often as you should be, then HIV self-testing perhaps will be useful to you, but I don't know about the other way. (42-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, Plymouth). Self-testing was not always acceptable to men despite strong social norms around HIV testing. Instead, for men who were ambivalent or opposed, HIVST brought a clinical intervention into the home, clashing with other norms about what is appropriate in the domestic sphere.

[...]I would find it very difficult to envisage a situation in which I sat at home at my dining table with my cat looking at me with adoration whilst I identified my HIV status by sticking something here and then skewering my finger and then squeezing something in and looking at some colour chart. (51-year-old gay man, never tested group, London).

#### Discussion

In our focus group based study involving 47 MSM we found three main narratives surrounding motivations to test for HIV: i) in response to risk events, ii) as reassurance, and iii) testing to satisfy social and medical norms. HIVST had limited utility for men when testing in response to specific risk events except in the case of significant structural barriers. However, HIVST was considered to have utility when seeking reassurance, and was thought useful when testing to satisfy the needs and expectations of others around regular testing. There was some ambivalence about the incursion of a clinical intervention into the home. While health care professionals see HIV testing as a gateway to prevention strategies such as PEP. PrEP and TasP: this discourse was largely absent within FGDs perhaps indicating that these interventions are envisioned to take place within clinical services thus diminishing the potential of HIVST in these.

Based on the narratives we present, self-testing following risk events will likely be limited to those for whom existing service provision is insufficient to meet immediate needs based on structural or perhaps personal barriers to testing. Analysis of these narratives suggest that widespread adoption of HIVST in response to risk events is unlikely. Rather, men who are testing out of concern following CAI will likely continue accessing clinic based services, partly because of the much valued support from staff, partly because of the acknowledgement of the importance of STI testing and because of the longer window periods of current HIVSTs compared to clinic based POCT. The provision of self-sampling/ testing kits for bacterial STIs alongside well developed and easily accessible pathways for men to access confirmatory testing for HIV and other STIs may go some way to countering this concern, potentially also providing a clear link between individuals who are self-testing and clinical services. This is in contrast with recent Scottish data which indicated that MSM were willing to use HIVST following a risk event, although which also reports similar concerns around support [37].

Early adopters of new prevention technologies are likely to have distinct motivations for accessing interventions, usually reflecting an unmet felt need [38]. These narratives are likely to be more indicative of how middle and late adopters will perceive the utility and potential of HIVST upon roll-out. It is essential to understand these because they will shape initial reception, as the potential of an intervention is understood primarily in specific cultural spaces rather than through individual clinical or health promotion interactions. These motivations will also likely change over time as MSM experience HIVST and incorporate the new opportunities it affords into their health seeking frameworks.

Obligations of citizenship are central to MSM's understanding of the utility of HIVST. Under notions of biological citizenship individuals are expected to take an active role in their health, including managing and monitoring risk. Good citizenship is demonstrated by MSM through complying with the testing behaviours which are expected of them. In doing so individuals organise around biomedical categorisations and develop programmes of self-care in collaboration with experts. Responsibility is demonstrated through these regimes, and compliance with these are central to belonging within these groups [31, 39]. This process has contributed to a reframing of biological or behavioural vulnerability into a socially lived health state similar to disease [30, 39]. This is particularly true for those deemed 'most' at risk by epidemiology and the allied public health sciences [29].

Testing imperatives disseminated through varied public health actors have led to increasing uncertainty amongst MSM about the stability and durability of one's HIV status even in the absence of significant risk. Consistent with an emerging body of literature [40–42], our findings suggest that HIV risk is being conceptualised as a health-state worthy of intervention in itself.

While notions of biological citizenship within this group have historically focused on maintaining condom use [43, 44], the emergent paradigm supplements (and in some cases replaces) these messages with those reinforcing obligations of monitoring [45, 46]. This has been constructed through the emphasis on testing regimes disseminated by biopolitical actors such as policy organisations, health promotion agencies and practitioners, epidemiology, clinical staff and MSM themselves. While much of the literature exploring this emerges from those investigating PrEP and PEP use in individuals at high risk of HIV infection [41, 42, 47], our research indicates that this is a wider process which also includes HIV testing norms and imperatives.

In the context of discourses of biological citizenship, men perceive HIVST to have dual roles: firstly as a tool to manage anxiety around one's HIV status based on an acknowledgment of HIV vulnerability arising from being
homosexually active. Secondly, HIVST is useful in complying with social norms and meeting the demands of biomedicine. In this context HIVST is not necessarily seen as problematic; the anxiety producing the need for re-testing is very real and HIVST has potential to reduce this. Similarly, the frequency with which MSM are expected to test represents a significant burden on time. HIVST allows men to meet these needs in a more efficient way, both for themselves and potentially for health services.

It is important to note that individuals interpret risk subjectively through their own cultural and personal frameworks which often are only partially based in biomedical understandings of the potential for HIV transmission. While men do not currently appear to perceive HIVST as particularly useful in testing following a specific risk event because of the relatively long window period with currently available HIVST and lack of clinical support, that does not necessarily mean that the technology will not facilitate increased testing or reduce the time from infection to diagnosis. These current dominant narratives do however pose a challenge to the notion that HIVST roll-out alone will reduce health inequalities by cost-effectively preventing onward HIV transmission by reaching significant numbers of high risk MSM who might not otherwise be testing frequently enough.

Understanding the importance of testing as anxiety reduction and as routine indicates that developing HIVST interventions integrated within existing services to formalise supplemental testing routines within a package of care could be feasible and highly acceptable. These interventions could emphasise support through clinic visits and remote portals, thus perhaps addressing some of the well-being concerns generated by anxiety brought about by biomedicalisation of risk. Such a package of care remains unlikely to address equity concerns, however, as it will by nature facilitate a more formalised and structured clinical relationship between already engaged patients and clinical staff. Indeed, based on the findings we present here, penetration of HIVST in the medium term (when it becomes widely available at no cost) will perhaps be partly limited to those who are already engaged in sexual health care, therefore not addressing health inequalities in the way envisioned by public health practitioners.

Finally, our findings indicate that self-testing extends the reach of risk governance from the clinic into the home and will probably reduce the time interval between tests for many MSM. Like many previous technological innovations, including RDTs and HIVSS, selftesting reduces the time burden to know one's HIV status, an increasingly vital demonstration that an individual is a 'good gay man'. Whether HIVST also reduces the time between infection and diagnosis across the population of gay men acquiring HIV remains to be seen.

#### Strengths and limitations

This manuscript presents the results of a formative qualitative study of narratives around HIV testing and HIVST among MSM in the UK. While HIV testing motivations within this group have been extensively studied and documented, this is the first UK research describing motivations for testing in the context of the possibility of HIVST. This data will be useful when considered alongside emerging evidence from Scotland which reports HIVST is highly acceptable among MSM and stakeholders and other data relating to this study [33, 37].

Our results should be interpreted with some caution. Only four of our sample of 47 had previously used HIVST, so our results largely relate to perceptions of a novel intervention. To counter this concern we over-sampled individuals who had accessed HIVSS, but there remain key differences between these interventions, particularly surrounding support and care pathways. Concerns around support will therefore potentially be over-emphasised and more research is needed to understand how these are borne out when HIVST is more widely used.

Further, it warrants emphasising that this is an analysis of narratives surrounding HIV testing motivations, and that these therefore are reflective of normative understandings explored by our participants. While useful for understanding HIVST intervention potential, it is also likely that the diversity of the population of UK MSM and their decision making will not be fully represented in these accounts.

#### Conclusions

In conclusion, MSM in our study typically did not identify HIVST as a useful intervention when testing in response to risk unless significant structural barriers to testing existed. When testing to seek reassurance or in response to the expectations of biomedicine around regular testing, HIVST was considered to have utility. There was some ambivalence about the incursion of a clinical intervention into the home.

#### Endnote

<sup>1</sup>Sigma Research is a research unit at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine which focuses on the social, behavioural and policy aspects of HIV and sexual health.

### Acknowledgements

This paper summarises independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) under its Programme Grants for Applied Research Programme (Grant Reference Number RP-PG-1212-20006). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

#### Funding

This research has been conducted as part of a National Institute for Health Research funded programme grant called PANTHEON (RP-PG-1212-20,006).

### Availability of data and materials

The datasets generated during and/or analysed during the current study are not publicly available due to their highly sensitive nature. Reasonable requests for access will be considered by the corresponding author.

#### Authors' contributions

Conceptualisation and critical direction provided by FB, AR, PW, & CW. Data generation completed by CW, PW & AR. Data analysis carried out by CW. CW. AB. AR. PW and FB revised drafts and provided critical input. All authors have provided final approval

#### Competing interests

The authors declare they have no competing interests.

#### Consent for publication

Not applicabl

#### Ethics approval and consent to participate

Ethics approval was sought from and granted by the observational research ethics committee at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (ref: 9893). All participants provided written and verbal consent at the time of FGDs.

#### **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Sigma Research, Department of Social and Environmental Health Research, Faculty of Public Health & Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK <sup>2</sup>Research Department of Infection & Population Health, UCL and Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK.

## Received: 2 December 2016 Accepted: 5 May 2017 Published online: 22 May 2017

#### References

- Beardsell S, Coyle A. A review of research on the nature and quality of HIV testing services: a proposal for process based studies. Soc Sci Med. 1996.42(5).733-43
- Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T, Vernazza P, Collins S, van Lunzen J, Corbelli GM, Estrada V, Geretti AM, Beloukas A, et al. Sexual activity without condoms and risk of HIV transmission in serodifferent couples when the HIV-positive partner is using suppressive antiretroviral therapy. JAMA. 2016:316(2):171-81
- Attia S, Egger M, Muller M, Zwahlen M, Low N. Sexual transmission of HIV 3 according to viral load and antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2009;23(11):1397–404.
- Punyacharoensin N, Edmunds WJ, De Angelis D, Delpech V, Hart G, Elford J, 4 Brown A, Gill ON, White RG. Effect of pre-exposure prophylaxis and combination HIV prevention for men who have sex with men in the UK: a
- mathematical modelling study. The Lancet HIV. 2016;3(2):e94–e104. Granich RM, Gilks CF, Dye C, De Cock KM, Williams BG. Universal voluntary HIV 5. testing with immediate antiretroviral therapy as a strategy for elimination of HIV transmission: a mathematical model. Lancet. 2009;373:48–57.
- Quinn TC, Wawer MJ, Sewankambo N, Serwadda D, Li C, Wabwire-Mangen F, Meehan MO, Lutalo T, Gray RH. Viral load and heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(13):921–9. 6.
- Marks G, Crepaz N, Senterfitt JW, Janssen RS. Meta-analysis of high-risk sexual behavior in persons aware and unaware they are infected with HIV in the United States: implications for HIV prevention programs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2005;39(4):446–53.
- Association BH, HIV BAfSHa, Society BI. UK National Guidelines for HIV 8. Testing 2008. 2008.
- HIV BAFSHa: Recommendations for testing for sexually transmitted infections 9.
- in men who have sex with men. 2014. Rayment M, Thornton A, Mandalia S, Elam G, Atkins M, Jones R, Nardone A 10 Roberts P, Tenant-Flowers M, Anderson J, et al. HIV testing in non-traditional settings--the HINTS study: a multi-centre observational study of feasibility and acceptability, PLoS One, 2012;7(6):e39530.

- Burns F, Edwards SG, Woods J, Haidari G, Calderon Y, Leider J, Morris S, Tobin R, Cartledge J, Brown M. Acceptability and feasibility of universal offer of rapid point of care testing for HIV in an acute admissions unit: results of the RAPID project. PLoS One. 2012;7(4):e35212.
- Suthar AB, Ford N, Bachanas PJ, Wong VJ, Rajan JS, Saltzman AK, Ajose O, Fakoya AO, Granich RM, Negussie EK, et al. Towards universal voluntary HIV 12. testing and counselling: a systematic review and meta-analysis of community-based approaches. PLoS Med. 2013;10(8):e1001496. Bailey AC, Roberts J, Weatherburn P, Hickson FC, Reid DS, Fisher M, Dean G.
- 13 Community HIV testing for men who have sex with men: results of a pilot project and comparison of service users with those testing in genitourinary medicine clinics. Sex Transm Infect. 2009;85(2):145-7
- Leber W, McMullen H, Anderson J, Marlin N, Santos AC, Bremner S, Boomla K, 14. Kerry S, Millett D, Mguni S, et al. Promotion of rapid testing for HIV in primary care (RHIVA2): a cluster-randomised controlled trial. The Lancet HIV. 2015:2(6):e229-35.
- Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Baggaley R. Attitudes and acceptability on HIV self-testing among key populations: a literature review. AIDS Behav 2015:19(11):1949-65.
- Elliot E, Rossi M, McCormack S, McOwan A: Identifying undiagnosed HIV in 16 men who have sex with men (MSM) by offering HIV home sampling via online gay social media. Sex Transm Infect 2016, 0:1–4.
- Witzel TC, Rodger AJ. New initiatives to develop self-testing for HIV. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2017;30(1):50–7.
- Witzel TC, Guise A, Nutland W, Bourne A. It starts with me: privacy concerns and stigma in the evaluation of a Facebook health promotion intervention. 18 Sex Health, 2016:13(3):228-33.
- Flowers P, Knussen C, Li J, McDaid L. Has testing been normalized? An analysis of changes in barriers to HIV testing among men who have sex with mer between 2000 and 2010 in Scotland UK. HIV Med. 2013;14(2):92–8.
- Skingsley A, Yin Z, Kinwan P, Croxford S, Chau C, Conti S, Tosswill J, Hughes G, Anderson J, Gill ON, et al. In: England PH, editor. HIV in the UK Situation Report 2015: Incidence, prevalence and prevention. 20
- London: Public Health England; 2015. Witzel TC, Melendez-Torres GJ, Hickson F, Weatherburn P. HIV testing 21. history and preferences or future tests among gay men, bisexual me and other MSM in England: results from a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2016:6
- 22. McDaid LM, Aghaizu A, Frankis J, Riddell J, Nardone A, Mercey D, Johnson AM, Hart GJ, Flowers P. Frequency of HIV testing among gay and bisexual men in the UK implications for HIV prevention. HIV Med. 2016:17(9):683-93.
- Clutterbuck DJ, Flowers P, Barber T, Wilson H, Nelson M, Hedge B, Kapp S, Fakoya A, Sullivan AK, Clinical Effectiveness Group of British Association for 23. Sexual H, et al. UK national guideline on safer sex advice. Int J STD AIDS. 2012;23(6):381-8.
- 24 Knussen C. Flowers P. McDaid LM. Factors associated with recency of HIV testing amongst men residing in Scotland who have sex with men. AIDS Care. 2014;26(3):297–303.
- Lorenc T, Marrero-Guillamon I, Llewellyn A, Aggleton P, Cooper C, Lehmann A, Lindsay C. HIV testing among men who have sex with men (MSM): systematic review of qualitative evidence. Health Educ Res. 2011:26(5):834-46
- Witzel TC, Rodger AJ. New initiative to develop self-testing for HIV. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2016; [Epub ahead of print] 26.
- Johnson C, Baggaley R, Forsythe S, van Rooyen H, Ford N, Napierala Mavedzenge S, Corbett E, Natarajan P, Taegtmeyer M. Realizing the 27
- potential for HIV self-testing. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(Suppl 4):5391–5. Deblonde J, De Koker P, Hamers FF, Fontaine J, Luchters S, Temmerman M. 28. Barriers to HIV testing in Europe: a systematic review. Eur J Pub Health
- 2010;20(4):422-32. Lupton D. The imperative of health: public health and the regulated body. 29.
- London: Sage; 1995. Aronowitz AR. The converged experience of risk and disease. Milbank Q. 30 2009;87(2):417-42
- Rose N, Novas C. Biological Citizenship. In: Ong A, Collier S, editors. Global 31 assemblages: technology, politics, and ethics as anthropological problems edn. Carlton: Blackwell; 2003.
- Glasgow RE, Eckstein ET, Elzarrad MK. Implementation science perspectives and opportunities for HIWAIDS research: integrating science, practice and 32 policy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;63(1):s26-31.

#### Page 9 of 10

#### Witzel et al. BMC Public Health (2017) 17:491

- Witzel TC, Rodger AJ, Burns FM, Rhodes T, Weatherburn P. HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the UK: a qualitative study of barriers and facilitators, intervention preferences and perceived impacts. PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162713.
- PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162/13. Office for National Statistics. Sexual identity, UK: 2015; 2016. Available from https://www.ons.gov.uk. Accessed 30 Nov 2016. Krause J, Subklew-Sehume F, Kenyon C, Colebunders R. Acceptability of HIV self-testing: a systematic literature review. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:735. Ritchie J, Spencer L. Qualitative Data Analysis for Applied Policy Research. In: 34.
- 35
- 36
- Nitchie 3, spencer L. Qualitative Data Analysis for Applied Policy Research. In: Analyzing Qualitative Data. edn. Edited by Bryman A, Burgess RG. Abingdon: Taylor & Francis Books Ltd. 1994. Flowers P, Riddell J, Park C, Ahmed B, Young I, Frankis J, Davis M, Gilbert M, Estcourt C, Wallace L, et al. Preparedness for use of the rapid result HIV self-test by gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM): a 37 mixed methods exploratory study among MSM and those involved in HIV prevention and care. HIV Med. 2016.
- Grant RM, Jean B, Ogawa H: Scaling up PrEP for Impact in the USA. In: Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis in the EU/EEA: Challenges and Opportunities. 38 Stockholm: 2016
- Petersen A, Davis M, Fraser S, Lindsay J. Healthy living and citizenship: an overview. Critical Public Health. 2010;20(4):391–400. 39
- 40 41.
- 42.
- 43.
- overview. Critical Public Health. 2010;20(4):391–400. van Doom N. Treatment is prevention. Cult Stud. 2013;27(6):901–32. Keogh P, Dodds C. Pharmaceutical HIV prevention technologies in the UK: six domains for social science research. AIDS Care. 2015;27(6):706–803. Young I, Flowers P, McDaid L. Can a pill prevent HIV? Negotiating the biomedicalisation of HIV prevention. Social Health Ilin. 2016;38(3):411–25. Mowlabocus S. Gaydar culture: gay men, technology and embodiment in the digital age. Farnham: Ashgate; 2010. Watney S. Imagine hope. AIDS and gay identity. London: Routledge; 2000. Banda J. Rapid home HIV testing: risk and the moral imperatives of biological citizenship. Bordy: & Scriety. 2014;27(14):74-7 44 45.
- biological citizenship. Body & Society. 2014;21(4):24–47. Giami A, Perrey C. Transformations in the medicalization of sex: HIV 46.
- prevention between discipline and biopolitics. J Sex Res. 2012;49(4):353–61. Roberts ET, Matthews DD. HIV and chemoprophylaxis, the importance of 47. considering social structures alongside biomedical and behavioral intervention. Soc Sci Med. 2012;75(9):1555-61.

#### Page 10 of 10

## Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

BioMed Central

The second paper of this thesis, *Risk, reassurance and routine: a qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England,* provided insights into the potential contexts of HIVST use based on normative understandings of narratives around HIV testing more generally. Coupled with the findings of the first paper, it seemed likely that HIVST could be implemented and would be acceptable to a range of MSM, although questions remained regarding feasibility of delivery and acceptability for those who used HIVST, especially surrounding ease of use.

Sufficient information had been captured within these studies, and a further key informant interview study I conducted around the same time (the results of which are available in appendix 5) (125), to design the intervention for use in SELPHI. This was collaboratively developed with the clinical trials unit, with intervention components being selected based on their relationships with acceptability in the formative work, and because of pragmatic concerns related to trial design. The two-week follow-up was included as a response to concerns about lack of support identified in this formative research, as was signposting for Terence Higgins Trust (THT) direct, a voluntary sector run helpline covering the whole of the UK. These supportive concerns were related to care for self-testers with positive results and those with additional sexual health needs identified in this formative study.

In order to better illustrate pathways to impact in the two SELPHI interventions, I produced a logic model at this stage.

The logic model for SELPHI draw from the first two formative studies (the focus groups discussion study, the key informant interviews), as well as another study I led. This third study was a systematic literature map, which in itself was a collaborative project with the WHO, in which we began to capture emerging literature about HIVST acceptability, feasibility and RCT outcomes (protocol available in appendix 1, outputs available at HIVST.org) (31).

Focus group discussions, in-depth interviews and key results from the map provided themes which were mapped onto a framework informed by COM-B. Because SELPHI is an RCT situated within a supportive policy environment, the framework focused on producing behavioural alterations through the intervention functions specified in COM-B (Tables 4 and 5).

Contextual factors which I hypothesised to impact on intervention delivery included a cultural norm for regular testing; perceived issues with capability and concerns about supportive structures. The main testing barriers identified in formative work which HIVST could effectively respond to were motivation (reflective & automatic) and opportunity (physical & social). The intervention was

#### Table 4: COM-B intervention types (Michie et al 2011).

Interventions	Definition
Education	Increasing knowledge or understanding
Persuasion	Using communication to induce positive or negative feelings or stimulate action
Incentivisation	Creating expectation of reward
Coercion	Creating expectation of punishment or cost
Training	Imparting skills
Restriction	Using rules to reduce the opportunity to engage in the target behaviour (or to increase the target behaviour by reducing the opportunity to engage in competing behaviours)
Environmental restructuring	Changing the physical or social context
Modelling	Providing an example for people to aspire to or imitate
Enablement	Increasing means/reducing barriers to increase capability or

opportunity<sup>1</sup>

#### Table 5: COM-B domains and intervention functions (Michie et al 2011)

Model of behaviour: sources	Education	Persuasion	Incentivisation	Coercion	Training	Restriction	Environmental restructuring	Modelling	Enablement
C-Ph					1				1
C-Ps	1				-1				V
M-Re		1	1	1					
M-Au		1	√	1			1	√	V
O-Ph						1	1		1
O-So						V	V		1

1. Physical capability can be achieved through physical skill development which is the focus of training or potentially through enabling interventions such as medication, surgery or prostheses.

2. Psychological capability can be achieved through imparting knowledge or understanding, training emotional, cognitive and/or behavioural skills or through enabling interventions such as medication.

Reflective motivation can be achieved through increasing knowledge and understanding, eliciting positive (or negative) feelings about behavioural target.
Automatic motivation can be achieved through associative learning that elicit positive (or negative) feelings and impulses and counter-impulses relating to the behavioural target, imitative learning, habit formation or direct influences on automatic motivational processes (e.g., via medication).

5. Physical and social opportunity can be achieved through environmental change.

conceptualised as inducing changes in these areas, while minimising concerns around capability

(psychological & physical), which presented the primary barrier to intervention implementation.

The first intervention (intervention A (figure 3)) is linear, moving from targeted recruitment to a risk assessment represented by behavioural questions in a survey, then to receipt and use of the HIVST, and lastly a two-week follow-up survey. The advertisement was classified as a form of education and persuasion, seeking to enhance motivation (reflective). The risk assessment was a form of persuasion, enhancing motivation (reflective) by increasing feelings of vulnerability to HIV. Kit provision was a form of enablement increasing opportunity (physical). The two-week follow-up was a form of enablement, increasing motivation domains (reflective & automatic) (126, 127).

Intervention B (figure 4) includes all elements of A, with additional cyclical components consisting of a testing reminder and a linked risk assessment delivered every three months which triggers delivery of a new HIVST and another two-week follow-up survey. The testing reminder and linked risk assessment were forms of persuasion, targeting motivation (reflective & automatic). The logic model (figure 5) articulates intermediate outcomes assumed to be precursors to achieving the trial outcomes. Each intermediate outcome relates to a documented deficit or need constraining testing within the target population and which intervention design has been attentive to as a key area which requires change. They are described as an outcome (e.g. increased motivation to establish HIV status) and a COM-B linked domain which required alteration to achieve this (e.g. motivation (automatic)).



Figure 3: Intervention A schema



Figure 4: Intervention B schema

# Implementation context

Cultural norm for regular testing.

Perceived issues with own capability.

Concerns about supportive structures.

Interventions A & B

Intervention A

**Intervention B** 

Figure 5: Logic model for SELPHI interventions

# Intervention

processes

Targeted recruitment from apps / social media. Behavioural questions in enrolment survey. Delivery,

receipt and use of HIVST kit.

Two-week follow-up survey on kit use and result. Three-month testing

reminder

# Intermediate outcomes

Recruitment increases motivation to establish HIV status (motivation: reflective).

Participation in surveys increases risk perceptions (motivation: reflective).

Kit provision offers increased privacy for those concerned about disclosure of same sex activity (**opportunity: social**).

Kit provision increases access to testing (**opportunity: physical**).

Two-week survey increases engagement with testing by providing reflective experience (motivation: reflective & automatic).

Testing reminders provide reflective experience (motivation: reflective & automatic).

# **Trial outcomes**

Increased volume of HIV tests carried out and/or reduction in the time interval between tests.

Diagnoses of prevalent, possibly long-standing, HIV infections and entry to standard HIV clinical care, perhaps especially among men reluctant to test in clinical settings.

Diagnoses of incident HIV infections and entry to standard HIV clinical care, perhaps especially among men at increased risk.

## 3.2 Implementation research

This phase of my thesis covers implementation research and contributes paper 3, the next in this inquiry.

Following the successful completion of the formative work, the intervention design and logic model articulation process, implementation proceeded as planned with a pilot of the RCT during which we recruited 10% of the overall 10,000 sample. I had a central role in planning this, with the majority of the intervention messages designed by me with input from our participant and public involvement representatives. I also designed the recruitment strategy with the trial manager, the emails which linked to the various surveys and much of the process evaluation questions in the survey itself. The published protocol which details these can be found at Gabriel et al 2018 (92).

Feasibility and acceptability of the intervention were still central considerations. Although pilot projects had delivered HIVST in the UK at this stage, it was still unclear how our specific intervention would be received. These pilot projects also reported relatively limited data, especially regarding usability, a central question given the capability issues I identified in formative work. In addition, there remained no European evidence from people who had used HIVST and capability concerns had emerged as a major barrier in the formative work.

Although quantitative driven questions regarding intervention experiences were included, we decided to conduct 15 interviews with a cross section of those randomised to receive a kit in order to assess how individuals responded to the technology (topic guide in appendix 6). I found a relatively high degree of homogeneity in qualitative accounts in this study. Data saturation was reached promptly with these early questions, and I decided to stop interviews after 10 participants. This enabled an analysis attentive to how to expand the topic guide to include other domains in a further qualitative enquiry (papers 4 & 5).

I proceeded with the analysis presented in the following chapter in order to identify any alterations that were required with the RCT before full implementation. This paper is useful for those seeking to engage MSM in online RCTs, and for those working in HIVST implementation. *3.2.1 Paper 3: Pilot phase of an internet-based RCT of HIVST targeting MSM and transgender people in England and Wales: advertising strategies and acceptability of the intervention* 



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

## SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1603113 Title Mr					
First Name(s)	T Charles					
Surname/Family Name Witzel						
Thesis TitleHIV self-testing for men who have sex with men (MSM) in England and Wales: a multi-method study of self-testing intervention development and evaluation			en (MSM) in elf-testing			
Primary Supervisor	upervisor Peter Weatherburn					

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

## SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMC Infectious	Diseases	
When was the work published?	08/08/2019		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

## SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Stage of publication	Choose an item.

## SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I had a significant role in designing and implementing the RCT pilot. I helped design the intervention, I produced the acceptability questions in RCT, designed the recruitment strategy and messaging. I designed the quantitative analysis which was carried out by the trial statistician. I designed the qualitative data collection instruments, as well as the analysis. I recruited participants, conducted the interviews and carried our the analysis. I wrote the paper and made revisions.

## SECTION E

Student Signature	Charland-
Date	03/12/2019

Supervisor Signature	Particle
Date	03/12/2019

## Improving health worldwide

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

BMC Infectious Diseases



# Pilot phase of an internet-based RCT of HIVST targeting MSM and transgender people in England and Wales: advertising strategies and acceptability of the intervention

T. Charles Witzel<sup>1\*</sup>, Michelle M. Gabriel<sup>2</sup>, Leanne McCabe<sup>2</sup>, Peter Weatherburn<sup>1</sup>, Mitzy Gafos<sup>2,3</sup>, Andrew Speakman<sup>4</sup>, Roger Pebody<sup>5</sup>, Fiona M. Burns<sup>4,6</sup>, Chris Bonell<sup>7</sup>, Fiona C. Lampe<sup>4</sup>, David T. Dunn<sup>2</sup>, Denise Ward<sup>2</sup>, Justin Harbottle<sup>8</sup>, Andrew N. Phillips<sup>4</sup>, Sheena McCormack<sup>2</sup> and Alison J. Rodger<sup>4,6</sup>

## Abstract

**Background:** The SELPHI study (An HIV Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) is an online randomised controlled trial (RCT) of HIV self-testing (HIVST). The aim of this study was to assess the feasibility of recruiting UK men who have sex with men (cis and trans) and trans women who have sex with men to the SELPHI pilot, and the acceptability of the HIVST intervention used among those randomised to receive a kit.

**Methods:** A mixed-methods approach to assessing trial feasibility and intervention acceptability was taken, using quantitative data from advertising sources and RCT surveys alongside qualitative data from a nested sub-study.

**Results:** Online recruitment and intervention delivery was feasible. The recruitment strategy led to the registration of 1370 participants of whom 76% (1035) successfully enrolled and were randomised 60/40 to baseline testing vs no baseline testing. Advertising platforms performed variably. Reported HIVST kit use increased from 83% at two weeks to 96% at three months. Acceptability was very high across all quantitative measures. Participants described the instructions as easy to use, and the testing process as simple. The support structures in SELPHI were felt to be adequate. Described emotional responses to HIVST varied.

**Conclusions:** Recruiting to a modest sized HIVST pilot RCT is feasible, and the recruitment, intervention and HIVST kit were acceptable. Research on support needs of individuals with reactive results is warranted.

Keywords: HIV self-testing, Men who have sex with men, Transgender people, Randomised controlled trial, Online service delivery, Implementation science, Process evaluation

#### Background

Late diagnosis of HIV infection and on-going HIV transmission in UK men who have sex with men (MSM) and transgender people are enduring public health challenges [1, 2]. Despite recent successes in reducing HIV incidence through combination prevention initiatives including expansion of

\* Correspondence: Charles.Witzel@lshtm.ac.uk

<sup>1</sup>Sigma Research, Department of Public Health, Environments & Society, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 15-17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 95H, UK Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

Full list of author information is available at the end of the ar

testing, many MSM continue to test sub-optimally and up to 25% have never tested [1, 3–5]. Few data exist on HIV testing among transgender people, although transgender women are disproportionately affected by HIV [6, 7] and evidence suggests innovative HIV prevention interventions are key to reducing incidence in this group [7].

HIV self-testing (HIVST) is a recent approach whereby an individual tests themselves and reads their own result using a rapid diagnostic test. There is an emerging evidence base suggesting that HIVST has the potential to improve access and overcome barriers to testing through



© The Author(s). 2019 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated. reducing stigma and privacy concerns as well as increasing convenience and ameliorating geographical barriers in areas underserved by other HIV testing opportunities [8, 9]. It also provides flexibility in intervention design: components and delivery mechanisms can be adapted depending on the target population [8]. In 2016 the World Health Organization incorporated HIVST into its Consolidated Guidelines for HIV Testing Services with the recommendation that HIVST be provided as a supplementary option alongside existing services [10].

Evidence from UK studies conducted shortly after HIVST became commercially available in 2015 suggests that HIVST is acceptable, and that MSM have preferences for blood-based tests (due to perceptions of greater accuracy) and easy access to confirmatory testing [5, 11, 12]. However, a minority of MSM with aversion to blood reported being unwilling to use a blood-based kit [11]. Home delivery of an HIVST kit is a barrier for some with concerns around domestic privacy [11]. HIVST may be more appealing to groups who do not test in line with current guidelines, which recommend annual testing for all MSM, or more frequent testing if at increased risk [5]. Evidence also suggests that challenges relating to instructions and lack of familiarity with testing procedures may present barriers to use, particularly initially [11]. Little data exists on trans populations, although a study in San Francisco found HIVST was acceptable and feasible for trans women [13]. In addition, a small number of trans women have accessed England's national HIV self-sampling (HIVSS) service indicating that testing outside clinics may be preferable to some [2].

HIVSS, whereby a person takes their own sample and returns it to a lab that then processes it and provides a result, is the technology perhaps most analogous to HIVST. HIVSS has suffered from sub-optimal sample returns, with testing completion rates around 55% in service evaluations in the UK [14, 15]. Evidence suggests this relates to complicated sampling procedures which are not always feasible or acceptable to the target populations, including taking a sufficiently large blood sample to facilitate testing [16, 17]. If those accessing HIVST face similar barriers in performing tests this could threaten the aspiration of increasing testing uptake and frequency through the provision of this novel technology. Further, although the expansion of commercially available HIVST has seen moderate levels of uptake in the USA [18], HIVST may fulfil different roles for populations such as in the UK where HIV testing services are very well developed. This is especially true should HIVST also be provided at no cost, as with the vast majority of existing HIV testing models in the UK.

The SELPHI study (An HIV Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) is an online randomised controlled trial (RCT) being conducted between 2017 and 2020 which aims to assess whether HIVST can; (i) increase rates of diagnosis in those with prevalent HIV infection and ii) reduce the time between infection and diagnosis for those at risk of incident infection. The primary outcomes are ascertained through linkage to the national HV surveillance systems indicating confirmatory testing and linkage to care. SELPHI aimed to recruit 10,000 MSM (cis and trans) and trans women. Participants were recruited through advertising on geo-location social-sexual networking applications and Facebook. Initial baseline randomisation was to an offer of postal delivery of an HIVST kit accompanied with a follow-up survey or to no HIVST.

Intervention conceptualisation was underpinned by the COM-B model of behaviour change [19, 20]. COM-B is a systematically developed model which consolidates 19 pre-existing frameworks, positing that alterations in capability, opportunity and motivation are key to successful behaviour change interventions [20]. This model was chosen because of its simplicity and flexibility, and because of its use in HIV prevention interventions as well as interventions which include the provision of technologically assisted behaviour change [21–26]. The pilot phase of SELPHI ran from February to May 2017 and aimed for 1,000 recruits, from the overall target of 10,000.

Evidence on HIVST intervention implementation feasibility and acceptability in high income settings to date has focused on small scale demonstration studies distributing small numbers of kits with limited follow-up [27, 28]. The SELPHI pilot provides an opportunity to generate evidence about whether large-scale implementation of an online HIVST RCT is feasible in high-income settings. Usability of HIVST, defined as "the extent to which a product can be used by specified users to achieve specified goals with effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction in a specified context of use [29]", can also be assessed. It is also vital to understand intervention acceptability among those who receive the intervention to inform practitioners, policy makers and commissioners. This study, which is grounded in implementation science, will be useful in a range of contexts with similar health system features and HIV epidemics.

The aim of this study is therefore to assess the feasibility of recruiting to an online HIVST RCT in which participants are randomised to receive a free kit or not, and the acceptability of the HIVST intervention used among those randomised to receive it. We consider key questions related to advertising performance, reach, uptake, kit usability and end user reception. We use a mixed methods approach examining the feasibility of recruitment, the motivations of SELPHI participants, and the usability and acceptability of the kit itself. Theoretically, this work is informed by COM-B, a behaviour change model which is often used to explore acceptability and to conceptualise intervention components and how they may work together to produce behaviour change [20, 22, 30, 31].

#### Methods

This mixed-methods study follows a data integration approach termed by Moran-Ellis et al. as following a thread [32]. As such key areas of inquiry were identified from quantitative RCT data; these were then used to guide the focus of the analysis of the in-depth interviews. This has allowed us to generate additional nuance in responding to questions about feasibility and acceptability.

#### **RCT** study procedures

The pilot was designed to test the RCT recruitment strategy and the procedures in place for the full online trial. The pilot also tested the likely acceptability of the intervention, especially the usability of the chosen HIVST kit, its delivery mechanisms and the support offered for its use. Full details of the RCT methods can be found in the published protocol [33].

Eligible participants were men (cis and trans) and trans women; reporting lifetime anal sex with a man; not known to be HIV positive; aged 16 years and older; resident in England or Wales; willing to provide name, date of birth, postal and email address; consent to linkage with surveillance and clinic databases and not previously enrolled to the study.

The recruitment strategy utilised adverts placed in geo-location social-sexual networking applications (apps) (Grindr, Growlr, Scruff & Hornet) as well as targeted Facebook advertising. Free advertisements were placed on the Facebook page of a transgender focused clinical service. Recruitment sources were chosen based on previous experience, and through consultation with voluntary sector organisations. Grindr was chosen as it has the largest market share in the UK, with Hornet targeting a similar group. Growlr caters to a largely older subgroup of MSM, while Scruff is ostensibly most used by hirsute MSM and their admirers. Some adverts targeted a national audience, while others took a city or regional approach. Messaging was devised drawing learning from earlier formative work [11, 34], and with participant and public involvement (PPI) representatives. Key themes regarding barriers and facilitators to recruitment were identified, and two members of the study team met with PPI co-chairs to develop specific advertising messages. Adverts focused on all COM-B domains: capability was addressed through promoting ease of HIVST use; opportunity was addressed through highlighting the HIVST kits were available at no cost; and motivation was enhanced through highlighting privacy and appealing to altruism to take part in a study. Some messages specifically highlighted trans eligibility. Advertisements appeared as sponsored posts, as direct inbox messages, as pop-up messages and as banners.

Participants were directed to a registration survey requiring informed consent and confirming eligibility, and Page 3 of 13

then to an enrolment survey via email. Ineligible participants (and those not randomised to HIVST) were offered additional information on HIV testing. The enrolment survey asked additional demographic and behavioural questions. Participants were randomised 60:40 to receive an HIVST kit (baseline test [BT]) or to no kit offer (no baseline test [nBT]). Kits were distributed by post, directly to the given address by the test manufacturer (BioSure<sup>™</sup>).

Two weeks after enrolment, participants randomised to receive the HIVST kit were emailed an online followup survey asking if the kit had been used (and if not, why not), what the test result was, and whether further care was accessed. Two reminders were sent.

Three months after randomisation a survey was emailed to all participants asking for information on testing and risk behaviour in the intervening period. Two reminders were sent. Participants randomised to BT were also asked questions about their experiences with HIVST. They ranked on a 5-point scale their agreement with statements related to acceptability and usability of the kit: 1) the instructions were easy to use; 2) performing the test was simple; and 3) my overall experience was good.

#### Intervention development

The intervention being trialled was linear. The recruitment messages being tested were both part of the intervention and trial process, but in a scaled-up intervention delivering HIVST these would be adapted accordingly. A brief HIV risk assessment was conducted through behavioural questions in the enrolment survey. The kit and accompanying sleeve were then delivered and two weeks later a follow-up survey asked about kit use and the test result. Those who reported not receiving a kit had a new delivery arranged. These components (advertisement, risk assessment, kit and two-week follow-up) were defined as the intervention as all were theorised to increase engagement with HIV testing through COM-B channels.

Formative work was central to intervention development. Focus groups with MSM and key informant interviews identified specific barriers to uptake and use of the HIVST which the SELPHI intervention development was attentive to ameliorating, using COM-B. These efforts were also used in developing appropriate messaging for advertising. Figure 1 provides a visualisation of intervention components with a description of the intervention functions and the COM-B domains they seek to affect.

Anticipated concerns regarding ease of use, coded in COM-B as capability (physical), were addressed in advertisements (see Fig. 2 for examples). This combined intervention approaches described as persuasion and education in COM-B [20], enhancing motivation by minimising concerns regarding ease of use and highlighting privacy and convenience. Issues concerning lack of knowledge in using HIVST were also identified.



The COM-B model codes this as psychological capability; the behaviour change wheel then suggests intervention functions such as education, training and enablement might be useful [20]. This was alongside an observed preference for additional supportive information beyond what was provide in the original BioSure<sup>™</sup> kit. This necessitated the development of a sleeve over the box holding the kit to provide support information (education), as well as behavioural support (enablement) which was highlighted in the two-week follow-up survey. The sleeve also provided signposting to a free telephone helpline and website for HIV and sexual health information (enablement).

In order to increase engagement with HIV testing generally, a risk assessment was included in the enrolment survey to provide a reflective experience examining personal risk. It was theorised that this approach (persuasion) can increase motivation (reflective and automatic) [20].

Formative research also identified issues with the instructions and packaging of an earlier iteration of the kit, both of which reduced motivation to access HIVST and capability when doing so. The kit instructions were reformatted by the manufacturer before implementation began, effectively addressing this issue. This intervention component is theorised as training (the imparting of skills) in the COM-B system [20].

The broader HIVST literature identifies support issues as a key concern in HIVST delivery, a concern also identified in our formative work [8, 11, 35]. This informed the provision of enhanced support information via our kit sleeve produced in collaboration with our community advisory group co-chairs (see Additional file 1). The two-week follow-up survey was also designed to counter this concern. If a participant reported a positive result here, they were directed to a page providing information on how to find their local HIV clinic. This same page was linked to from the three-month survey. Additional information about receiving a positive result was provided on the SELPHI website.

#### Data handling, generation & analysis

Data pertaining to advertising reach was recorded for all adverts, then pooled according to platform. The click conversion rate (proportion of those clicking on the advert who subsequently registered) was calculated. Eligible and ineligible registrations as well as the number of successful randomisations were tabulated. Registration conversion was calculated by deriving the proportion of eligible registrations who filled in the enrolment survey and were subsequently randomised.

Baseline demographic and behavioural profiles were tabulated overall and by recruitment source. Variables considered were age (both continuous and 10 year bands), gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity (recoded from standard UK ethnicity codes into white, Asian, black & other), highest educational qualification (low: GCSEs and below; medium: A-levels or equivalent, higher education below degree level; high: degree or higher), HIV testing history (tested in preceding 12 months; tested more than 12 months ago; never tested), and condomless anal intercourse (CAI) in the preceding 3 months. Participant demographic and behavioural characteristics were compared between recruitment sources using chi-squared tests or a Kruskal-Wallis test for age.

Responses to the 2-week survey were summarised by proportion who completed the survey, proportion who received the kit, and the proportion who subsequently used the kit.

Kit use was summarised again from the 3-month survey alongside acceptability variables pertaining to instructions, simplicity of test performance and overall experience.

#### Qualitative data

A qualitative study was undertaken with 10 cis-gender MSM participants during the pilot in order to examine intervention acceptability in greater depth. Participants were sampled purposively from those randomised to



receive an HIVST kit. Sampling aimed to be diverse with regard to testing history: whether an individual had tested in the 12 months before joining SELPHI; not tested in the preceding 12 months; or never previously tested for HIV. Efforts were made to ensure sample diversity with regard to demographic features, especially education.

A semi-structured interview topic guide was developed to explore questions from formative research [11, 34], including issues related to capability, HIVST potential, anticipated responses and acceptability and mapped onto COM-B. The guide covered HIV testing history, motivations for joining and experiences of the SELPHI RCT, questions related to using HIVST and emotional responses.

Interviews were conducted over the phone or through Skype, and participants were electronically given a  $\pm 30$  incentive. All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed.

A thematic framework was developed for analysis, fusing the approaches described by Braun and Clarke [36] and Richie and Spencer [37]. This inductive process involved familiarisation with the transcripts and drawing out emerging themes. These themes were arranged into groups, with higher-level themes emerging from subthemes, both organised hierarchically, and again mapped onto COM-B to better elucidate how acceptability of intervention components related to the behaviour change domains. The framework was piloted on two transcripts, refined, and applied to all remaining transcripts. We draw data from across this framework and report themes by COM-B domain for simplicity of interpretation. Ethical approval for the RCT and qualitative sub-study were provided by MRCCTU and LSHTM (refs: 11945 & 9233/001). SELPHI is registered with the ISRCTN (ref: ISRCTN20312003). All RCT participants provided online written consent. Qualitative sub-study participants provided verbal recorded consent at the time of interview.

#### Results

The recruitment strategy led to the registration of 1370 eligible participants through 13 advertisements across 5 platforms, of whom 76% (1035) subsequently enrolled and reached baseline randomisation. In this pilot, 631 participants were randomised to receive an HIVST kit (BT), while 404 were randomised to not receive a kit (nBT). Of those randomised to BT, 66% (415) completed the two-week follow-up survey and 64% (405) completed the first three-month survey. Overall 78% (494/631) completed at least one of these two surveys (2-weeks or 3-months).

#### Recruitment strategy performance

Click conversion was highly variable, from 8% in Grindr adverts to 20% in Facebook advertising. Registration conversion ranged from 71 to 80% (mean = 76%). Cost per randomised participant varied: Hornet was cheapest ( $\pounds$ 1.66) and Grindr most expensive ( $\pounds$ 7.16). Costs were stable through this phase, with no evidence in the pilot of diminishing returns. See Table 1 for full details.

# Demographic features of sample including by recruitment source

Table 2 presents baseline demographics overall and by recruitment source. Figure 3 presents the geographic distribution of randomised participants with each dot representing a group of multiple randomised participant from a source, coded by colour. The recruitment strategy engaged a range of MSM, but less so trans women. Median age was 32.1 years (IQR 25.9, 41.6). Cis-gender MSM comprised the majority (99%) of the sample, as did participants of white ethnicity (89%, n = 921), and MSM who identified as gay (89%, n = 757). Most (60%, n = 611) were highly educated and reported CAI within the preceding 3 months (70% n = 726). Sixty-four percent of participants (n = 652) had tested for HIV in the preceding year and 14% (n = 141) had never previously tested. Of never tested participants, 82 (58%) reported one or more CAI partners in preceding 3 months. Table 2 presents full details of baseline demographics.

There were significant differences in age (p < 0.001) and gender (p = 0.01) across recruitment sources, with all other variables being similar. As anticipated, Growhr recruited older participants whereas Facebook recruited younger ones. Free advertising targeted towards trans people was most effective for reaching trans participants, although numbers were small. See Table 2.

#### Motivations of participants (qualitative sub-study)

Table 3 presents demographic characteristics of the qualitative sub-study. All participants were cis-MSM. When discussing their motivations for joining SELPHI, participants described three predominant motivations: i) to access HIV testing; ii) desire to use a novel technology; and iii) altruism.

#### Accessing testing

HIVST reduced specific HIV testing barriers, thereby facilitating uptake. This was especially true for those who had never tested, and those who had not tested within

able I Advertising source of
------------------------------

the preceding twelve months. Opportunity barriers (e.g. convenience and ease of access) and motivational barriers (e.g. confidentiality and stigma) were ameliorated by HIVST.

Sometimes people ask you what you're coming in for, [ ...] if you say, 'oh I'm coming for an HIV [test]' they think you're gay, or they think you're disgusting, you don't use protection, or blah, blah, blah. But it's mainly about being labelled as something you're not. (23-year old bisexual man, never tested).

#### Desire to use a novel technology

Just under half of those interviewed reported being motivated to join SELPHI out of a desire to experience a novel technology or because they felt SELPHI was a new kind of study. HIVST was understood to be an evolution of HIV testing methods which was appealing to some:

It's an interesting one because it's obviously very new. So you kind of think, well it's really great. [...] You just think it's something that's interesting to try because it's new technology. (20-year old gay man, tested in last 2 years).

#### Altruism

Altruistic motivations were reported by just over half of participants with a range of testing histories. These were predominantly secondary motivations, helping support the decision to join a trial. Motivations were related to notions of good citizenship, desire to contribute to the gay community and to science more broadly.

I find it quite interesting actually that those kinds of services are targeted towards people through Facebook because you're kind of transpiring an audience of people who might benefit from that service. And I thought,

Tuble Travertising source								
Recruitment source	Facebook	Growlr	Hornet	Grindr	Free/organic	Total		
Number of campaigns	3	1	2	5	2	13		
Advert clicks	1210	1193	Not available	6666	Not available	Not available		
Registered & eligible	216	120	590	406	38	1370		
Registered & ineligible	32	19	109	144	9	313		
Click conversion <sup>1</sup>	20%	12%	Not available	8%	Not available	Not available		
Randomised	173	96	433	308	27	1035		
Registration conversion <sup>2</sup>	80%	80%	73%	76%	71%	76%		
Spend per randomisation	£3.70	£2.59	£1.66	£7.16	£0.00	£3.68		

<sup>1</sup>Click conversion: proportion of clicks leading to a registration

<sup>2</sup>Registration conversion: proportion of eligible registrations leading to a randomisation

Recruitment sources	Facebook	Growlr	Hornet	Grindr	Free/organic	Total	p-values
Number of campaigns		1	2	5			
N	173	96	431	308	27	1035	
Median (IQR) age (years)	29.2 (24.6, 32.8)	44.8 (34.0, 51.2)	30.8 (24.7, 39.6)	35.0 (27.6, 45.4)	33.6 (29.2, 40.0)	32.1 (25.9, 41.6)	p < 0.001
16-25 years	57 (33%)	7 (7%)	130 (30%)	60 (19%)	5 (19%)	259 (25%)	
26-35 years	112 (65%)	23 (24%)	149 (35%)	102 (33%)	10 (37%)	396 (38%)	
36–45 years	2 (1%)	22 (23%)	93 (22%)	72 (23%)	6 (22%)	195 (19%)	
46 years or older	2 (1%)	44 (46%)	59 (14%)	74 (24%)	6 (22%)	185 (18%)	
Gender identity							P = 0.001
Cis man	171 (99%)	96 (100%)	430 (99%)	305 (99%)	23 (85%)	1025 (99%)	
Trans man	1 (1%)	0	1 (1%)	2 (1%)	3 (11%)	8 (1%)	
Trans woman	0	0	0	1 (< 1%)	1 (4%)	2 (< 1%)	
Sexual Identity	N = 153	N = 72	N = 361	N = 240	N = 25	N = 851	p = 0.23
Gay	143 (93%)	65 (90%)	322 (89%)	204 (85%)	23 (92%)	757 (89%)	
Bisexual	8 (5%)	5 (7%)	35 (10%)	30 (13%)	1 (4%)	79 (9%)	
Other	2 (1%)	2 (3%)	4 (1%)	6 (3%)	1 (4%)	15 (2%)	
Ethnicity							p = 0.52
White	153 (88%)	86 (90%)	394 (91%)	263 (85%)	25 (93%)	921 (89%)	
Asian	5 (3%)	2 (2%)	13 (3%)	10 (3%)	1 (4%)	31 (3%)	
Black	3 (2%)	3 (3%)	8 (2%)	12 (4%)	0	26 (3%)	
Other	12 (7%)	5 (5%)	16 (4%)	23 (7%)	1 (4%)	23 (7%)	
HEQ	N = 172	N = 95	N = 425	N = 307	N = 27	N = 1026	P = 0.31
High	114 (66%)	59 (62%)	244 (57%)	174 (57%)	20 (74%)	611 (60%)	
Medium	33 (19%)	16 (17%)	94 (22%)	65 (21%)	3 (11%)	211 (21%)	
Low	25 (15%)	20 (21%)	87 (20%)	68 (22%)	4 (14%)	204 (20%)	
HIV testing history	N = 173	N = 96	N = 426	N = 304	N = 27	N = 1026	p = 0.09
Last 12 months	120 (69%)	54 (56%)	280 (66%)	185 (61%)	13 (48%)	652 (64%)	
12 months+	39 (23%)	27 (28%)	85 (20%)	72 (24%)	10 (37%)	233 (23%)	
Never	14 (8%)	15 (16%)	61 (14%)	47 (15%)	4 (15%)	141 (14%)	
CAI last 3 months	124 (71%)	67 (70%)	308 (71%)	206 (67%)	21 (78%)	726 (70%)	P = 0.58

	-	D		1.000	1000		200	
able	2	Participant	demographics	by	advert	source	and	overall

IQR interquartile range, CAI condomless anal intercourse, HEQ highest educational qualification

"Actually that's quite smart" *because I'm in that audience. And so, I just thought,* "Yeah, I will give it a try" (34-year old gay man, tested in last 3 months).

## Kit use at two weeks and three months

Of 631 who were randomised to BT, 66% (415) completed a two-week follow-up survey. At this point, 95% (394) reported having received their kit and 83% (328) of those had used it themselves. Reasons for not using the kit were mainly that participants were planning to use it in the future (97% n = 64) or that participants had tested elsewhere instead (3%).

At the three-month survey, completed by 64% of eligible participants, 97% (390/403) reported having received, of

which 96% (375/390) had used the kit. This indicates that although a significant minority delayed kit use, most did use the test kit by three months.

When results from both surveys were pooled, providing data for 78% of participants, 97% (477/494) received the kit and 90% (445/494) had used it. Assuming that all those participants that did not complete either of these surveys received the kit (137/ 631), but none used it, then the lowest possible estimate of kit use was 71% (445/631).

### HIVST usability and acceptability

At three months, participants reported very high HIVST usability and acceptability. Of 375 who used the kit and completed the three-month survey, 98% (362/369) found



the instructions easy to understand, 97%~(356/368) found the test kit simple to use and 97%~(359/369) reported a good overall experience (Fig. 4).

All qualitative interview participants had used their kits to test themselves. Below we describe intervention acceptability as it relates to the main domains of COM-B: capability, opportunity and motivation.

#### Capability (physical & psychological)

Capability was the most pronounced of the three COM-B domains in our acceptability analysis, especially around test kit usability. Themes around physical capability tended to concern the instructions and using the lancet to take a blood sample. The inclusion of the two-week follow-up processes was a

#### Table 3 Qualitative sub-study sample

Demographic characteristics		Sample
Age	18-25 years	3
	26-40 years	6
	41+	1
Ethnicity	White	8
	Black	0
	Asian	1
	Other / Mixed	1
Sexual orientation	Gay	8
	Bisexual	1
	Other / undisclosed	1
Recency of HIV testing	< 12 months	2
	+ 12 months	6
	Never tested	2
HEQ	Low	3
	Medium	2
	High	5
Condomless anal intercourse	0	1
preceding 3-months	1	6
	2	2
	3-10	1

valued intervention element addressing psychological capability.

The instructions were generally felt to be easy to understand and interpret, although one participant felt they did not cater to a sufficiently diverse range of skills. The testing process was described as simple and the result was easy to interpret:

Very clear and it was quite obvious as well what goes where and how to do it. It was clear. The descriptions and the pictures were easy to follow (29 year-old man, undisclosed sexual orientation, tested in last 5 years).

Blood collection via the included lancet was a barrier for some. Those who had no previous experience of drawing blood with a lancet reported concerns about their capability to collect their own sample, although all felt with experience this would no longer be an issue.

I actually don't like getting my finger pricked [...] so I was most worried about the finger prick, [...] so for me that was the most difficult thing, and then I wasn't sure if I was getting enough blood [...] but once I pricked the finger and I collected the blood then it was pretty straightforward (31-year old gay man, tested last 4 weeks). Capability (psychological) also emerged when discussing the support components of the intervention. Participants generally felt that the supporting information provided was adequate and did not diminish acceptability of the intervention.

What I think relieved me of most of the anxiety was actually the kit included a card saying, at the end, if you are diagnosed with HIV then not to worry, here's what you can do. A, B, C. And if you're not, great. A, B, C. And I think the steps on that card saying, if you are, step one, step two, step three, it helped to relieve some of the uncertainty of what might happen if the test came out positive. (16-year old gay man, not previously tested)

#### **Opportunity** (physical & social)

Themes related to acceptability of the entire intervention package were primarily related to opportunity (physical and social). For participants located in areas underserved by HIV testing opportunities, the kit ameliorated geographic barriers. Individuals who faced psychosocial barriers to testing felt HIVST gave them increased privacy around testing, enhancing the acceptability of the intervention.

I'm quite a private person. I like to keep certain aspects of my life to myself and sometimes people might be bothering you to talk about things where you think, "Well, I'm not there yet." [...] Whereas I can let that sink in and think, "Right, okay, now I'm ready to go and do whatever I need to do or talk to whoever I need to talk to." (34 year-old gay man, tested more than 12 months ago).

#### Motivation (reflective & automatic)

The dislocation of HIVST from care pathways affected acceptability through motivational channels. Despite high acceptability related to the follow-up provided, HIVST as a concept was perceived to be associated with increased anxiety relative to other testing opportunities. This was largely due to concerns about conducting a test alone, and the potential separation of initial "diagnosis" from established care pathways.

[...] I think slightly the kit at home [makes me more anxious]. It's almost because it's literally taken out of your hands when you go to an STI clinic. So you don't have to think about it as much. It's something done to you. (29-year-old gay man, tested within last 5 years)



One participant delayed using the kit due to anxiety and instead visited a GUM clinic, saving his HIVST for use at a later date.

The 15 min interval between conducting the test and reading the result was described as an exceptionally anxious time, especially for those who had tested due to risk.

I was feeling nervous actually because I was thinking what about if it does come back positive. That was quite like a bit of a head scratcher, waiting for the 15 minutes, and then when 15 minutes were up and I looked at the result and I was like, oh, you know it was negative so I thought right, but then I thought well yeah, maybe I shouldn't have worried that much, but you can't help it (23-year old bisexual man, not previously tested).

All participants described significant relief when reading a negative (non-reactive) result. A minority, who had more experience of HIV testing, felt that HIVST was associated with less anxiety than testing methods relying on laboratory-run tests due to the relative immediacy of results.

#### Discussion

Through this mixed methods study we assessed the feasibility of recruiting MSM and trans people to the pilot phase of the online SELPHI RCT and the acceptability of HIVST, focusing mainly on the acceptability of the intervention and the usability of the kit.

Advertising performance varied according to platform by click and registration conversions and, crucially, cost. The pilot sample was predominantly white, well-educated, gay identified cis-MSM who reported CAI in the 3months preceding and who had tested for HIV in the preceding 12-months. The pilot struggled to recruit significant numbers of trans people, particularly trans women. Our recruitment did however, reach a range of participants across demographic groups. Platforms recruited participants of a similar demographic and behavioural profile except when considering age and gender identity.

Sixty-six percent of participants completed the twoweek follow-up, and 64% the three-month survey. Overall 78% of participants randomised to receive HIVST completed at least one of the two. Kit use was high, increasing from 86% at two-weeks to 96% at three months. The lowest possible estimate of kit use was 71%, assuming that all those not completing the follow-up surveys did not use their kits, which is unlikely. The kit was considered usable and the intervention was acceptable across the three dimensions interrogated (ease of use of instructions, test simple to perform and overall experience). Oualitative data provides nuance, with some participants reporting difficulty using the lancet. The relationship between HIVST and anxiety was ambiguous; individuals thought it could increase or ameliorate anxiety depending on previous HIV testing experience.

Our recruitment strategy was successful in reaching a group at risk of HIV who had not HIV tested previously, with 58% of never tested MSM reporting CAI in the 3months preceding their enrolment. This is a key group with clear HIV prevention needs who should be a primary target for new testing interventions. The sample recruited in the pilot was comparable to previous convenience samples of MSM, as well as the ethnic makeup of the UK [38, 39]. This indicates that this type of recruitment strategy is capable of reaching a group broadly representative of UK MSM in terms of ethnicity. A group which is underrepresented when compared to national statistics is MSM of Asian ethnicity [39]. This could be due to specific privacy barriers to a postal delivery HIVST service experienced by this group, outlined in formative work [11]. Further, our sample reported similar levels of never testing (14%) to other convenience samples of UK MSM (other recent samples range between 8 and 25%), although more participants in the SELPHI pilot had tested in the preceding 12 months [38].

When compared to HIVSS return rates in the UK, participants in the pilot made use of their HIVST kits more frequently, lessening missed opportunities for testing. While with HIVSS only 55% of samples are returned for processing [14, 15], 95% reporting kit use at three months and at least 71% of kits were used overall. At this modest scale, HIVST appears to outperform HIVSS.

Acceptability and ease of use was very high, and indeed higher than in many other studies with MSM [8]. This is not without precedent, with similar levels of acceptability and reported ease of use observed in other settings [13, 40, 41]. These studies however provided oral fluid HIVSTs, which may have benefits in terms of simplicity (though have lower sensitivity and specificity) over kits which require self-collection of a whole blood sample [8, 42].

Qualitative accounts of acceptability focused on COM-B domains related to capability more than opportunity or motivation [20]. This could signify that when engaging with this novel testing technology, individuals are often doing so with questions about their own skills and capacity. These concerns may decrease with increased experience with HIVST. Indeed, using the lancet was described as difficult for many, although they managed to use it successfully despite this, and all expected this would improve with experience. An additional focus of enquiry for future study is the experience of those who have reactive tests (both confirmed as positive and subsequently confirmed negative) to better understand their experiences, support needs and any potential harms arising.

A number of changes to the trial design were made as a result of this pilot. The attrition between registration and Page 11 of 13

enrolment surveys (24% of participants overall) posed significant recruitment challenges. For the main roll-out of the RCT the language in the email linking the two surveys was made more motivational, specifically highlighting altruism. In addition, all messages used in the roll-out were designed to more clearly emphasise trans eligibility. In response to the increased costs generated by attrition and to take advantage of advertising efficiencies at larger scales. national rather than regional advertising campaigns were prioritised to increase recruitment volumes. Advertisement messages were also altered, with increasing use of motivational elements. In efforts to increase survey completion rates, the number of reminders was increased from 2 to 3, and delivery times were staggered at different times of the day to account for a variety of employment patterns. These changes were supported by a PPI engagement exercise with SELPHI participants.

#### Strengths and limitations

This is the first study in Europe to assess the feasibility of recruiting to an online HIVST RCT. A strength of this pilot is that the design perfectly mimics the full trial. Nevertheless, some limitations are noted. Recruited costs per participant should be treated with some caution. For one, the possibility of being randomised to the no baseline HIVST/SoC arm likely made costs per participant significantly higher than delivering free HIVST to all. In addition, recruitment costs in this pilot phase did not show evidence of diminishing returns per participant could become much higher when recruiting larger numbers.

Test kit usability and intervention acceptability were extremely high when compared to other recent studies [8]. A possible explanation is the informed consent procedures in place provided a great deal of information about what a participant could expect from the study and the kit itself in a level of detail that a service might not include.

This pilot struggled to recruit large numbers of trans people compared with cis gender MSM. In addition, sexual practice among MSM is diverse. As only MSM who report lifetime anal sex were eligible for inclusion our sample may not be fully representative of the diversity in MSM sexual behaviour, as between 8 and 19% have never had anal sex [43–45]. This issue may be an especially pronounced for trans MSM and may have contributed to the low numbers of trans people recruited in this pilot phase.

Finally, while the qualitative data is illuminative, interview were conducted with a small group of participants. The data presented here should be understood as highlighting the diversity of facets of kit usability and intervention acceptability.

#### Conclusion

Recruiting to this online HIVST pilot RCT was feasible, the intervention was acceptable to participants, and the kit distributed had high reported usability. Kit use was high, outperforming previous HIVSS projects in the UK. This pilot led to a number of changes to the implementation of the RCT, including national advertising and enhancing efforts to boost trial retention. Further research investigating the experiences of trans people is necessary in order to optimise future intervention approaches for this group.

#### Additional files

Additional file 1: Kit sleeve design. (JPG 519 kb)

#### Abbreviations

Apps: Geospatial social/sexual networking application; CAI: Condomless anal intercourse; HIVSS: HIV self-sampling; HIVST: HIV self-testing; MSM: Men who have sex with men; PPI: Participant and public involvement; RCT: Randomised controlled trial; SoC: Standard of care

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of the SELPHI community advisory group and its co-chairs Roy Trevelion and Roger Pebody.

#### Authors' contributions

Funding: AIR & ANP. Study design and conceptualisation: AJR; SMc; ANP; DTD; FCL; FMB; AS; MG1; PW; LMc; MG2; TCW. Qualitative data collection and analysis: TCV; PW; AIR; FW; LMC; MG2; TCW; Qualitative data Collection and analysis: TCV; PW; AIR; FMB. Statistical analyses: TCV; LMC; Interpretation: AJR; SMC; ANP; DTD; FCL; FMB; AS; MG1; PW; LMC; MG2; TCW; DW; JH; RP; CB. Manuscript drafting: TCW; PW; AJR. Manuscript editing: AJR; SMC; ANP; DTD; FCL; FMB; AS; MG1; PW; LMC; MG2; TCW; DW; JH; RP; CB. All authors have read and approved this manuscript

#### Funding

This paper summarises independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) under its Programme Grants for Applied Research Programme (Grant Reference Number RP-PG-1212-20006). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health. DTD and SMc were supported by the Medical Research Council (MRC\_UU\_12023/23). The funding bodies had no input in the design of the study and collection, analysis, and interpretation of data or in writing the manuscript.

#### Availability of data and materials

RCT data will be locked and archived at the MRC Clinical Trials Unit. Requests for controlled access should be sent to mrcctu.selphi@ucl.ac.uk. Qualitative data is not available due to its sensitive and potentially personally identifiable nature.

#### Ethics approval and consent to participate

Ethical approval for the RCT and qualitative sub-study were provided by UCL Research Ethics Committee (ref: 11945) and LSHTM Observational Research Ethics Committee (refs 9233/001). SELPHI was prospectively registered with the ISRCTN on 10/08/2016 (ref. ISRCTN20312003). All participants provided in-formed consent ahead of their involvement with the RCT and qualitative sub-study. Due to the remote nature of these studies, RCT consent was on-line written consent; sub-study consent was verbally recorded at the beginning of each interview

#### Consent for publication

Not applica

#### Competing interests

All authors declare no competing interests.

#### Author details

Sigma Research, Department of Public Health, Environments & Society, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 15-17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 9SH, UK. <sup>2</sup>MRC Clinical Trials Unit at UCL, London, UK. <sup>3</sup>Department of Global Health and Development, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK. <sup>4</sup>Institute for Global Health, UCL, London, UK. <sup>5</sup>NAM Aidsmap, London, UK. <sup>6</sup>Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK. <sup>7</sup>Department of Public Health, Environments & Society, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK. <sup>8</sup>SH:24, London, UK

Received: 21 January 2019 Accepted: 1 July 2019 Published online: 08 August 2019

#### References

- Brown AE, Kirwan P, Chau C, Khawam J, Gill N, Delpech V, Towards elimination of HIV transmission, AIDS and HIV-related deaths in the UK -2017 report. London: Public Health England; 2017.
- Nash SG, Furegato M, Gill ON, Connor N. Contributors a. HIV testing in England: 2017 report. London: Public Health England; 2017. 3
- Brown AE, Mohammed H, Ogaz D, Kirwan PD, Yung M, Nash SG, et al. Fall in new HiV diagnoses among men who have sex with men (MSM) at selected London sexual health clinics since early 2015; testing or treatment or pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)? Euro Surveill. 2017;22(25). McDaid LM, Aghaizu A, Frankis J, Riddell J, Nardone A, Mercey D, et al.
- 4 Frequency of HIV testing among gay and bisexual men in the UK: implications for HIV prevention. HIV Med. 2016;17(9):683–93. Witzel TC, Melendez-Torres GJ, Hickson F, Weatherburn P. HIV testing history
- 5 and preferences or future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other
- MSM in England: results from a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2016;6. Baral SD, Poteat T, Strömdahl S, Wirtz AL, Guadamuz TE, Beyrer C. Worldwide burden of HIV in transgender women: a systematic review and
- meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13(3):214-22. Poteat T, Wirtz AL, Radix A, Borquez A, Silva-Santisteban A, Deutsch MB, et 7. al. HIV risk and preventive interventions in transgender women sex workers. Lancet. 2015;385(9964):274–86.
- Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Baggaley R. Attitudes and acceptability on HIV self-testing among key populations: a literature review. AIDS Behav. 8 2015;19(11):1949-65.
- Pant Pai N, Sharma J, Shivkumar S, Pillay S, Vadnais C, Joseph L, et al. Supervised and unsupervised self-testing for HIV in high- and low-risk populations: a systematic review. PLoS Med. 2013;10(4):e1001414. World Health Organization. Guidelines on HIV self-testing and partner 0
- 10. notification: supplement to consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. Villars-sous-Yens, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016. Witzel TC, Rodger AJ, Burns FM, Rhodes T, Weatherburn P. HIV self-testing
- 11 among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the UK a qualitative study of barriers and facilitators, intervention preferences and perceived impacts.
- PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162713. Flowers P, Riddell J, Park C, Ahmed B, Young I, Frankis J, et al 12. Flowers P, Niddell J, Park C, Anmed B, Young I, Franks J, et al. Preparedness for use of the rapid result HIV self-test by gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM): a mixed methods exploratory study among MSM and those involved in HIV prevention and care. HIV Med. 2016. Lippman SA, Moran L, Sevelius J, Castillo LS, Ventura A, Treves-Kagan S, et
- 13. al. Acceptability and feasibility of HIV self-testing among transgend women in San Francisco: a mixed methods pilot study. AIDS Behav. 2016; 20(4):928-38
- Elliot E, Rossi M, McCormack S, McOwan A. Identifying undiagnosed HIV in 14 men who have sex with men (MSM) by offering HIV home sampling via online gay social media. sex Transm Infect. 2016;0:1–4. Guerra L, Logan L, Alston T, Gill N, Kinsella R, Nardone A, editors. National
- 15 HIV self-sampling service. London: HIV Prevention England; 2017. Seguin M, Dodds C, Mugweni E, McDaid L, Flowers P, Wayal S, et al
- 16. Seguin M, Dodds C, Mugweni E, McDaid L, Flowers P, Wayal S, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of self sampling kits to increase the uptake of HIV testing among black Africans in the United Kingdom: the HAUS study (*in press*): Health Services and Delivery Research; 2018. Dodds C, Mugweni E, Phillips G, Park C, Young I, Fakoya F, et al. Acceptability of HIV self-sampling kits (TINY vial) among people of black African ethnicity in the UK: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health, 2018;18:499. Estem KS, Catania J, Klausner JD, HIV self-testing: a review of current implementation and Eideling (urrent HIV/AIDS Reports; 2016;13(2):1172-15
- 17.
- 18. implementation and Fidelity, Current HIV/AIDS Reports, 2016;13(2):107-15.

95

#### Witzel et al. BMC Infectious Diseases (2019) 19:699

- 19. Cane J, O'Connor D, Michie S. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. Implement Sci. 2012;7(1):37.
- Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: a new 20 method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. Implement Sci. 2011;6:42.
- Lister C. West IH. Cannon B. Sax T. Brodenard D. Just a fad? Gamification in 21 health and fitness apps. JMR serious games. 2014;2(2):e9. Barker F, Atkins L, de Lusignan S. Applying the COM-B behaviour model and
- 22. behaviour change wheel to develop an intervention to improve hearing-aid use in adult auditory rehabilitation. Int J Audiol. 2016;55(sup3):S90–S8.
- Chiang N, Guo M, Amico KR, Atkins L, Lester RT. Interactive two-way mHealth interventions for improving medication adherence: an evaluation using the 23
- behaviour change wheel framework. JMR mHealth and uHealth. 2018;6(4):e87. Webster R, Bailey JV. Development of a theory-based interactive digital 24 intervention to improve condom use in men in sexual health clinics: an application of qualitative methods using the behaviour change wheel. Lancet. 2013;382:S102.
- 25. Chen J, Lieffers J, Bauman A, Hanning R, Allman-Farinelli M. The use of smartphone health apps and other mobile h ealth (mHealth) technologies in direttic practice: a three country study. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2017;30(4):439–52.
- Seguin M, Dodds C, Mugweni E, McDaid L, Flowers P, Wayal S, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of home sampling kits to increase the uptake of 26 HIV testing among black Africans in the United Kingdom: the Haus study. Health Technol Assess. 2018;22(22).
- Jamil MS, Prestage G, Fairley CK, Grulich AE, Smith KS, Chen M, et al. Access to HIV self-testing doubles the frequency of HIV testing among gay and bisexual men at higher risk of infection: a randomised controlled trial. AIDS 27 2016; Durban, South Africa. : 18-22nd July, 2016. ; 2016. Witzel TC, Rodger AJ. New initiatives to develop self-testing for HIV. Curr
- 28.
- Opin Infect Dis. 2017;30(1):50–7. ISO. ISO. 1942-11 standards dealing with product usage characteristics. 29
- Guidance on usability. 1998. Arnott B, Rehackova L, Errington L, Sniehotta FF, Roberts J, Araujo-Soares V. 30. Efficacy of behavioural interventions for transport behaviour change: systematic review, meta-analysis and intervention coding. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2014:11(1):133.
- Lukaszyk C, Coombes J, Keay L, Sherrington C, Tiedemann A, Broe T, et al. Fall 31. prevention services for older Aboriginal people: investigating availability and acceptability. Public health research and practice. 2016;26(5):e2651659-e. Moran-Ellis J, Alexander VD, Cronin A, Dickinson M, Fielding J, Sleney J, et al.
- 32 Triangulation and integration: processes, claims and implications. Qual Res. 2006;6(1):45-59.
- Gabriel MM, Dunn DT, Speakman A, McCabe L, Ward D, Witzel TC, et al. 33. Protocol, rationale and design of SELPHI: a randomised controlled trial assessing whether offering free HIV self-testing kits via the internet increases the rate of HIV diagnosis. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18(1):531.
- Witzel TC, Weatherburn P, Rodger AJ, Bourne AH, Burns FM. Risk, 34 reassurance and routine, a qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England. BMC Public Health. 2017;17(1):491. Brown AN, Djimeu EW, Cameron DB. A review of the evidence of harm
- 35. form self-tests. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(Suppl 4);5445–9. Clarke V, Braun V. Thematic analysis. In: Teo T, editor. Encyclopedia of critical
- 36 psychology. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2014. p. 1947–52. Ritchie J, Spencer L. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In:
- 37. Bryman A, Burgess RG, editors. Analyzing qualitative data. Abingdon, UK Taylor & Francis Books Ltd; 1994.
- Prah P, Hickson F, Bonell C, McDaid LM, Johnson AM. Waval S. et al. Men who have 38 sex with men in Great Britain: comparing methods and estimates from probability and convenience sample surveys. Sex Transm Infect. 2016;92(6):455-63.
- Office for National Statistics. Ethnicity and National Identity in England and 39. Wales 2011. 2012.
- Ngure K, Heffron R, Mugo N, Thomson KA, Irungu E, Njuguna N, et al. 40 Peasibility and acceptability of HIV self-testing among pre-exposure prophylaxis users in Kenya. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(1):21234-n/a. Huang E, Marlin RW, Young SD, Medline A, Klausner JD. Using Grindr™, a
- 41 smartphone social networking application, to increase HIV self-testing among black and Latino men who have sex with men in Los Angeles, 2014. AIDS Educ Prev. 2016;28(4):341-50.

- Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Dalal S, Baggaley R. Systematic review on HIV self-testing (HIVST) performance and accuracy of results. AIDS 2016: 21st
  - International AIDS Conference; 18-22nd July; Durban, South Africa2016. The EMIS Network. EMIS 2010: the European men-who-have-sex-with-men internet survey. Findings from 38 countries. Stokholm: European Centre for
- Disease Prevention and Control; 2013. Hickson F, Reid D, Hammond G, Weatherburn P. State of play; findings from 44. the England Gay Men's Sex Survey 2014. London: Sigma Research; 2016. Soazig C, Mercer CH. National Survey of sexual attitudes and lifestyles,
- 45 Natsal-3, personal communication. 2019.

#### **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast convenient online submission
- · thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- · gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

#### At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



#### Page 13 of 13

## 3.3 Evaluative phase

Following the analyses conducted for in paper 3, it was clear that HIVST implementation was feasible and that the intervention was acceptable and usable for a range of MSM. Full trial implementation proceeded as planned, and the RCT recruited its full sample of 10,135 MSM and trans people in 13 months. However, additional questions about HIVST experiences remained relevant for both the trial and for the HIVST literature more broadly.

Although it was clear the intervention was acceptable, the large sample recruited across England and Wales provided the opportunity to further investigate the dimensions of acceptability and qualitative outcomes for trial participants. While there were key issues emerging with the lancet and blood draw (outlined in paper 3), the experiences of a wider range of individuals was important to ensure no additional areas would pose a challenge to future use. Experiences of adverse events had not been captured, and we had no evidence regarding how people perceived repeated HIVST use, as provided in intervention B. This was felt to be a key piece of evidence supporting how HIVST could be implemented after SELPHI. This underlined the importance of a qualitative evaluative phase in which we could seek additional nuances regarding these key questions.

In order to do this, I expanded the topic guide used in the 10 initial interviews in the pilot phase to collect data on a broader range of topics (updated topic guide in appendix 7). Deeper understandings of experiences of using the kit was required, so I expanded focus in this second part of the study to look more closely at issues with the technology itself and included a kit demonstration to serve as a reminder of the testing process. In order to add context to many of the domains of enquiry which will be answered in the RCT, I included in-depth explorations of HIVST impact on STI testing, and looked closely at support needs and the experiences of those with a positive HIVST result. This topic guide exactly mirrored participants' accounts of their journeys through the SELPHI intervention, providing a rich dataset exploring key issues with each component in the sequence they first encountered them.

Recognising that local context will shape use, interviews were conducted in a range of geographical areas across both countries. Interviews were conducted face-to-face and remotely. For interviews outside London I used a mix of audio and video calling, with the latter being used for the kit demonstration section. I also travelled to Cardiff and Newcastle to conduct clusters of interviews face-to-face with MSM in those cities.

It was an aspiration of mine to test the coherence of the BCW and COM-B in relation to HIVST interventions, but at this stage it was not clear how I might do this. This analysis took shape largely by chance, as I outline later.

In total I conducted an additional 27 interviews during this phase of data generation. This sample was combined with the sample from the pilot for a total of 37 interviews in MSM who had received and used HIVST kits from across baseline (n=27) and repeat testing (n=10) arms.

3.4.1 Paper 4: HIV self-testing intervention experiences and kit usability: results from a qualitative study among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the SELPHI RCT in England and Wales



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

## SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1603113	Title	Mr	
First Name(s)	T Charles			
Surname/Family Name	Witzel			
Thesis Title	HIV self-testing for men who have sex with men (MSM) in England and Wales: a multi-method study of self-testing intervention development and evaluation			
Primary Supervisor	Peter Weatherburn			

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

## SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	HIV Medicine		
When was the work published?	06/01/2019		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

## SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Stage of publication Choose an item.
--------------------------------------

## SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of	I designed the study, produced the sampling frame,
your role in the research included in the	produced the data collection instruments, recruited
paper and in the preparation of the paper.	participants, conducted all interviews, carried out the
(Attach a further sheet if necessary)	analysis, wrote the results and made revisions.

## SECTION E

Student Signature	Al-al Other
Date	03/12/2019

Supervisor Signature	For data second
Date	03/12/2019

## Improving health worldwide

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk

## ORIGINAL RESEARCH

## HIV self-testing intervention experiences and kit usability: results from a qualitative study among men who have sex with men in the SELHPI (Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) randomized controlled trial in England and Wales

TC Witzel [2],<sup>1</sup> A Bourne,<sup>2</sup> FM Burns,<sup>3</sup> AJ Rodger,<sup>3</sup> L McCabe,<sup>4</sup> MM Gabriel,<sup>4</sup> M Gafos,<sup>4,5</sup> D Ward,<sup>4</sup> Y Collaco-Moraes,<sup>4</sup> DT Dunn,<sup>4</sup> A Speakman,<sup>3</sup> C Bonell,<sup>1</sup> R Pebody,<sup>6</sup> FC Lampe,<sup>3</sup> J Harbottle,<sup>7</sup> AN Phillips,<sup>3</sup> S McCormack<sup>4</sup> and P Weatherburn<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Public Health, Environments and Society, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK, <sup>2</sup>Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, <sup>3</sup>Institute for Global Health, University College London, London, UK, <sup>4</sup>Medical Research Council Clinical Trials Unit, University College London, London, UK, <sup>5</sup>Department of Global Health and Development, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK, <sup>6</sup>NAM Aidsmap, London, UK and <sup>7</sup>SH:24, London, UK

#### Objectives

SELPHI (HIV Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) is the largest randomized controlled trial (RCT) of HIV self-testing (HIVST) in a high-income setting to date, and has recruited 10 000 men who have sex with men (cis- and transgender) and transgender women who have sex with men. This qualitative substudy aimed to explore how those utilizing self-tests experience HIVST and the implications for further intervention development and scale-up. This is the first qualitative study in Europe investigating experiences of HIVST among intervention users, and the first globally examining the experience of using blood-based HIVST.

#### Methods

Thirty-seven cisgender MSM SELPHI participants from across England and Wales were purposively recruited to the substudy, in which semi-structured interviews were used to explore testing history, HIVST experiences and intervention preferences. Interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed and analysed through a framework analysis.

### Results

Men accessed the intervention because HIVST reduced barriers related to convenience, stigma and privacy concerns. Emotional responses had direct links to acceptability. Supportive intervention components increased engagement with testing and addressed supportive concerns. HIVST facilitated more frequent testing, with the potential to reduce sexually transmitted infection (STI) screening frequency. Substudy participants with an HIV-positive result (n = 2) linked to care promptly and reported very high acceptability. Minor adverse outcomes (n = 2; relationship discord and fainting) did not reduce acceptability. Ease of use difficulties were with the lancet and the test processing stage.

#### Conclusions

Intervention components shaped acceptability, particularly in relation to overcoming a perceived lack of support. The intervention was broadly acceptable and usable; participants expressed an unexpected degree of enthusiasm for HIVST, including those with HIV-positive results and individuals with minor adverse outcomes.

Correspondence: T. Charles Witzel, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 15-17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 9SH, UK. Tel: +44 (0) 20 7927 2800; fax: +44 (0) 20 7927 2701; e-mail: Charles.Witzel@lshtm.ac.uk

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.



Keywords: HIV prevention, HIV testing, implementation science, men who have sex with men, process evaluation Accepted 17 September 2019

#### Introduction

Reducing the prevalence of undiagnosed HIV infection is a key public health goal [1,2] enshrined in the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) 90-90-90 targets; 90% of people with HIV infection diagnosed, 90% of people diagnosed on treatment and 90% of people on treatment achieving virological suppression [1]. The UK has been successful in this regard, with London the first city globally to achieve 95-95-95 [3]. While the HIV incidence in England is falling in gay men, expanding testing remains a priority, with prompt diagnoses and linkage into clinical services for those testing positive [4,5]. Despite the British HIV Association recommending annual testing for men who have sex with men (MSM) (or more frequently if at ongoing risk) [6], up to 25% of gay men and bisexual men have never tested and approximately half have not tested in line with these guidelines [7,8].

HIV self-testing (HIVST) is an approach whereby an individual uses a rapid diagnostic test and interprets their own result. HIVST has the potential to increase testing by providing convenience, privacy and accessibility [9,10]. The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends HIVST as a testing option [11].

HIV self-testing was legalized in the UK in 2014, with the first test coming to market in 2015 [10,12,13]. Widespread free public provision of HIVST has yet to occur in the UK. Pilot and demonstration projects have delivered a limited number of free tests, mainly to MSM and black African people [14–16].

Acceptability studies have focused on *potential* users of HIVST, with limited numbers of actual self-testers included in these formative studies [10,13,17]. Evidence of actual user experience from the UK and from Europe more broadly is limited [18].

SELPHI (HIV Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) is the largest randomized controlled trial (RCT) of HIVST in a high-income setting to date. SELPHI has recruited 10 000 MSM (both cisgender and transgender) and transgender women who have anal sex with men. SELPHI has two randomizations and two versions of the primary intervention. In randomization A, the 10 000 participants were allocated at a ratio of 60:40 to a single HIVST (intervention A) at baseline versus standard of care (SoC) (signposting to free testing services). In randomization B (which occurred 3 months post enrolment), eligible participants who had been allocated to HIVST in randomization A, remained HIV-negative and reported condomless anal intercourse (CAI) in the preceding 3 months were randomized 50:50 to the offer of 3-monthly repeat HIVST with test reminders (intervention B) versus SoC. SELPHI has recruited from geolocation hook-up applications (apps) and from social media. All RCT data collection was online, and blood-based test kits (BioSure (UK) Ltd, Nazeing, UK) were delivered by post directly from the test manufacturer. To use the Biosure<sup>TM</sup> kit, users draw a blood sample using a capillary lancet, collect the sample in a test stick, push the test stick into a buffer pot, then wait 15 min before interpreting the result using included instructions. For the SELPHI protocol, see Gabriel *et al.* 2018 [19].

The interventions included multiple components which worked together to support uptake of HIVST, continued engagement with testing more broadly and linkage to care if positive (see Fig. 1). Intervention A began with targeted recruitment through adverts on apps and social media designed to increase motivation to test and reduce perceived capability barriers; then a baseline risk assessment (enrolment survey), which collected demographic and behavioural data prior to randomization A in which participants were allocated to being offered an HIVST kit or not. The HIVST kit was then delivered by post directly by the manufacturer. Following kit delivery a 2week follow-up survey was sent via email which asked for confirmation of receipt and use of the kit, the result and provided linkage to care information for those with positive results. All those randomized to receive HIVST in intervention A were entered into randomization B (provided they met eligibility criteria outlined above) and were randomized to SoC or to intervention B, in which HIVST kits were offered 3-monthly for up to 2 years. They received a test reminder with an embedded risk assessment which was delivered every 3 months, with provision of a further test if desired with an additional follow-up survey 2 weeks afterwards (see Fig. 2). Both interventions were modelled on what would probably be provided in routine online provision of free kits [14,15,20]

This SELPHI substudy addresses critical questions surrounding intervention acceptability and kit usability. The substudy aimed to explore the experience of utilizing HIV self-tests and the implications for further intervention development and scale-up. The specific objectives were to understand motivations for accessing HIVST; to explore intervention acceptability; and to characterize experiences of kit use.

© 2019 The Authors. HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association



Fig. 1 The SELPHI (Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) intervention A.

*Methods:* This qualitative substudy involved 37 semistructured interviews with cisgender MSM within the SELPHI RCT. The first 10 interviews took place in May 2017 during the pilot phase, with the remaining 27 conducted during the main trial between January and October 2018.

Interviews were conducted remotely (n = 17) or face to face (n = 20) depending on location, with a geographical spread of participants across England and Wales. We recruited 25 participants who received intervention A only, 10 who received intervention B and two who reported a positive result (both from intervention A). Purposive sampling ensured diversity in HIV testing experience, age, highest educational qualification (HEQ) and ethnicity. Potential participants who consented to indepth interviews were approached by the lead author



Fig. 2 The SELPHI (Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) intervention B.

who provided details about the study and scheduled interviews. The face-to-face interviews were conducted in Cardiff and Newcastle to increase the diversity of experience of levels of gay community and social opportunity, as well as smaller scale HIV/STI service infrastructure. Participants provided written or verbal recorded consent and were compensated £30 for their involvement. Only cisgender MSM were included, as a study exclusively with transgender participants is ongoing [21,22].

The topic guide covered testing history, engagement with SELPHI, experience of the interventions and preferences for future HIVST interventions. It was piloted with two participants, refined, and used for a further eight

@ 2019 The Authors. HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association

interviews. Following this, additional questions were added to explore intervention acceptability in greater depth, including a demonstration of the kit and a revisiting of the supportive components of the interventions.

Ethical approval was granted by University College London (UCL) (ref: 11945) and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) (ref: 9233/001).

Interviews, all conducted by the lead author, were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. Data analysis followed a Framework approach [23,24]. Our framework drew from theorized key components of intervention acceptability from formative work, the wider literature and systematic reviews [10,17,25]. This framework was piloted, refined and applied to all transcripts by the lead author.

## Results

The sample of 37 men was diverse with regard to age, education, previous HIV testing history, and number

Table 1 Participant demographic characteristics

Demographic characteristic	Number of participants
Age	
16-25 years	11
26-40 years	16
$\geq$ 41 years	10
Ethnicity	
White	29
Black	3
Asian	2
Other/ mixed	3
Sexual orientation	
Gay	24
Bisexual	5
Don't use a term	1
Undisclosed	7
Recency of HIV testing	
Never tested	7
$\geq$ 12 months	17
< 12 months	13
Highest educational qualification (HEQ)	
Low	7
Medium <sup>†</sup>	11
High <sup>‡</sup>	19
Number of CAI partners in preceding 3 month	15
0	12
1	14
2-3	7
4-10	4
> 10	0
HIVST outcome	
Positive	2
Negative	35
Intervention	
A	27
В	10

CAI, condomless anal intercourse; HIVST, HIV self-testing. GCSEs and below. "A-levels or equivalent; higher education below degree level. Degree or higher. of CAI partners (Table 1). Thirty-five reported receiving a negative self-test result and two had received a positive result from their self-test. Here we outline two broad areas: experience of the HIVST intervention (focussed on acceptability), and experience of using the kit (usability).

#### Intervention experiences

This section relates to participant experiences of the overall intervention. First, we consider the appeal of the interventions, including initial motivations to access HIVST. Secondly, we discuss the acceptability of the psychosocial components embedded in the surveys, and then we discuss support structures, and finally outcomes.

#### Appeal, attraction and engagement

Study adverts were felt to be relevant, engaging and straightforward. These were praised for using simple language and for highlighting that the intervention was free, that the kit was simple to use and that the testing process was quick. For others, the adverts simply highlighted an attractive, more convenient testing opportunity. Those who did not report significant appeal based on the advert usually reported that the advert served as a prompt when they were considering testing anyway.

For those testing in response to a sexual risk event, HIVST provided a new way to access testing, overcoming personal barriers related to stigma and privacy concerns. This was most pronounced for those who had not previously tested, or those disengaged from testing services.

Yes, it was something new, it was giving me the ability to do it in private so I didn't have to go somewhere I might bump into somebody who knows me. You know clinics, there's a stigma there. And yes I think it was just the ease of it, the fact that I could do it at home in private on my own but I would get an answer, a yes or a no. (39 year-old gay man, not previously tested)

Neither of those who received a positive result had previously tested for HIV. They cited barriers related to stigma, geography and inconvenient clinic hours, but felt these issues were resolved by the opportunity to self-test.

For men testing for reassurance or as part of routine practice, HIVST offered an increase in convenience and a reduction in opportunity cost, overcoming barriers related to inconvenient clinical opening times, poor service quality and distance to services.

An important additional motivation to seek HIVST was curiosity about a new technology. This was often a primary motivator, particularly common among those who had recently tested via another method, but was also

© 2019 The Authors.

HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association

HIVST intervention experiences and usability 5

reported as a secondary motivator for MSM who had not previously tested for HIV.

The appeal of HIVST was mediated by emotional responses. Self-testing was perceived as generating either more or less anxiety, relative to other testing methods, primarily based on testing history and motivation for testing. For some infrequent testers with concerns about health care professionals, the personal control provided by HIVST decreased anxiety by placing them at the centre of their decision-making.

It [getting the result] felt the same as the other times with my doctor... my doctor telling me, except a lot more comfortable [...] because I then was the one... I'm now in control. And I suppose the same would've been if it had have been a positive result. I would have been the one in control of going to my doctor and saying, 'I've gone ahead and done this. It's come back like this and I need you to investigate'. (49 year-old man, undisclosed sexual orientation, tested in preceding 5 years)

Those with more routine experience of testing tended to describe self-testing as helpful for reducing anxiety by facilitating testing in a comfortable setting. For some with less HIV testing experience and men who had recent risk, HIVST amplified emotional responses because of the solitary nature of its use.

#### Risk, reflection and recognition

The supportive elements of the interventions (the behavioural questions in the survey, 2-week follow-up and testing reminders for those receiving multiple HIVST kits through intervention B) were generally praised for increasing engagement with testing. The follow-up after receiving a test provided a sense of connection to the trial, and an expectation that supportive action would be taken if a result was positive.

For participants receiving the offer of repeat HIVST, the testing reminders and risk assessments embedded in surveys provided an opportunity for reflection about recent sexual activity. This reflective experience was described either in neutral or positive terms; none felt it was not worthwhile or that it created significant discomfort.

Just made me think a bit harder of the past three months, what I'd been doing. It didn't make me feel anything like I shouldn't be asked this [...] it just made me think about all the movement I had in the last three months. (27-year-old gay man, tested in preceding 6 months)

#### Care, support and follow-up

This theme relates to the supportive structures within the intervention which facilitated uptake, including accompanying information describing what to do in the event of a positive result and the 2-week follow-up survey.

The support structures were largely considered appropriate and in line with expectations. For those with concerns about the dislocation of testing from care, these structures helped to increase intervention acceptability.

I liked the fact that when I opened it, the first thing was the card that fell out and it was, kind of, like, one side was, 'If you're negative, great, continue to test, continue to use condoms, continue to have safe sex,' and then the other side was, 'If you're positive don't worry, we can help you,' etc. So that was quite comforting. (35-year-old gay man, tested more than 12 months ago)

Rather than source support through the intervention structures, most individuals with emotional support needs (regarding both positive and negative results) looked to their social networks, drawing on partners, family and friends. Both men who reported a positive result first spoke to a family member or friend who supported them in seeking confirmatory testing at a clinic.

#### Impacts, outcomes and expectations

Outcomes following testing varied, especially in relation to HIV testing history. Changes in testing behaviour appeared most pronounced among those with less testing experience. For these men, the interventions dramatically increased accessibility, facilitating testing when they would not have tested otherwise. This group also described reductions in barriers to other testing services, partly through an easing of anxiety facilitated by familiarity with testing and partly through increased engagement with services in general.

For many, HIVST increased testing frequency by facilitating testing between clinic visits. This was most pronounced amongst those receiving intervention B, but was described by individuals who received only a single test from intervention A.

Those who did not have well-established testing patterns felt that they were likely to entirely replace clinic HIV tests with self-tests as their needs were better met through this means of testing, thus potentially reducing STI testing frequency.

Well, [my behaviour since joining SELPHI] has already changed in a sense that I'm now getting tested every three months, [...] even if I don't receive one through you guys, I can buy it. (27year-old bisexual man, tested in preceding 6 months)

© 2019 The Authors.

HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association

Both men who received a positive result linked to care within 24 h. One had a very low CD4 count indicative of a long-established infection. Receiving positive results through self-testing did not diminish intervention acceptability, with both stating self-testing had 'saved their life.'

It's [HIVST] stopped me transmitting it to other people and saved my life. So yes, even though I got my bad news, it's been a very positive experience. I would recommend anybody do it, anybody who has got concerns, like I had, about going to clinics and stuff like that, get yourself a self-test. (49-year-old gay man, not previously tested, positive result)

Two participants reported negative outcomes related to the interventions. An individual who was receiving repeat self-tests shared a test with his partner whose family found it, prompting relationship discord. Another participant fainted on using the lancet to draw blood. These experiences did not diminish acceptability; both men stated they would be happy to use self-tests in the future.

#### Test kit usability

This section relates to men's experiences using the actual kit. First, we explore capability concerns and test errors, then the emotional impact of using the kit. Finally, we describe participant beliefs regarding sensitivity, specificity and accuracy.

#### Capability, cognition and ease of use

For individuals engaging with HIVST, questions around their own capacity to perform the test were commonplace. The majority used the written instructions provided, with a minority accessing online videos.

While most found using the test straightforward, issues with the lancet were common. A further area of concern for many was pressing the test stick into the pot containing the buffer solution. The information provided was felt not to be sufficiently clear, exacerbating confusion about how far to push the test stick in, and concern about breaking it.

This was the confusing part because this is a square and this is round. So I wasn't sure if this was supposed to go there. And looking at this just at first, you are not sure because, okay, this is round, this is a square. And it doesn't fit instinctively there. So this was where I was confused. This was the part that give me a lot of grief. (40-year-old gay man, tested in preceding 12 months) One individual accidentally released the lancet early, but was able to draw blood by using the needle to prick himself. Two individuals were unable to complete their first test, both because of confusion with how to insert the test stick into the buffer pot. Both sourced a replacement kit from the study team.

Participants universally felt that, with increased experience, these issues would not recur. This was also confirmed by participants receiving repeat HIVST kits who reported that increased use enhanced confidence and competence.

#### Anxiety, relief and emotional engagement

The 15-min interval between completing testing steps and reading the result was nearly universally described as a period of heightened anxiety. This feature of the test provoked emotional responses beyond that experienced waiting for results through other testing opportunities (e.g. at sexual health clinics) for nearly all participants, even those who felt HIVST reduced anxiety overall.

The level of anxiety experienced varied according to testing history and the self-assessment of risk: those with more testing experience who were testing out of routine tended to be less anxious. For individuals testing following a risk event and for those without established routines (even if low risk), this wait generated profound feelings of vulnerability.

When I start doing the test, no [I didn't think it could be positive]. When I'd done the test and then I'm waiting I'm convinced I've got everything from Ebola to SARS to HIV. So then it's not until I actually get the result that I'm confident again. But there's always just that creeping panic that you could have something, because you don't know. (25-year-old gay man, tested in preceding 12 months)

Unsurprisingly, individuals with positive results described the experience as deeply upsetting, but also described the accompanying support information as being appropriate for their needs. Their emotional responses did not diminish intervention acceptability as both expressed great enthusiasm for HIVST.

#### Sensitivity, specificity and beliefs about accuracy

Participants with more testing experience sometimes had questions about HIVST accuracy. This concern was typically about completing the test as well as questions related to reliability of the technology. These concerns were usually dispelled through the support information or upon receiving a negative test result.

© 2019 The Authors. HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association

While the vast majority of those with negative results trusted that the test outcome was valid (with the exception of one who had made significant test errors), both men with positive results had significant doubts as to whether the result was correct. This was a primary motivator to seek confirmatory testing.

Honestly I was 50/50 on it [accuracy] because I don't know, I just thought shit, what if I have [HIV] [...] it's not 100% accurate and then I didn't know. I wanted to get a proper full-on test. I know this is a proper test as well, but I just wanted a doctor doing it. (21-year-old gay man, not previously tested, positive result)

## Discussion

This study explored key dimensions of HIV self-test intervention acceptability and kit usability among 37 cisgender MSM drawn from a large HIVST RCT. Self-testing had different appeal depending on previous testing history and their motivations for accessing testing. In nearly all cases, HIVST reduced barriers to testing, which related to either stigma and privacy issues, or convenience and opportunity cost. Supportive intervention components increased testing engagement more broadly. The intervention support structures were adequate, although most support was drawn from social networks. The kit itself was well regarded, with few significant errors. Concerns regarding kit reliability typically resolved following a negative result, but persisted for those who tested positive. Both participants with positive results linked to care within 24 h.

Those without established testing routines and individuals with recent risk concerns found HIVST to induce anxiety, especially the 15-min interval between using the test and reading the result. This feature produced profound feelings of vulnerability, beyond what would be experienced while testing through a different method. For others, HIVST reduced anxiety relative to other models by putting them in control of the testing process. This underlines the central role of anxiety in HIV testing; anxiety may produce a key testing barrier for many regardless of their risk and testing history, although perhaps at different stages in the process depending on the testing technology and setting.

These findings underline the importance of intervention design in service delivery and the value of formative work with intended beneficiaries. Each component of both interventions (the advertisements, risk assessments, support components and the kit itself) had a specific relationship with acceptability, in most cases overcoming documented HIVST barriers such as lack of support [10,13,17,25]. This qualitative study demonstrates the potential for HIVST to increase testing frequency for frequent and infrequent testers, in line with existing RCT evidence [26,27]. Infrequent testers may access sexual health clinics less often, however, potentially reducing STI testing in this group, also consistent with existing evidence from the USA but contradicting an Australian study [26,27]. Offering bacterial STI self-sampling alongside HIVST may ameliorate this. The final RCT results will provide crucial evidence regarding this outcome.

Given that those new to testing frequently accessed the intervention in response to risk, it is especially important that clear information regarding test window periods is provided for those with less testing knowledge. The significant distrust of their results reported by both participants with a positive result underlines the importance of clear, supportive information providing an accessible pathway into clinical care no matter the geographical location.

Finally, minor adverse outcomes (fainting; relationship discord) were reported by two participants. Further research into potentially harmful outcomes is required to develop strategies to ameliorate these. This is particularly important given concerns about the potential for harm arising from HIVST despite the lack of evidence to date [10,12,28–30].

#### Strengths and limitations

To our knowledge, this is the first European study that has examined self-testing intervention acceptability solely among actual HIVST users and will be useful for those working with similar groups in similar health care settings. Nevertheless, some limitations are noted.

The majority of our participants reported negative results. Thus, the data pertaining to those with positive results cannot be considered representative of the experiences of others.

All participants chose to participate in an RCT that delivered an HIVST to an address (residential or otherwise) and that collected substantial amounts of personal data, and all of them consented to being interviewed. This sample, therefore, potentially does not include those with the greatest concerns surrounding disclosure of sensitive information about themselves, a group hypothesized to have a heightened need for HIVST [10,25].

### Conclusions

This study explored how those using self-tests experience HIV self-testing and implications for intervention development and scale-up. Previous testing experience was

© 2019 The Authors. HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association

key in shaping intervention acceptability and test kit usability. Men were motivated to access the intervention because HIVST reduced specific HIV testing barriers related to convenience, stigma and privacy concerns. The intervention was acceptable, with participants expressing an unexpected degree of enthusiasm for self-testing, including those with positive results and individuals who experienced adverse events.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of the SELPHI community advisory group and its co-chair Roy Trevelion.

Conflicts of interest: All authors declare no conflicts of interest.

*Financial disclosure*: This paper summarizes independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) under its Programme Grants for Applied Research Programme (Grant reference Number RP-PG-1212-20006). The views expressed are those of the author (s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

## Author contributions

RCT design: MMG, SMc, AJR, DTD, ANP, FCL, AS, MGaf, LM, FMB, TCW and PW. Patient and public involvement: RP. RCT implementation: MMG, SMc, AJR, DTD, YCM, ANP, FCL, AS, MGaf, LM, FMB, TCW, PW, DW and JH. Substudy design: TCW, PW, AJR, FMB, AB, SMc and CB. Data collection: TCW. Instrument design: TCW, PW, AB, FMB and AJR. Analysis: TCW. Drafting: TCW, AB and PW. Conceptual input: TCW, AB, PW, AJR, FMB, SMc, DTD, ANP, FCL, AS, MGaf, MMG, FMB, CB and RP. All authors have approved the final manuscript.

#### Ethical approval

Ethical approval for the RCT and qualitative substudy was provided by UCL and LSHTM (refs: 11945 and 9233/001). SELPHI was prospectively registered with the ISRCTN registry on 8 October 2016 (ref: ISRCTN20312003). All participants provided informed consent ahead of their involvement in the RCT and qualitative substudy.

### References

- 1 UNAIDS. 90–90-90: An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic.2014.
- 2 Phillips AN, Cambiano V, Miners A *et al.* Potential impact on HIV incidence of higher HIV testing rates and earlier

antiretroviral therapy initiation in MSM. *AIDS*. 2015; 29: 1855–1862.

- 3 Nash S, Desai S, Croxford S, et al. Progress towards ending the HIV epidemic in the United Kingdom: 2018 report. London, Public Health England, 2018.
- 4 Brown AE, Mohammed H, Ogaz D et al. Fall in new HIV diagnoses among men who have sex with men (MSM) at selected London sexual health clinics since early 2015: testing or treatment or pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)? Euro Surveill. 2017; 22: 30553.
- 5 Kirwan PD, Chau C, Brown AE, Gill ON, Delpech VC, and contributors. *HIV in the UK - 2016 report*. London, Public Health England, 2016.
- 6 British HIV Association, British Association of Sexual Health and HIV, and the British Infection Society. UK National Guidelines for HIV Testing 2008. London, British HIV Association, 2008.
- 7 Witzel TC, Melendez-Torres GJ, Hickson F, Weatherburn P. HIV testing history and preferences or future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other MSM in England: results from a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* 2016; 6: e011372.
- 8 Knussen C, Flowers P, McDaid LM. Factors associated with recency of HIV testing amongst men residing in Scotland who have sex with men. AIDS Care. 2014; 26: 297–303.
- 9 Figueroa C, Johnson C, Ford N, et al.Reliability of HIV rapid diagnostic tests for self-testing compared with testing by health-care workers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet HIV* 2018; 5: e277–e290.
- 10 Witzel TC, Rodger AJ, Burns FM, Rhodes T, Weatherburn P. HIV Self-Testing among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in the UK: A Qualitative Study of Barriers and Facilitators, Intervention Preferences and Perceived Impacts. *PLoS One* 2016; 11: e0162713.
- 11 World Health Organization.Guidelines on HIV self-testing and partner notification: supplement to consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services.Switzerland, World Health Organization, Villars-sous-Yens, 2016.
- 12 Witzel TC, Rodger AJ. New initiatives to develop self-testing for HIV. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2017; 30: 50–7.
- 13 Flowers P, Riddell J, Park C et al. Preparedness for use of the rapid result HIV self-test by gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM): a mixed methods exploratory study among MSM and those involved in HIV prevention and care. HIV Med 2016; 18: 245–255.
- 14 Gibson W, Challenor R, Warwick Z. HIV home/self-testing: a pilot project and service evaluation. 22nd Annual Conference of the British HIV Association, Manchester UK, 19–22 April 2016.
- 15 James C, Edwards D, Harris W, Brady M.HIV self-testing: feasibility and acceptability of a large scale national service delivered by a community organisation. IAS 2017. Paris, France, July 23 to 26 2017, 2017.

© 2019 The Authors.

HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association
- 16 Vera JH, Soni S, Pollard Aet al. Acceptability and feasibility of using digital vending machines to deliver HIV self-tests to men who have sex with men. Sexually Transmitted Infections 2019: sextrans-2018.
- 17 Witzel TC, Weatherburn P, Rodger AJ, Bourne AH, Burns FM. Risk, reassurance and routine: a qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England. *BMC Public Health* 2017; 17: 491.
- 18 Witzel TC, Gabriel MM, Weatherburn P et al. Pilot phase of an internet-based RCT of HIVST targeting MSM and transgender people in England and Wales: advertising strategies and acceptability of the intervention. BMC Infect Dis. 2019; 19: 699.
- 19 Gabriel MM, Dunn DT, Speakman A *et al.* Protocol, rationale and design of SELPHI: a randomised controlled trial assessing whether offering free HIV self-testing kits via the internet increases the rate of HIV diagnosis. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2018; 18: 531.
- 20 Baraitser P, Howroyd C, Courtenay M et al. Comparing uptake and acceptability of online self-sampling and selftesting for HIV. HIV Med. Wiley, 2018; 19: S19.
- 21 Bauer GR, Hammond R, Travers R, Kaay M, Hohenadel KM, Boyce M. "I don't think this is theoretical; this is our lives": how erasure impacts health care for transgender people. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2009; 20: 348–361.
- 22 Reisner SL, Poteat T, Keatley J, et al. Global health burden and needs of transgender populations: a review. *The Lancet*. 2016; 388: 412–436.

- 23 Ritchie J, Spencer L. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In: Bryman A, Burgess RG editors. *Analyzing Qualitative Data*. Abingdon, UK, Taylor & Francis Books Ltd, 1994: 187–208.
- 24 Clarke V, Braun V. Thematic analysis. In: Teo T, ed. Encyclopedia of Critical Psychology. New York, Springer, 2014: 1947–1952.
- 25 Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Baggaley R. Attitudes and acceptability on HIV self-testing among key populations: a literature review. AIDS Behav. 2015; 19: 1949–1965.
- 26 Jamil MS, Prestage G, Fairley CK *et al.* Effect of availability of HIV self-testing on HIV testing frequency in gay and bisexual men at high risk of infection (FORTH): a waiting-list randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet HIV.* 2017; 4: e241–e250.
- 27 Katz DA, Golden MR, Hughes JP, Farquhar C, Stekler JD. HIV self-testing increases HIV testing frequency in high-risk men who have sex with men: a randomized controlled trial. J Acauir Immune Defic Syndr 2018: 78: 505–12.
- 28 Brown AN, Djimeu EW, Cameron DB. A review of the evidence of harm from self-tests. *AIDS Behav.* 2014; 18 (Suppl 4): S445–S449.
- 29 Mavedzenge SN, Baggaley R, Corbett EL. A review of selftesting for HIV: research and policy priorities in a new era of HIV prevention. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2013; 57: 126–138.
- 30 Pant Pai N, Sharma J, Shivkumar S et al. Supervised and unsupervised self-testing for HIV in high- and low-risk populations: a systematic review. PLoS Medicine 2013; 10: e1001414.

 $\textcircled{\sc 0}$  2019 The Authors. HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association

HIV Medicine (2019)

Following this analysis, which again found high intervention acceptability, it became clear that groups of participants had highly divergent experiences of the intervention. These first emerged when looking closely at the role of emotion in HIVST; groups of MSM had quite different emotional responses to the technology based on their testing histories and their motivations for engaging with SELPHI. I felt that these might be amenable to further exploration and perhaps a useful tool through which to gain an understanding of the way the intervention functioned for specific groups. I developed a typology of self-testers using these organising principles. How I would use this typology remained unclear at this stage.

After completing the 35th interview in this sample I was invited to present the SELPHI logic model at a symposia session at AIDS 2018. I instead proposed presenting a yet to be performed analysis, testing the logic model with the groups I had identified earlier as I was concerned the logic model presentation would be insufficiently engaging. This led me to conduct a preliminary version of the analysis presented in the next paper. While I initially thought it would be relatively inconsequential, the intervention experiences between the three different groups were so unique that I felt it was worth a more in-depth exploration. This also met an aspiration of the process evaluation embedded within SELPHI to identify differences in intervention reception and experience across participants.

The expanded analysis clarified that these data had the potential to expand the way we think about HIVST interventions specifically, but also the way that we think about COM-B and the contexts in which it is useful.

To my knowledge this is a relatively novel way of conducting a framework analysis, using the approach for a purpose it was not initially designed for. As such, the analysis approach is itself experimental. Never-the-less, the insights gleaned from it are unique in the literature and may have value for policy makers and practitioners seeking to design interventions.

*3.4.2 Paper 5: Demonstrating pathways to impact: using a testing typology to understand intervention performance in an HIV self-testing RCT in England and Wales.* 



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

# SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1603113	Title	Mr			
First Name(s)	T Charles					
Surname/Family Name	Witzel					
Thesis Title	HIV self-testing for men who have sex with men (MSM) in England and Wales: a multi-method study of self-testing intervention development and evaluation					
Primary Supervisor	Peter Weatherburn					

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

# SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item.

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

# SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Witzel TC1; Weatherburn P1; Bourne A2; Rodger AJ3; Bonell C1; Gafos M4; Trevelion R5; Speakman A3; Lampe FC3; Ward D6; Dunn DT6; Gabriel MM6; McCabe L6; Harbottle J7; Collaco-Moraes Y 6; Michie S8; Phillips AN3;

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

	McCormack S6; Burns FM3.
Stage of publication	Undergoing revision

# SECTION D – Multi-authored work

# SECTION E

г

Student Signature	Check Direct.
Date	03/12/2019

Supervisor Signature	Parishes
Date	03/12/2019

Page 2 of 2

www.lshtm.ac.uk



International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health



# Article Exploring Mechanisms of Action: Using a Testing Typology to Understand Intervention Performance in an HIV Self-Testing RCT in England and Wales

T. Charles Witzel <sup>1,\*</sup>, Peter Weatherburn <sup>1</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Adam Bourne <sup>2</sup>, Alison J. Rodger <sup>3</sup>, Chris Bonell <sup>1</sup>, Mitzy Gafos <sup>4</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Roy Trevelion <sup>5</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Andrew Speakman <sup>3</sup>, Fiona Lampe <sup>3</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Denise Ward <sup>6</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, David T. Dunn <sup>6</sup>, Michelle M. Gabriel <sup>6</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Leanne McCabe <sup>6</sup>, Justin Harbottle <sup>7</sup>, Yolanda Collaco Moraes <sup>6</sup>, Susan Michie <sup>8</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Andrew N. Phillips <sup>3</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Sheena McCormack <sup>6</sup> and Fiona M. Burns <sup>3</sup><sup>(0)</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Public Health, Environments and Society, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London WC1H 9SH, UK; peter.weatherburn@lshtm.ac.uk (P.W.); chris.bonell@lshtm.ac.uk (C.B.)
- <sup>2</sup> Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University, Melbourne 3086, Australia; a.bourne@latrobe.edu.au
- <sup>3</sup> Institute for Global Health, University College London, London NW3 2PF, UK; Alison.rodger@ucl.ac.uk (A.J.R.); a.speakman@ucl.ac.uk (A.S.); f.lampe@ucl.ac.uk (F.L.); andrew.phillips@ucl.ac.uk (A.N.P.); f.burns@ucl.ac.uk (F.M.B.)
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Global Health and Development, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London WC1h 9SH, UK; mitzy.gafos@lshtm.ac.uk
- <sup>5</sup> HIV i-Base, London SE1 3LJ, UK; roy.trevelion@i-base.org.uk
- <sup>6</sup> Medical Research Council Clinical Trials Unit, University College London, London, WC1V 6LJ, UK; denise.ward@ucl.ac.uk (D.W.); d.dunn@ucl.ac.uk (D.T.D.); m.gabriel@ucl.ac.uk (M.M.G.); leanne.mccabe@ucl.ac.uk (L.M.); y.collaco-moraes@ucl.ac.uk (Y.C.M.); s.mccormack@ucl.ac.uk (S.M.)
- 7 SH:24, London SE1 7JB, UK; Justin@SH24.org.uk
- 8 Centre for Behaviour Change, University College London, London WC1N 3AZ, UK; s.michie@ucl.ac.uk
- \* Correspondence: charles.witzel@lshtm.ac.uk

Received: 7 October 2019; Accepted: 17 December 2019; Published: 10 January 2020



Abstract: SELPHI involves two interventions: A provides one HIV self-testing (HIVST) kit; B offers 3-monthly repeat HIVST kits if participants report ongoing risk. A logic model underpinned by the Behaviour Change Wheel informed the design of the intervention. SELPHI recruited 10,135 cis-men and trans people in England and Wales, all reporting anal sex with a man. This paper explores how the interventions were experienced and the mechanisms of action leading to impact for different groups of trial participants. In-depth interviews with 37 cis-men who have sex with men (MSM) were used to inductively categorise participants based on sexual and HIV testing histories. Themes relating to intervention experiences and impacts were mapped onto SELPHI-hypothesised intermediate outcomes to consider intervention impacts. Three groups were identified: 'inexperienced testers' engaged with SELPHI to overcome motivational and social and physical opportunity testing barriers. For 'pro self-testers', testing frequency was constrained by psychological and social barriers and lack of opportunity. 'Opportunistic adopters' engaged in HIVST for novelty and convenience. Perceived impacts for inexperienced testers were most closely aligned with the logic model, but for opportunistic adopters there was little evidence of impact. Distinctive groups were discernible with divergent intervention experiences. Using COM-B as a model for understanding behaviour change in relation to HIVST, our results indicate how HIVST interventions could be adapted to respond to different needs based on the target population's demographic and behavioural features.

Keywords: HIV testing; self-testing; men who have sex with men; COM-B; evaluation

Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020, 17, 466; doi:10.3390/ijerph17020466

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. HIV Self-Testing in the UK

Early HIV diagnosis ensures improved treatment outcomes and a definitive body of literature demonstrates the impossibility of sexual transmission of HIV once an undetectable viral load has been achieved [1–5]. In response to this, HIV testing has undergone a rapid evolution over the last two decades, with increases in the variety of testing options offered in many settings [6,7]. Conceptualisations of HIV testing have shifted also; among men who have sex with men (MSM), testing can now be considered a normative behaviour, with strong pressure to test coming from other gay and bisexual men as well as from public health and voluntary sector organisations [8–10].

HIV self-testing (HIVST) is the latest in a long line of evolutions in HIV testing. Previously banned because of concerns surrounding potential harms, HIVST was legalised in the UK in April 2014, [11]. HIVST involves a person taking their own sample, processing their test, and interpreting their result. A positive result on an HIVST is the first step in a testing pathway; diagnosis requires undergoing further testing using a nationally recognised testing algorithm [4]. Free provision of HIVST has been patchy, with pilot and demonstration projects providing limited numbers of kits to specific risk groups in geographically defined areas [4,12].

#### 1.2. SELPHI HIV Self-Testing RCT

SELPHI (An HIV Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) is the largest HIVST randomised controlled trial (RCT) in a high-income setting [13]. Between February 2017 and March 2018, SELPHI recruited 10,135 MSM (cisgender and transgender) and transgender women reporting anal intercourse with a man in their lifetime. SELPHI uses a one-off free HIVST intervention to assess whether an offer of HIVST can increase diagnosis rates of prevalent HIV infections, and an intervention comprised of a three-monthly offer of free HIVST to reduce the time between infection and diagnosis for incident infections [13]. Participants in SELPHI who receive HIVST kit(s) are provided with a BioSure<sup>TM</sup> HIVST, which uses a whole blood sample. Intervention acceptability and test kit usability for SELPHI participants has been reported elsewhere [14,15].

SELPHI used the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW), which includes the COM-B model of behaviour as an organising principle in conceptualising intervention components, their functions, and outcomes associated with each [16]. COM-B posits that alterations in capability, opportunity, and motivation are key to successful behaviour change interventions, and services can target alterations in these domains through careful intervention design [16,17].

Each domain of capability, opportunity, and motivation is divided into two sub-domains. Capability refers to physical and psychological abilities, while physical opportunity refers to environmental aspects shaping behaviour, and social opportunity refers to cultural factors constraining or facilitating engagement [16]. Motivation is divided into reflective and automatic processes (e.g. planning vs. emotions and impulses) [16].

The BCW comprises two levels of intervention: policy changes (e.g. legislation, regulation, communications, and marketing) and interventions directed at the individuals themselves (e.g. enablement, modelling, restriction). Table 1 presents an overview of intervention types with definitions.

The BCW provides recommendations for which intervention types are useful in targeting each behavioural domain (see Table 2) [16]. It provides a template from which to create theoretically informed behaviour change interventions which respond to specific needs.

COM-B and the BCW have been criticised for over-simplifying understandings of sources of behaviour and individual responses, and for their potential to ignore variation in need [18]. This could lead to the development of interventions which are insufficiently attentive to diversity amongst their intended users. However, COM-B and the BCW are used effectively across a wide variety of health conditions including HIV [17,19–23].

Table 1.	COM-B	intervention	types	and	definitions	(reproduced	from	Michie	et	al.,	2011,	with
permissio	n).											

Interventions	Definition
Education	Increasing knowledge or understanding
Persuasion	Using communication to induce positive or negative feelings or stimulate action
Incentivisation	Creating expectation of reward
Coercion	Creating expectation of punishment or cost
Training	Imparting skills
Restriction	Using rules to reduce the opportunity to engage in the target behaviour (or to increase the target behaviour by reducing the opportunity to engage in competing behaviours)
Environmental restructuring	Changing the physical or social context
Modelling	Providing an example for people to aspire to or imitate
Enablement	Increasing means/reducing barriers to increase capability or opportunity $^{\rm 1}$

<sup>1</sup> Capability beyond education and training; opportunity beyond environmental restructuring.

Table 2. Relationship between COM-B domains and interventions (reproduced from Michie et al., 2011, with permission).

Model of behaviour: sources	Education	Persuasion	Incentivisation	Coercion	Training	Restriction	Environmental restructuring	Modelling	Enablement
C-Ph					√				√
C-Ps	√				√				√
M-Re	√	√	$\checkmark$	√					
M-Au		√	√	√			√	√	√
O-Ph						√	√		√
O-So						√	√		√

#### 1.3. Understanding HIVST Interventions

Theorised to increase access for those with concerns related to privacy, convenience, and stigma, HIVST expands the locations in which an HIV test can be taken, and places increased emphasis on users' responsibility to respond to the technology in specific ways [24]. Thought to be especially useful for those with less HIV testing experience because of the reduction in healthcare barriers [11,25–27], little is known about the ways in which individuals, or indeed groups, respond to the technology and incorporate it into health-seeking behaviours [4]. The majority of HIVST acceptability studies focus on the accounts of potential users before intervention exposure, and therefore do not reflect lived experience.

Interventions do not perform in uniform ways across individuals or groups [28]. Understanding how and why interventions function is key to optimising delivery processes, enhancing the potential to facilitate behaviour change by tailoring interventions for heterogeneous populations [7,28].

For HIV testing specifically, Flowers and colleagues urge increased consideration of the technological, psychosocial, and sociocultural context of HIV testing [7]. Changes related to sexual career and a person's life-course are especially likely to affect how individuals seek and experience HIV testing interventions [7]. Those seeking HIV testing for the first time will likely have different needs than those who have more testing experience, factors to which intervention design should be attentive [7].

It is also important to better understand how interventions can be targeted based on group experiences to ensure optimal utility, especially from a life-course perspective. Self-testing provides the opportunity to design flexible interventions to meet a range of diverse needs, thus facilitating uptake in groups underserved by existing testing opportunities [7,11]. Further, it is important to understand how interventions impact on subsequent testing behaviour as this provides insights into the function they serve alongside a diverse set of other services.

# 1.4. SELPHI Logic Model

Likely pathways of impact from intervention delivery to the main trial outcomes are articulated through a COM-B informed logic model (Figure 1). An additional outcome of increasing the uptake of testing was also included, recognising the centrality of this aim to testing interventions. The logic model for SELPHI (Figure 1) draws from a systematic literature map, focus groups discussions (FGDs) with 47 MSM, and 17 key informant in-depth interviews (IDIs) [9,11,29,30]. As SELPHI is an RCT situated within a supportive policy environment, the framework focused on producing behavioural alterations through the intervention functions and their relationships with behaviour specified in COM-B (Tables 1 and 2).

Implementation context		Intervention processes	Intermediate outcomes	Trial outcomes	
Cultural norm for regular testing.		Targeted recruitment	Recruitment increases motivation to establish HIV status (motivation:	Increased volume of HIV tests carried out and/or	
Perceived issues with own capability.		from apps / social media.	reflective). Participation in surveys increases	reduction in the time interval between tests.	
Concerns about		Behavioural	risk perceptions (motivation: reflective).	Diagnoses of prevalent, possibly long-standing,	
supportive structures.		enrolment survey.	Kit provision offers increased privacy for those concerned about	HIV infections and entry to standard HIV clinical	
		Delivery, receipt and use	(opportunity: social).	among men reluctant to	
		of HIVST kit.	Kit provision increases access to testing (opportunity: physical).	Diagnoses of incident	
Interventions a & b		follow-up	Two-week survey increases	to standard HIV clinical	
Intervention a		use and result.	providing reflective experience	among men at	
Intervention b		Three-month	automatic).	Increased risk.	
		reminder	Testing reminders provide reflective experience (motivation: reflective & automatic)		

Figure 1. Logic model.

Contextual factors assumed to impact intervention delivery included a cultural norm for regular testing; perceived issues with capability and concerns about supportive structures.

The main testing barriers identified in formative work which HIVST could effectively respond to were motivation (reflective & automatic) and opportunity (physical & social). The intervention was designed to induce changes in these areas, while minimising concerns around capability (psychological & physical), which presented the primary barrier to intervention implementation. We sought to ameliorate capability issues through intervention design.

Intervention A (Figure 2) is linear, moving from targeted recruitment to a risk assessment represented by behavioural questions in a survey, then to the receipt and use of the HIVST, and lastly a two-week follow-up survey. The advertisement was classified as a form of education and persuasion,

seeking to enhance motivation (reflective). The risk assessment was a form of persuasion, enhancing motivation (reflective) by increasing feelings of vulnerability to HIV. Free kit provision was a form of enablement increasing opportunity (physical). The two-week follow-up was a form of enablement, increasing motivation (reflective & automatic). In the SELPHI pilot, participants reported the test kit was easy to use, that the instructions were simple and the support structures adequate for their

design were successful. Intervention B (Figure 3) includes all elements of A, with additional cyclical components consisting of a testing reminder and a linked risk assessment delivered every three months which, should a kit be requested, triggers delivery of a new HIVST kit and another two-week follow-up survey. The testing reminder and linked risk assessment were forms of persuasion, targeting motivation.

needs [14,15], demonstrating that our efforts to ameliorate capability issues through intervention

The logic model articulates intermediate outcomes assumed to be precursors to achieving the trial outcomes. Each intermediate outcome relates to a documented deficit or need constraining testing within the target population and which intervention design has identified as a key area which requires change. They are described as an outcome (e.g. increased risk perception) and a COM-B-linked domain which required alteration to achieve this. None of the intermediate outcomes were related to capability concerns as a barrier to uptake as these had already been mitigated via the provision of enhanced support and through intervention messaging [14].



Figure 2. Intervention A.

#### Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020, 17, 466

6 of 17



Figure 3. Intervention B.

Understanding differences in experience in groups of individuals has long been a public health aspiration. Latent class analysis is a method often used in quantitative studies which seeks to create groups based on shared demographic and behavioural traits and uses these to investigate differences in outcomes [31,32]. We draw on the foundational principles of this approach and apply them to a qualitative analysis to examine how different groups of participants understand the utility of HIVST in the context of their testing behaviour. These findings can be used to guide commissioners and health promoters in how HIVST interventions might be adapted to better meet a range of needs and improve outcomes.

This paper aims to explore how the SELPHI interventions might be experienced by, and the pathways to impact on behaviour for, different groups of RCT participants. The specific objectives are: to develop a participant typology to identify commonalities in the intervention experience and how these vary according to sexual and testing behaviours; to describe how interventions can be designed to respond to these commonalities; and to examine the utility of COM-B as a model for understanding behaviour change in relation to HIVST.

### 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Participants and Procedures

This study involved 37 in-depth semi-structured interviews with purposively sampled cis-gender MSM. The initial 10 interviews were conducted in May 2017, with a further 27 taking place between January and October 2018. Ethical approval was sought and granted from University College London [ref: 11945] and London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine [ref: 9233/001].

Interviews were conducted face-to-face (n = 20) and remotely (n = 17). Purposive sampling was used to ensure a diversity of participants, based primarily on testing history and then on geographical location, highest educational qualifications, age, and ethnicity. Interviews were conducted in Cardiff, Newcastle, and London, ensuring participation from men in areas with variable health service development and differences in the prominence of gay scenes. Two interviews were conducted with participants who had a positive result from HIVST.

A topic guide for interviews was developed drawing from earlier formative work, the logic model, and the broader HIVST literature [9,11,26,33]. The first iteration covered testing history, engagement with SELPHI, intervention experiences, and preferences for future HIVST development. After piloting, this was refined. Following the first ten interviews the topic guide was expanded to provide additional focus on the HIVST intervention being used in the RCT. Questions about trial infrastructure and intervention processes were added; participants were asked to revisit the adverts they were recruited from and the surveys they filled out and take time reviewing components of the kit. Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim.

# 2.2. Analytic Procedures

A deductive framework approach to data analysis was chosen to focus on specific elements of the intervention and because of the need to compare these across participants [34]. Key domains of enquiry were extracted from the topic guide, the interviews, and the broader HIVST literature and organised around broad themes. This analysis draws from a section of this framework which focuses on intervention function. Each intervention component and the intermediate outcomes, assumed to be a result of these, had their own code to which data were assigned by the first author. COM-B domains were mapped onto the framework to ensure it captured relevant emerging data. The analysis remained attentive to the emergence of new issues and lines of enquiry, especially around the groupings of participants. The framework itself was refined twice: once after two interviews in the pilot phase, and again following the addition of new questions in the second phase of data collection.

During analysis it emerged that participants were clustered qualitatively into three main groups based on their life-course, HIV testing history, and engagement with HIVST. We solidified this into a typology of participants based on prior testing and orientation to SELPHI, and then looked to see whether accounts of intervention experiences and perceived intermediate impacts differed among the groups identified in the typology, and how these aligned with constructs from the logic model. This was then qualitatively assessed for strength and clarity of feeling expressed by intermediate outcome for each of the groups. These themes relating to intervention functions by participant groups were reviewed by TCW, PW, AJR, and FMB to ensure coherence of interpretation and agreement with assessments related to strength of evidence.

#### 3. Results

The SELPHI interventions were experienced variably by the groups identified in our analysis. In this section, we first outline the groups and their defining characteristics, before describing each intervention component and associated intermediate outcomes. The differences in intermediate outcomes across groups are then presented.

### 3.1. A Testing Typology

In our analysis, we found three main groups who had distinct experiences of intervention performance: inexperienced testers (n = 14), pro self-testers (n = 11), and opportunistic adopters (n = 12). These groups were classified primarily based on their testing history and motivations for engaging with HIVST. These groups represent individuals at different stages of their life-course and sexual careers; they are therefore fluid and exist on a spectrum. Although diversity of experience existed within these groups, their shared characteristics meant that the interventions functioned in differing ways for these three groups. These distinct experiences are useful for understanding how intervention components varied in their utility and the potential for future intervention optimisation. Table 3 presents our sample demographics.

	White	29
Ethnicity	Black	3
Euniterty	Asian	2
	Other/mixed	3
	Gay	24
	Bisexual	5
Sexual orientation	Don't use a	1
	term	1
	Undisclosed	7
	Never tested	7
Recency of HIV testing	12 months +	17
	<12 months	13
	Low <sup>1</sup>	7
Highest education qualification	Medium <sup>2</sup>	11
	High <sup>3</sup>	19
	0	12
	1	14
Condomless anal intercourse partners in preceding three months	2–3	7
	4–10	4
	10+	0
Test subserve	Positive	2
lest outcome	Negative	35
Intercention	Intervention A	27
Intervention	Intervention B	10
1 CCCE and 1 along 2 A local and a single of high and here the later of the	1 1 3 5 1 1 1	

Table 3.	Sampl	e demograp	hics
----------	-------	------------	------

<sup>1</sup> GCSEs and below. <sup>2</sup> A-levels or equivalent, higher education below degree level. <sup>3</sup> Degree or higher.

### 3.1.1. Inexperienced Testers

This group's defining characteristic is their estrangement from testing services. Inexperienced testers had either never previously tested or had not tested in quite some time. These men were usually at the beginning of their sexual careers, but also included those who had been sexually active for many years but had never routinely tested for HIV. All were below the age of 25 or over the age of 40. This group often had profound issues relating to stigma, shame, internalised homophobia, and traditional conceptualisations of masculinity. HIVST facilitated engagement with testing due to the reduction in barriers which had previously prevented them from testing. Barriers for this group clustered around the COM-B domains motivation (reflective & automatic); opportunity (social & physical) and capability (psychological). These barriers included psychological and social barriers such as stigma, perceived lack of privacy, and low self-efficacy regarding clinic access, as well as structural barriers such as geographic isolation from existing testing services. Some inexperienced testers viewed testing as a normative behaviour, but these views were much less strongly held than in the other groups. If they

tested at all, individuals in this group usually tested in response to risk, with a small minority testing for reassurance. None tested out of routine.

### 3.1.2. Pro Self-Testers

Men in this group had an established testing routine but tested sub-optimally based on guidelines or less than their own preferences because of barriers to accessing services. Generally speaking, these men could be understood to be at an intermediate point of their sexual careers. They may have been sexually active for some time but often retained barriers to living very open lives related to stigma, shame, conceptualisations of masculinity, and homophobia. They were spread across all age groups. These barriers related to the COM-B domains of opportunity (social & physical) and capability (psychological). Barriers to testing services faced by this group included stigma, privacy concerns, and perceptions that services were inaccessible or inappropriate. This group experienced a tension between norms to test balanced against their personal barriers to access which constrained their testing behaviour, sometimes leading to feelings of guilt, shame or of being stigmatised. HIVST helped to resolve these barriers and facilitate testing uptake thereby alleviating negative feelings about not testing. HIVST was the preferred testing option and they used HIVST when testing in response to risk, for reassurance and out of routine.

### 3.1.3. Opportunistic Adopters

The final group in our analysis were already very engaged with testing services where their needs were generally well met. This group had no discernible COM-B barriers, except for some minor issues with physical opportunity related directly to accessibility of clinics based on opening or waiting times. Opportunistic adopters tended to test at least annually, but often much more frequently. Men in this group were, on the whole, comfortable with their sexual orientation, led quite open lives, and had access to services which met their needs in an appropriate way. These men were all over 25 years of age. Although HIVST uptake was facilitated by increased convenience; they had no obvious deficits to which HIVST responds. They used self-testing largely out of novelty, as a replacement for a routine test or to gain reassurance.

### 3.2. Intervention Components and Behavioural Influences

We found key differences in the way the intervention functioned for each group. Inexperienced testers' experiences matched most closely with the hypotheses in our logic model. Pro self-testers experiences diverged, especially around elements designed to enhance motivation (automatic & reflective). Opportunistic adopters diverged further, with significantly different experiences when compared to inexperienced testers. Figure 4 presents differences across groups of SELPHI participants by assumed intermediate outcome.

### 3.2.1. Recruitment and Testing Motivation

The SELPHI logic model assumed that the adverts used to recruit participants would increase motivation to test. These adverts were a form of education and persuasion targeting reflective motivation. Evidence relating to this intermediate outcome was mixed; while strong evidence supporting this hypothesis was found for inexperienced testers, evidence was moderate for the other two groups.

For inexperienced testers, the messages used in advertising functioned largely as expected, producing the assumed outcome. They increased motivation by highlighting a convenient, free testing opportunity, and provided a reflective experience where individuals could consider the process of testing and the benefits it could bring.

Deep down, I knew that it was something that I should do anyway. And it was free. And I knew that not all people would get it. But it was free if I was selected. And it just seemed

like I'd no excuse, really, to turn it down. It's free. It would be in private. I wouldn't have to go to the clinic. And I'd get a little bit of peace of mind if it came back negative. (23-year-old man, undisclosed sexual orientation, not previously tested, inexperienced tester).



Figure 4. Outcomes and evidence strength by group.

Pro self-testers had more mixed response to the recruitment element. For some the SELPHI adverts were profoundly motivational and functioned as expected, while for others these simply came at an appropriate time.

For me, it was timing. It was just a case of like, 'okay, it's been a year'; I knew I had had some ... maybe not the cleverest of sexual encounters a couple of months beforehand, and it literally landed at the right time in my thought processes so I was like 'yep, we've got that whole World AIDS Day thing coming up again, and this is probably about the right time to get tested again'. (29-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, pro self-tester)

Opportunistic adopters rarely identified the adverts as increasing motivation to establish their HIV status, largely because their motivation was already high, and they did not have a COM-B barrier to address in this regard. The majority stated that the adverts came while considering or planning their next test. For the minority who found this element motivational, the source was the novelty of HIVST.

#### 3.2.2. Surveys and Risk Perception

The SELPHI logic model assumed that participating in surveys pertaining to risk behaviour would increase risk perception, and these were considered part of the intervention itself. These surveys were considered a form of persuasion, working through reflective motivation pathways in the COM-B model. Overall, this intervention component had the weakest evidence across all MSM. Some inexperienced testers and a minority of pro self-testers felt the surveys functioned as assumed, while opportunistic adopters felt they did not.

Most inexperienced testers anticipated that the types of questions asked in the risk assessment would form part of the intervention. Although some found answering these personally uncomfortable because they highlighted sexual risk, others externalised this feeling to 'others' who might find this element of the intervention challenging. This externalisation was also present for a small number of pro self-testers, although this group on the whole did not report this intervention component increased motivation.

Some of the questions [...] I felt might make some people worry, maybe [...] The ones relating to having sex without protection. Also, having sex whilst taking drugs as well. That

was another one. And I thought, 'oh, okay, well, that's half of gaydom'. (49-year-old man, undisclosed sexual orientation, tested in last 12 months, pro self-tester).

Opportunistic adopters universally felt the questions were unproblematic and expected. Experience was a key component of this lack of intervention impact: this group identified being asked similar things routinely while accessing other testing services. This was also related to length of time openly identifying as gay or bisexual and a feeling of self-acceptance and acceptance of ones' own risk behaviour.

It doesn't make me feel any different about myself. Because I have been actively gay for 20 years now. Maybe or definitely, in my early years, that would make me feel uncomfortable that I was promiscuous, so to speak. But having been active for 20 years now, it's not something that bothers me anymore. (40-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, opportunistic adopter)

#### 3.2.3. Kit Provision and Privacy to Test

The provision of the HIVST was assumed to increase social opportunity by providing additional privacy for testing. This intervention approach is termed enablement in the BCW. Evidence for this intermediate outcome was generally strong overall, with inexperienced testers and pro self-testers identifying the intervention as performing in this way. For opportunistic adopters, however, there was weak evidence for this outcome.

Inexperienced testers and pro self-testers often primarily engaged with SELPHI because of the reduced psychosocial barriers to clinic access including stigma, shame, and a lack of privacy. Unsurprisingly, for these two groups the increased privacy offered by HIVST was incredibly valuable, dramatically increasing social opportunity. For some this was related strongly to keeping their sexual identity private or hidden while also accessing services, while for others this was out of a preference for privacy and control while also meeting norms around HIV testing.

The SELPHI thing actually appealed to me that I could be totally anonymous. [...] I'll say the shame and embarrassment. And I'll put it that way because I'm in the closet and probably prefer to remain that way. So, it is the difficulty of taking that step [accessing a clinic]. [...] (55-year-old bisexual man, not previously tested, inexperienced tester)

Opportunistic adopters did not have privacy concerns when accessing services, partly because strong social norms supporting HIV testing did not conflict with desires for privacy or anonymity.

#### 3.2.4. Kit Provision Increases HIV Testing Access

Providing HIVSTs at no cost was assumed to increase physical opportunity by reducing testing barriers related to inconvenient or geographically removed HIV testing services. Again, this is classified as enablement in the BCW system. This was the only assumed intermediate outcome on which there was positive evidence across the three groups. How important this was to each of the groups differed, however.

Inexperienced testers identified the increases in physical opportunity as being helpful in facilitating testing. This was not necessarily the area in which they had the most pronounced need as the privacy offered by HIVST was more important. Rather, this was secondary or incidental.

I started having sex with other men more frequently. And, at that point, I started to consider [testing for HIV]. And that was around the time when... about a month or so after that when, I think, the SELPHI thing came up on Grindr. And that's when I thought, mmm, self-testing seemed like a better idea, I thought. (23-year-old man, undisclosed sexual orientation, not previously tested, inexperienced tester)

For the majority of pro self-testers, although this was important, it was also secondary to the increased privacy provided by the intervention which was the main benefit. For some however, their

predominant testing barriers were related to inconvenient or geographically removed HIV testing services. For these men, HIVST met their needs in terms of providing a physical opportunity.

But when I had seen it, and doing it at home I thought it was a great idea, because you're at home, you can sit and get your result there and then, you can take it from there, and go and get support if you needed to. (30-year-old gay man, tested in last three months, pro self-tester)

For opportunistic adopters, the increased convenience was the main element of the intervention that functioned as assumed for this group. Increased convenience, and therefore physical opportunity, was the primary intermediate outcome experienced by these men.

So, I think for me, whenever I found out about this I was like, 'Okay, well that makes my life a lot easier,' because I work long hours and I have quite an unpredictable job. So, trying to maybe get time off and having that time off assured so that I can go to an appointment is quite difficult, so this study was very helpful. (27-year old gay man, tested in last three months, opportunistic adopter)

#### 3.2.5. Two-Week Survey and Testing Engagement

Our logic model assumed that the two-week follow-up survey (which we envisage would remain an integral part of the intervention if rolled-out) increased engagement with HIV testing generally through reflective and automatic motivation channels while also providing support. Overall, this intermediate outcome had the most inconsistent evidence across all groups and accounts diverged dramatically. Although more inexperienced testers felt that this element was supportive and provided a reflective experience, for pro self-testers this was inconsistent. For opportunistic adopters this was rarely the case.

Inexperienced testers were more likely than the two other groups to identify the two-week follow-up as providing support and being a reflective experience. For these participants, it was an important part of the intervention which provided a degree of connection to the study team which was valued. This feeling of connection itself provided a prompt to reflect on trial involvement and intervention experiences.

I've done the test and then there was nothing for a while, and then you get the survey back and you feel, 'Oh yes, they are still thinking about me. I am still part of this study, I still feel included.' Whereas I think if it'd just been left and there was nothing you have thought, 'Well, okay, I've got a free test out of it but what's the point?' (35-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, inexperienced tester)

Neither of the inexperienced testers who received a positive result noticed the delivery of, or filled in, the survey, so could not comment on its value.

Pro self-testers on the whole thought the provision of the two-week survey was a positive element, and some valued the support, anticipating that some people would receive a positive result. For the majority however, this element did not provide a reflective experience and did not increase personal engagement with testing. This is perhaps a function of strong testing norms, but also high psychological and social barriers to testing in this group which create ambivalence around testing. One participant who expressed significant ambivalence about the survey said:

Interviewer: So, if you were getting the test from the NHS, you wouldn't necessarily want to fill out one of those surveys?

Participant: I wouldn't want to, but I think it would be good practice to. If you were going to distribute self-tests, it would be good to use a follow-up. If in my situation now, if I wasn't studying it, if it was just a routine thing and it was negative, I probably wouldn't fill it out,

it'd go into the junk box. But I still think it's probably a good thing to do. (32-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, pro self-tester).

Opportunistic adopters nearly universally felt that the two-week survey was part of a trial process rather than a supportive structure. It was not a helpful component of the intervention for them, although there was some acknowledgment that as a reflective experience it could be helpful for others.

I took it as a study. I felt like I was trialling something, I didn't have any expectations of what it would be. Nothing stood out to me, but again, with my sexual health and dealing with sexual health services, there is a resilience or comfortability of having to share information, if that makes sense? (25-year-old gay man, tested in last 12 months, opportunistic adopter)

#### 3.2.6. Testing Reminders and Reflection

Testing reminders with a linked risk assessment were assumed to provide a reflective experience for those receiving repeat offers of HIVST kits in intervention B, thus enhancing motivation to test. Because of the cyclical, repeated nature of the intervention, inexperienced testers either transitioned to being pro self-testers or opportunistic adopters.

In intervention B, testing reminders were acknowledged by all to function as assumed by providing a prompt to consider sexual behaviour and HIV risk in the intervening three months. This had multiple effects: it normalised HIV testing, increased risk perception, provided a prompt to reflect on past testing, and increased motivation to test again.

Just made me think a bit harder of the past three months, what I'd been doing, yeah. It didn't make me feel anything like I shouldn't be asked this or this and that, yeah, it was just a questionnaire and it just made me think about all the movement I had in the last three months [...] (27-year-old bisexual man, tested in last six months, pro self-tester)

#### 4. Discussion

This qualitative study investigating intervention performance with 37 cis-gender MSM participants in the SELPHI RCT identified three main participant groups, defined by their testing history and engagement with HIVST, who had distinct intervention experiences and intermediate outcomes.

Inexperienced testers largely had not been previously tested, or were disengaged from testing because of profound barriers to service access. Pro self-testers had a testing history, and sometimes had a routine, but their frequency of testing was constrained by many of the same barriers as inexperienced testers. HIVST resolved many of these barriers for both groups, leading to expectations of increased testing frequency. Opportunistic adopters were very well served by existing services and had a routine involving frequent testing. For this group, HIVST uptake was facilitated by the novelty of the technology, or because of increased convenience.

Intervention performance across these groups was highly variable. For inexperienced testers, intermediate outcomes were closest to the six assumptions in the logic model. Divergence began for pro self-testers and was most pronounced for opportunistic adopters. Divergence was found to be related to the pre-existing needs of the groups and their corresponding testing barriers. Inexperienced testers had the most pronounced needs and therefore the most favourable outcomes, whereas for opportunistic adopters who had less needs (mainly related to physical opportunity), the intervention components assumed to impact on the other domains had little relevance. The exception to this was testing reminders, which impacted all groups in a similar way increasing reflective motivation.

### 4.1. Strength and Limitations

This is the first systematic study of the relationships between intervention components and their influences on uptake of HIVST. Some limitations are noted. Our sample was derived entirely from an RCT which had substantial informed consent procedures, providing a level of detail about the kit and

trial processes beyond what would be provided in standard free HIVST provision. Those who engaged may be more likely to have altruism as a primary motivator indicating that this group may not be reflective of those who have need for HIVST [14]. In addition, a requirement of participation was to provide a mailing address and consent for the study team to link to clinic records and monitoring data held by the government. This may have dissuaded those with the highest privacy barriers from participating, a group with pronounced utility for HIVST [11,26,33].

The sample was relatively small (n = 37). Conducting additional interviews with larger numbers of participants may have led to a refinement of groups with larger amounts of data. In addition, as HIVST becomes more mainstream over time and more gain self-testing experience, these groups may also shift. This should therefore be viewed as indicative of a broad typology of MSM that are potential beneficiaries of HIVST prior to widespread free availability in the UK.

Our results will be applicable to other culturally similar settings with comparable health services. They may not effectively translate to very different contexts such as the USA and Southern Africa where motivations to use HIVST will vary along with intervention approaches.

Finally, our analysis relies on participants accurately reflecting on their thoughts and feelings during intervention engagement some time afterwards, potentially not fully reflecting their experiences.

#### 4.2. COM-B, HIVST, and Challenges for the Model

Our analysis poses some challenges for the application of COM-B as an overarching framework. We required a more nuanced framework of motivation to analyse the influence of social norms drawn from peers, community, and society and the way that they might shape engagement with interventions. Indeed, although aspects of social norms are captured in motivation, the centrality of these to behaviour is perhaps not fully accounted for in the existing model. This is a challenge for understanding the experiences of opportunistic adopters especially; many had engaged because of strong norms to test frequently and because they had a routine to do so—a well-documented phenomena and one which HIVST has been hypothesised to respond to among MSM in high income settings [8,9].

This is a critical issue for HIV prevention research where norms are central to uptake of precautionary behaviours and shape use of condoms, testing and biomedical prevention technologies [8–10,35–37]. The model should pay additional attention to the impact on motivations of strong social norms arising from peers, service providers, and the wider community [18,38,39].

#### 4.3. Considerations for Future HIVST Intervention Development

Life course relating to sexual experience and acceptance of sexual identity clearly have a significant impact on how the SELPHI intervention was experienced. This demonstrates the potential for intervention optimisation available for those seeking to implement HIVST. Advertising can be designed for those with most utility for HIVST: inexperienced testers and pro self-testers, targeting key influences revealed by our COM-B analysis. A brief risk assessment, sexual history, and testing history could then be taken, with an automated process streaming service users into specific intervention types based on their characteristics, preferences and histories. The two-week results survey can be conceptualised as playing a dual role of maintaining engagement in testing for those with negative results, while also offering support for those with positive self-tests. Enhanced interventions providing additional support could then be provided for inexperienced testers and pro self-testers with lower level support provided for those with more testing experience. This could make interventions more acceptable and more efficient by providing a more personalised HIVST service.

It is important to note that men did not have static positions within these categorisations. For some, engagement with the intervention facilitated a movement from one group to another. This was especially true for inexperienced testers who tended to move to being pro self-testers or opportunistic adopters following intervention exposure. Intervention design should therefore be attentive to shifts within individuals who use HIVST, especially if longer-term provision will allow repeat testing. HIVST service provision should also be attentive to the potentially transformative properties of self-testing, especially for those who face barriers to accessing other testing services.

The SELPHI logic model can be refined as a result of this analysis, clarifying behavioural influences and their implications for the interventions. Doing so will also enable the inclusion of an additional level of assumed outcomes between intermediate and ultimate (trial) outcomes clarifying the likely pathways to these.

#### 5. Conclusions

This study demonstrates the profoundly different experiences MSM can have when engaging with HIV testing interventions. Clearly, adaptations can be made to better meet the needs of individuals based on needs related to their testing history, life course, and sexual careers. Further, we provide a critique of COM-B, demonstrating limitations in its application when considering engagement in some groups for which a more elaborated theory or model of motivation is required.

Author Contributions: Study conceptualisation: T.C.W., P.W., A.J.R., F.M.B., S.M.C., M.G., A.N.P.; Data generation: T.C.W.; Data analysis: T.C.W.; Interpretation: T.C.W., P.W., F.M.B., A.J.R., A.B., S.M., C.B.; Manuscript drafting & revisions: T.C.W., P.W., F.M.B., A.J.R., D.W., D.T.D., S.M.C., S.M., F.L., A.N.P., C.B., S.M., M.M.G., M.G., R.T., A.S., J.H., Y.C.M. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** This study is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) [Programme Grants for Applied Research Programme (PG-1212-20006)]. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care. DTD and SMc were supported by the Medical Research Council (MRC\_UU\_12023/23).

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to acknowledge the support of the SELPHI community advisory group and its co-chair Roger Pebody.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Granich, R.M.; Gilks, C.F.; Dye, C.; De Cock, K.M.; Williams, B.G. Universal voluntary HIV testing with immediate antiretroviral therapy as a strategy for elimination of HIV transmission: A mathematical model. *Lancet* 2009, 373, 48–57. [CrossRef]
- Phillips, A.N.; Cambiano, V.; Miners, A.; Lampe, F.C.; Rodger, A.; Nakagawa, F.; Brown, A.; Gill, Q.N.; De Angelis, D.; Elford, J.; et al. Potential impact on HIV incidence of higher HIV testing rates and earlier antiretroviral therapy initiation in MSM. *AIDS* 2015, 29, 1855–1862. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rodger, A.J.; Cambiano, V.; Bruun, T.; Vernazza, P.; Collins, S.; van Lunzen, J.; Corbelli, G.M.; Estrada, V.; Geretti, A.M.; Beloukas, A.; et al. Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. JAMA 2016, 316, 171–181. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Witzel, T.C.; Rodger, A.J. New initiatives to develop self-testing for HIV. Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis. 2017, 30, 50–57. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rodger, A.J.; Cambiano, V.; Bruun, T.; Vernazza, P.; Collins, S.; Degen, O.; Corbelli, G.M.; Estrada, V.; Geretti, A.M.; Beloukas, A.; et al. Risk of HIV transmission through condomless sex in serodifferent gay couples with the HIV-positive partner taking suppressive antiretroviral therapy (PARTNER): Final results of a multicentre, prospective, observational study. *Lancet* 2019, 393, 2428–2438. [CrossRef]
- Witzel, T.C.; Melendez-Torres, G.J.; Hickson, F.; Weatherburn, P. HIV testing history and preferences or future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other MSM in England: Results from a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* 2016, 6, e011372. [CrossRef]
- Flowers, P.; Estcourt, C.; Sonnenberg, P.; Burns, F. HIV testing intervention development among men who have sex with men in the developed world. *Sex. Health* 2017, 14, 80–88. [CrossRef]
- Flowers, P.; Knussen, C.; Li, J.; McDaid, L. Has testing been normalized? An analysis of changes in barriers to HIV testing among men who have sex with men between 2000 and 2010 in Scotland, UK. *HIV Med.* 2013, 14, 92–98. [CrossRef]

- 9. Witzel, T.C.; Weatherburn, P.; Rodger, A.J.; Bourne, A.H.; Burns, F.M. Risk, reassurance and routine: A qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England. *BMC Public Health* **2017**, *17*, 491. [CrossRef]
- 10. Witzel, T.C.; Guise, A.; Nutland, W.; Bourne, A. It Starts With Me: Privacy concerns and stigma in the evaluation of a Facebook health promotion intervention. *Sex. Health* **2016**, *13*, 228–233. [CrossRef]
- Witzel, T.C.; Rodger, A.J.; Burns, F.M.; Rhodes, T.; Weatherburn, P. HIV Self-Testing among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in the UK: A Qualitative Study of Barriers and Facilitators, Intervention Preferences and Perceived Impacts. *PLoS ONE* 2016, *11*, e0162713. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vera, J.H.; Soni, S.; Pollard, A.; Llewellyn, C.; Peralta, C.; Rodriguez, L.; Dean, G. Acceptability and feasibility of using digital vending machines to deliver HIV self-tests to men who have sex with men. *Sex. Transm. Infect.* 2019, 95, 557–561. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gabriel, M.M.; Dunn, D.T.; Speakman, A.; McCabe, L.; Ward, D.; Witzel, T.C.; Harbottle, J.; Collins, S.; Gafos, M.; Burns, F.M.; et al. Protocol, rationale and design of SELPHI: A randomised controlled trial assessing whether offering free HIV self-testing kits via the internet increases the rate of HIV diagnosis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 2018, *18*, 531. [CrossRef]
- Witzel, T.C.; Gabriel, M.M.; Weatherburn, P.; Gafos, M.; Speakman, A.; Pebody, R.; Burns, F.M.; Bonell, C.; Lampe, F.C.; Dunn, D.T.; et al. Pilot phase of an internet-based RCT of HIVST targeting MSM and transgender people in England and Wales: Advertising strategies and acceptability of the intervention. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 2019, 699, 1–13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Witzel, T.C.; Bourne, A.; Burns, F.M.; Rodger, A.J.; McCabe, L.; Gabriel, M.M.; Gafos, D.; Ward, D.; Collaco-Moraes, Y.; Dunn, D.T.; et al. HIV self-testing intervention experiences and kit usability: Results from a qualitative study among men who have sex with men in the SELPHI (Self-Testing Public Health Intervention) randomized controlled trial in England and Wales. *HIV Med.* 2019. [CrossRef]
- Michie, S.; van Stralen, M.M.; West, R. The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implement. Sci.* 2011, 6, 42. [CrossRef]
- Coulson, N.S.; Ferguson, M.A.; Henshaw, H.; Heffernan, E. Applying theories of health behaviour and change to hearing health research: Time for a new approach. *Int. J. Audiol.* 2016, 55, S99–S104. [CrossRef]
- Ogden, J. Celebrating variability and a call to limit systematisation: The example of the behaviour change technique taxonomy and the behaviour change wheel. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 2016, 10, 245–250. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Barker, F.; Atkins, L.; de Lusignan, S. Applying the COM-B behaviour model and behaviour change wheel to develop an intervention to improve hearing-aid use in adult auditory rehabilitation. *Int. J. Audiol.* 2016, 55, S90–S98. [CrossRef]
- Lister, C.; West, J.H.; Cannon, B.; Sax, T.; Brodegard, D. Just a fad? Gamification in health and fitness apps. JMIR Serious Games 2014, 2, e9. [CrossRef]
- Chiang, N.; Guo, M.; Amico, K.R.; Atkins, L.; Lester, R.T. Interactive two-way mHealth interventions for improving medication adherence: An evaluation using the behaviour change wheel framework. *JMIR mHealth uHealth* 2018, 6, e87. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Webster, R.; Bailey, J.V. Development of a theory-based interactive digital intervention to improve condom use in men in sexual health clinics: An application of qualitative methods using the behaviour change wheel. *Lancet* 2013, 382, S102. [CrossRef]
- Seguin, M.; Dodds, C.; Mugweni, E.; McDaid, L.; Flowers, P.; Wayal, S.; Zomer, E.; Weatherburn, P.; Fakoya, I.; Hartney, T.; et al. Self-sampling kits to increase HIV testing among black Africans in the UK: The HAUS mixed-methods study. *Health Technol. Assess.* 2018, 22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Banda, J. Rapid Home HIV Testing: Risk and the Moral Imperatives of Biological Citizenship. Body Soc. 2014, 21, 24–47. [CrossRef]
- Bavinton, B.R.; Brown, G.; Hurley, M.; Bradley, J.; Keen, P.; Conway, D.P.; Guy, R.; Grulich, A.E.; Prestage, G. Which gay men would increase their frequency of HIV testing with home self-testing? *AIDS Behav.* 2013, 17, 2084–2092. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Figueroa, C.; Johnson, C.; Verster, A.; Baggaley, R. Attitudes and Acceptability on HIV Self-testing Among Key Populations: A Literature Review. *AIDS Behav.* 2015, 19, 1949–1965. [CrossRef]
- Bilardi, J.E.; Walker, S.; Read, T.; Prestage, G.; Chen, M.Y.; Guy, R.; Bradshaw, C.; Fairley, C.K. Gay and bisexual men's views on rapid self-testing for HIV. *AIDS Behav.* 2013, 17, 2093–2099. [CrossRef]

- Nelson, M.C.; Cordray, D.S.; Hulleman, C.S.; Darrow, C.L.; Sommer, E.C. A procedure for assessing intervention fidelity in experiments testing educational and behavioral interventions. *J. Behav. Health Serv. Res.* 2012, 39, 374–396. [CrossRef]
- Witzel, T.C.; Weatherburn, P.; Burns, F.M.; Johnson, C.C.; Figueroa, C.; Rodger, A.J. Consolidating emerging evidence surrounding HIVST and HIVSS: A rapid systematic mapping protocol. *Syst. Rev.* 2017, *6*, 72. [CrossRef]
- Witzel, T.C.; Burns, F.M.; Weatherburn, P.; Rodger, A.J. What are the perspectives of key informants on the implementation HIV self-testing (HIVST) in England? A qualitative study of barriers, facilitators and anticipated impacts. *Sex. Transm. Infect.* 2017, 93, A42.
- 31. McCutcheon, A.L. Latent Class Analysis; Sage: Thousand Oaks, CA, USA, 1987.
- 32. Vermunt, J.K.; Magidson, J. Latent class cluster analysis. Appl. Latent Cl. Anal. 2002, 11, 89–106.
- 33. Flowers, P.; Riddell, J.; Park, C.; Ahmed, B.; Young, I.; Frankis, J.; Davis, M.; Gilbert, M.; Estcourt, C.; Wallace, L.; et al. Preparedness for use of the rapid result HIV self-test by gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM): A mixed methods exploratory study among MSM and those involved in HIV prevention and care. *HIV Med.* 2016, *18*, 245–255. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ritchie, J.; Spencer, L. Qualitative Data Analysis for Applied Policy Research. In Analyzing Qualitative Data; Bryman, A., Burgess, R.G., Eds.; Taylor & Francis Books Ltd.: Abingdon, UK, 1994.
- Witzel, T.C.; Nutland, W.; Bourne, A. What qualities in a potential HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis service are valued by black men who have sex with men in London? A qualitative acceptability study. *Int. J. STD AIDS* 2018, 29, 760–765. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 36. Witzel, T.C.; Nutland, W.; Bourne, A. What are the motivations and barriers to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) use among black men who have sex with men aged 18–45 in London? Results from a qualitative study. *Sex. Transm. Infect.* **2019**, *95*, 262–266. [CrossRef]
- Young, I.; Li, J.; McDaid, L. Awareness and willingness to use HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis amongst gay and bisexual men in Scotland: Implications for biomedical HIV prevention. *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, e64038. [CrossRef]
- 38. Bradshaw, J. Taxonomy of Social Need; Oxford University Press: London, UK, 1972.
- Carver, N.A.; Ward, B.M.; Talbot, L.A. Using Bradshaw's Taxonomy of Needs: Listening to women in planning pregnancy care. *Contemp. Nurse* 2008, 30, 76–82. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

# 4. Discussion

In this section I first discuss my own position in relation to the topic matter before moving on to the ways in which the aim and objectives of this thesis have been met. I then discuss potential logic model adaptations which could be made to facilitate future intervention implementation. Following, I propose a framework for HIVST implementation in the UK before discussing the merits of COM-B as illuminated by this research. Finally, I address the strengths and limitations of this thesis before my concluding comments.

# 4.1 Reflexivity

I have a long history with HIVST. When I initially relocated from Brighton to London in 2011 following my first degree I was employed at a large HIV voluntary sector organisation. During that time I specialised in supporting MSM newly diagnosed with HIV. Although I had a strong background in HIV health promotion, I learned much about HIV treatment and transmission. I began to find attending sexual health clinics as a gay man extremely cumbersome; the support available was not what I needed or what I valued in a clinical interaction.

Rather than attend clinic appointments, I began to use Insti point of care HIV RDTs to test myself at home. I continued testing regularly this way until I enrolled in the PROUD study and started receiving regular HIV tests through clinic visits.

For me, HIVST was a useful way to manage my HIV risk, and to make decisions about my health without needing input from other healthcare providers. Never-the-less I remained sceptical about the introduction of self-testing; my needs were related to having too much information and I worried about men like the ones I saw regularly during my years of self-testing who struggled with their diagnoses, oftentimes in isolation.

I can identify these concerns in my earlier works included in this thesis. The interpretation of these data is more cautious than I would likely be now, although they are an accurate reflection of what I found and the time period in which they were collected. If I were to repeat the formative study, I would have likely been more attentive to the voices in the data who were very supportive of HIVST implementation, especially for MSM who would use HIVST to test in response to risk because of significant barriers to healthcare settings described in paper 2. Although a minority in the focus group discussions, these men did have pronounced utility for HIVST which I could have more fully described.

My perspective and conviction that HIVST is an exceptionally useful tool for many MSM comes from the implementation and evaluation studies. I interviewed many individuals for whom HIVST had a profound impact on their lives. Because of my role in establishing the RCT and in assisting with implementation, I was often quite touched during these interviews. Although I have made every effort to be objective about self-testing in the interpretation of these data, especially in highlighting issues with the technology, it is likely that my shift in perspective about the utility of HIVST is evident during the shift from formative to implementation and evaluative research.

# 4.2 Meeting thesis aims and objectives

# 4.2.1 Aim: To develop an understanding of the potential contribution of HIVST to the well-being of MSM in England & Wales.

The overarching aim of this thesis is to develop an understanding of the potential contribution of HIVST to the well-being of MSM in England & Wales. Based on the constituent studies in my thesis HIVST clearly has a potentially significant contribution in this regard, especially when considering intervention adaptations that can be used to broaden testing access for the various groups I identify.

In this section I describe how I have met each objective of this thesis, which collectively contribute to meeting the overarching aim.

# 4.2.2 Objective i. To examine the values and preferences of MSM for HIVST interventions considering key domains of intervention design.

The first objective of this thesis is met in the first paper *HIV Self-Testing among Men Who Have Sex* with *Men (MSM) in the UK: A Qualitative Study of Barriers and Facilitators, Intervention Preferences and Perceived Impacts* study which begins this body of work. For the purpose of this objective, the key domains of intervention design are test type (including test generation and sampling approach), delivery method, instructions and support tools.

This paper clearly demonstrates the range of preferences relating to HIVST designs and kit types that exist amongst MSM in England, and the reasons underpinning them. Perhaps most importantly, a strong preference for 4<sup>th</sup> generation testing was found, as tests with this window period most closely match what is routinely available in clinical settings and has the shortest time between initial infection and detection. This is despite the current lack of availability of a 4<sup>th</sup> gen HIVST, perhaps constraining potential intervention implementation, and possibly relegating the technology to use when no significant recent risk is perceived for many.

The importance of sample type in decision making is also demonstrated in this publication. Although a preference for blood based testing was observed because of higher perceived accuracy, a significant minority had a strong preference for oral fluid testing because of their aversion to drawing and collecting a blood sample. This is broadly in line with existing evidence from this time (32, 47). MSM tended to prefer HIVST interventions which delivered kits through the postal system. These were perceived to be exceptionally convenient for most and were generally unproblematic, providing packaging was discreet and the kit could fit through a standard letterbox. There was a minority of MSM who would not access such an intervention however, mainly due to domestic privacy concerns. This formative research indicated that this would likely be especially problematic for younger MSM who may live in their family home, shared accommodation or with carers, as well as Asian MSM who were described by other Asian MSM in our study as more likely to be living with female partners or in extended family groups.

Instructions that were simple to understand and relied on small volumes of text were preferred. In this study the kits which were shown to participants were disliked as their relatively opaque instructions gave the impression that the tests were significantly more challenging to perform than they were. Video instructions were also valued.

In terms of support, interventions which provided helplines were felt to be essential in order to mitigate against potential harm and to support correct use. Further results drawn from papers 3 and 4 demonstrate the importance and value of follow-up systems embedded in the intervention, especially those that record results through follow-up approaches and can signpost to care if necessary. This type of support tool mimics what has been implemented with MSM in the UK and in other high-income settings (128-130).

This first paper demonstrated the variability in preferences for HIVST interventions and illuminates a core benefit of the approach: HIVST interventions can be tailored to the preferences of the groups being targeted by service delivery. Doing so allows for more responsive interventions enabling wider uptake than one intervention approach might facilitate, especially when compared to clinical interventions which may be constrained by clinic spaces and priorities, with the needs of beneficiaries often being secondary considerations. This illustrates the contribution HIVST can have to the well-being of MSM in England and Wales by providing an additional, flexible intervention which better meets need across heterogenous groups.

# 4.2.3 Objective ii. To explore the potential barriers and facilitators of HIVST for MSM using COM-B as a framework.

The first paper from the initial formative study also addresses the second objective of my thesis. This publication explores the primary barriers and facilitators that potential intervention beneficiaries face when considering uptake, described using COM-B. Capability, both physical and psychological, were largely associated with barriers such as difficulty performing the test. Opportunity and motivation had both associated facilitators and barriers.

When considering potential HIVST interventions, concerns around capability (physical) were a significant issue for MSM. This was due to the instructions in the existing kits in the first formative study, but also because of concerns regarding their own abilities in operating an RDT properly, and the potential risks associated with failure, such as an incorrect result. This is in line with existing literature, although perhaps more pronounced (62, 80).

Capability (psychological) was typically seen to be reduced by the dislocation of testing from care pathways, because of concerns around the implications of receiving a positive result alone, the potential for social harm and the perceived likelihood that HIVST would reduce STI screening. However, this domain was enhanced for those with significant privacy concerns (largely those who tested sub-optimally) by the added confidentiality provided by HIVST interventions, giving beneficiaries a level of privacy not typically provided in clinic based interventions. This could however be partially eroded depending on delivery mode as discussed previously.

Opportunity (physical) was shown to be enhanced by the provision of HIVST through increased choice offered by the potential of HIVST interventions, and the range of alterations that could be made for individual target groups. Strong testing norms (as illuminated in the second paper of this thesis), provide a facilitator to HIVST uptake, working through opportunity (social).

Motivation (automatic) was enhanced through the additional convenience associated with HIVST; reduced opportunity cost provided a strong incentive to access a novel intervention. Participants' motivation was also reduced however by the potential for HIVST to reduce STI testing frequency, posing a danger to both self and community by potentially increased incidence of STIs, underlining the importance of developing strategies to respond to this concern.

Motivation (reflective) was reduced by concerns about HIVST's dislocation from established care pathways, providing a barrier to uptake. This is a well documented concern with HIVST (32, 40, 52, 75). Reflective motivation could also be influenced by sample type, window period and support tools provided; different options could pose either a barrier or facilitator to uptake depending on intervention design and the preferences of the end user.

Individuals planning and implementing testing interventions need to take into account a variety of barriers and facilitators specific to HIVST. This provides a good starting point in terms of evidence elucidating what these are, how they might be operationalised and the COM-B channels through which they function. This demonstrates the barriers that must be overcome and facilitators harnessed to enable appropriate service provision of HIVST thus potentially enhancing the well-

being of MSM in England and Wales. To my knowledge this is the first inquiry into HIVST that uses COM-B in this way.

# 4.2.4 Objective iii. To understand how HIVST compliments existing testing strategies considered or adopted by MSM.

This objective is met through the second paper from the formative focus group discussion study. This manuscript explores the normative understandings of the predominant testing motivations for MSM, providing insights into the ways HIVST may be received upon implementation. This is a significant contribution to the academic literature as prior to this research it was unclear the role that self-testing may fill and what considerations implementation had to be attentive to.

This study found three clear motivations for accessing testing: in response to risk; for reassurance, and out of routine. Testing in response to risk was a normative practice, and was understood universally as a primary testing motivation. Given issues regarding a perceived lack of support for a potentially reactive result, HIVST was not thought to be useful for testing in this context except where significant barriers to clinic access existed.

Testing for reassurance was a major theme, especially for those in the general focus group discussions and those with MSM at higher risk of HIV acquisition. When considering testing in response to this motivation, MSM were seeking confirmation of a continued HIV negative result, rather than because they felt there was a possibility of infection. Never-the-less, the anxiety driving these testing motivations was significant and could be challenging to manage. HIV testing was felt to be a form of self-monitoring and risk management in this context. In these narratives, HIVST was perceived as a useful self-management tool, 'topping-up' between clinic run tests and providing reassurance of a negative status.

Frequent HIV testing was strongly viewed as a normative behaviour for many MSM in this study, reflecting wider research (20). These norms were a palimpsest with layers drawn primarily from friends and peers, with health promotion practitioners, those working in clinical services and public health agencies contributing to their increasing emphasis and reinforcement over years. Testing norms were so widely held that MSM who had never tested for HIV struggled to disclose this in focus group discussions. HIVST was felt to be exceptionally useful in narratives surrounding testing in response to biomedical norms disseminated through friends and peers, as the technology allowed individuals to meet these expectations with limited effort. However, for some, self-testing transgressed other norms by bringing HIV testing into the home.

These results indicate ways in which HIVST complements existing testing strategies adopted and considered by MSM, illuminating the likely reception the intervention will receive and its position

alongside other services. Based on these narratives, self-testing will likely be confined to testing when not perceived to be at significant risk of a positive results, except for when major barriers to clinic access exist. Implementers can therefore consider the various needs of different populations; those who test in response to risk will likely maintain their clinical barriers whatever the result and supportive structures clearly must consider this issue in intervention development. This demonstrates the potential of HIVST to contribute to the well-being of MSM in England and Wales by reducing opportunity costs when testing for reassurance and out of routine, and by providing a testing mechanism for those who seek testing in response to sexual risk, but who have significant barriers to clinic access. Although motivations and testing norms around HIV testing generally are well understood in the literature (20, 131), this is the first publication that explores this in such depth in the context of HIVST.

# 4.2.5 Objective iv. To assess the feasibility of recruiting MSM to the SELPHI pilot, and the acceptability of the HIVST intervention used among those randomised to receive a kit.

This objective is addressed through paper 3 of this thesis, drawn from the study that provides a link from formative to implementation research. Recruiting MSM to the pilot was demonstrated to be feasible, and the intervention highly acceptable among those who received it. This provides the first European data about usability of HIVST amongst end users, providing a vital piece of evidence to support implementation efforts.

In this study I demonstrate the feasibility of recruiting a broadly representative sample of MSM to the RCT pilot using a range of platforms, as outlined in the comparison with other convenience and probability based samples (126). In contrast with Vera et al 2019 (68), this publication demonstrates HIVST can reach significant numbers of MSM who do not test in line with national guidelines. In contrast to Gibson et al 2016, this study had much higher retention with vastly more participants completing the two-week and three-month surveys (69).

These results also highlight the need to design interventions which require minimal steps between them. In the pilot phase, 25% of participants did not link through from the recruitment to enrolment surveys, leading to attrition at this stage likely due to the demands of trial processes. For interventions distributing free kits very widely in a routine setting, simplicity of access should be a key goal.

I found that HIVST outperforms HIVSS tests on test completion when comparing our results to selfsampling service evaluations. In total, 95% of those who filled in the three month survey in the pilot, far outperforming the 55% return rates of HIVSS (126). Test kit usability was extremely high in this study, with the vast majority reporting good or very good experiences, higher than in many other studies. This was not expected given the capability concerns identified in the formative work (27), although extensive efforts went into addressing these before the pilot phase of the RCT. Never-the-less, elements of the kit such as the lancet and the buffer pot, both sources of usability problems, could not be changed leading to concerns that capability issues may persist.

The findings of this usability analysis are further nuanced by the qualitative data, which demonstrates that despite very high usability, capability issues did indeed remain especially in relation the use of the spring loaded lancet to draw blood, a step which was felt to be challenging by some. The instructions were perceived to be easy to understand, perhaps reflecting increased simplicity introduced following a kit redesign by the manufacturer which also reduced the size of the box so that the kit could fit through a standard letterbox. Opportunity was enhanced by the provision of a free HIVST, ameliorating barriers pertaining to inconvenient clinics, and psychosocial barriers such as privacy and stigma. Motivation (reflective & automatic) was negatively affected by increased anxiety associated with the intervention as a whole, and the 15-minute waiting period for results.

This significant contribution clearly demonstrates that intervention delivery is feasible, and the kit usable. Some issues surrounding capability remain, although they are less pronounced than might have been predicted following the formative work. Self-testing clearly ameliorates barriers to testing access, but poses its own challenges with regard to a potential increase in anxiety amongst some end users. This demonstrates that HIVST contributes to the well-being of some MSM in England and Wales by providing a convenient, highly acceptable HIV testing method which leads to increased test completion when compared to HIVSS, thus lessening missed testing opportunities and potentially reducing undiagnosed HIV.

# 4.2.6 Objective v. To explore the experience of utilising HIV self-tests and the implications for further intervention development and scale-up.

The fifth objective of my thesis is met by the fourth paper which itself is drawn from a study investigating intervention experiences among cis-gender MSM in the SELPHI RCT, the third constituent study of this thesis. In this publication I use in-depth interviews to explore the experiences of 37 MSM who participated in SELPHI. This is the first purely qualitative evidence investigating HIVST experiences of use from Europe. This study provides important insights into the experiences of different groups of MSM, based primarily on previous testing history and makes a significant contribution to the literature, especially in relation to the role of emotional responses in HIVST acceptability and uptake. MSM were motivated to access the intervention because of a reduction of barriers related to stigma from clinic staff and attendees, as well as simultaneous increases in privacy and in convenience. HIVST was conceived of as generating either more or less anxiety than other services based primarily on testing history and motivation for testing; individuals who were less testing experienced and those testing in response to risk reported increases in anxiety relative to other testing methods. There was a significant minority, however, who felt HIVST reduced anxiety associated with other testing services by placing them at the centre of their decision making around their health.

In this paper I also described how the supportive components of the intervention worked to facilitate increased engagement with testing more broadly by providing a series of reflective experiences throughout the intervention process. This provided a sense of involvement with and connection to the trial, and facilitated increases in motivation to test generally.

Although the support structures were felt to be adequate and in line with expectations, most in this study sought support (regarding positive and negative results) from wider social groups. This includes both of the participants with positive results who initially told a friend or a family member before seeking care. This underlines that HIVST is a socially embedded testing technology, expanding healthcare into the private realm.

Capability concerns were again a significant theme within this analysis. Although most completed the test without errors, several participants had difficulty with both the blood draw and test processing stage. Two broke their first HIVST test stick while attempting to use it, underlining the role of enhanced supportive information and instructions accompanying these tests.

The 15-minute waiting period between the test processing stage and result interpretation stage were described universally as an exceptionally anxious period. In this period of vulnerability individuals had intense reflection on their potential risks, often concerns which were not grounded in reality as many had no significant risk of which to speak.

I describe important qualitative outcomes relevant to implementation. Firstly, individuals who had higher barriers to clinic access based on stigma, privacy concerns or geographic issues tended to describe HIVST as facilitating increased testing frequency, but with the potential to reduce STI screening by reducing incentives to access clinical services. Secondly, minor adverse outcomes (n=2; fainting, relationship discord) were also reported by two individuals, a key finding given that I did not sample based on this criteria and the adverse outcomes were discovered spontaneously. Although these did not affect intervention acceptability, intervention development should be attentive to concerns regarding potential adverse outcomes. Finally, both individuals who had positive HIVST results linked to confirmatory care within 24 hours and described very high intervention acceptability, crediting the technology with saving their lives.

Clearly this study illustrates a variety of considerations for intervention development and scale up. The role of emotion in HIVST needs to be accounted for in developing interventions which provide reassurance where possible. This could be done through a variety of mechanisms, including enhanced access to counselling, reassuring messaging about HIV treatment, prompts to discuss difficulties with family members and other social contacts as appropriate, and linkages to other types of support both online and face-to-face. Capability concerns continue to be an issue for those operating the tests, underlining the need for clear instructions and more prominent linkage to alternative forms of instruction such as videos. Bacterial STI self-sampling for STIs should also be considered for inclusion in self-testing packages of care in order to counteract concerns regarding reduced uptake of STI testing.

This provides strong evidence that HIVST can improve the well-being of MSM in England and Wales by providing a highly acceptable testing intervention which addresses previously identified issues surrounding care pathways and, to an extent, capability issues while increasing choice and facilitating more frequent testing among some MSM who test sub optimally. The potential of HIVST to place those with concerns about healthcare access at the centre of their decision making around testing is a significant benefit, perhaps transforming how these men access services.

# 4.2.7 Objective vi. To explore how components of the SELPHI interventions impact on behaviour for, and are experienced by, RCT participants.

The sixth objective of my thesis is met in the fifth paper included. This is drawn from the third study investigating intervention acceptability and experiences of cis-gender MSM in the SELPHI RCT. This study uses an innovative method to investigate the experiences of distinct groups of MSM identified in the data. During analysis it was clear to me that there were three distinct groups with profoundly differing intervention experiences. I formalised these into an inductive typology based largely on HIV testing history and engagement with SELPHI. I then used these as the lynchpin for a framework analysis investigating to what degree the assumed intermediate outcomes related to specific intervention components were experienced by these groups, and to investigate reasons for variations within these. This analysis demonstrated the mechanisms through which HIVST can contribute to well-being among MSM in England and Wales.

The three groups identified were 'inexperienced testers'; 'pro self-testers' and 'opportunistic adopters.' Inexperienced testers were those who had little or no testing history and did not test out of routine; they were typically early in their sexual or testing careers and tended not to be very open

about their sexual orientation or practice. They had high psychosocial barriers to testing relating to the COM-B domains of motivation (reflective & automatic), opportunity (social & physical) and capability (psychological). These barriers included lack of risk perception, shame, fear of stigma, privacy concerns and low self-efficacy when considering testing in a clinic. Some also had concerns related to the COM-B domain of opportunity (physical) (e.g. inconvenient clinics). HIVST ameliorated many of these concerns, facilitating testing uptake.

Pro self-testers were often at an intermediate point in the sexual careers and sometimes lived partly hidden lives in terms of their sexual orientation. Men in this group had many of the same psychosocial concerns related to opportunity (social & physical) and capability (psychological). This group tended to have a testing history and were somewhat motivated to access testing, but their frequency was constrained by the high barriers to clinic access they faced. HIVST was the most preferred testing method for this group as it ameliorated many of their psychosocial and opportunity (physical) concerns, facilitating increased testing frequency.

Opportunistic adopters were men who are well served by existing testing opportunities with few distinct COM-B barriers, except for some minor issues with opportunity (physical). Some in this group used HIVST because of increased convenience, but the majority engaged with the intervention out of novelty and to respond to social norms around testing.

Assumed intermediate outcomes were highly variable across groups. Figure 6 provides an overview of the differences in these based on strength of qualitative evidence. The intermediate outcomes assumed in the SELPHI logic model were most closely matched for the first group amongst whom there was typically strong evidence of intermediate intervention outcomes. For men in this group, HIVST engaged them in testing more generally through a variety of intervention components. The adverts increased motivation (automatic), and kit provision strongly enhanced opportunity (social) by providing an additional, private testing method while also increasing opportunity (physical). The two-week survey increased motivation (reflective) by providing a reflective experience which increased engagement with testing generally. There was some evidence that the risk assessment embedded in the intervention increased risk perception through motivation (automatic) channels, but this was partial.

For pro self-testers, evidence began to diverge. Kit provision did increase privacy and therefore opportunity (social), as well as physical accessibility, and the testing reminder increased engagement with testing through motivation (reflective) channels. There was however only partial evidence

140



#### Figure 6: Testing typology and participant outcomes

regarding the adverts and two-week survey increasing motivation, as this group was already largely motivated to test. There was weak evidence that the surveys increased risk perception.

Opportunistic adopters had the highest divergence in experience from the logic model. For this group the provision of the test increased convenience through opportunity (physical) channels and the testing reminder increased engagement with testing. However, there was less evidence regarding increases in testing motivation relating to the adverts and weak evidence on the rest of the assumed outcomes.

This demonstrates the clear differences various groups of MSM have when engaging in the HIVST intervention provided by SELPHI. Clearly experience is highly variable across groups, and largely related to the COM-B domains individuals have barriers around. These findings allow a close examination of intervention functions which facilitates a reimagining and redesigning of HIVST interventions to better meet the needs of heterogeneous groups of MSM, facilitating responsive interventions which can contribute to increases in well-being by improving interventions, their targeting and their delivery. This study is not only methodologically unique, no other research in the existing literature investigates HIVST experiences in this way amongst intervention beneficiaries.

# 4.2.8 Objective vii. To examine the utility of COM-B as a useful model for understanding behaviour change in relation to the provision of HIVST.

This objective is also met in the fifth paper of my thesis. Using a novel application of framework analysis has enabled me to demonstrate the ways the intervention functioned for groups with distinct differences in COM-B deficits. This illuminates the utility of COM-B as a model for

understanding behaviour change in relation to HIVST provision, and the challenges in using it for this purpose.

As it is currently articulated, COM-B makes no differentiation about the utility and impact of intervention components for those with pronounced needs for an intervention versus those who engage for other reasons (91). Clearly, for those who engaged with the SELPHI intervention, assumed outcomes from our logic model were only achieved in those who had distinct deficits in these areas. Further, it seems that the strength of outcome experienced may have been related to the level of barrier. This demonstrates that interventions only function as intended for those who have specific areas of need which the interventions respond to. Interventions are often designed for those with the highest deficits, potentially involving components which beneficiaries find irrelevant at best, or cumbersome and annoying at worst. It also shows that in COM-B the intervention functions described only enact changes in the individual under certain conditions. This is a significant departure for how COM-B is thought about as currently it is presented as a monolith: all things in it are presented as true in all circumstances.

This paper therefore illustrates that although COM-B can be useful for conceptualising interventions and how they function, it does not take adequate account of the implications of delivering interventions to those who do not have the hypothesised COM-B deficits. The potential for frustrating beneficiaries and providing components they do not value may have the converse impact of reducing acceptability through needless components. It does however illustrate the importance of designing flexible interventions which account for a range of needs. Harnessing this knowledge for HIVST and other multi-component interventions delivering new prevention technologies can contribute to the well-being of MSM by providing flexible, acceptable interventions which better meet their needs.

# 4.3 Logic model adaptations

Over time, as I have developed this evidence base on HIVST, my thinking on how interventions work for individuals has evolved from my initial logic model theorising. This has necessitated adaptations in the SELPHI logic model to reflect the understandings that have emerged from the third, fourth and fifth paper of my thesis. Specifically, I suggest an additional level of outcomes and expanded detail on context. Instead of moving from intervention processes to intermediate outcomes and then on to trial outcomes, I have shifted what I previously conceived of as intermediate outcomes to the immediate level, and have developed a range of intermediate outcomes which occur before, and facilitate, trial outcomes which have been renamed long-term outcomes. I also more clearly specify the groups who are likely to experience these outcomes based on their COM-B deficits. I included additional detail on context, reflecting the structural and political changes that have occurred over this research period and which influence the intervention. Figure 7 presents the updated logic model.

# 4.3.1 Context

Strong cultural norms for HIV testing support HIVST uptake, with constraints drawn from perceived issues with capability and a lack of supportive structures. It is also clear that well-documented healthcare rationalisation and the closure of sexual health services will create barriers to existing services which will also increase HIVST adoption. This should not be seen as a positive development, but is clearly important in considering intervention uptake as it could potentially change the context of use for those who access the intervention. Indeed, there may be increased engagement from groups who have an HIV testing routine and are testing in response to risk, whose first preference would be to access a bricks and mortar service but who face new structural barriers to access. In addition, increased focus on self-management in healthcare may shift norms around testing, overcoming issues related to the incursion of HIV testing into the domestic sphere (58).

# 4.3.2 Immediate outcomes

These outcomes have been brought forward from the intermediate outcome level acknowledging that these occur almost immediately at the point of contact with the intervention components. It is clear that these are not evenly distributed amongst those accessing the interventions: for those who are new to testing or have high psychosocial barriers to testing access, the intervention performs most closely to the assumptions specified in the logic model. For those with more testing experience and limited barriers to access, many of the intervention functions have little impact. I have removed that the risk assessment increases motivation to test as evidence in this regard was non-existent in most groups and scant even in inexperienced testers.

### 4.3.3 Intermediate outcomes

I have developed additional hypothesised intermediate outcomes which are necessary preconditions to achieving the trial outcomes and which follow from the immediate outcomes. These reflect the changes in how I conceptualise the ways in which HIVST interventions function, drawing learning from across the 5 constituent papers of my thesis.

Implementation context		Intervention processes	Immediate outcomes	Intermediate outcomes	Long-term outcomes
Cultural norm for regu testing. Perceived issues with o capability	lar own	Targeted recruitment from apps / social media.	Recruitment increases motivation to establish HIV status (motivation:	HIVST increases engagement with HIV testing (motivation: automatic).	Increased volume of HIV tests carried out and/or reduction in the time interval between tests.
Concerns about suppor structures. Health service rationalisation	rtive	Behavioural questions in enrolment survey.	Kit provision offers increased privacy for those concerned about disclosure of same sex activity ( <b>opportunity: social</b> ).	HIVST provides a bridge to prevention services and other new prevention technologies (capability: psychological)	Diagnoses of prevalent, possibly long-standing, HIV infections and entry to standard HIV clinical care, perhaps especially among men reluctant to test in clinical settings.
Self-management imperatives		Delivery, receipt and use of HIVST kit.	Kit provision increases access to testing ( <b>opportunity:</b> <b>physical).</b>	HIVST use builds capacity and skills in performing self- administered tests (capability: physical).	Diagnoses of incident HIV infections and entry to standard HIV clinical care, perhaps especially
	Two-week follow-up survey on kit use and result.	Two-week survey increases engagement with testing by providing reflective experience ( <b>motivation</b> : reflective)		among men at increased risk.	
nterventions A & B ntervention A ntervention B	ns A & B n A on B	Three-month testi- reminder	Testing reminders provide reflective experience (motivation: reflective).		144
					144
These are: 1) HIVST increases engagement with HIV testing more broadly (motivation: automatic); 2) HIVST provide a bridge to clinical services including HIV and STI testing, as well as to other new prevention technologies (capability: psychological); 3) HIVST use builds confidence and skills in performing self-administered HIV tests (capability: physical).

Given the transformation observed for inexperienced testers in the 5<sup>th</sup> paper of the thesis, it is clear that HIVST interventions can fulfil the dual role of engaging individuals with both HIV testing more broadly and with other clinical services. This is enacted through several processes. Firstly, barriers related to fear regarding the outcome of a positive test are reduced by those without testing history and who use an HIVST and receive a negative result, eliminating a key barrier to service access. Secondly, familiarity with the process of testing, coupled with the supportive elements of the intervention, increase engagement with testing through a series of reflective experiences which occur at different times throughout the intervention journey. Finally, by reducing barriers to testing generally, barriers to other services are also reduced through increased comfort and feelings of capability in service access.

Another important intermediate outcome is that HIVST exposure increases capability for those who access the intervention. Despite this area being a major concern for those engaging, having used a self-test makes it much more straightforward to operate one in the future. Although individuals had concerns about operating the HIVST and some issues with the lancet and test processing stage, as reported in papers 3 and 4, all felt these would become less problematic over time. Paper 4 provides the clearest evidence of this; both participants who broke their kits were able to source replacements and complete the test properly.

## *4.3.4 Long-term outcomes*

In this logic model I have renamed the final section from trial outcomes to long-term outcomes, illustrating that these outcomes are important for public health more widely, rather than just for SELPHI. I have included that HIVST contributes to the well-being of MSM through improving service access and sexual health as illustrated by the constituent studies of this thesis

## 4.4 Intervention implementation: a recommendation and a framework

On the basis of these findings, I recommend the implementation of free online HIVST in England and Wales to support the well-being of MSM and to provide an additional testing option alongside a diverse array of service provision. In order for HIVST to fulfil its potential in meeting the needs of groups least likely to test and to widely increase testing engagement, the flexibility offered by the technology must be harnessed in intervention design. For example, HIVST could be provided through

a national programme, perhaps providing specific intervention adaptations in regions and to specific sub-populations with unique needs.

In this section, drawing on the constituent studies of my thesis and the wider published literature, I explore potential adaptations to increase the reach, uptake and effective use of self-tests, especially among underserved groups. I also describe the key concerns which implementation must be attentive to. I draw on the first four of the five broad categories identified in CFIR (first explained in section 2.2) to illustrate the main areas of concern in service delivery, mainly the intervention, the outer and inner settings and individual characteristics (95). I do not focus on process of implementation as this is beyond the scope of this thesis and is dependent on how the intervention is commissioned and who is responsible for service delivery (95).

## 4.4.1 Core components

In CFIR, the intervention is divided into two parts: core components and the adaptable periphery (95). Core components refer to elements of an intervention which cannot be changed and must play a central role in intervention delivery (95). This section describes considerations relevant to the core components of HIVST, mainly, the RDT being used.

Currently no self-tests are available globally which use 4<sup>th</sup> generation assays which provide the shortest window period possible with an RDT, reducing this from 6 weeks to 4 (2). Given the preferences for the shortest possible window periods and high sensitivity observed in formative work, it is imperative that these are developed in the future in order to more widely meet the needs of MSM. These are technically possible; currently 4<sup>th</sup> generation RDTs exist which could be adapted for self-use as has been the case with other tests. This adaptation may have the advantage of expanding self-testing to individuals testing following a risk event who are also comfortable accessing clinics as identified in the formative papers of my thesis (27, 58).

Although blood sampling is preferred by many MSM in England and Wales due to its advantages in terms of sensitivity, a significant minority of MSM will not access self-testing while only blood-based tests exist. Thus, oral fluid self-testing should be considered as a supplementary option to support men in testing more frequently and comfortably. Additional attention will be required in implementing these as they have more limited utility for MSM on PrEP as the detection of seroconversion can be blunted due to the antibody detection assay used and lower sensitivity, potentially leading to missed infections (132).

## *4.4.2* Adaptable periphery

This section described the elements of interventions that can be adapted depending on the needs of the target population drawing on data from the constituent studies of my thesis. The elements

discussed here are presented in table 6, which described the potential intervention approaches, their target audience and the COM-B domains associated.

Capability issues remain a primary barrier to HIVST uptake which is critical to resolve. While manufacturer provided kit instructions are sufficient for many MSM, clearly significant capability concerns remain, as demonstrated by papers 3 and 4 in this thesis. For some, these can be resolved in straightforward ways such as providing supplementary information with the kit, or very clearly signposting to freely available videos explaining the testing process and how to interpret the result. For those with significant capability challenges (e.g. those with lower educational attainment, non-English speakers), this will likely be insufficient. Acknowledging the privacy barrier posed to this approach, these men may benefit from in person demonstrations from peer support workers or healthcare providers depending on the service delivery model. It is also critical that interventions are designed so that end users can easily source replacement kits when efforts to conduct an HIVST fail.

Delivery mode for self-tests is an important consideration to increase accessibility widely by improving opportunity (physical & social). For the potential of self-testing to be realised, interventions must take into account a range of needs related to this issue. This is especially true given the high value many place on privacy in HIVST interventions (2, 27, 32, 82). In order to counter domestic privacy concerns, distribution mechanisms whereby individuals can access kits themselves without having them sent to their home or another address are required (27). These can be through healthcare services such as pharmacies or clinics, or, recognising other potential privacy concerns, through automated systems such as click-and-collect functions or through vending machines. As previously discussed, the latter has been successfully trialled in Brighton and could potentially be expanded to other locations with high densities of MSM and other affected groups (75). It is important to note that this demonstration project reached low numbers of MSM who were testing sub optimally, perhaps reflecting its location in a sex on premise venue both reaching a group at potentially increased risk who were already testing frequently, but also in a location posing additional psychosocial barriers to access. Never-the-less this approach may help boost equity in HIV testing interventions if placed appropriately, especially by providing a testing opportunity to Asian MSM, and younger MSM who are perhaps more likely to have concerns related to domestic privacy (27).

Targeted outreach has been used in other settings to reach MSM at higher risk of HIV acquisition and could be an approach which helps increase social acceptability of self-tests and provides outreach workers with the ability to address capability concerns (51).

Table 6: Intervention adaptations, target audiences and COM-B domain

Intervention component	Possible adaptations	Target audience	COM-B domain
Test generation	4 <sup>th</sup> generation assay	All MSM	Motivation (automatic)
Sample type	Blood	Most MSM	Motivation (automatic)
	Saliva	MSM with aversion to blood draw	Capability (physical)
Instructions	Providers' written instructions	Most MSM	Capability (physical)
	Enhanced written instructions	MSM with minor capability needs	Capability (physical)
	Video	Most MSM	Capability (physical)
	Demonstration	MSM with pronounced capability needs	Capability (physical)
Delivery mode	Postal	Most MSM	Opportunity (physical)
	Click-and-collect	MSM with domestic privacy issues	Opportunity (physical)
	Vending machine	MSM with high privacy barriers	Opportunity (social); capability (psychological)
	Pharmacy & clinic	MSM with capability or support needs	Opportunity (physical & social), Capability (physical)
	Outreach	MSM at higher risk	Opportunity (physical), capability (physical & social)
	Partner delivered	MSM at higher risk	Opportunity (physical), capability (social)
Support	Passive reporting and follow-up	MSM with lower level needs	Motivation (automatic)
	Help line	All MSM	Motivation (automatic)
	Active follow-up	MSM testing for the first time	Capability (physical & psychological)
	Online counselling	MSM with high level needs	Capability (physical & psychological)
Demand generation	Advertisements	All MSM	Motivation (automatic), capability (social),
			opportunity (physical & social)
	Risk assessments	MSM who test infrequently	Motivation (reflective)
	Testing reminders	MSM who test sub optimally	Motivation (automatic), opportunity (social)
Accompaniments	Bacterial STI self-sampling	MSM who test at clinics infrequently	Motivation (automatic), capability
			(psychological)
	Syphilis self-testing	MSM who test at clinics infrequently	Motivation (automatic), capability
			(psychological)

An option which has been used widely in other settings is to design interventions whereby individuals distribute HIVSTs to their sexual partners. This approach has the advantage of potentially reaching individuals with the highest levels of concern around privacy and healthcare access, while also potentially exposing those distributing kits to unintended outcomes such as harm and relationship breakdown (133-135).

Clearly varying levels of support regarding using an HIVST and in dealing with the psychological consequences of testing are required by different groups of MSM. For perhaps the majority, basic levels of support will be adequate for their needs. A minimum standard of support should be established, and include a results recording follow-up system and a telephone helpline for those requiring it. Interventions could then provide active follow-up for those reporting positive results. For groups with higher needs (e.g. first-time testers, younger MSM, people with specific learning disabilities, individuals with identified language issues) an optional active follow-up system could be provided with a healthcare worker contacting individuals identified either through an algorithm selecting candidates based on demographic and behavioural characteristics, or through an opt-in process. This system would require permission from the end user and could potentially help manage or reduce any harms which might occur. Kits have also been developed in the US which include a Bluetooth beacon which activates upon opening prompting a counsellor to contact the user, with an RCT demonstrating feasibility of service delivery (88, 136). This could be an option provided to the same groups as active follow-up could target. Both options would require permission from the end user and clear information about the provision of this, lest these intervention types negate benefits of privacy and confidentiality associated with HIVST.

Demand generation initiatives will be required to draw people to the intervention, working through motivation channels and through increasing opportunity (social). This will also be helpful in increasing uptake as HIVST use spreads from the first groups who access it (innovators, early adopters, early majority) into those who pick up the intervention in later phases (late majority and laggards) (59). Clearly, as demonstrated by the third paper in my thesis and in other pilot and demonstration projects (69, 128, 129), online advertisement is likely to be the cornerstone of self-testing interventions in England and Wales. Other demand generation initiatives can also be considered, such as automated testing reminders, especially for those who report markers of risk such as CAI. Broader social marketing initiatives, such as those funded by the statutory sector, could incorporate information about HIVST, ideally highlighting facilitators (e.g. convenience, privacy), minimising capability barriers while potentially harnessing narratives around uptake including testing out of routine (27, 58, 126). Finally, HIVST could be included in broader longitudinal e-health

promotion interventions, providing kits to individuals taking part in them as an additional option rather than forming the cornerstone of an intervention (137).

In order to counter the well documented concern about lack of STI testing in HIVST interventions (2, 27), STI self-sampling kits should be provided boosting acceptability through motivational and capability channels. Dual HIV and syphilis STs are currently being developed and may be a key development, broadening the utility of self-testing to cover additional STIs.

## 4.4.3 Outer setting

In CFIR, the outer setting is defined as the economic, social and political context that affects implementation (95). Generally this is used as a lens through which to view an organisation's position inasmuch as it affects a pathway to implementation. For the purpose of this thesis I use it to refer to the broader economic, political and social contexts of service delivery.

Although few data exist about cost savings with HIVST, the technology has often been promoted as a low cost intervention which could potentially be useful for diverting patients from bricks and mortar services. HIVST has emerged at a time of austerity, healthcare rationalisation and the associated widespread closure of GUM clinics. This may lead to commissioners relying on HIVST as a cost saving mechanism, as has been the case with HIVSS. Although this supports intervention implementation, it fails to consider that HIVST is, for many, a supplementary testing technology and that it is vital for existing services to be maintained to meet the wide variety of needs of heterogeneous groups of MSM (15, 58). Implementing organisations must be attentive to this, and resist pressure to rationalise services in favour of self-testing.

This temptation for commissioners to replace clinics with remote approaches such as HIVST programmes is perhaps the largest threat to successful implementation. As demonstrated in my thesis, HIVST interventions are a supplementary testing option for many MSM who highly value interactions with healthcare professionals. Deprioritising clinical interactions has the potential to reduce HIV and STI testing amongst many MSM, while also potentially leading to an increase in STIs. Service provision must be attentive to these potential issues.

Current public health priorities also align with widespread implementation. The drive to reduce new HIV infections through expansion of testing through the test and treat agenda clearly supports the widespread introduction of HIVST, especially given the potential to reach those who test less often and increase their testing frequency. HIVSTs wider ability to engage MSM in testing, as demonstrated in the fifth paper of my thesis, should be highlighted as a key benefit for the intervention.

Culturally, among MSM, strong norms around HIV testing support HIVST implementation. This is demonstrated in my thesis by the potential contribution of HIVST to the well-being of MSM through its role in testing for reassurance.

## 4.4.4 Inner setting

In CFIR, the inner setting refers to the structural, political and cultural contexts through which implementation will proceed (95). For HIVST this mainly means the structural context of potential implementing organisations, and the features and priorities of organisations likely to deliver HIVST.

Structurally, implementation is not necessarily supported by current priorities and attitudes. Currently, Public Health England (PHE) commissions the national HIVSS service on behalf of participating local authorities in England. This approach was used partly because it retains links with the service user to the organisation facilitating follow-up for false positives (a significant issue with the technology) (138), and linkage to care for true positives. This approach also has the benefit of contributing to surveillance data. For HIVST to be implemented by PHE, a culture shift is required. Because HIVST relies on the service user to seek care themselves, potentially with limited support from healthcare professionals, PHE may be reluctant to adopt the technology over concerns of suboptimal linkage to care when compared to HIVSS approaches. It is vital for HIVST to be implemented that patient autonomy is respected and the choice not to seek immediate care following a positive result using an HIVST is understood as a socially situated decision grounded in rational decision making for some people. The emphasis on capturing all potential positives within surveillance must also be relaxed to support the technology. Given that HIVST is likely to outperform HIVSS at scale this will mean potentially increasing rates of diagnosis on the whole, while also possibly losing some individuals at the first step of the care pathway. In this scenario HIVST will still contribute to an overall increase in well-being for MSM in England and Wales however by perhaps diagnosing more HIV and reducing service provision barriers.

The features and priorities of implementing organisations are likely to be supportive; two of the four main demonstration projects have been provided by the voluntary sector, namely the Terrence Higgins Trust and SH:24 (128, 129). Both of these organisations have experience in developing systems to provide a basic level of support and would likely be capable of providing the intervention alterations which might be required to increase acceptability and reach.

### 4.4.5 Individuals involved

The fourth domain in CFIR is individuals involved in the implementation process. For implementing organisations themselves, delivering HIVST is not a significant departure from the work they

currently do. However my previous formative research with key informants in England suggests that some may be resistant, especially those in clinical settings (125).

A robust evidence base should help assuage concerns, however additional motivators may need to be put in place to gain buy-in from these groups. Although beyond the scope of my thesis to discuss these in-depth, these could include small local needs assessments informing adaptations and increasing buy-in, the development of interventions responsive to local needs and a robust evidence base demonstrating the benefits of HIVST among their client groups and the potential to expand testing.

## 4.5 Critiquing COM-B

The analyses presented in my thesis make a significant contribution to recasting how COM-B can be used in practice by expanding our understandings of the impact of intervention exposure for those without pronounced needs while clearly illustrating one of its key weaknesses: the absence of a robust concept of need which may lead to improper conception and design of interventions. Although COM-B helps illustrate the role of HIVST in meeting the needs of inexperienced testers and pro self-testers, the results surrounding opportunistic adopters encourage broader thought on how the model can be used.

Although need is partly captured in motivation (automatic) and opportunity (social), the model does not provide sufficient consideration for those who have needs which are based on normative practices drawn from the sociocultural tapestry in which they are embedded. The second paper in my thesis clearly demonstrates the impact of norms drawn from peers, doctors, public health and the voluntary sector in testing narratives (58). This publication underlines the centrality of these in decision making processes for MSM. These concepts are further explored in the final paper of my thesis which shows that for many MSM (in this analysis pro self-testers and opportunistic adopters) norms are one of the primary drivers to test for HIV, even when significant psychosocial barriers constrain testing. Need is clearly derived from these norms for a significant number of MSM, a phenomena known as biocitizenship (58, 122).

While COM-B includes some elements of need such as felt need, it is not adequately attentive to issues surrounding normative need (need derived from norms) or comparative need (that which is derived from interactions with healthcare professionals) (108, 109), which are key drivers to testing uptake (58). Indeed, COM-B has a tendency to reduce complex social and psychological process in an attempt to control patient variation while prioritising needs identified by healthcare professionals (139). This perhaps contributes to the issue identified in paper 5, whereby intervention components

have little impact on individuals who take-up interventions due to needs not captured in the model which are therefore not addressed in intervention development based on COM-B.

Although these elements can be retroactively identified and interventions adapted in response, using only COM-B in planning interventions can cause these important issues to be overlooked and can lead to interventions which are primarily attentive to the priorities of healthcare professionals and those implementing the interventions. It also has an important impact on how interventions are conceptualised and what their role is assumed to be; it seems that for many MSM with established testing routines HIVST may not be primarily useful for identifying prevalent and incident infections more rapidly. Rather its utility may lie in its ability to meet normative and comparative need more quickly in MSM well served by existing testing interventions. A reliance on COM-B may obscure this role by thinking of the interventions and with all intervention components working towards that, rather than outcomes also important to MSM themselves. Using social theory relating to concepts of biological citizenships and biomedicalisation of risk early in intervention development has enabled some of these issues to be identified and clear, coherent explanations for variations in experience to be identified in a way that reliance solely on COM-B would not allow.

COM-B should therefore be used with a degree of caution, especially in designing interventions which respond to highly normative behaviour. In these contexts it may be preferable to draw from a range of theories, likely beyond behaviour change models, which contribute to a more in-depth understanding of the potential uses of a technology in heterogenous groups. This will enable understandings of use to move beyond individualistic concerns and encourage deeper thought about natural variation in patient behaviour, especially that which is related to normative and comparative need.

A recasting of COM-B in this way requires something of a paradigm shift for those working in implementation science. Disciplines tend to favour tools which come from their own traditions and histories. Clearly in certain contexts the constraints of these produce limitations to how knowledge can be usefully produced and applied in real world contexts, potentially threatening successful implementation. While COM-B has been useful in gaining much of these understandings, without further input from social theory the understandings developed in my thesis would have been partial. The analysis from formative work has been central in interpretation and demonstrating why COM-B on its own would have been insufficient for these purposes.

## 4.6 Strengths and limitations

My thesis has several strengths alongside some limitations. Much of the first formative, implementation and evaluative evidence pertaining to HIVST in the UK is included in this work, as my thesis has been embedded within a pioneering programme of research. As such many of the findings are novel and have much relevance for policy makers and commissioners more broadly.

Embedding this thesis within a broader package of work has allowed for a programmatic approach not possible in many other projects. The movement from pre-implementation formative work to piloting and implementation research to evaluative work has allowed for a broader examination of HIVST in a variety of contexts. Further, this has enabled a tracking of emerging understandings of the technology, beginning at a relative unknown stage and moving towards normalisation and adoption.

From a methodological perspective, rejecting the tyranny of the method (116) and disentangling my research from any particular paradigm and instead focusing on the method most appropriate for each question I sought to answer has given this work the strength of responding very specifically to individual challenges which emerged over the research process. This pragmatic approach has likely increased the rigour and utility of these findings, while also allowing for an examination of COM-B.

While my thesis provides a great deal of formative evidence supporting the implementation of HIVST, it should be treated with some caution. The research included in the formative papers were conducted before HIVST was widely available and it is likely that values and preferences related to interventions will have changed as an increasing number of people have been exposed to HIVST. These papers should therefore be used as a guide alongside local understandings and the wider literature.

Concerns about capability are a clear theme running through this thesis. It is likely that these will shift over time, potentially diminishing as individuals gain more knowledge and skills as demonstrated in papers 3 and 4. Countering these is clearly an important priority during early implementation but it must be acknowledged that the landscape will change over time and as HIVST becomes mainstream.

## 4.7 Recommendations for future research

The self-testing evidence base will inevitably continue to develop from this point. On the basis of this body of work I am in a position to make key recommendations for areas of inquiry. Firstly, HIVST may have the potential to either exacerbate or reduce testing inequalities based on ethnic identity, depending on intervention design. More research is required to inform the development and implementation of HIVST programmes that meet the needs of black and minority ethnic MSM, a key group in the HIV response (12, 30, 140).

Secondly, questions regarding the potential of HIVST to contribute to harm require additional inquiry, especially given two adverse events were spontaneously discovered during qualitative interviews. The development of this evidence base should be treated as a critical priority in order to develop additional supportive interventions which respond to these issues.

## 5. Conclusion

My thesis is an exploration of key formative, implementation and evaluative questions surrounding HIVST in England and Wales. This multi-method enquiry provides a substantial evidence base upon which commissioning decisions for self-testing can be made. I demonstrate that HIVST adaptations can impact on acceptability for sub-groups of MSM depending on their personal circumstances. I also provide evidence surrounding the potential context of use, based on narrative understandings of self-testing. The feasibility and acceptability of HIVST is explored in a great deal of depth, as is the functioning of the SELPHI interventions. Finally, the utility of COM-B is explored in the context of HIVST, results which may have direct relevance to other new prevention technologies.

Clearly, throughout this work, I have demonstrated the significant contribution that HIVST can make to the well-being of MSM in England & Wales. Self-testing for HIV serves divergent roles for different groups; my most significant contribution to the literature is perhaps the exploration of these and demonstrating the ways in which this innovative testing approach can meet MSM's testing aspirations and support their sexual health.

## 6. References

1. World Health Organisation. WHO RECOMMENDS HIV SELFTESTING – EVIDENCE UPDATE AND CONSIDERATIONS FOR SUCCESS. Geneva: World Health Organisation, 2019.

2. Witzel TC, Rodger AJ. New initiatives to develop self-testing for HIV. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2017;30(1):50-7.

3. British HIV Association, British Association for Sexual Health and HIV, Society BI. UK National Guidelines for HIV Testing 2008. 2008.

4. British Association for Sexual Health and HIV. Recommendations for Testing for Sexually Transmitted Infections in Men Who Have Sex with Men. 2014.

5. Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T, Vernazza P, Collins S, van Lunzen J, et al. Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. JAMA. 2016;316(2):171-81.

6. Granich RM, Gilks CF, Dye C, De Cock KM, Williams BG. Universal voluntary HIV testing with immediate antiretroviral therapy as a strategy for elimination of HIV transmission: a mathematical model. The Lancet. 2009;373:48-57.

7. Insight Start Study Group, Lundgren JD, Babiker AG, Gordin F, Emery S, Grund B, et al. Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in Early Asymptomatic HIV Infection. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(9):795-807.

8. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Antiretroviral Therapy for the Prevention of HIV-1 Transmission. New England Journal of Medicine. 2016;375(9):830-9.

9. Attia S, Egger M, Muller M, Zwahlen M, Low N. Sexual transmission of HIV according to viral load and antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2009;23(11):1397-404.

10. Marks G, Crepaz N, Janssen RS. Estimating sexual transmission of HIV from persons aware and unaware that they are infected with the virus in the USA. AIDS. 2006;20(10):1447-50.

11. UNAIDS. 90-90-90: An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic. 2014.

12. Nash S, Desai S, Croxford S, Guerra L, Lowndes C, Connor N, et al. Progress towards ending the HIV epidemic in the United Kingdom: 2018 report. London: Public Health England, 2018.

13. Flowers P, Knussen C, Li J, McDaid L. Has testing been normalized? An analysis of changes in barriers to HIV testing among men who have sex with men between 2000 and 2010 in Scotland, UK. HIV Medicine. 2013;14(2):92-8.

14. Knussen C, Flowers P, McDaid LM. Factors associated with recency of HIV testing amongst men residing in Scotland who have sex with men. AIDS Care. 2014;26(3):297-303.

15. Witzel TC, Melendez-Torres GJ, Hickson F, Weatherburn P. HIV testing history and preferences or future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other MSM in England: results from a cross-sectional study BMJ Open. 2016;6:e011372.

16. Brown AE, Kirwan P, Chau C, Khawam J, Gill N, Delpech V. Towards elimination of HIV transmission, AIDS and HIV-related deaths in the UK - 2017 report. London: Public Health England, 2017.

17. Witzel TC, Nutland W, Bourne A. What are the motivations and barriers to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) use among black men who have sex with men aged 18–45 in London? Results from a qualitative study. Sex Transm Infect. 2019;95(4):262–6.

18. Deblonde J, De Koker P, Hamers FF, Fontaine J, Luchters S, Temmerman M. Barriers to HIV testing in Europe: a systematic review. Eur J Public Health. 2010;20(4):422-32.

19. Lorenc T, Marrero-Guillamón I, Llewellyn A, Aggleton P, Cooper C, Lehmann A, et al. HIV testing among men who have sex with men (MSM): systematic review of qualitative evidence. Health Education Research. 2011;26(5):834-46.

20. Flowers P, Knussen C, Li J, McDaid L. Has testing been normalized? An analysis of changes in barriers to HIV testing among men who have sex with men between 2000 and 2010 in Scotland, UK. HIV Med. 2013;14(2):92-8.

21. Delaney KP, Wesolowski LG, Owen SM. The evolution of HIV testing continues. LWW; 2017.

22. Makuwa M, Souquière S, Niangui M-T, Rouquet P, Apetrei C, Roques P, et al. Reliability of rapid diagnostic tests for HIV variant infection. Journal of virological methods. 2002;103(2):183-90.

23. Kendrick SR, Kroc KA, Withum D, Rydman RJ, Branson BM, Weinstein RA. Outcomes of offering rapid point-of-care HIV testing in a sexually transmitted disease clinic. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2005;38(2):142-6.

24. Van Binsbergen J, Siebelink A, Jacobs A, Keur W, Bruynis F, Van De Graaf M, et al. Improved performance of seroconversion with a 4th generation HIV antigen/antibody assay. Journal of virological methods. 1999;82(1):77-84.

25. Bailey AC, Roberts J, Weatherburn P, Hickson FC, Reid DS, Fisher M, et al. Community HIV testing for men who have sex with men: results of a pilot project and comparison of service users with those testing in genitourinary medicine clinics. Sex Transm Infect. 2009;85(2):145-7.

26. Dewsnap C, McOwan A. A review of HIV point-of-care tests. International journal of STD & AIDS. 2006;17(6):357-9.

27. Witzel TC, Rodger AJ, Burns FM, Rhodes T, Weatherburn P. HIV Self-Testing among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in the UK: A Qualitative Study of Barriers and Facilitators, Intervention Preferences and Perceived Impacts. PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162713.

28. Flowers P, Riddell J, Park C, Ahmed B, Young I, Frankis J, et al. Preparedness for use of the rapid result HIV self-test by gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM): a mixed methods exploratory study among MSM and those involved in HIV prevention and care. HIV Med. 2016(18):245--55.

29. Hickson F, Melendez-Torres GJ, Reid D, Weatherburn P. HIV, sexual risk and ethnicity among gay and bisexual men in England: survey evidence for persisting health inequalities. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2017(93):508–13.

30. Millett GA, Peterson JL, Flores SA, Hart TA, Jeffries WL, Wilson PA, et al. Comparisons of disparities and risks of HIV infection in black and other men who have sex with men in Canada, UK, and USA: a meta-analysis. The Lancet. 2012;380(9839):341-8.

31. Witzel TC, Weatherburn P, Burns FM, Johnson CC, Figueroa C, Rodger AJ. Consolidating emerging evidence surrounding HIVST and HIVSS: a rapid systematic mapping protocol. Systematic Reviews. 2017;6(1):72.

32. Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Baggaley R. Attitudes and Acceptability on HIV Self-testing Among Key Populations: A Literature Review. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(11):1949-65.

33. Bayer R, Fairchild AL. Changing the paradigm for HIV testing—the end of exceptionalism. New England Journal of Medicine. 2006;355(7):647-9.

34. Bayer R, Edington C. HIV testing, human rights, and global AIDS policy: exceptionalism and its discontents. J Health Polit Policy Law. 2009;34(3):301-23.

35. Frith L. HIV self-testing: a time to revise current policy. The Lancet. 2007;369(9557):243-5.
36. Nakagawa F, May M, Phillips A. Life expectancy living with HIV: recent estimates and future implications. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2013;26(1):17-25.

37. Teeraananchai S, Kerr SJ, Amin J, Ruxrungtham K, Law MG. Life expectancy of HIV-positive people after starting combination antiretroviral therapy: a meta-analysis. HIV Med. 2016(18):256-66.
38. World Health Organisation. Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. 5cs: consent,

confidentiality, counselling, correct results and connection. Geneva: 2015.

39. World Health Organisation. Guidelines on HIV self-testing and partner notification: supplement to consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. Geneva: 2016.

40. Johnson C, Baggaley R, Forsythe S, van Rooyen H, Ford N, Napierala Mavedzenge S, et al. Realizing the potential for HIV self-testing. AIDS Behav. 2014;18 Suppl 4:S391-5.

41. Punyacharoensin N, Edmunds WJ, De Angelis D, Delpech V, Hart G, Elford J, et al. Effect of pre-exposure prophylaxis and combination HIV prevention for men who have sex with men in the UK: a mathematical modelling study. The Lancet HIV. 2016;3(2):e94-e104.

42. Giguere R, Lopez-Rios J, Frasca T, Lentz C, Balán IC, Dolezal C, et al. Use of HIV self-testing kits to screen clients among transgender female sex workers in New York and Puerto Rico. AIDS and Behavior. 2019:1-10.

43. Martinez O, Carballo-Diéguez A, Ibitoye M, Frasca T, Brown W, Balan I. Anticipated and actual reactions to receiving HIV positive results through self-testing among gay and bisexual men. AIDS and Behavior. 2014;18(12):2485-95.

44. Bustamante MJ, Konda KA, Joseph Davey D, Leon SR, Calvo GM, Salvatierra J, et al. HIV selftesting in Peru: questionable availability, high acceptability but potential low linkage to care among men who have sex with men and transgender women. Int J STD AIDS. 2016;28(2):133–7.

45. Wong HT, Tam HY, Chan DP, Lee SS. Usage and acceptability of HIV self-testing in men who have sex with men in Hong Kong. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(3):505-15.

46. Young SD, Daniels J, Chiu CJ, Bolan RK, Flynn RP, Kwok J, et al. Acceptability of using electronic vending machines to deliver oral rapid HIV self-testing kits: a qualitative study. PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e103790.

47. Bilardi JE, Walker S, Read T, Prestage G, Chen MY, Guy R, et al. Gay and bisexual men's views on rapid self-testing for HIV. AIDS Behav. 2013;17(6):2093-9.

48. Schnall R, John RM, Carballo-Dieguez A. Do High-Risk Young Adults Use the HIV Self-Test Appropriately? Observations from a Think-Aloud Study. AIDS Behav. 2016;20(4):939-48.

49. Lippman SA, Moran L, Sevelius J, Castillo LS, Ventura A, Treves-Kagan S, et al. Acceptability and Feasibility of HIV Self-Testing Among Transgender Women in San Francisco: A Mixed Methods Pilot Study. AIDS Behav. 2016;20(4):928-38.

50. Lippman SA, Périssé ARS, Veloso VG, Sullivan PS, Buchbinder S, Sineath RC, et al. Acceptability of self-conducted home-based HIV testing among men who have sex with men in Brazil: data from an on-line survey. Cad Saude Publica. 2014;30(4):724-34.

51. Woods WJ, Lippman SA, Agnew E, Carroll S, Binson D. Bathhouse distribution of HIV self-testing kits reaches diverse, high-risk population. AIDS Care. 2016;28 Suppl 1:111-3.

52. Brown AN, Djimeu EW, Cameron DB. A review of the evidence of harm from self-tests. AIDS Behav. 2014;18 Suppl 4:S445-9.

53. Greenwald JL, Burstein GR, Pincus J, Branson B. A rapid review of rapid HIV antibody tests. Current infectious disease reports. 2006;8(2):125-31.

54. Starks H, Brown Trinidad S. Choose your method: A comparison of phenomenology, discourse analysis, and grounded theory. Qualitative health research. 2007;17(10):1372-80.

55. Green J, Thorogood N. Qualitative methods for health research: sage; 2018.

56. Bowen DJ, Kreuter M, Spring B, Cofta-Woerpel L, Linnan L, Weiner D, et al. How We Design Feasibility Studies. American journal of preventive medicine. 2009;36(5):452-7.

57. Warren C, McGraw AP, Van Boven L. Values and preferences: defining preference construction. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Cognitive Science. 2011;2(2):193-205.

58. Witzel TC, Weatherburn P, Rodger AJ, Bourne AH, Burns FM. Risk, reassurance and routine: a qualitative study of narrative understandings of the potential for HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in England. BMC Public Health. 2017;17(1):491.

59. Rogers EM. Diffusion of preventive innovations. Addictive Behaviors. 2002;27(6):989-93.

60. Rogers EM. Diffusion of Innovations. Fourth Edition ed. New York: The Free Press; 1995.

61. Grant RM, Jean B, Ogawa H, editors. Scaling up PrEP for Impact in the USA. Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis in the EU/EEA: Challenges and Opportunities; 2016 27-28 April; Stockholm.

62. Brown W, 3rd, Carballo-Dieguez A, John RM, Schnall R. Information, Motivation, and Behavioral Skills of High-Risk Young Adults to Use the HIV Self-Test. AIDS Behav. 2016;20(9):2000-9.

63. Hurt CB, Soni K, Miller WC, Hightow-Weidman LB. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Testing Practices and Interest in Self-Testing Options Among Young, Black Men Who Have Sex With Men in North Carolina. Sex Transm Dis. 2016;43(9):587-93. 64. Green K. In the hands of the community: Accelerating key population-led HIV lay- and selftesting in Vietnam. AIDS 2016: 21st International AIDS Conference; 18-22nd July; Durban, South Africa 2016.

65. Lora W, Chipeta E, Desmond N. Understanding coercion in the context of semi-supervised HIV self-testing in urban Blantyre. AIDS 2016: 21st International AIDS Conference; 18-22nd July 2016; Durban, South Africa 2016.

66. Greacen T, Friboulet D, Fugon L, Hefez S, Lorente N, Spire B. Access to and use of unauthorised online HIV self-tests by internet-using French-speaking men who have sex with men. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2012;88(5):368-74.

67. Greacen T, Kersaudy-Rahib D, Le Gall J-M, Lydié N, Ghosn J, Champenois K. Comparing the Information and Support Needs of Different Population Groups in Preparation for 2015 Government Approval for HIV Self-testing in France. PLOS ONE. 2016;11(3):e0152567.

68. Vera JH, Soni S, Pollard A, Llewellyn C, Peralta C, Rodriguez L, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of using digital vending machines to deliver HIV self-tests to men who have sex with men. Sexually transmitted infections. 2019(95):557–61.

69. Gibson W, Challenor R, Warwick Z. HIV home/self-testing: a pilot project and service evaluation. 22nd Annual Conference of the British HIV Association; 19-22nd April 2016; Manchester, UK 2016.

70. Koutentakis K, Rosales-Statkus ME, Hoyos J, Fernández-Balbuena S, Ruiz M, Agustí C, et al. Knowledge and use of unauthorized HIV self-test kits among men who have sex with men in Spain, following approval of an over-the-counter self-test in the U.S: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2016;16(1):532.

71. Mattioli S, Corbelli GM, Pieralli S, Esposti MD. HIV test: which is your best? A National survey on testing preferences among MSM in Italy. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17(4 Suppl 3):19598.

72. Greacen T, Friboulet D, Fugon L, Hefez S, Lorente N, Spire B. Access to and use of unauthorised online HIV self-tests by internet-using French-speaking men who have sex with men. Sex Transm Infect. 2012;88(5):368-74.

73. Ickenroth MH, Ronda G, Grispen JE, Dinant G-J, de Vries NK, van der Weijden T. How do people respond to self-test results? A cross-sectional survey. BMC family practice. 2010;11(1):77.
74. Saunders J, Brima N, Orzol M, Phillips L, Milinkovic A, Carpenter G, et al. Prospective

observational study to evaluate the performance of the BioSure HIV Self-Test in the hands of lay users. Sexually transmitted infections. 2018;94(3):169-73.

75. Vera JH, Soni S, Pollard A, Llewellyn C, Peralta C, Rodriguez L, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of using digital vending machines to deliver HIV self-tests to men who have sex with men. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2019:133–7.

76. Volk JE, Lippman SA, Grinsztejn B, Lama JR, Fernandes NM, Gonzales P, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in Peru and Brazil. Int J STD AIDS. 2016;27(7):531-6.

77. Oldenburg CE, Biello KB, Perez-Brumer AG, Rosenberger J, Novak DS, Mayer KH, et al. HIV testing practices and the potential role of HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in Mexico. Int J STD AIDS. 2016;28(3):242–9.

78. Balán I, Frasca T, Ibitoye M, Dolezal C, Carballo-Dieguez A. Fingerprick Versus Oral Swab: Acceptability of Blood-Based Testing Increases If Other STIs Can Be Detected. AIDS Behav. 2016.

79. Balan I, Frasca T, Dolezal C, Brown W, Rael CT, Cruz C, et al. Acceptability of a new smartphone-based HIV and syphilis test to screen sexual partners among high risk MSM and transgender women. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses. 2016;Conference: 2nd HIV Research for Prevention Conference(Supplement 1):64.

80. Carballo-Diéguez A, Frasca T, Dolezal C, Balan I. Will gay and bisexually active men at high risk of infection use over-the-counter rapid HIV tests to screen sexual partners? Journal of sex research. 2012;49(4):379-87.

81. Rosengren AL, Huang E, Daniels J, Young SD, Marlin RW, Klausner JD. Feasibility of using GrindrTM to distribute HIV self-test kits to men who have sex with men in Los Angeles, California. Sex Health. 2016(13):389–92.

82. Miners A, Nadarzynski T, Witzel C, Phillips AN, Cambiano V, Rodger AJ, et al. Preferences for HIV testing services among men who have sex with men in the UK: A discrete choice experiment. PLoS medicine. 2019;16(4):e1002779.

83. Katz DA, Golden MR, Hughes JP, Farquhar C, Stekler JD. HIV Self-Testing Increases HIV Testing Frequency in High-Risk Men Who Have Sex With Men: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2018;78(5):505-12.

84. MacGowan RJ, Chavez PR, Borkowf CB, Owen SM, Purcell DW, Mermin JH, et al. Effect of Internet-Distributed HIV Self-tests on HIV Diagnosis and Behavioral Outcomes in Men Who Have Sex With Men: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA internal medicine. 2019.

85. Wray TB, Chan PA, Simpanen E, Operario D. A pilot, randomized controlled trial of HIV selftesting and real-time post-test counseling/referral on screening and preventative care among men who have sex with men. AIDS Patient Care and STDs. 2018;32(9):360-7.

86. Jamil MS, Prestage G, Fairley CK, Grulich AE, Smith KS, Chen M, et al. Effect of availability of HIV self-testing on HIV testing frequency in gay and bisexual men at high risk of infection (FORTH): a waiting-list randomised controlled trial. The Lancet HIV. 2017;4(6):e241-e50.

87. Merchant RC, Clark MA, Liu T, Romanoff J, Rosenberger JG, Bauermeister J, et al. Comparison of home-based oral fluid rapid HIV self-testing versus mail-in blood sample collection or medical/community HIV testing by young adult black, Hispanic, and white MSM: results from a randomized trial. AIDS and Behavior. 2018;22(1):337-46.

88. Wang Z, Lau JTF, Ip M, Ho SPY, Mo PKH, Latkin C, et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial Evaluating Efficacy of Promoting a Home-Based HIV Self-Testing with Online Counseling on Increasing HIV Testing Among Men Who Have Sex with Men. AIDS and Behavior. 2018;22(1):190-201.

89. Katz DA, Golden MR, Hughes JP, Farquhar C, Stekler JD. HIV Self-Testing Increases HIV Testing Frequency among High Risk MSM: A Randomized Controlled Trial. IAS 2015; Vancouver, Canada 2015.

90. Cane J, O'Connor D, Michie S. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. Implementation Science. 2012;7(1):37.

91. Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. Implement Sci. 2011;6:42.

92. Gabriel MM, Dunn DT, Speakman A, McCabe L, Ward D, Witzel TC, et al. Protocol, rationale and design of SELPHI: a randomised controlled trial assessing whether offering free HIV self-testing kits via the internet increases the rate of HIV diagnosis. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2018;18(531).
93. Eccles MP, Mittman BS. Welcome to Implementation Science. Implementation Science. 2006;1(1):1.

94. Bauer MS, Damschroder L, Hagedorn H, Smith J, Kilbourne AM. An introduction to implementation science for the non-specialist. BMC Psychology. 2015;3(1):32.

95. Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implementation Science. 2009;4(1):50.

96. E. GR, T. EE, K. EM. Implementation Science Perspectives and Opportunities for HIV/AIDS
Research: Integrating Science, Practice and Policy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;63(1):s26-s31.
97. Nilsen P. Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks.

Implementation Science. 2015;10(1):53.

98. Damschroder LJ. Clarity out of chaos: use of theory in implementation research. Psychiatry research. 2020;283.

99. Kirk MA, Kelley C, Yankey N, Birken SA, Abadie B, Damschroder L. A systematic review of the use of the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research. Implementation Science. 2016;11(1):72.

Breimaier HE, Heckemann B, Halfens RJ, Lohrmann C. The Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR): a useful theoretical framework for guiding and evaluating a guideline implementation process in a hospital-based nursing practice. BMC nursing. 2015;14(1):43.
French SD, Green SE, O'Connor DA, McKenzie JE, Francis JJ, Michie S, et al. Developing

theory-informed behaviour change interventions to implement evidence into practice: a systematic approach using the Theoretical Domains Framework. Implementation Science. 2012;7(1):38.

102. Michie S, van Stralen M, West R. The Behaviour Change Wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. Implement Sci. 2011;6.

103. Ajzen I. The Theory of Planned Behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes. 1991;50.

104. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behaviour: Reactions and reflections. Psychology & Health. 2011;26(9):1113-27.

105. Fisher JD, Fisher WA, Williams SS, Malloy TE. Empirical tests of an information-motivationbehavioral skills model of AIDS-preventive behavior with gay men and heterosexual university students. Health psychology. 1994;13(3):238.

106. Young I, Flowers P, McDaid L. Can a pill prevent HIV? Negotiating the biomedicalisation of HIV prevention. Sociol Health Illn. 2016;38(3):411-25.

107. Banda J. Rapid Home HIV Testing: Risk and the Moral Imperatives of Biological Citizenship. Body & Society. 2014;21(4):24-47.

108. Carver NA, Ward BM, Talbot LA. Using Bradshaw's Taxonomy of Needs: Listening to women in planning pregnancy care. Contemporary Nurse. 2008;30(1):76-82.

109. Bradshaw J. Taxonomy of social need. London: Oxford University Press; 1972.

110. Young I, Li J, McDaid L. Awareness and willingness to use HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis amongst gay and bisexual men in Scotland: implications for biomedical HIV prevention. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e64038.

111. Witzel TC, Guise A, Nutland W, Bourne A. It Starts With Me: Privacy concerns and stigma in the evaluation of a Facebook health promotion intervention. Sex Health. 2016;13(3):228-33.

112. Johnson RB, Anthony JO. Mixed Methods Research: A Research Paradigm Whose Time Has Come. Educational Researcher. 2004;33(7):14-26.

113. Jo M-E, Victoria DA, Ann C, Mary D, Jane F, Judith S, et al. Triangulation and integration: processes, claims and implications. Qualitative Research. 2006;6(1):45-59.

114. Green SE. "What do you mean 'what's wrong with her?'": stigma and the lives of families of children with disabilities. Social Science & Medicine. 2003;57(8):1361-74.

115. Kenneth RH. Against the Quantitative-Qualitative Incompatibility Thesis or Dogmas Die Hard. Educational Researcher. 1988;17(8):10-6.

116. Bernstein RJ. Beyond Objectivism and Relativism: Science, Hermeneutics, and Praxis. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: University of Pennsylvania Press; 1983.

117. World Health Organisation. Making decisions about contraceptive introduction

A guide for conducting assessments to broaden contraceptive choice and improve quality of care. Geneva: World Health Organisation, 2002.

118. World Health Organisation. The WHO Strategic Approach to strengthening sexual and reproductive health policies and programmes. Geneva: World Health Organisation, 2007.

119. Hennink M, Hutter I, Bailey A. Qualitative Research Methods. London: Sage; 2011.

120. O'Cathain A, Murphy E, Nicholl J. Three techniques for integrating data in mixed methods studies. BMJ. 2010;341.

121. Pant Pai N, Sharma J, Shivkumar S, Pillay S, Vadnais C, Joseph L, et al. Supervised and unsupervised self-testing for HIV in high- and low-risk populations: a systematic review. PLoS Med. 2013;10(4):e1001414.

Rose N, Novas C. Biological Citizenship. In: Ong A, Collier S, editors. Global Assemblages:
Technology, Politics, and Ethics as Anthropological Problems Carlton, Australia: Blackwell; 2003.
Lupton D. The Imperative of Health: Public Health and the Regulated Body. London: Sage;
1995.

Aronowitz AR. The Converged Experience of Risk and Disease. Milbank Q. 2009;87(2):417-42.
Witzel TC, Burns FM, Weatherburn P, Rodger AJ. What are the perspectives of key informants on the implementation HIV self-testing (HIVST) in England? A qualitative study of barriers, facilitators and anticipated impacts. Sex Transm Infect. 2017;93(Suppl 1):A42-A.

126. Witzel TC, Gabriel MM, Weatherburn P, Gafos M, Speakman A, Pebody R, et al. Pilot phase of an internet-based RCT of HIVST targeting MSM and transgender people in England and Wales: advertising strategies and acceptability of the intervention. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2019(19):699.

127. Witzel TC, Bourne A, Rodger AJ, McCabe L, Gabriel MM, Gafos M, et al. HIV self-testing intervention experiences and kit usability: results from a qualitative study among cisgender men who have sex with men (MSM) in the SELPHI RCT in England and Wales. AIDS Impact; London2019.
128. Baraitser P, Howroyd C, Courtenay M, Amos-Gibbs S, Ardines E, Holdsworth G, et al., editors. Comparing uptake and acceptability of online self-sampling and self-testing for HIV. HIV MEDICINE;

2018: WILEY 111 RIVER ST, HOBOKEN 07030-5774, NJ USA.

129. James C, Edwards D, Harris W, Brady M. HIV self-testing: feasibility and acceptability of a large scale national service delivered by a community organisation. IAS 2017; 23 to 26 July 2017; Paris, France2017.

130. Huang E, Marlin RW, Young SD, Medline A, Klausner JD. Using Grindr<sup>™</sup>, a Smartphone Social Networking Application, to Increase HIV Self-Testing among Black and Latino Men Who Have Sex with Men in Los Angeles, 2014. AIDS education and prevention : official publication of the International Society for AIDS Education. 2016;28(4):341-50.

131. Lorenc T, Marrero-Guillamon I, Llewellyn A, Aggleton P, Cooper C, Lehmann A, et al. HIV testing among men who have sex with men (MSM): systematic review of qualitative evidence. Health Educ Res. 2011;26(5):834-46.

132. Liu AY, Cohen SE, Vittinghoff E, et al. Preexposure prophylaxis for hiv infection integrated with municipal- and community-based sexual health services. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2016;176(1):75-84.

133. Balán IC, Carballo-Dieguez A, Frasca T, Dolezal C, Ibitoye M. The impact of rapid HIV home test use with sexual partners on subsequent sexual behavior among men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(2):254-62.

134. Carballo-Dieguez A, Frasca T, Balan I, Ibitoye M, Dolezal C. Use of a rapid HIV home test prevents HIV exposure in a high risk sample of men who have sex with men. AIDS and Behavior. 2012;16:1753-60.

135. Rael C, Giguere R, Lentz C, Lopez-Rios J, Brown WI, Dolezal C, et al. Transgender women's experiences using a home HIV testing kit for self- and partner-testing. AIDS Impact; London2019.
136. Wray T, Chan PA, Simpanen E, Operario Dai Wray T, http O, orcid o, et al. eTEST: Developing a Smart Home HIV Testing Kit that Enables Active, Real-Time Follow-Up and Referral After Testing. - JMIR MHealth and UHealth. 2017;5(5):e62.

137. Nguyen LH, Tran BX, Rocha LEC, Nguyen HLT, Yang C, Latkin CA, et al. A Systematic Review of eHealth Interventions Addressing HIV/STI Prevention Among Men Who Have Sex With Men. AIDS and Behavior. 2019(23)::2253–72.

138. Page M, Atabani SF, Wood M, Smit E, Wilson S, Atherton C, et al. Dried blood spot and minitube blood sample collection kits for postal HIV testing services: a comparative review of successes in a real-world setting. Sex Transm Infect. 2019;95(1):43-5.

139. Ogden J. Celebrating variability and a call to limit systematisation: the example of the behaviour change technique taxonomy and the behaviour change wheel. Health Psychology Review. 2016;10(3):245-50.

140. Desai S, Nardone A, Hughes G, Delpech V, Burns F, Hart G, et al. HIV incidence in an open national cohort of men who have sex with men attending sexually transmitted infection clinics in England. HIV Medicine. 2017;18(9):615-22.

Witzel et al. Systematic Reviews (2017) 6:72 DOI 10.1186/s13643-017-0452-4

## Systematic Reviews

## PROTOCOL



## Consolidating emerging evidence surrounding HIVST and HIVSS: a rapid systematic mapping protocol

T. Charles Witzel<sup>1\*</sup>, Peter Weatherburn<sup>1</sup>, Fiona M. Burns<sup>2</sup>, Cheryl C. Johnson<sup>3</sup>, Carmen Figueroa<sup>3</sup> and Alison J. Rodger<sup>2</sup>

#### Abstract

**Background:** HIV self-testing (HIVST) is becoming popular with policy makers and commissioners globally, with a key aim of expanding access through reducing barriers to testing for individuals at risk of HIV infection. HIV self-sampling (HIVSS) was available previously to self-testing but was confined mainly to the USA and the UK. It remains to be seen whether the momentum behind HIVST will also energise efforts to expand HIVSS. Recent years have seen a rapid growth in the type of evidence related to these interventions as well as several systematic reviews. The vast majority of this evidence relates to acceptability as well as values and preferences, although new types of evidence are emerging. This systematic map aims to consolidate all emerging evidence related to HIVST and HIVSS to respond to this rapidly changing area.

**Methods:** We will systematically search databases and the abstracts of five conferences from 2006 to the present date, with monthly-automated database searches. Searches will combine key terms relating to HIV (e.g. HIV, AIDS, human immune-deficiency syndrome) with terms related to self-testing (e.g. home-test, self-test, mail-test, home dried blood spot test). Abstracts will be reviewed against inclusion criteria in duplicate. Data will be manually extracted through a standard form and then entered to an open access relational map (HIVST.org). When new and sufficient evidence emerges which addresses existing knowledge gaps, we will complete a review on a relevant topic.

**Discussion:** This innovative approach will allow rapid cataloguing, documenting and dissemination of new evidence and key findings as they emerge into the public domain.

Systematic review registration: This protocol has not been registered with PROSPERO as they do not register systematic maps.

#### Background

HIV self-testing (HIVST) as an intervention and a potential HIV prevention tool is gaining popularity amongst policy makers globally, as well as amongst key populations affected by HIV. While previously HIVST was uncommon and generally confined to individuals working in healthcare settings informally testing themselves [1], changes in attitudes towards HIV infection brought about by the availability of highly effective HIV treatment have led many countries to introduce legal

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

and policy changes to allow HIVST kits to be licensed and distributed formally [2].

In some settings, HIV self-sampling (HIVSS) gained popularity before HIVST became available [2]. HIVSS was approved in the USA by the Food and Drug Administration in 1996 in response to a desire amongst clinicians and service providers for greater patient autonomy in healthcare. HIVSS harnesses the convenient and private nature of HIVST while also providing support in the form of a laboratory to process the sample and a trained counsellor who could provide results in an effort to counter some of the concerns around self-harm, adverse events and issues with user error [2].

The development of and wide availability of low-cost rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) have also made it possible to



© The Author(s). 2017 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence: Charles.witzel@lshtm.ac.uk <sup>1</sup>Sigma Research, Department of Social and Environmental Health Research,

Sigma Research, Uepartment of Social and Environmental Health Research, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 15-17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 95H, UK

expand testing within and beyond facilities by using community-based approaches, which are increasingly used in HIV testing in low-, middle- and high-income settings [3, 4]. The wider availability and lower cost of antiretroviral therapy (ART) alongside evidence indicating that early diagnosis and immediate treatment initiation improve patient health outcomes, and enable HIV-positive patients to achieve virological suppression which can then prevent onwards transmission, have strengthened the policy argument for the expansion of testing [5–7].

HIVST in particular is now considered to have an important role as part of the expansion of standard HIV testing services and is congruent with widespread shifts in western health systems which increasingly emphasise patient self-management and autonomy [8].

The last 5 years have seen a rapid emergence of published data and corresponding reviews synthesising evidence around HIVSS and HIVST [9–13]. Reflecting the distribution of evidence at the time, the first and most far ranging of these reviews [10] relied substantially on relatively few papers, mainly from the USA.

Since 2013, there has been an increasing flow of evidence about self-sampling and self-testing from a wider range of countries including Australia [14–16], Brazil [17], China [18, 19], the USA [20–22], the UK [23–26], Malawi [27–30] and Lesotho [31]. There remain very little European implementation-based evidence and evidence related to patient experience of HIVST. Aside from exploratory surveys and recent reviews [9–13, 32] in which the majority of included data on the perceptions of values and preferences around HIVST arise from studies of gay, bisexual or other men who have sex with men (MSM), almost exclusively in industrialised countries (and still disproportionately from the USA as well as Australia), there has also been a wide range of opinion pieces broadly supportive of HIVST [2, 33–35].

The vast majority of this research, and hence the focus of all the reviews, has been the acceptability of HIVST, HIVSS and the values and preferences that inform the responses of key populations (MSM, transgender people, sex workers and injection drug users) to these emerging technologies. There can be little doubt that many individuals find the notion of HIVST to be acceptable and that it is feasible to deliver HIVST services in a range of settings in high-income countries. To quote the most recent, [13], "in general, MSM were interested in HIVST because of its convenient and private nature. However, they had concerns about the lack of counselling, possible user error and accuracy" (of test results).

Recognising that the limited evidence base had already been repeatedly reviewed, we will undertake a systematic mapping exercise to formalise the literature searching process behind HIVST.org, an online centre for public health research, documentation and policies regarding HIV self-testing. A redesign of this website will create a searchable relational database where all literature on HIVSS and HIVST globally can be consolidated.

Systematic mapping is a process of collecting, collating and describing the parameters of the existing literature on a particular topic [36]. This systematic map will focus on HIV testing modalities. This tool will offer policy makers, practitioners and researchers an explicit and transparent means of identifying narrower policy and practice-relevant review questions. It also enables the contextualisation of in-depth systematic literature reviews within the broader literature and identification of gaps in the evidence base. Systematic mapping was originally developed by the EPPI-Centre at the Social Science Research Unit, then part of the Institute of Education at the University of London [37].

#### Aims and objectives

The aim of this paper is to consolidate emerging evidence related to HIVST and HIVSS.

#### Objectives

Aim

- To monitor and catalogue changes in published evidence as it emerges
- To collate evidence describing social and contextual factors shaping HIV testing practices, especially barriers to testing, perceptions of the acceptability of self-testing and self-sampling relative to other testing approaches and associated issues including management of psychological effects and subsequent pathways to care
- To document impacts from the expansion of HIVST as the technology continues to gain popularity

#### Methods

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols (PRISMA-P) were used to prepare this protocol [see Additional file 1].

#### Search strategy

Published studies will be captured through a variety of standard searches which were trialled and refined throughout January 2016. Going forward searches will be automated to provide updates on the first of every month. This will enable us to capture all new articles published in that month and monitor changes in the published literature in real time. Searches will cover from January 1, 2006, to the present date, reflecting changes in the nature of HIV infection following widespread availability of anti-retroviral therapy and the emerging imperative to expand HIV testing [34, 37].

Databases included in this search are MEDLINE, Embase, Global Health, Social Policy and Practice, PsycINFO, Health Management Information Consortium, EBSCO CINAHL Plus, Cochrane Library and Web of Science. Searches will combine key terms relating to HIV (HIV, AIDS, human immune-deficiency syndrome, etc.) with terms related to self-testing (home-test, selftest, mail-test, home dried blood spot test, etc.). Five HIV conference databases (British HIV/AIDS Association, Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, European AIDS Society Conference, International AIDS Society and US National HIV Prevention Conference) will be systematically searched from January 2006 to the present date and then searched again annually as they become available. Additional grey literature search was not conducted. For full outline of database search strategy, see Additional file 2.

#### Inclusion criteria

This systematic map will include peer-reviewed publications from a wide range of disciplines within social science and public health including epidemiology, sociology, anthropology, health economics and clinical practice. All study designs will be included. Examples include trials, observational data, economic evaluation and systematic reviews. Trials will include RCTs, cohort and other largescale studies as well as smaller scale implementation, feasibility and demonstration projects. Observational studies will encompass quantitative epidemiological studies and cross-sectional studies of all types including qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods studies. Diagnostic accuracy studies will be coded as observational studies. Modelling will be included under the tag of economic evaluation. Systematic reviews and metaanalyses will be included.

Comments, reviews that are not systematic, opinion pieces and letters to the editor will be excluded (Table 1).

Table 1 Study codes and designs

Study types	Designs
Trials	RCTs and cohort studies
	Implementation, feasibility and demonstration projects
Observational studies	Epidemiological studies
	Cross-sectional studies (qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods)
	Diagnostic accuracy studies
Modelling	Economic evaluation
	Epidemiological modelling
Systematic reviews	Meta-analyses, meta-syntheses and meta-ethnography

Studies written in English and published after January 1, 2006, will be eligible for inclusion in this map. Grey literature beyond conference papers and abstracts will not be included as this map focuses on academic outputs which have been through peer-review processes.

#### Screening

Eppi-Reviewer 4 will be used as a reference reviewing and management software for the duration of the project. Using this software, the titles and abstracts of studies only will be screened in duplicate against inclusion criteria by researchers from the study team and coded as EITHER eligible for inclusion OR ineligible, or THEY will be put forward for A second opinion. If it is not possible to ascertain whether a study is eligible based on title and abstract, it will be coded as requiring a second opinion and the full text will be obtained. Results from both researchers will be resolved by full-text screening by both researchers. If disagreement persists, a third member of the study team will undertake a full-text review and provide an opinion.

#### Data extraction and relational mapping

Evidence related to HIVST and HIVSS will be input into HIVST.org, a resource which consolidates and maps evidence and policy globally. Following further development, HIVST.org will become a public facing, open access relational database for policy makers, practitioners and academics to search for up to date information on HIVST. Results will be displayed on a map and through a searchable database. This will be completed through the following steps:

Studies which are eligible for inclusion will be coded by study design, population, year of publication, HIVST type and approach in EPPI-Reviewer 4. Following this coding, all studies will undergo a data extraction process, whereby key data are extracted and input into a Google document spreadsheet with pre-defined fields which link with those of a publicly available systematic map. This will be conducted by either a member of Sigma Research or a team member at the HIV Unit at the WHO. Data extraction will be done from full text where available, with abstract utilised when manuscripts cannot be sourced. Data extracted will include region, target population, aims, date of research, research methodology, study design, sample size, key results and summary of findings. Extraction for each study will be conducted by one member of the team only. See Additional file 3 for data extraction template.

The Google document spreadsheet will then be uploaded into the relational map. The externally facing map will have filterability as a database from the public facing end, with broad meta-level tags for study design as well as more specific tags for population, setting, HIVST type and key themes to allow for easy retrieval of results. This will enable identification of studies by key theme and easy comparison and interpretation of results. The Google document spreadsheet which the data is input through will have greater filtering capability, but these will only be available to the study team.

#### Quality appraisal

During the systematic mapping process, we do not plan to undertake a formal quality appraisal of studies. The key purpose of such a process is to explore the existence and characteristics of the evidence base of a topic rather than to make judgements about the quality of studies themselves [24]. When systematic reviews are conducted using the results of our systematic map, then quality appraisal will be completed as relevant to the review type and nature of the evidence base.

#### Outcomes

A key outcome of this systematic map will be the ongoing population of HIVST.org with results. Further, when sufficient evidence that is significantly different from the already published reviews emerges, then a systematic review can be completed from the subset of literature that is relevant to that specific research question.

It remains to be seen when sufficient evidence will emerge concerning use and effectiveness of HIVST (and HIVSS), but the systematic mapping exercise will facilitate the refining of additional or alternate questions for a systematic review. The suitability of conducting a further review will be assessed qualitatively through identifying emerging trends in the published literature and in conjunction with experts at the WHO. Having precompleted, screening processes will allow for a timelier complation of a systematic review when it is relevant to undertake one.

The precise approach taken for systematic reviewing (i.e. full meta-analysis, meta-summary, meta-ethnography, etc.) will be determined by what is most appropriate given the research question selected and the scope and quality of the pertinent evidence base.

#### Discussion

This open access rapid systematic map will enable easy access to up-to-date information for policy makers, practitioners, academics and others with an interest in HIVST. It will also formalise a current WHO endeavour and provide a greater degree of rigour to HIV-ST.org. Further, having searches and filtering already completed will allow for a more rapid completion of a systematic review on a relevant topic when the necessary data emerges.

#### Strengths and limitations

The approach outlined in this protocol has key strengths and limitations.

The ability to rapidly capture and characterise emerging literature which can then be used for a variety of application for academics and policy makers is a key strength. The transparent process through which this is completed provides intellectual rigour. This approach also allows for easy contextualisation of results from individual studies amongst the diverse evidence base of HIVST and HIVSS.

The major limitation of this type of review is that quality of evidence is not assessed. This rapid systematic mapping therefore gives all results equal weight in terms of prominence, and lower quality studies are not distinguished from those conducted with more rigour. It is therefore up to the audience to critically appraise the evidence base themselves.

#### **Additional files**

Additional file 1: PRISMA checklist. (PDF 130 kb) Additional file 2: Search strategy. Searches updated after peer review. (DQCX 19 kb)

Additional file 3: Data extraction template. Template to be used to extract data and upload to map. (XLSX 9 kb)

#### Acknowledgements

This paper summarises independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) under its Programme Grants for Applied Research Programme (Grant Reference Number RP-PG-1212-20006). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

#### Funding

This research has been conducted as part of a National Institute for Health Research funded programme grant called PANTHEON (RP-PG-1212-20006).

#### Availability of data and materials

Il relevant data is included.

#### Authors' contributions

Conceptualisation and critical direction were provided by AR, PW, CJ and CF. Searches were designed by LSHTM library with input from CW and CF. CW, AR and PW drafted the manuscript, CW, CJ, CF and FB revised and provided critical input. CF and CJ provided data collection instruments. All authors have provided final approval.

#### Competing interests

The authors declare they have no competing interests.

## Consent for publication Not applicable.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

#### **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Author details

Not applicable

<sup>1</sup>Sigma Research, Department of Social and Environmental Health Research, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 15-17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 9SH, UK. <sup>2</sup>Research Department of Infection & Population Health, UCL and Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK, <sup>3</sup>Department of HIV, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.

#### Received: 16 May 2016 Accepted: 6 March 2017 Published online: 05 April 2017

#### References

- Johnson C, Baggaley R, Forsythe S, van Rooyen H, Ford N, Napierala Mavedzenge S, et al. Realizing the potential for HIV self-testing. AIDS Behav. 2014;18 Suppl 4:S391-5.
- Mvers JE, El-Sadr WM, Zerbe A, Branson BM, Rapid HIV self-testing: long in coming but opportunities beckon. AIDS. 2013;27(11):1687–95.
- Matovu JK, Makumbi FE. Expanding access to voluntary HIV counselling and 3 testing in sub-Saharan Africa: alternative approaches for improving uptake, 2001–2007. Trop Med Int Health. 2007;12(11):1315–22.
- Parekh BS, Kalou MB, Alemnji G, Ou CY, Gershy-Damet GM, Nkengasong JN. Scaling up HIV rapid testing in developing countries: comprehensive approach 4
- for implementing quality assurance. Am J Clin Pathol. 2010;134(4):573–84. Granich RM, Gilks CF, Dye C, De Cock KM, Williams BG. Universal voluntary HIV testing with immediate antiretroviral therapy as a strategy for elimination of
- HIV transmission: a mathematical model. Lancet. 2009;373:48–57. Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T, Vernazza P, Collins S, van Lunzen J, et al. Sexual activity without condoms and risk of HIV transmission in serodifferent couples when the HIV-positive partner is using suppressive
- antiretroviral therapy. JAMA. 2016;316(2):171–81. Attia S, Egger M, Muller M, Zwahlen M, Low N. Sexual transmission of HIV according to viral load and antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and
- meta-analysis. AIDS. 2009;23(11):1397–404. Banda J. Rapid home HIV testing: risk and the moral imperatives of 8
- barda J, hapid home HV testing, his and the moral impedatives of biological citizenship. Body Soc. 2014;21(4):24–47. Pant Pai N, Sharma J, Shivkumar S, Pillay S, Vadnais C, Joseph L, et al. Supervised and unsupervised self-testing for HIV in high- and low-risk populations: a systematic review. PLoS Med. 2013;10(4):e1001414. 9.
- Krause J, Subklew-Sehume FK, Kreyon C, Colebunders R. Acceptability of HIV self-testing: a systematic literature review. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:735. Mavedzenge SN, Baggaley R, Corbett EL. A review of self-testing for HIV: 10.
- 11. earch and policy priorities in a new era of HIV prevention. Clin Infect Dis. 2013:57(1):126-38.
- bitopy M, Frasca T, Giguere R, Carballo-Dieguez A. Home testing past, present and future: lessons learned and implications for HIV home tests AIDS Behav. 2014:18(5):933-49.
- Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Baggaley R. Attitudes and acceptability on 13. HIV self-testing among key populations: a literature review. AIDS Behav 2015:19(11):1949-65.
- Bilardi JE, Walker S, Read T, Prestage G, Chen MY, Guy R, et al. Gay and bisexual 14.
- men's views on rapid self-testing for HIV. AIDS Behav. 2013;17(6):2093–9. Bavinton BR, Brown G, Hurley M, Bradley J, Keen P, Conway DP, et al. Which 15. gay men would increase their frequency of HIV testing with home selftesting? AIDS Behav. 2013;17(6):2084-92.
- Jamil MS, Prestage G, Fairley CK, Grulich AE, Smith KS, Chen M, et al. Access 16. bisexual men at higher risk of infection: a randomised controlled trial. AIDS
- Disexual men at night his of interaction: a failoonised controlled that. ALCS 2016; Durban, South Africa: 18-22nd July, 2016; 2016.
  Volk JE, Lippman SA, Grinsztejn B, Lama JR, Fernandes NM, Gonzales P, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men in Peru and Brazil. Int J STD AIDS. 2016;27(7):531–6.
  Yan H, Yang H, Raymond HF, Li J, Shi LE, Huan X, et al. Experiences and 17.
- 18 correlates of HIV self-testing among men who have sex with men ir Jiangsu province, China. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(3):485–91.
- Tao J, Li MY, Qian HZ, Wang LJ, Zhang Z, Ding HF, et al. Home-based HIV testing for men who have sex with men in China: a novel 19 community-based partnership to complement government programs PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e102812.
- Balán I, Frasca T, Ibitoye M, Dolezal C, Carballo-Dieguez A. Fingerprick versus 20 oral swab: acceptability of blood-based testing increases if other STIs can be detected. AIDS Behav. 2017;21(2):501-4.
- Brown 3rd W, Carballo-Dieguez A, John RM, Schnall R. Information, motivation, and behavioral skills of high-risk young adults to use the HIV 21. self-test, AIDS Behav, 2016:20(9):2000-9,

- 22. Chiu CJ, Young SD. Correlates of requesting home HIV self-testing kits on online social networks among African-American and Latino men who have sex with men. AIDS Care. 2016;28(3):289–93. Flowers P, Riddell J, Park C, Ahmed B, Young I, Frankis J, et al. Preparedness
- for use of the rapid result HIV self-test by gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM): a mixed methods exploratory study among MSM and those involved in HIV prevention and care. HIV Med. 2017;18(4): 245-55
- Gibson W, Challenor R, Warwick Z. HIV home/self-testing: a pilot project and service evaluation. 22nd Annual Conference of the British HIV Association; 19-22nd April 2016; Manchester, UK. 2016. Witzel TC, Rodger AJ, Burns FM, Rhodes T, Weatherburn P. HIV self-testing
- 25 among men who have sex with men (MSM) in the UK a qualitative study of barriers and facilitators, intervention preferences and perceived impacts. PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162713. Witzel TC, Melendez-Torres GJ, Hickson F, Weatherburn P. HIV testing history
- 26. and preferences or future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other MSM in England: results from a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2016;6:e011372.
- Choko AT, Desmond N, Webb EL, Chavula K, Napierala-Mavedzenge S, Gaydos CA, et al. The uptake and accuracy of oral kits for HIV self-testing in 27 high HIV prevalence setting; a cross-sectional feasibility study in Blantyre Malawi, PLoS Med. 2011;8(10):e1001102. Choko AT, MacPherson P, Webb EL, Willey BA, Feasy H, Sambakunsi R, et al.
- 28. Uptake, accuracy, safety, and linkage into care over two years of promoting annual self-testing for HIV in Blantyre, Malawi: a community-based prospective study. PLoS Med. 2015;12(9):e1001873.
- MacPherson P, Lalloo DG, Webb EL, Maheswaran H, Choko AT, Makombe SD, et al. Effect of optional home initiation of HIV care following HIV self-testing on antiercoving therapy initiation among adults in Malawi: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014;312(4):372–9.
- 30.
- trial. JANA. 2014;3124;37.2–9. Lora W, Chipzet E, Desmond N. Understanding coercion in the context of semi-supervised HIV self-testing in urban Blantyre. AIDS 2016; 21st International AIDS Conference; 18-22nd July 2016; Durban, South Africa 2016. Zerbe A, L. DA, Mantell JE, Remien RH, Morris DD, Frederix K, et al. Acceptability and Uptake of Home-Based HIV Self-testing in Lesotho. 31. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections February 23-26, 2015. ; Seattle, Washington.
- Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, Dalal S, Baggaley R. Systematic review on HIV self-testing (HIVST) performance and accuracy of results. AIDS 2016: 21st 22
- International AIDS Conference; 18-22nd July; Durban, South Africa 2016. Allias L, Venter F. The ethical, legal and human rights concerns raised by licensing HIV self-testing for private use. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(4):415–21. 33. 34.
- Scott PA. Unsupervised self-testing as part public health screening HIV in resource-poor environments; some ethical considerations, AIDS Behav. 2014;18 Suppl 4:5438–44. Wong V, Johnson C, Cowan E, Rosenthal M, Peeling R, Miralles M, et al. HIV
- 35. self-testing in resource-limited settings: regulatory and policy considerations. AIDS Behav. 2014;18 Suppl 4:S415–21.
- 36 Bates S, Clapton J, Coren E. Systematic maps to support the evidence base
- Bates S, Clapton J, Coren E. Systematic maps to support the evidence bi in social care. Evid Policy. 2007;3(4):539–51. Gilks CF, Crowley S, Ekplini R, Gove S, Perriens J, Souteyrand Y, et al. The WHO public-health approach to antiretroviral treatment against HIV in resource-limited settings. Lancet. 2006;368(9534):505–10. 37

#### Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit



## Appendix 2: Gay Men's Sex Survey 2014 testing history and preferences analysis

## **Open Access**

Research

## **BMJ Open** HIV testing history and preferences for future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other MSM in England: results from a cross-sectional study

T Charles Witzel,<sup>1</sup> G J Melendez-Torres,<sup>2</sup> Ford Hickson,<sup>1</sup> Peter Weatherburn<sup>1</sup>

To cite: Witzel TC, Melendez-Torres GJ, Hickson F, et al. HIV testing history and preferences for future tests among gay men, bisexual men and other MSM in England: results from a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* 2016;6:e011372. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011372

Prepublication history for this paper is available online. To view these files please visit the journal online (http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ bmiopen-2016-011372).

Received 2 February 2016 Revised 20 May 2016 Accepted 2 August 2016



<sup>1</sup>Sigma Research, Department of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine London, London, UK

<sup>2</sup>Warwick Evidence, Division of Health Sciences, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK

Correspondence to Mr Witzel T Charles; Charles.Witzel@lshtm.ac.uk

#### BMJ

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The British HIV Association's (BHIVA)

testing guidelines recommend men who have sex with

men (MSM) test annually or more frequently if ongoing

risk is present. We identify which groups of MSM in

England are less likely to have tested for HIV and their

preferences for future tests by testing model, in order

Methods: Data come from the Gay Men's Sex Survey

2014, a cross-sectional survey of MSM, aged 16 years

or older and living in the UK. Only men who did not

have diagnosed HIV and were living in England were

included in this analysis. We used logistic regression

health were associated with not testing for HIV in the

Results: Younger men, older men and men who were

not gay identified were least likely to have tested for

HIV. Higher educational attainment, migrancy, Black

ethnicity and being at higher of risk were associated

with greater levels of HIV testing. Men who were less

likely to have tested for HIV preferred a wider range of

2008 was used to guide testing priorities among MSM

focus would be on increasing the rate of annual testing

Conclusions: If the BHIVA's HIV testing policy of

among MSM at less risk of HIV (ie, younger men,

older men and non-gay identified MSM). Instead the promotion of more frequent testing among the groups

most at risk of infection should be prioritised in order

to reduce the time between infection and diagnosis.

models to understand how social determinants of

past 12 months, and never having tested. We then

cross-tabulated preferred testing location by

demographic characteristics.

options for future HIV testing.

to inform health promotion programmes.

BACKGROUND

Both globally and in the UK, HIV prevention is moving towards a test and treat model. This approach evolved from the recognition that the majority of new HIV infections among men who have sex with men (MSM) are passed from those who are unaware of their infection, and that treating HIV-positive individuals early drastically reduces their infectivity.<sup>1 2</sup> Sexual health promotion now

Witzel TC, et al. BMJ Open 2016;6:e011372. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011372

## Strengths and limitations of this study

- This study identifies which groups of men who have sex with men (MSM) in England are less likely to have tested for HIV ever and in the preceding 12 months and their service preferences for future tests.
- This study provides a robust critique of The British HIV Association's (BHIVA) 2008 HIV testing guidelines which recommend annual or more frequent testing for all MSM.
- While the gay identified men in our study are broadly representative of probability-based samples of MSM in the UK, there is a greater divergence in the non-gay identified MSM, which may lead us to overestimate testing among these men.
- HIV self-testing was not available at the time of this research was conducted, and HIV selfsampling was often advertised as self-testing in England. Participants may therefore have been confused by the difference between these options.

has a major focus on reducing the time between infection and diagnosis through increasing rates of testing, as well as providing earlier HIV treatment to those found to be positive.<sup>1 2</sup> Essentially this approach emphasises reducing the amount of undiagnosed HIV within the population in order to reduce community viral load (and therefore onward transmission) while also preventing illness in individuals who have HIV.3 The British HIV Association (BHIVA) and Public Health England (PHE) now recommend that all MSM in the UK test for HIV at least annually and 'and every 3 months if having unprotected sex with new or casual partners'.4 While rates of HIV testing among this group have increased dramatically in the last decade, PHE estimates that currently 14% of UK MSM with HIV infection have yet to be diagnosed.

Factors mediating MSM's decisions to test are complex and varied. Significant barriers to encouraging MSM to test for HIV exist, particularly in relation to psychosocial needs and negative emotional responses to testing.<sup>5</sup> In the UK, policymakers have focused on creating demand for testing services through demand side interventions including policy and health promotion interventions addressing some of these factors, and by encouraging regular testing through national campaigns.<sup>6</sup> Efforts to boost supply have also been central in attempts to increase the rate and frequency of testing among MSM. Models of delivery for HIV testing have also evolved with a key aim of reducing barriers to testing among most at-risk populations (for a comprehensive discussion on barriers to HIV testing, see ref. 7). While hospital-based outpatient HIV testing remains the norm, public health provision has focused increasingly on providing a wider range of settings for HIV testing. Initial expansion focused on opt-out as opposed to opt-in protocols in clinics, and providing HIV testing services within the community<sup>8</sup> <sup>9</sup> and, more recently, providing opportunities for self-administered testing methods including self-sampling and self-testing.

It is unclear however which groups of MSM are most likely to access HIV testing and why. In addition, it is not known which groups favour which types of testing and what mix of testing services might achieve higher rates of HIV testing.

In this paper, we present analyses of the Gay Men's Sex Survey (GMSS) 2014, the 17<sup>th</sup> in a series of national sexual health needs assessments for gay, bisexual and other MSM. Our aim is to identify which groups of MSM in England are less likely to have tested for HIV and their preferred model for future tests. We do this by identifying demographic and behavioural characteristics associated with never having tested for HIV and not testing in the preceding 12 months, and by identifying preferences for future HIV testing among respondents based on demographic and behavioural characteristics. We focus on English MSM only as England has a separate health infrastructure to the rest of the UK leading to a restriction of interventions by region.<sup>11</sup>

#### METHODS

GMSS received a favourable ethical opinion from the Observational Research Ethics Committee at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (reference number 7658) on 17 June 2014.

The survey recruited men who reported attraction to other men who were aged 16 or older and living in England between August and November of 2014. Recruitment occurred through advertising on internet dating services (websites and geolocation social networking apps), social media and, to a lesser extent, voluntary sector organisations. The survey could only be completed online in English.

Demographic and behavioural characteristics treated as independent variables included age, sexual identity, ethnicity, highest educational qualification, migrancy and having had two or more non-steady sexual partners with whom a condom was not used for anal sex (2+NSSPNC). Age was recorded as a continuous variable and then recoded into 10-year bands beginning at under 20 and ending at 60 or over. Sexual identity was categorised as gay or homosexual, bisexual, straight or heterosexual, queer, 'any other term', and 'I don't usually use a term'. Ethnicity was recoded from standard UK ethnicity codes into four categories to avoid issues with having many categories with small numbers of observations: respondents were classified as Black, White, Asian and other. Responses to highest educational qualification were stratified into 'high', 'medium' and 'low'. Those with no qualifications or those with no post-16 education were classed as having low educational qualifications, while those educated to degree level were classified as having high educational qualification. The remaining men were classified as having a medium level of education (including men with A levels or equivalent and the majority of those with vocational or trade qualifications). A migrancy variable was created using responses to a question asking if the respondent was born in the UK. Those who indicated that they were not were classed as migrants. We created the variable 2+NSSPNC by stacking a variable indicating any casual partners into one where men identified the number of non-steady sex partners they had condomless anal sex with.

Respondents were asked if they had ever received an HIV test result. The options were 'no, I have never received and HIV test result', 'yes, I've tested positive' and 'yes, my last test was negative'. Respondents that had ever received an HIV test result were asked when they received their last negative HIV test, divided into time bands ranging from within the past 24 hours to more than 5 years ago. These data were recoded to 'tested for HIV in the last year' and 'not tested for HIV in the last year'. For our variable reporting having tested in the preceding 6 months, the data were recoded as appropriate following the same method.

Respondents were also asked where they would most like to test for HIV in the future. This dependent variable was recoded from initial values into general practitioner/ family doctor, a doctor in a private practice, at a hospital or genitourinary medicine (GUM) clinic, at a community HIV testing service (including in a bar/pub, club or sauna, or mobile medical unit), self-sampling kit (taking own sample and sending off for result), self-testing kit (taking a sample and finding out a result on the spot), other and 'I will not want to test for HIV in the future'.

#### Analysis

First, we examined associations between demographic characteristics and HIV testing history. We used logistic regression models to understand how demographic and behavioural variables were associated with the dependent variables of not having tested for HIV in the past 12 months and never having tested for HIV. We

Witzel TC, et al. BMJ Open 2016;6:e011372. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011372

regressed both of our dependent variables on each of age, sexual orientation, ethnicity, highest educational attainment, migrancy and 2+NSSPNC. We chose reference categories with the aim of understanding key equity dimensions of access to healthcare, particularly in relation to men with lower educational qualifications and barriers to accessibility which may vary across cul-tural groups.<sup>4</sup> <sup>7</sup> Our risk variable was chosen as we theorised that having two of more non-steady sexual partners with whom condoms are not used for anal sex was indicative of likelihood of ongoing risk. After entering each demographic characteristic into a bivariate logistic regression, we included all characteristics in one model for each dependent variable using block entry. For each logistic regression model, we report ORs (unadjusted or adjusted) and Wald tests for overall model significance.

Second, we calculated  $\chi^2$  tests on 2+NSSPNC and testing in the preceding 6 months.

Third, we calculated  $\chi^2$  tests on preferred testing location by comparing MSM who had last tested negative with MSM who had never received an HIV test.

Fourth, we cross-tabulated preferred testing location by demographic characteristics. We did not use inferential testing because of the multiplicity of categories.

Missing data across all variables was <5% of observations. We decided this level of missing data was acceptable for a community-based cross-sectional survey and did not make attempts to use corrective statistical mechanisms.

All analyses were undertaken in Statacorp Stata V.13.

#### RESULTS

8

The survey recruited 15 704 MSM in England of whom 14 317 (86%) had not been diagnosed with HIV. Of these, 14 235 (99%) had indicated whether or not they had received a previous HIV-negative test result and data on whether or not they had tested in the past 12 months were available for 14 194 (99%) men. See figure 1 for exclusion flow chart.

#### Having never tested

In the sample of men who had not received a positive HIV test, 73.9% had received a negative HIV test, while 26.1% had never tested for HIV.

Findings from univariate models are in table 1. Compared with men in their 20s, men below the age of 20 were more likely to have never tested for HIV whereas men in their 30s and 40s were significantly less likely to have never tested for HIV. Men in their 50s were not significantly different from men in their 20s, whereas men in their 60s were more likely to not have received an HIV test. Men who identified as queer were not statistically different from men who identified as gay in odds of never having tested for HIV, but compared with men who identified as gay, men in every other sexual orientation category were significantly more likely to have never received an HIV



Figure 1 Participant exclusion flow chart.

test. White men were most likely to not have received an HIV test, though Asian men were not significantly different. Compared with men with high levels of education, men with low and medium levels were more likely to have never received an HIV test. Men born in the UK were more likely to have never received an HIV test compared with migrants. Other than migrants, men who reported condomless anal intercourse with two or more casual partners were least likely to have never tested for HIV.

Findings from multivariate models (table 2) were similar in magnitude, direction and significance to findings in univariate models. However, men in their 50s were now less likely to have received an HIV test, and men aged 60 and above were not significantly different, as compared with men in their 20s. Finally, in multivariate models, men reporting condomless anal intercourse with two or more casual partners were least likely to have never tested for HIV.

#### Testing in the past 12 months

Of the analysis sample, 53.7% of men had received a negative HIV test result in the 12 months prior to completing the survey.

Findings from univariate models are in table 1. Compared with men in their 20s, men in their 30s were not significantly different in their odds of having tested in the past 12 months; however, men both younger than 20 and aged 40 and above were more likely to not have received an HIV test in the past 12 months. Compared with men who identified as gay, men who described their orientation as bisexual or straight or who described not using a term were significantly more likely to have not tested in the past 12 months, but men who identified as queer or with any other term were not significantly different from gay men. All groups of non-white men were less likely to not have tested in the past 12 months, and all groups of men who did not have high education qualifications were more likely to not have tested in the past 12 months. Men who had migrated to the UK were less likely to have not received an HIV test in the past 12 months. Men who reported

171

Tuble 1 Hot over tooling and	a not tooting in the procedu	ig iz monu	o by defilegraphic valia	Not teste	d in the past
		Never tes	ted for HIV	s	
Variable	Percent of sample (n)	Percent	OR (95% CI)	Percent	OR (95% CI)
Age					
Under 20	8.4 (1181)	65.4	5.16 (4.52 to 5.91)	67.5	2.91 (2.55 to 3.32)
20s	37.6 (5314)	25.7	Ref	41.6	Ref
30s	22.4 (3169)	15.6	0.50 (0.45 to 0.56)	39.9	0.91 (0.85 to 1.02)
40s	16.8 (2368)	18.1	0.61 (0.54 to 0.68)	47.5	1.27 (1.15 to 1.40)
50s	9.8 (1383)	25.6	0.94 (0.82 to 1.07)	52.9	1.57 (1.40 to 1.77)
60+	5.0 (710)	30.4	1.19 (1.01 to 1.42)	57.6	1.90 (1.62 to 2.23)
Wald test ( $\chi^2$ , df, p value)			1098.37, 5, p<0.001		376.81, 5, p<0.001
Orientation					
Gay	83.7 (11 738)	23.2	Ref	44.2	Ref
Bisexual	10.6 (1483)	44.2	2.62 (2.35 to 2.93)	59.1	1.83 (1.64 to 2.04)
Straight	0.4 (59)	69.5	7.55 (4.33 to 13.16)	83.1	6.20 (3.14 to 12.24)
Queer	1.4 (189)	18.5	0.75 (0.52 to 1.09)	38.1	0.78 (0.58 to 1.05)
Any other term	0.4 (60)	40.0	2.21 (1.32 to 3.71)	51.7	1.35 (0.81 to 2.25)
Don't use a term	3.5 (495)	37.6	1.99 (1.65 to 2.4)	55.6	1.58 (1.32 to 1.90)
Wald test ( $\chi^2$ , df, p value)			370.98, 5, p<0.001		175.91, 5, p<0.001
Ethnicity					
White	92.6 (13 117)	26.6	Ref	47.2	Ref
Black	2.1 (295)	20.3	0.70 (0.53 to 0.94)	31.5	0.51 (0.40 to 0.66)
Asian	3.6 (513)	24.1	0.88 (0.72 to 1.08)	37.8	0.68 (0.57 to 0.81)
Other	1.7 (234)	16.2	0.54 (0.35 to 0.38)	29.9	0.48 (0.36 to 0.63)
Wald test ( $\chi^2$ , df, p value)			20.79, 3, p<0.001		72.49, 3, p<0.0001
Education					
Low	18.0 (2509)	35.2	2.51 (2.27 to 2.78)	55.6	1.86 (1.70 to 2.04)
Medium	34.0 (4728)	32.0	2.11 (1.93 to 2.3)	49.4	1.45 (1.34 to 1.56)
High	48.0 (6691)	18.3	Ref	40.3	Ref
Wald test ( $\chi^2$ , df, p value)			431.19, 2, p<0.001		204.34, 2, p<0.001
Migrancy					
Yes	19.5 (2713)	15.8	0.47 (0.42 to 0.52)	35.1	0.57 (0.52 to 0.62)
No	80.5 (11 201)	28.7	Ref	48.9	Ref
Wald test ( $\chi^2$ , df, p value)			186.07, 1, p<0.0001		170.00, 1, p<0.001
2+NSSPNC					
Yes	17.4 (2415)	16.3	0.50 (0.44 to 0.56)	27.3	0.37 (0.33 to 0.40)
No	82.6 (11 462)	28.2	Ref	50.4	Ref
Wald test ( $\chi^2$ , df, p value)			155.02, 1, p<0.001		442.08, 1, p<0.001

2+NSSPNC in the preceding 12 months were least likely to have not tested for HIV in that time period. Findings from multivariate models (see table 2) were similar to findings from univariate models.

### Higher risk men and testing recency

Men who reported 2+NSSPNC in the preceding 12 months reported testing more frequently than those who did not. Of these men, 59.5% had tested in the preceding 6 months, compared with 33.8% of men who reported lower risk. The OR reporting the likelihood of men at higher risk having not tested in the preceding 6 months was 0.35 and was statistically significant (table 3 for results).

#### Preferences for future tests

4

Men who had never tested had significantly divergent preferences for future tests when compared with men who had received a negative test result (table 4). For this group, self-administered testing options (HIV self-testing and HIV self-sampling combined) were the most popular, followed by GUM and testing in general practice. These men had the lowest reported interest in testing in GUM settings of all groups included in this analysis. This is in contrast with the preferred testing locations of men who had previously tested with the majority preferring GUM clinics, followed by self-administered testing options and then preferring community-based testing services. Very few men stated that they had no intention of testing for HIV in the future indicating that even among those who have never done so, testing for HIV is acceptable.

When examining testing preferences by demographic and behavioural characteristics (table 5), these general patterns continued, with groups associated with lower levels of testing reporting preference for a greater diversity of testing services outside of GUM than groups who

Witzel TC, et al. BMJ Open 2016;6:e011372. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011372

Table 2	Not ever testing and not testing in the preceding
12 months	s by demographic variables: multivariate
analyses	

Variable	Adjusted OR (never tested)	Adjusted OR (12 months)				
Age						
Under 20	4.15 (3.59 to 4.80)	2.47 (2.13 to 2.85)				
20s	Ref	Ref				
30s	0.55 (0.49 to 0.62)	1.02 (0.93 to 1.12)				
40s	0.56 (0.49 to 0.62)	1.26 (1.13 to 1.40)				
50s	0.79 (0.68 to 0.91)	1.46 (1.29 to 1.67)				
60+	0.91 (0.75 to 1.11)	1.67 (1.40 to 1.99)				
Orientation						
Gay	Ref	Ref				
Bisexual	2.72 (2.40 to 3.08)	1.73 (1.54 to 1.95)				
Straight	8.82 (4.81 to 16.20)	6.18 (2.98 to 12.83)				
Queer	0.78 (0.52 to 1.19)	0.87 (0.64 to 1.19)				
Any other term	2.25 (1.26 to 4.04)	1.55 (0.88 to 2.72)				
Don't use a term	1.98 (1.61 to 2.42)	1.55 (1.28 to 1.89)				
Ethnicity						
White	Ref	Ref				
Black	0.61 (0.43 to 0.85)	0.48 (0.36 to 0.64)				
Asian	1.16 (0.92 to 1.07)	0.78 (0.63 to 0.96)				
Other	0.72 (0.48 to 1.08)	0.58 (0.42 to 0.79)				
Education	1 00 (1 70 1- 0 17)	1 50 (1 00 ks 1 70)				
LOW	1.92 (1.72 to 2.17)	1.53 (1.38 to 1.70)				
Medium	1.48 (1.34 to 1.63)	1.26 (1.16 to 1.37)				
High	Rei	Rei				
Voc	0.62 (0.54 to 0.71)0	0.65 (0.50 to 0.72)				
No	0.62 (0.54 to 0.71)0	0.05 (0.59 to 0.72)				
	nei	nei				
Ves	0.47 (0.42  to  0.53)	0.36 (0.32 to 0.40)				
No	Ref	Ref				
Wald test	1716.89 17	1105 27 17				
$(\gamma^2, df, p, value)$	p<0.001	p<0.001				
<u>(, , u, p (u, u)</u>	p.0.001	p 101001				

were more likely to have tested who tended to report a greater preference for GUM. The exception to this is community-based testing, which was more popular among groups more likely to have tested previously.

#### DISCUSSION

The BHIVA testing guidelines for the UK state that all MSM should test at least annually or more frequently if there is ongoing risk.<sup>12</sup> Our results clearly demonstrate that UK testing guidelines are not being uniformly followed by men in different life stages. These findings report levels of HIV testing broadly congruent with the similarly opportunistically recruited Scottish Bar Survey,<sup>13</sup> and substantially higher rates than among MSM in the third National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles, a general population probability survey in which 51.6% of MSM reported ever testing for HIV.<sup>14</sup>

Our results describe which groups of MSM in the England are less likely to be following the BHIVA guidelines. In multivariate models, we found that men under

## Open Access

Table 3 Men reporting 2+NSSPNC testing in the preceding 6 months						
Six months	2+NSSPNC	<2NSSPNC				
Yes	59.5% (1425)	33.8% (3851)				
No	40.5% (972)	66.2% (7536)				
OR 0.35 (0.32 to 0.38)	χ <sup>2</sup> =535.46	p<0.001				

the age of 20 were less likely than men between the ages of 20 and 30 to have tested in the preceding 12 months. As age increased the number of men who had never tested declined, but so too did testing frequency after a peak when men were in their 20s and 30s. This suggests a strong age trend whereby men are, in part, aware of their own HIV testing needs and responding to them by testing more frequently when most sexually active (between the ages of 20 and 40) with frequency declining later. This is congruent with other evidence which suggests strong age trends in HIV testing patterns among MSM in Europe, North America and Australia.<sup>13</sup> <sup>15–18</sup> However, despite regular testing fitting into the life courses of many MSM, a significant proportion (over 25%) of MSM over the age of 50 have never tested for HIV, indicating that throughout life many MSM are choosing not to ever test for HIV.

Bisexual men were significantly less likely than gay men to have tested. Straight identified MSM were the least likely to test. In total 83% of MSM who identified as straight (n=59) had not tested for HIV in the past 12 months and nearly 70% had never received an HIV test result. There are therefore clear associations between sexual identity and rates of HIV testing within this sample, and our results indicate that either these men (correctly or incorrectly) do not believe themselves to be at risk of HIV infection, or that their needs are not being adequately addressed through existing service provision. These patterns have been observed in several other European countries.<sup>14-17</sup> <sup>19</sup>

Also consistent with existing evidence<sup>15</sup> <sup>16</sup> is our finding that men with lower levels of education were less likely to test for HIV. As this association weakened in adjusted ORs, these data are suggestive of a clustering of other demographic influences on likelihood to test around men with medium and low levels of education. These results did however retain significance indicating that there is an important educational component to decision-making around HIV testing and perhaps in access to services. This underscores the importance of psychosocial barriers to testing among this population, barriers on which expansion of testing in itself cannot overcome.<sup>20</sup>

The men in our sample who were most likely to have tested for HIV were men who reported having two nonsteady partners with whom they did not use condoms for anal sex in the preceding 12 months. In this group, only 16.2% had never received a test result, the lowest

Most preferred next test	Percent of those who have never tested (n=3723)	Percent of those who have ever tested (n=10 512)	$\chi^2$ , p value
General practice	21.6 (803)	8.8 (920)	424.50, 0.001
Private practice	5.9 (220)	2.4 (254)	104.20, 0.001
GUM clinic	30.7 (1143)	56.3 (5915)	718.00, 0.001
Community test	7.8 (292)	10.3 (1086)	19.47, 0.001
HIV self-sample	12.0 (446)	8.1 (856)	48.70, 0.001
HIV self-test	20.2 (750)	12.7 (1332)	123.00, 0.001
Other means to test	0.9 (32)	1.2 (125)	2.74, 0.098
Will not test	1.0 (37)	0.2 (24)	37.76, 0.001

proportion bar migrants and men of 'other' ethnicity. Only 27.3% had not tested in the preceding 12 months, the lowest of any group in our sample. However, 40.5% had not tested in the preceding 6 months, indicating that a significant proportion of these men are likely falling short of BHIVA guidelines to test every 3 months in the presence of ongoing risk.

GUM settings remain the most popular future testing setting for MSM in England, for all groups except those who had never tested. Those who have never tested have a preference for a wider range of testing options than those who had tested before. However, regardless of testing history, men valued a range of settings indicating that while expanding access through providing a wider variety of ways to test is worthwhile, no one testing method is likely to lead to a surge in uptake of HIV testing.

Importantly, community-based rapid HIV testing services were most popular with the demographic groups who were most likely to have ever tested (and to a lesser degree among men reporting higher risk), indicating that expanding access to these services is unlikely to be efficient if policy goals include meeting the testing needs of men that would not otherwise be testing.

Sale of HIV self-testing kits was made legal in the UK from 1 April 2014 but no CE-marked product was available in the market when this survey took place. Despite this, and the relatively widespread availability of HIV selfsampling, self-testing was more popular than selfsampling across all subgroups, with more pronounced preferences for self-testing in those who had not tested in the last year. Further research is required as to whether self-sampling will maintain a position in the HIV testing landscape when self-testing becomes more widespread.

In light of our findings, the value of the current HIV testing guidelines can be called into question, particularly the guidance to test annually. If commissioners, clinicians and providers are to use these guidelines alone to inform testing interventions, the priority will be to raise the proportion of gay men, bisexual men and other MSM that have ever tested and encourage them to test at least annually. Focus will fall on the relatively young and old; men with lower levels of educational attainment; and those who are not gay identified. This goal could be achieved by increasing focus on providing a wide range of testing opportunities to better meet the diverse preferences of this population. This however could only have limited impact on the more intractable psychosocial barriers to testing, including stigma and fear of a positive result.<sup>5 20</sup>

Further, the groups who would likely be targeted by this strategy are not reflective of those most likely to have undiagnosed HIV, and this focus would therefore deliver significant diminishing returns per infection detected from a resources perspective. A perhaps more impactful approach would instead focus on the behavioural element of the policy and prioritise reducing the average time between HIV infection and diagnosis with an aim to reduce community viral load. This is congruent with modelling evidence suggesting testing high activity MSM once or twice per year would yield similar results to testing all MSM with the same frequency.<sup>21</sup> This approach would require increasingly targeted interventions and more nuanced information around testing in response to risk, while simultaneously maintaining and expanding the services these groups most value. This would instead direct focus to increasing the frequency of testing among men at higher risk through ongoing condomless anal intercourse with multiple partners, while simultaneously raising the rate of annual testing among both Black and White identified men<sup>22</sup> and men between the ages of 20 and 44.4 These groups of MSM are most likely to have HIV in England, and are also among the most likely to test.4 22 In this scenario, GUM would remain a crucial piece of this service mix, with increases in investment in self-administered testing methods, which may also serve to triage lower risk MSM to less expensive (per unit cost) testing options. These approaches will likely require more focus on the psychosocial barriers to testing and a greater degree of individual engagement in the provision of nuanced and in-depth interventions that acknowledge men's own values and aspirations around sex and understand the social contexts in which testing decisions are made.

Witzel TC, et al. BMJ Open 2016;6:e011372. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011372

8

## 6

## Open Access

Subgroups	GP	PP	GUM	Com test	HIVSS	HIVST	Other	Will no
All men	12.1	3.3	49.6	9.7	9.2	14.6	1.1	0.4
Age								
<20s	17.1	7.4	42.9	6.1	9.8	15.4	0.9	0.4
20s	13.1	3.5	49.7	6.3	10.6	15.8	0.8	0.2
30s	10.2	2.4	51.8	10.3	8.9	15.0	1.2	0.3
40s	10.4	2.9	50.3	12.5	7.5	14.8	1.2	0.6
50s	11.8	2.4	47.9	17.5	6.9	10.8	1.9	0.9
60+	11.4	2.5	51.4	14.1	8.2	9.3	1.8	1.3
Orientation								
Gay	11.9	3.0	51.0	9.5	8.8	14.4	1.1	0.4
Bisexual	14.2	4.9	43.3	9.6	10.6	15.8	1.2	0.4
Straight	13.6	6.8	39.0	10.2	3.4	23.7	1.7	1.7
Queer	10.6	1.6	48.7	21.7	7.4	9.5	0.5	0.0
Any other term	20.0	0	35.0	13.3	16.7	11.7	1.7	1.7
Don't define	11.5	4.9	41.4	8.5	12.3	19.8	0.6	1.0
Ethnicity								
White	12.5	3.2	49.2	9.6	9.2	14.8	1.0	0.4
Black	6.1	4.7	51.0	7.4	12.8	14.5	2.7	0.7
Asian	7.8	5.0	52.7	13.0	6.8	12.8	1.4	0.4
Other	5.1	4.2	61.1	11.5	6.4	10.3	1.3	0.0
Education								
Low	15.8	4.6	47.0	8.3	9.0	13.4	1.4	0.5
Medium	14.3	3.2	47.1	8.5	10.4	15.4	0.7	0.4
High	9.0	3.0	52.3	11.1	8.4	14.6	1.2	0.4
Migrancy								
Yes	8.9	3.7	54.8	11.0	7.1	12.9	1.4	0.3
No	12.8	3.2	48.4	9.4	9.6	15.1	1.0	0.5
2+NSSPNC								
Yes	7.6	2.7	55.4	10.1	7.3	15.8	0.9	0.3
No	13.1	3.4	48.5	9.4	9.6	14.4	1.0	0.5

## Limitations

Our results should be interpreted with some caution. For one, while our participants who are gay identified are largely representative of the gay population in the UK, there is greater divergence between convenience and probability samples of other non-gay identified MSM in our sample and others (see ref. 23 for a full discussion). Furthermore, in convenience samples of MSM in the UK reported HIV testing tends to be higher than in probability-based samples, indicating that we may overestimate the level of testing in the population as a whole but in particular among non-gay identified MSM. This indicates that the true differences in testing between gay and non-gay identified MSM may be more pronounced than the ones we present.

Another limitation is that for most men, HIV selftesting was an entirely hypothetical testing option at the time of this research. This is in contrast to the many other options for HIV testing which men could (and did) use. HIV self-sampling is also often advertised as 'HIV self-testing' in England, so it is possible that some of our respondents were confused about the difference between these two options.

Witzel TC, et al. BMJ Open 2016;6:e011372. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011372

Finally, because we had low levels of missing data, we did not make attempts to control it. It is possible that those with the highest barriers to testing could be less likely to answer questions relating to HIV testing in research such as GMSS.

#### CONCLUSIONS

HIV testing policy in England is guided by BHIVA testing guidelines from 2008 which emphasises annual testing for all MSM (regardless of sexual behaviour) and more frequently for those at increased risk. Our results indicate that younger men, older men and those who are not gay identified were the least likely to test for HIV. If we were to use these policies to guide service development, our focus would be on increasing the proportion of MSM who had had an HIV test every year, irrespective of their sexual risk and precautionary behaviours. This however would not focus on the MSM most at risk of HIV and could potentially lead to increasing screening costs per infection detected. Instead, we feel the promotion of more frequent testing among the groups most at risk of infection should be prioritised,

effectively reducing the time interval between tests to reduce the time between infection and diagnosis.

Twitter Follow Sigma Research @SigmaResearch1

Contributors FH and PW were responsible for the design and execution of the data collection, while TCW and GJM-T were responsible for the analysis and interpretation of findings. TCW was responsible for initial drafting with revisions and critical input from all other authors. All authors have agreed the final manuscript

Funding This research was funded by Terrence Higgins Trust as part of the HIV Prevention England programme (2012-2016).

Competing interests None declared.

Ethics approval London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed. Data sharing statement For information about Gay Men's Sex Survey

(GMSS) including the survey text, please visit sigmaresearch.org.uk

Open Access This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4 0) license. which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work noncommercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### REFERENCES

8

- Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, et al, HPTN 052 Study Team. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med 2011;365:493–505.
- 2
- J Med 2011;365:493–505. Granich RM, Gilks CF, Dye C, et al. Universal voluntary HIV testing with immediate antiretroviral therapy as a strategy for elimination of HIV transmission: a mathematical model. Lancet 2009;373:48–57. Gupta S, Granich R, Suthar AB, et al. Global policy review of antiretroviral therapy eligibility criteria for treatment and prevention of HIV and tuberculosis in adults, pregnant women, and discordant couples. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013;62:e87–97. Skingsley A, Yin Z, Kirwan P, et al. HIV in the UK—situation report 2015. 3.
- 4 2015.
- Lorenc T, Marrero-Guillamón I, Llewellyn A, et al. HIV testing among 5. Lorenc 1, Martero-sulliamon 1, Lleweinyn A, *et al.* Hiv tesung among men who have sex with men (MSM): systematic review of qualitative evidence. *Health Educ Res* 2011;26:834–46. Witzel TC, Guise A, Nutland W, *et al.* It starts with me: privacy
- 6. concerns and stigma in the evaluation of a Facebook health promotion intervention. Sex Health 2016;13:228–33.

- Deblonde J, De Koker R, Hamers FF, et al. Barriers to HIV testing in Europe: a systematic review. Eur J Public Health 2010;20:422–32. 7.
- Bailey AC, Roberts J, Weatherburn P, et al. Community HIV testing 8 bailey AC, house s, weatherball F, et al. Community HV testing for men who have sex with men: results of a pilot project and comparison of service users with those testing in genitourinary medicine clinics. Sex Transm Infect 2009;85:145–7. Suthar AB, Ford N, Bachanas PJ, et al. Towards universal voluntary
- 9 HIV testing and counselling: a systematic review and meta-analysis of community-based approached. *PLoS Med* 2013;10:e1001496. Figueroa C, Johnson C, Verster A, *et al.* Attitudes and acceptability
- 10 Behav 2015;19:1949–65
- Department of Health. The Government's mandate to NHS England 11. for 2016–17. Published online only [gov.uk]. British HIV Association. UK National Guidelines for HIV Testing
- 12. London, 2008.
- 13
- London, 2008. Knussen C, Flowers P, McDaid LM. Factors associated with recency of HIV testing amongst men residing in Scotland who have sex with men. *AIDS Care* 2014;26:297–303. Sonnenberg P, Clifton S, Beddows S, *et al.* Prevalence, risk factors, and uptake of interventions for sexually transmitted infections in Britain: findings from the National Surveys of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles (Natsal). *Lancet* 2013;382:1795–806. 14
- Zablotska I, Holt M, de Wit J, *et al.* Gay men who are not getting tested for HIV. *AIDS Behav* 2012;16:1887–94. Fernández-Dávila P, Folch C, Ferrer L, *et al.* Who are the men who 15.
- 16. have sex with men in Spain that have never been tested for HIV? HIV Med 2013;14:44–8. Carvalho C, Fuertes R, Lucas R, et al. HIV testing among
- 17. Carvaino C, Fuertes H, Lucas H, *et al.* HIV testing among Portuguese men who have sex with men—results from the European MSM Internet Survey (EMIS). *HIV Med* 2013;14:15–18. Margolis AD, Joseph H, Belcher L, *et al.* Never testing for HIV' among men who have sex with men recruited from a social networking website, United States. *AIDS Behav* 2012;16:23–9. Berg RC. Predictors of never testing for HIV among a national online sample of men who have sex with men in Norway. *Scand J Public Health* 2013;41:398–404 18
- 19
- Health 2013:41:398-404 20.
- Flowers P, Knussen C, McDaid L, *et al.* Has testing been normalised? An analysis of changes in barriers to HIV testing among men who have sex with men between 2000 and 2010 in Scotland, LIK HIV Med 2013:14:92-8
- UK. HIV Med 2013;14:92–8. Punyacharoensin N, Edmunds WJ, De Angelis D. Effects of pre-exposure prophylaxis and combination HIV prevention for men who have sex with men in the UK: a mathematical modelling study. *Lancet HIV* 2016;3:e94–e104. Millett GA, Peterson JL, Flores SA, *et al.* Comparisons of disparities and risks of HIV infection in black and other men who have sex with 21.
- 22. men in Canada, UK and USA: a meta-analysis. Lancet
- 2012;380:341–8. Prah P, Hickson F, Bonell C, *et al.* Men who have sex with men in 23. Britain: comparison of estimates from a probability sample and community-based surveys. Sex Transm Infect 2016;92:455–63

8

Witzel TC, et al. BMJ Open 2016;6:e011372. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011372

## Appendix 3: Focus group discussions topic guide

PANTHEON: A STUDY ABOUT HIV SELF TESTING





Focus Group topic guide

Date	Focus group number	Venue	Staff Present

**Advance Preparation** 

Arrange tables and chairs - prepare refreshments.

Set up and check the TWO digital recorders.

Organise focus group materials – hand-outs for ranking exercises.

Organise focus group materials – HIV-ST kits.

Notepad, pen, list of attendees, copy of focus group outline for facilitators.

Arrange chart paper and markers.

Make sure watch/clock is in sight.

Distribute consent forms as men arrive – ensure they are signed and collected before start.

Opening talk

Introduction of facilitators and Sigma Research

Rules - Share as much or as little information as you are comfortable with

Rules - reinforce confidentiality of the group

Rules - respect for other's opinions / we want everyone to contribute

Describe the reason for audio recording and later destruction (3 months hence)

Encourage participants to talk one at a time for recordings' sake.

Group will take about 90 minutes and will finish at [time] at the latest.

Ask participants to turn off (or at least mute) mobile phones

Invite queries..

## Ice breaker - 10 minutes

So, to kick off I'd like us to all introduce ourselves. As you do so, I'm really interested to hear about what kind of messages you get about HIV testing from health care organisations or from health professionals. Now that could be your GP, from a charity or from advertising campaigns. If you've noticed that these messages have changed over time I'd be really interested in hearing your thoughts on that too.

## Part 1: How HIV-ST fits into health seeking frameworks- 25 minutes

Now I'd like to talk about HIV self-testing. It is different from what is known as HIV self-sampling. With self-sampling you take your own sample and send it to a lab. Self-testing is when you take your own sample, process it yourself, and then read your own result. Just to reiterate, it's a test that you get your results very quickly with, and that you are able to do without anyone else present.

## So, let's brainstorm first about what the key benefits of HIV self-testing are.

**Why might someone want to test themselves for HIV?** [Ensure that opportunity and motivation are covered, particularly in relation to social and physical opportunity]

And now the key drawbacks.

What do you think are the things that might stop someone from testing themselves for HIV? [Ensure that barriers in relation to opportunity and motivation are explored]

Now I'm wondering if there are particular situations that are more or less appropriate for HIV-ST? Is there a time when you think someone would be more likely to use this approach?

## Are there other times where a different approach would be better?

And how do you think people would make these decisions? Are they in any way informed by risk? Is there a way that we could support these decision making processes?

I'm also curious about how individual's peer groups might influence their decision making. Do you think that peers have a big impact on HIV testing decisions? And could they have an influence on self-testing decision making processes?

Com-b Domains: Opportunity – social & physical; Motivation – automatic and reflective.

*Outputs: Discussion notes to be recorded on flipchart and photographed after the FGD.* 

## Part 2: intervention specific details - 25 minutes

So now I'd like to talk about what HIV self-testing might look like in practice. This will involve a couple of activities, a bit of discussion and then I'll open up some different self-tests for you to look at.

Firstly, I'm wondering what you think is the most important or effective way to get people interested in HIV self-testing.

## What kind of promotion of self-testing would be appropriate?

Is there anything that would be totally inappropriate?

Com-b domains: education, persuasion and enablement.

HIV self-testing kits are currently only available if you pay for them yourselves. I'm curious, with all the different HIV testing options available to you, **would you be willing to pay for a kit? And how much ££?** 

## Com-b domains: incentivisation

Does anyone know how much an HIV self-testing kit currently costs?

If these were free to you as part of a clinical trial, how often do you think you would test yourself? And when would you test yourself? Every few weeks or months, or between partners? If you had an unlimited supply, what would make you test?

Now I'd like to do some quick exercises where **first we chose between two different options, then order the importance of these options in relation to each other**. HIV self-testing kits can have many different features. Some of the differences are around sample type (blood spot or saliva) and length of the window period. The packaging can be really different as can the price. Some are easier to use than others. Some have videos that show you how to use them, while others rely more on written instructions.

[Action: Hand out cards with 5x testing features, ask participants to choose between them on the following questions and explain their choices. After they have chosen perform a ranking exercise putting the categories in order of importance – may not be consensus so keep careful notes]

## What do you think is the most important feature of an HIV self-testing kit?

## Test features:

Sample type (blood vs. saliva).

Window period (12 weeks vs. 4 weeks).

Directions (video vs. written) and ease of use.

How they are accessed or delivered to you (posted to your address vs. pick-up / physical distribution).

Com-B domains: enablement, training

Now that we've discussed these options, let's look at some actual kits and I'll talk you through their features. [Action: open up two Biosure and one Ora-quick kit. Explain the features of both of them, collect feedback on kits themselves].

## What are the advantages and disadvantages of both kits?

*Outputs: Photographs of results of ranking activities; discussion notes to be recorded on flipchart and photographed after the FGD.* 

## Part 3: support, positive results and adverse events 10-15 minutes

What I'd like to talk about now is what kind of support might be useful for people who have tested themselves for HIV.

## First off, let's talk about people who have self-tested HIV negative.

What do you think their support needs might be?

What types of issues come up for men who receive a negative HIV test result?

## Now let's think about the same for those who have a positive result.

What kind of support do you think they will need?

What types of issues come up for men who receive a positive HIV test result?

# The other thing that sometimes gets talked about alongside HIV self-testing is what kind of harm could come from letting people test themselves for HIV.

Can you think of any specific difficulties that people are likely to face in using HIV self-tests?

There are a lot of ways that support could be provided to people who have tested themselves for HIV. Three options are online support, support through the telephone (perhaps on a helpline), and printed information. What support do you think would be the most useful and why?

## Outputs: Flipchart results.
#### Part 4: HIV-ST verses other testing models – 20-25 minutes

There are a lot of different ways to test for HIV, and these different ways all have particular advantages and disadvantages. Now that we're coming to the end of the focus group I'd like to do an activity comparing some different testing approaches. First I'll walk you through what they are, and I'll explain what I'd like us to do.

#### **Quick descriptions**

**GUM** - One of the most popular ways is to test is in a GUM clinic. Most of the time you can get your result right there and then, although sometimes you have to wait a week or two.

**GP** – Some people like to test that their GP.

**Community based testing** – In the last few years there has been a lot of emphasis on testing for HIV in community venues like bars, saunas and in vans.

**Self-sampling** – Recently there have been programmes where people are sent a self-sampling kit in the post. The person takes their own sample and sends it back to a lab. The lab then processes this and contacts the person to give their result (usually by phone).

**Self-testing** – self-testing is similar to self-sampling but in this approach people actually process the sample themselves and interpret their own results.

#### **Activity**

I've made cards with all of these services on them and am interested **in hearing from you what you think about key benefits and drawbacks of these approaches, particularly in relation to each other**.

[Following each ranking activity ensure results are discussed].

First off, let's take a really wide view and talk about **accessibility**. Ranking these in order, which are the most and least **accessible** testing service.

Moving on, we're interested in **confidentiality**. Would you please rank these services in order of most to least confidential?

Another related issue that often gets discussed around HIV testing is **fear**. Assuming that you had decided to go for an HIV test this week, which of these services would make you the most or least fearful and why?

Com-B domains covered: Capability- psychological and physical. Opportunity- physical.

Outputs: Results of ranking activities to be photographed or recorded verbally.

That's great- I think we've got a really good idea of these key areas of HIV testing.

Anything else you want to tell us about HIV self-testing?

Thanks for coming!

Demographic characteristics		Minimum	Maximum
Age	18 - 25 years	11 men	24 men
	26 - 40 years	11 men	24 men
	40+	8 men	16 men
Ethnicity	Black	4 men	
	Asian	4 men	
	White	11 men	
	Other / Mixed		
Sexual orientation	Gay	23 men	
	Bisexual	4 men	
	Don't use a term / other	4 men	
	(not gay or bisexual)		
Recency of HIV	Never tested	8 men	16 men
testing	12 months +	11 men	32 men
	< 12 months	11 men	26 men
Previous HIV testing	GUM	18 men	35 men
locations (not	GP	4 men	8 men
necessarily last HIV	Community / PoCT	4 men	8 men
test location)	Self-Sampling	4 men	15 men
	Self-testing*	2 men	8 men

#### Appendix 5: Poster results of formative key informant interviews

What are the perspectives of key informants on the Sigma implementation of HIV self-testing (HIVST) in England? A qualitative study of barriers, facilitators and anticipated impacts.



T Charles Witzel<sup>1</sup>, Fiona M Burns<sup>2</sup>, Peter Weatherburn<sup>1</sup>, Alison J Rodger<sup>2</sup>. 1 Sigma Research, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. 2 Research Department of Infection & Population Health, University College London.

#### Introduction

HIV self-testing (HIVST) is a new approach, enabling individuals to test themselves for HIV in a location and at a time of their choosing using a rapid diagnostic test (1-3). The first HIVST came to market in the UK in 2015 and since then there have been a variety of implementation projects (4-6).

HIVST has the potential to increase uptake and frequency of HIV testing for those most at risk (3). Most recently, SELPHI, an online randomised controlled trial (RCT) delivering an HIVST intervention, has begun enrolling men who have sex with men (MSM) and transgender people in England and Wales

Study aims: To understand the perspectives of key informants on the implementation of HIVST.

#### Methods

In order to inform development of an HIVST intervention for use in the SELPHI RCT, 17 in-depth interviews were conducted with key informants (KIs) including clinical staff in NHS HIV and sexually transmitted infection (STI) services, voluntary sector service providers and HIV testing commissioners from across England. Table 1 describes our sample.

- •Data collected between April and December 2016
- •Interviews were face-to-face and over the telephone.
- •Audio recorded and transcribed verbatim.
- •Thematic framework analysis (7).

#### Results

#### Increasing patient choice

HIVST was valued for increasing choice in accessing HIV testing. Specifically, those who directly provided HIV testing services acknowledged that the remote nature of the technology might increase accessibility for some, potentially expanding testing to new audiences currently experiencing structural barriers.

I think the big benefit to selftesting is the ability for people to access tests, one, in the setting that they choose to, so a choice is always good; and two also to reach people in more rural communities and places where they don't have as good a service to engage with [...] (Service delivery, voluntary sector. North of England).

Local context & client group

Careful attention to intervention design was identified as important, as local context and client group shaped anticipated patient responses to HIVST. Several KIs expressed concern that a national HIVST intervention could be of limited utility if developed with insufficient attention to local needs. When considering intervention components, a KI involved in community outreach programmes in public sex environments stated:

Whether it's easy to say groups or whether it's about circumstances, because there are going to be some people who can't have a test delivered to their home, or even take a test home. [...] If you look at the MSM community [in the South West of England], the large majority of MSMs have a partner or a wife or children, and lead a heterosexual lifestyle, so may not want to even think about bringing any kind of testing kit into their home. (Service delivery, oluntary sector. South West England).

#### References

Figueroa et al. Attitudes and Acceptability on HIV SelFitesting Among Key Populations: A Literature Review. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(1):1949-65.
 Joinson et al. Realizing the potential for HIV SelFitesting AIDS Behav. 2014;15 (suppl 45381-5.
 Writzel 48. Mitvier 148. Mitvier 149. Mitv

Table 1: KI interviews sample characteristics Role Sector Voluntary Service deliverv Strategic Commissioning Local National Clinical Clinician 4 Health advisor 2 Nurse 2

Integration & pathways to care

It was widely perceived that HIVST should be delivered through integrated approaches that provide direct pathways into additional services and HIV care. While some felt HIVST should be delivered through clinics alongside other STI tests, others felt that the most important element was the development of multiple pathways which responded to patient need. Flexibility was highly valued.

l think if you can set up a variety of potential openings and opportunities and routes into engagement, whether that's community clinics or different healthcare settings and services, then people will gravitate to the one that's most suitable for them, either logistically or geographically or psychologically. So I think it's multi-pronged, really. (Clinician, North West of ingland)

Anticipated impacts

A range of impacts were predicted by KIs. The primary concerns centred on dislocation of HIV testing from supportive structures thereby leading to an increase in bacterial STIs through reduced opportunities for prevention and STI detection. Clinical staff specifically were concerned about a potential for increased selfharm. Some felt these impacts would occur in a very small group, while others believed they would be widespread consequences of service delivery. Conversely, this dislocation offered the potential for empowerment for some patients and was valued for increasing autonomy, and potentially increasing accessibility.

I think the benefits [of HIVST] are that it increases that nation's selfcare and agency. For me, people have the right to know what's going on for them. They should be able to do that in any way that technology allows. Obviously, there are people who just want to have tests and don't want to tell anybody. (Strategic role, voluntary sector, North West

#### Discussion

In this qualitative in-depth study with 17 KIs, a number of key themes emerged providing conditional support for HIVST implementation. HIVST interventions should be responsive to context, taking into account both local and national needs. The flexibility of HIVST interventions to provide a variety of entry points into further STI testing and into HIV care may be a key benefit of a wider-roll out. Innovative approaches in this regard should be investigated. Concerns centred on negative impacts of dislocating HIV testing from supportive structures. Our results indicate that innovative service delivery designs which address these concerns while harnessing the benefits of flexibility may be key to KI buy-in for HIVST implementation and improved patient outcomes.

e Grants for Applied Research Programme (Grant Reference Numb

# Appendix 6: Pilot interview topic guide

### 1. Introductions

- Researcher, Sigma, LSHTM
- This is an interview to hear your thoughts on HIVST. You've been invited because of your involvement with the Selphi trial, and specifically because you've been offered repeat tests.
  I'll ask you some specific questions about yourself, some questions about your history and some questions about your thoughts and experiences of HIVST. Feel free to answer them however you see fit. There are no right or wrong answers etc.

### 2. Ethics

- We would like to record the interview so we don't miss any of what you say.
- Explain how we will use and protect the data
- Do you have any questions?
- Are you happy to proceed?

### 3. HIV testing history

- When was your first HIV test?
- Can you remember what prompted you to seek testing the first time you went?
- What was the experience like? Where did you go? How did you choose to test that way?
- What kind of support were you provided with?

(*Prompt:* Was this what you wanted? Can you think of anything else that would have been helpful for you in that situation?)

### 4. HIV testing patterns

- How often do you test for HIV typically? Do you always get an STI screen when you test for HIV?
  - (Prompt: Do you have a usual clinic that you go to? How did you choose that clinic?)
- Can you think of how you have formed your testing patterns?
- What has influenced your thoughts on testing?

### 5. Seeking HIVST

- When did you first hear about HIVST?
- What were your initial thoughts?
- How did you hear about the SELFI study? What make you decide to take part?
- How did you find the process of signing up? Was there anything difficult?
- Did delivery of the kits go well?

### 6. Experience of HIVST

- Thinking back to when you took your first self-test, what was going through your mind? (*Prompt*: did you think there was a possibility of a positive result?)
- Did you decide to take the test by yourself or was there someone with you?
- What were your impressions of the kit? Did you watch any of the videos online?

(Prompt: what did you think of the instructions? Did the kit look easy to use?

- What was your experience of using the test kit like?
  - (Prompt: Do you think you made any mistakes?)
- Describe your experience of reading the result?
- Did you trust the result that your test gave you?
  (*Prompt*: Did you seek support from anywhere?)
- Have the emails prompting you to think about testing again been helpful to you?
- How have these experiences changed as you've used more kits over time? Are your emotional reactions the same?

# Appendix 7: Updated topic guide

## Topic guide one-to-one interviews

## 1. Introductions

- Researcher, Sigma, LSHTM
- This is an interview to hear your thoughts on HIVST. You've been invited because of your involvement with the SELPHI study. I'll ask you some specific questions about yourself, and some questions about your history. Feel free to answer them however you see fit. There are no right or wrong answers etc.

## 2. Ethics

- We would like to record the interview so we don't miss any of what you say.
- Explain how we will use and protect the data
- Do you have any questions?
- Are you happy to proceed?

### 3. HIV testing history

- Have you tested for HIV before?

### lf no

- Have you considered HIV testing before?
- What has stopped you?
- Have you ever tested for STIs?
- Have you ever considered testing but not gone?
- Can you tell me about the last time you heard about HIV testing? From whom? Where? What was the message?
- What did it make you think? Was this different to other messages/images about HIV testing that you've seen in the past? How?

### lf yes

- Can you tell me about the first time you tested for HIV?
- Can you remember what prompted you to seek testing the first time you went?
- What was the experience like? Where did you go? How did you choose to test that way?
- What kind of support were you provided with? Was this what you wanted?
- Can you think of anything else that would have been helpful for you in that situation?
- How about the last time you tested before SELPHI? Can you tell me a bit more about that?
- Where did you go? How did you make that decision? What kind of support did you get?

## 4. HIV testing patterns (If previously tested)

- What is usually your motivation to test? Do you have conversations about HIV testing with your friends? Are you ever prompted to test by discussions you have with others? Do your friends support each other around HIV testing?
- How often do you test for HIV typically? Do you always get an STI screen when you test?
  (prompt: Do you have a testing routine? Do you think this is common with your friends? Do

doctors ever prompt you to test?)

- What challenges have you faced when taking a test of thinking about testing? Are there things that have stopped you from testing? Or that make testing more difficult?
- Has there been anything that has made testing easier for you?
- Can you think of how you have formed your testing patterns?
- What or who has influenced your thoughts on testing?
- The last time you had a risk, did you consider going for an HIV test? Describe your decision making process around that? Where did you go? What role does risk play for you generally in testing for HIV?
- (if not answered) what kind of risk would prompt you to look for an HIV test?
- Has there ever been a time you tested when you were genuinely concerned you may be HIV positive? What made you think that? How did you test and what led you to choose that method? Is that the same thing you would do now?

### 5. Initial engagement with HIVST & SELPHI

- When did you first hear about HIVST?
- What were your initial thoughts?
- How did you hear about the SELPHI study? What make you decide to take part?
- Do you remember the advert for the study that you saw? Anything stick in your mind from that?
- [Show study advert] Here's the advert you were recruited from. What do you think about it? Is there anything you find appealing or not about it? Was it motivational in any way?
- How did you find the process of signing up? Was there anything difficult? Anything that you didn't understand?
- [Show registration and enrolment surveys] Here are the surveys that you filled out at the time. What jumps out in your mind about these?
- Do you have any thoughts on why I might be curious about what these questions made you think?
- Were there any of these questions unclear when you completed the surveys? Any that you didn't feel comfortable answering?
- How long did it take for your kit to arrive?

## 6. Experience of HIVST & trial infrastructure

- [Show kit with accompanying sleeve] This is the same version of the test we sent you. Can you remember what your first impressions of it were? (Make sure sleeve and kit itself are covered in conversation)
- Thinking back to when you first took the self-test, what was going through your mind? Tell me everything you can about the first time you used HIVST (*Prompt*: Where were you? did you think there was a possibility of a positive result?).
- Did you decide to take the test by yourself or was there someone with you?
- Did you read the instructions? How many times?
  (*Prompt:* if not answered: What did you make of them? Did you watch any of the videos online? Did the kit look easy to use?)
- How was your overall experience of using the test kit?

(Prompt: Do you think you made any mistakes? Was it difficult to use the lancet?)

- Describe your experience of reading the result.
- What did you do immediately after you took the test?
- How did you feel after using HIVST? Did you trust the result that your test gave you?
- Did you seek support from anywhere?
- Have you talked to anyone about HIVST? Did you tell anyone you had taken a self-test?
  What did you tell them about the experience? What do you think they thought about it?
- Do you remember receiving a follow-up survey about two weeks after you took the test? What were your impressions?
- **[Show copy of email and two week survey]** This is what it would have looked like. Can you think about how you reacted to this? (prompt: did you recognise this as a form of support?)
- [Show copy of email and three month survey] Do you remember receiving this survey? What was your initial reaction to the email? Did you fill the survey out?

#### 7. Experiences of randomisation B (if randomised to RT)

- So you were randomised to receive repeat testing at your three month point.
- How have you felt about the offer of repeat testing? Has it been useful? How many tests have you had through SELPHI now? Have you used all the tests that have been offered? (if not used) what has influenced you to not take a test?
- Are you also accessing other testing options?
- [Show copy of email and three month survey] Have these emails been useful in prompting you for more testing?
- Have there been changes to the way you think about testing through this process?

#### 8. After HIVST

- What are your thoughts on using an oral fluid test rather than blood?
- What do you understand by the term 'window period'?
- Have you thought about having an STI screen as well?
- On reflection, is there any additional support you would want with an HIVST?
- Do you think your behaviour will change in any way following the experience of using HIVST?
- Would you use HIVST again if it was available to you? Would you use it alongside other services or instead?
- Is there someone or a group of people you think HIVST is particularly good for? Anyone that it is not suitable for?